Everyday information organization practices in the pursuit of leisure: The information organization, management, and keeping activities of amateur art photographers

LITERATURE REVIEW

Kristina M. Spurgin School of Information and Library Science, UNC Chapel Hill

Advisor: Dr. Deborah K. Barreau

5 May 2008

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Table of contents	i
Introduction	1
Situating the proposed study	2
Information behavior and practice	2
Information behavior is information seeking	2
Information behavior is (not) all in your head	
Information organization is information behavior	
Issues with human information organization behavior	6
Information practices: a better fit	7
Everyday life	7
Everyday life information seeking (ELIS)	
Everyday life in ELIS, LIS, and beyond	9
Everyday life: high or low?	
The practice of everyday life	11
Some Other conceptualizations of everyday life	
Treatment of everyday life in ELIS related studies	
Life in the round and everyday life	
Connections still to be made	
Information organization practices of everyday life	14
Infrastructure as unifying concept	15
Why is this topic important?	
Everyday information organization practice in an Everyday Pursuit	
The Serious Leisure Perspective	
An overview of the Perspective	
What is leisure?	
Serious leisure	
Types of serious leisure	
Project-based leisure	
Casual leisure	
Reviewing the Serious Leisure Perspective	
Problems	
Usefulness	
Digital photography as serious leisure	
Professional photographers	

Amateur art photographers	36
Organization of images	. 43
Organization of images in institutional collections	43
What is being organized in this domain?	44
Types of images	44
The landscape of the research area	47
Concept-based image description	48
User behavior	57
Content-based image retrieval (CBIR)	57
Organization of images in personal collections	59
The importance of studying the organization of personal image collections	59
Assumptions and misconceptions about personal photo collections	60
Population	60
Contents of the personal collection	61
Print vs. digital photos: a false distinction	61
How people keep and organize their personal photo collections	61
Conventional photos	62
Digital photos	63
Comparing the organization of images in personal photo collections and institutional image collections	66
Conclusions	70
Personal Information Management (PIM)	. 72
Defining PIM	72
Broadening the Scope	7 2
Tensions in definitions of PIM	
What does "personal" modify?	73
Computer and paper-based PIM	74
PIM at work. PIM at home and elsewhere	75
Messes	76
Activities of PIM	77
Finding	77
Acquiring	78
Keeping	79
Refinding	80
The meta-level	81
Personally managed information objects	83

Files/documents	83
Web information	84
Email	85
Other formats	86
Related domains	86
Contextual cues and document attributes	87
Level of Use	87
Space	89
Time	90
Task/Project	90
Document form	90
PIM Personalities	91
PIM Fragmentation	92
What now?	93
Unification	
Development of Methods & Evaluation	
Synthesis	95
Maintenance	95
So What?	95
Conclusion	
Organization of information	96
Categorization in cognitive psychology	
Notes on terminology	97
Similarity-based views	97
Explanation-based	101
Holistic views	102
Types of categories	103
Ad-hoc and goal-derived categories	103
Influences on conceptual structure	104
initiacitées on conceptual situétare	
Influences on typicality and graded structure	104
Influences on typicality and graded structure Influences on the basic level	104 104
Influences on typicality and graded structure Influences on the basic level Influences on other aspects of conceptual structure and categorization	104 104 105
Influences on typicality and graded structure Influences on the basic level Influences on other aspects of conceptual structure and categorization Relevance of cognitive psychology findings to the organization of informatio	104 104 105 n 105
Influences on typicality and graded structure Influences on the basic level Influences on other aspects of conceptual structure and categorization Relevance of cognitive psychology findings to the organization of informatio Relevance of cognitive psychology in PIM	104 104 105 n 105 106
Influences on typicality and graded structure Influences on the basic level Influences on other aspects of conceptual structure and categorization Relevance of cognitive psychology findings to the organization of informatio Relevance of cognitive psychology in PIM Categorization and classification in LIS	104 104 105 n 105 106 108

The development of classification theory	109
Classification as true structure	109
Disciplinary structure and its discontents	110
Post-modern classification	112
The interaction of classification and knowledge in context	113
The structure of information in disciplines (Domain analysis)	114
Computer Supported Cooperative Work (CSCW)	116
Studies of individual people's organization of information from an LIS persp	ective
Sense-making Methodology	117 . . 121
Why Sense-Making?	122
The Metatheoretical Assumptions of Sense-Making	122
Discontinuity/Gappiness	123
Applied to PIM	123
Transmission model of information	124
Critique	124
Applied to PIM	125
Model of the individual	125
Applied to PIM	127
Verbings, not nouns	129
Applied to PIM	129
Attention to power	130
Applied to PIM	131
Researcher reflexivity	131
The Sense-Making Metaphor	131
Critique	132
Applied to PIM	133
General Critiques of Sense-Making	133
Using Sense-Making	135
Areas of application	135
Methods	136
Data gathering	136
Data Analysis	139
Conclusion	. 142
Bibliography	. 144

INTRODUCTION

In this review, I discuss some of the literature relevant to my proposed study of how amateur art photographers make decisions about managing the information and artifacts gathered and created in their serious leisure pursuit. This includes examination of the information systems and structures amateur art photographers have developed to support the management of said information and artifacts, how they make sense of the task of managing these, how their current strategies have developed, and whether they have strategies for the long term keeping of their photography-related "stuff."

In the first section, I situate the proposed study in library and information science (LIS) by relating it to other work on information behavior and practice in everyday contexts. Approaching information behavior in the everyday foregrounds special aspects of information behavior that I will identify and attend to in the proposed research. Finally, I use the framework of the Serious Leisure Perspective to define my population based upon their approach to photography as a leisure activity.

Managing the information and artifacts related to the activity of photography is a form of information organization, so the middle sections of the review are concerned with different aspects of the organization of information. The main type of information/artifact created and organized in the activity of photography is the photograph, so I begin by looking at the organization of images. This includes discussion of the attributes used to organize images in cultural institutions, how individual people organize their photos, and how these two approaches are colliding in new venues of online photo sharing. One's collection of photographs and other photography-related information is a personal information collection, so I next cover the literature of personal information management (PIM) and show how my proposed work will extend our knowledge of PIM practice.

Until now, the scope of information organization discussed has mainly been at the individual level; next I examine two broader approaches to the topic: concepts and categories in cognition, and classification theory within LIS. Theories of categorization and classification structures in cognition attempt to explain the cognitive organization of humans in general and do not attend to the individual. They are of interest here because how we think about our collections of information is likely to affect how we manage those collections. Also, we use information structures, systems, and artifacts to extend our cognitive abilities. While not directly related to the questions asked in the proposed study, these topics are often referenced in the LIS literature on information organization, providing focus for analysis and ideas for new questions to explore.

I finish the review of information organization by examining the general LIS literature on information organization via classification. This section begins with how we define the processes of categorization and classification, and how our ideas on these activities have followed the same general trend as theories of cognitive categorization. The scope of the topic is then narrowed from the idea of universal classification, moving first to disciplines and domains, and then to smaller groups who coalesce around work. Finally I return to the topic of the individual by looking at how some information organization systems and tools have been informed by the information organization behavior of individuals.

After this exploration of the topic of information organization from a variety of viewpoints, I return to my overall questions:

- From the amateur digital photographer's point of view, what information and artifacts does s/he find, create, keep, and organize or manage?
- What structures or systems has s/he created to manage them?
- Has s/he made changes to these systems and structures over the course of an amateur digital photography career? If so, how did s/he decide it was time for a change and how did s/he navigate the decisions involved in implementing that change?
- Does s/he have strategies for the long-term keeping of photography related information and artifacts? If so, how has s/he arrived at them? If not, why?

The last section of the review is about the Sense-Making Methodology. This approach is firmly dedicated to examining phenomena from the individual's point of view, and understanding how s/he makes sense of stopped-situations in order to move through them. It has informed my questions and my ideas for designing a study to explore them. Finally, I will explain the parallels I see between the Sense-making model and the activities of PIM. This may provide a new way for thinking about PIM and suggest that Sense-Making may be useful in a more balanced approach to studying information behavior that does not solely focus on seeking and use.

SITUATING THE PROPOSED STUDY

This section takes several steps to conceptually situate the proposed study. First, I show how the study fits into and extends other literature on information behavior and practice in LIS. Then, I examine some conceptualizations of and approaches to everyday life from LIS and other disciplines. These may help to guide the design of the proposed research and the analysis of data collected. Finally, I introduce and critique the Serious Leisure Perspective before using it to identify and describe the population of interest in my work.

INFORMATION BEHAVIOR AND PRACTICE

Information behavior is information seeking

Research into human information behavior (HIB) has primarily examined the activities of information seeking and information use (Spink and Cole 2006b). Most studies of information use have conceptualized the topic as "potential use" (Vakkari 1997): or the information sources or channels people *use* to obtain information (because those sources potentially contain the desired information) (Savolainen 2006). Where one goes to find information is an aspect of information seeking. Most information use studies take the latter approach to conceptualize "use" (Vakkari 1997). Since most HIB studies consider information behavior to consist of seeking and use, the result is that almost all HIB research is limited to only one aspect of information behavior: seeking.

Many information seeking and use studies take a narrow conception of information seeking as a goal-directed, problem-solving activity involving the kinds of questions that can be posed to an information system. Ross (1999, 785) points out that this is unsurprising given that the design of formal information systems and services is a main goal of LIS. A growing number of studies make different assumptions about information seeking and instead focus on concepts like information encountering (Erdelez 1997; Marshall and Bly 2005),¹ incidental information acquisition (Williamson 1998b), and serendipity (Foster and Ford 2003).

In an era of information overload (Eppler and Mengis 2004), the predominant focus on directed information seeking is problematic. Finding information is usually no longer a challenge. Sources chosen and strategies for navigating through the glut are still of interest, but the larger challenges have become:

- choosing a comprehensible amount of the most relevant information (Talja 2002);
- assessing the quality of found information;
- making sense of all of the information at hand; and
- keeping track of information so that one has it when one needs it.

These activities are explicitly stated or implied in many definitions of information literacy (Virkus 2003). Thus, the interests of LIS should extend to all types of information behaviors.

Information behavior is (not) all in your head

A "real use" approach to conceptualizing information use is infrequent compared to the "potential use" approach described above (Savolainen 2006). "Real use" is the cognitive transformation associated with information (Vakkari 1997), or the incorporation of information into a person's existing knowledge base (Spink and Cole 2006b). If use is understood solely as an internal process of cognition, we are limited to cognitive approaches, and an entire range of information behavior is ignored.

The incorporation of information into a person's existing knowledge base has a strong cognitive component, but our knowledge bases and cognition extend beyond the internal workings of our mind (Clark and Chalmers 1998). Kirsh and Maglio (1994) discuss epistemic actions, or the physical, external actions we take to improve the ease, speed, or reliability of our mental computation. Some types of information use can be seen as epistemic action. Sensemaking as discussed in (Russell et al. 1993) involves creating representations in order to make information useable. These representations are often external.

¹ Marshall and Bly investigate the use of encountered information, in the sense of what people physically do with it.

Wilson recognized that information use can have a physical component, such as marking important parts of a text (2000, 50), but this type of information use is much more varied and complex than making marks while reading. We create external artifacts and representations (information objects) in physical space to extend our memories and our cognition (Gruen 1996) (Jones and Nemeth) (Neumann 1999a) (Kirsh 1995) (Larkin and Simon 1987). The artifacts we create and use as cognitive and memory "prostheses" (Lamming et al. 1994) include many types of systems and structures. A few examples include mind maps (Buzan 2006), calendars (Payne 1993), directory structures (Jones et al. 2005b), notes (Hartley 2002), to-do lists (Taylor and Swan 2005), spreadsheets (Russell, Jeffries, and Irani 2008), and general information scraps (Bernstein et al. submitted).

Several models of information behavior have included some form of information creation using found information, but none have treated the topic in any depth. Kuhlthau's "presentation" includes preparing to present or otherwise use information. This may include organizing strategies such as making an outline to assist in arriving at a personal synthesis of a topic (1991, 368). Hektor identified "dressing" as an everyday information activity in which an individual consciously or unconsciously externalizes the product of the internal cognitive act of framing information. This is an extremely broadly conceived activity which includes all encoding of information for communication and sharing with others, as well as "to keep in a photo album, a diary or any other private repository" (2001, 86-87). Godbold (2006) included "creating information" in her proposed extensions of several well known models of information behaviors.

By taking into account such artifacts and the creation and use of information objects and space in supporting our knowledge and our cognitive functions, we move beyond purely cognitive phenomena. Extending the definition of information use in this way leads directly to a broader conceptualization of information behavior.

Information organization is information behavior

Human information organization behavior (HIOB) joins information seeking and information use a third kind of human information behavior (Spink and Cole 2006b)². Information organization behavior in this context has been defined as "analyzing and classifying materials into defined categories, e.g., the Dewey Decimal Classification System" (Spink and Cole 2006b, p. 25).³ This definition is discussed further:

While the example they give is a document organization system, their definition lends itself to creating a cognitive framework for HIOB. Few studies have examined human's information-organizing behavior in relation to other information behaviors (Spink, Park, and Cole 2006, 141).

² See also their Integrated Human Information Behavior framework (Spink and Cole 2006a, 232).

³ Let us for now ignore the fact that Spink and associates consistently cite an article on the Universal Decimal Classification in their definition utilizing the Dewey Decimal Classification as an example. The recognition that HIOB exists and should be included in models of HIB is excellent, though not unprecedented.

Use of this definition to create a cognitive framework for HIOB is problematic on at least two fronts--one within LIS and one in cognitive psychology. First, Elin Jacob has clarified the difference between classes and categories as things, and classification and categorization as cognitive processes (1991; 2004). Conflation of these terms muddles the discussion of these activities. Second, researchers cognitive psychology have agreed for quite some time that the human cognitive architecture is not made up of well-defined categories like "classes" (Rosch and Mervis 1975; Smith and Medin 1981; Lakoff 1987).

This definition and expansion also lead me to wonder what HIOB is intended to encompass if few studies have been conducted on this sort of behavior. There is a large literature on the topic mentioned in the definition: classification theory and subject analysis. The ever-growing PIM literature is concerned with what people do with information they have sought, encountered, or need to re-find (i.e. "other information behaviors"). A healthy percentage of the literature on computer supported cooperative work (CSCW) explores how people share and organize information and information objects in order to get work done. Portions of all of these topics are covered later in this review.

Spink and Cole (2006a, 236) state that Cole and Leide (2006) have begun the work on human information organization behavior (HIOB). Indeed this article appears to be unique in the LIS literature. The end goal appears to be to use metaphor to translate the organization scheme of an information system into the cognitive organization of a novice user. Metaphor is one way humans cognitively organize concepts (Lakoff and Johnson 1980), however this does not apply to all concepts. The paper in question reports on interviews intended to elicit metaphorical representations of scholars' research topics and problems. The subjects appeared to be confused by researcher requests and found it difficult to respond to the researchers' instructions to describe their own research topics metaphorically. Given the intent to elicit the cognitive structures of domain experts with the end goal of creating an information system (or a layer thereof) that is more human-like, the study seems less a foray into a new research area than a failed attempt at knowledge elicitation (Hoffman et al. 1995), another well-explored area in artificial intelligence, cognitive science, and psychology.

Regardless of problems with Spink and associates' definition of HIOB and questions of exactly what the scope of HIOB is if it is currently unstudied, it is heartening to see a number of studies and a general model of HIB including organization behavior. I identified only one other inclusion of information organization in a general framework for HIB in a seemingly obscure faceted classification of information interactions created by Cool and Belkin (2002). Here, "Organize" is included as a type of behavior in the Information Behaviors facet. Only a few studies have explicitly included any sort of information organization as an aspect of more specific types of information behavior. Barry (1997b) included organizing information in her model of information behavior in research activity. Meho and Tibbo (2003) added the category "information managing" to their model of information seeking behavior. Hartel (2006) includes the gathering, organization, and production of information used by serious gourmet cooks as part of their overall information activities.

Issues with human information organization behavior

Information organization behavior and information use behavior are in truth inextricable.⁴ Incorporating information into one's knowledge base (using it) involves categorization, cognitively, if not externally. Sensemaking (as per Russell), a way of making information usable, is an iterative process of organizing information into representations and adjusting representations to fit the information (Russell et al. 1993). Kwasnik (1989a) showed that an information object's use or intended use heavily influenced how that information object would be classified in the workplace. Information organization behavior as it manifests in PIM is also very much about individual information needs--past, present, and those anticipated to exist in the future (Bruce 2005). It is also about information seeking--finding, re-finding, and reminding (Jones 2008a). In PIM, people are not only seeking and using information objects. Through their use of their PIM structures and systems, they are actively and iteratively constructing those systems in their daily lives.

Using the term "behavior" to describe the sort of phenomena generally included in information behavior research is not without problems. Savolainen (2007) analyzes the use of the terms information behavior and information practice as umbrella concepts. While his analysis is limited to information seeking studies, his conclusions also apply to the broader use of the terms. One issue is squaring the largely invisible, internally cognitive concerns of information behavior researchers with the use of the term behavior. In psychology, a behavioral approach is focused on what can be observed from the outside. Internal, introspective cognitive processes are not observable. This means they are subjective, private and unverifiable, and prone to error and distortion; therefore they are not worth considering in science (Zuriff 1985). Tirassa, Carassa and Geminiani write that "behavior is in the (representational) observer's eye only, not in the organism observed: what organisms do is not to behave, but to interact with their subjectively defined environment" (2000, 20). As described above, some information behavior research has focused on observable questions such as which sources people use and some actions that take place in the steps of information seeking; however, a preponderance of information models are concerned with an internal process.

For some, the increasingly broad scope of definitions of information behavior⁵ is problematic (Savolainen 2007). What use is the term if it describes everything? My response would be: what use is the term if it refers to a concept much narrower than the term implies? Even the broadest of concepts needs an associated term. Defining the overall term broadly allows us to identify all of the more specific types of information behavior and how they relate to each other instead of taking an unbalanced and blinkered view of the topic.

⁴ Of course, this is true of information use and information seeking as well. In PIM, a person re-finds in his own information collection, which he has organized (or not) himself; here information organization and information seeking are intertwined.

⁵ These definitions are too numerous to analyze here, but Spink and Cole's (2006b) framework is just one example. Savolainen (2007) is a good starting point for exploring the many ways information behavior has been defined.

Savolainen's (2007) main concern is the general lack of attention given to defining the terms we use in LIS. This indicates a lack of concern with or exploration of the discourse(s) of our discipline. Different concepts are laden with different assumptions from which spring different viewpoints influencing our interpretation of phenomena. Researchers must be reflexive in order to identify their own assumptions and compensate for their own biases.

Information practices: a better fit

Savolainen (2007) also traces the development of the information practices approach, which may be viewed as a response to the need to find an alternative to the dominant and limited concept of information behavior. The two approaches are differentiated in the following way:

...within the discourse on information behavior, the "dealing with information" is primarily seen to be triggered by needs and motives, while the discourse on information practice accentuates the continuity and habitualization of activities affected and shaped by social and cultural factors (126)

Another important distinction between information practice and information behavior is that definitions of information practice have, in general, been more inclusive. Information organization is not a new addition to the overall view of information practices. Taylor (1986) described the need for a model of information practices including organizing, storing, manipulating, and evaluating. McKenzie (2002, 38) states that information practice is a broader term than information behavior because it includes the greater range of activities identified in her work; "list-making plans and strategies" were used by women pregnant with twins as part of active seeking in information encounters (2003, 33). Talja and Hansen (2006) include interpreting and indexing ("giving names to pieces of information for the purpose or retrieval and re-use") as information practices because they "are part of the routine accomplishment of work tasks and everyday life" (125).

Next I explore the concept of everyday life. The main goal is to express how I see PIM and, by extension my proposed study, as concerned with the everyday and as fitting in the larger literature of LIS. I will also return to this distinction between information behavior and information practice, showing why my proposed work takes the latter approach.

EVERYDAY LIFE

Interest in information behavior outside the workplace first sparked in the 1970s, but grew dim after a few large-scale surveys were conducted. With the increased use of qualitative methods in the 1980s, interest in non-work information behavior resurfaced and has continued to grow, but the number of studies in this vein is still far outnumbered by research on information in various work contexts. Savolainen introduced the phrase everyday life information seeking (ELIS) to describe this area of research in 1995, and the name has since been applied to a growing body of research, previously known by such terms as "non-work information seeking" and "citizen information seeking" (Savolainen 1995).

Everyday life information seeking (ELIS)

ELIS is defined as "the acquisition of various informational (both cognitive and expressive) elements which people employ to orient themselves in daily life or to solve problems not directly connected with the performance of occupational tasks" (Savolainen 1995, p. 266-7). In addition, Savolainen (2004) later specified that ELIS was also unconcerned with these topics in the performance of full time study.⁶

The literature on information behaviors in everyday life and in context continues to grow, much of it citing Savolainen's initial ELIS study, using its terminology of "everyday life," and referring to ELIS as a research area; however, there seem to be tenuous relationships between many of these studies and the original.

In the original study, Savolainen (1995) posits that the underlying rules of everyday life and being ("habitus") as practically evinced in "way of life" and different styles of mastery of life influence people's default strategies for seeking information in everyday life. The word "default" is important here because other context greatly influences actions taken in individual information seeking instances such as the directed seeking of information in order to solve a problem. The study also looked at patterns of passive monitoring for orienting information that are so habitual and ingrained in people's lives they might not be recognized as information seeking or strategies at all. The latter kind of information seeking is an example of way of life, while the former is invoked when one's sense of mastery of life is threatened.

The study compared the information seeking practices of people from the working and middle classes because differences in styles of mastery of life were expected to be more marked across class lines. Style of mastery of life was found to be related to information seeking habits for both orienting and practical information. As expected, the relationship was stronger for orienting information as it is associated with way of life as usual, characterized by a mastery of life. Findings about the relationship between style of mastery of life and class indicates only a high level outline of ELIS practices and that one cannot make assumptions about an individual's information practice based on class. The paper ends by calling for the refinement of the ELIS research framework through more work on analyzing styles of mastery of life, identification of relationships between these and situational factors in instances of practical information seeking in problem situations, and the identification of other factors which may be more fruitful for analyzing differences in information behavior.

Other studies citing ELIS have not systematically followed Savolainen's lead of exploring the hypothesis that way of life in the everyday and style of mastery of life are directly related to information seeking practices. Instead, most of these studies explore and describe information seeking by groups of people in different contexts. Some of the studies go beyond information seeking to consider broader information behaviors and practices. These studies seemed to be linked to the 1995 ELIS study in two main ways. The first is in the use of the term everyday to describe information behaviors and practices. The other is by focusing attention on information seeking in problem situations.

⁶ In the discussion of ELIS below, my usage of the term "work" includes occupational tasks and tasks involved in full-time study.

Hartel's (2007) analysis of the literature associated with ELIS found that studies fall into three thematic categories. The first is holistic, in which information seeking is examined across a broad swath of everyday life. The phenomena of interest are not bounded by tasks or time. Another is information seeking in the context of particular leisure activities. These two comprise relatively few of the studies: 80% of the ELIS-related studies in her analysis focused on information seeking in either compromised everyday life situations such as illness or crisis, or in the everyday lives of populations seen as marginalized or disadvantaged (Hartel 2007).⁷ Here the assumption is that life is a problematic situation (Ross 1999, 784). The imbalance in research is problematic given that by the definition of marginalized, the majority of humanity is not marginalized, and by the definition of everyday, most of everyday life proceeds without crisis. Kari and Hartel (2007) make the case that information is central in many pleasurable, fun, higher areas of life. Reviewing some studies of these areas, they point out that findings about information practice related to the higher things tend to contradict the typical findings of problem-centered information behaviors. This indicates that we likely have a very skewed picture of information practices that needs to be balanced.

Everyday life in ELIS, LIS, and beyond

The discipline of sociology has long been interested in the meaning of the everyday. Bakardjieva (2005, 38) notes that everyday life is an intricate empirical and conceptual construct, and that for such a commonplace phrase, it:

has had a complex history in social science and has taken on different meanings in different social theories. It would be an excruciating task to follow all the lines of reasoning drawn through and around everyday life and attempt to resolve the debates still raging.

It is far beyond the scope of this review to take on that excruciating task, but a few common threads that seem to inform conceptualization of everyday life in LIS will be noted.

By defining ELIS instead of everyday life, Savolainen (1995) technically avoided defining everyday life. The definition of ELIS was meant to emphasize the legitimate nature of non-work contexts of information seeking, not create a dichotomy between work and non-work information seeking, which are related and complementary. Savolainen's use of Bourdieu's notion of habitus and the concept of way of life indicate that his understanding of the meaning of "everyday" is not related to work or non-work context, but is instead tied to ideas of pattern, routine, unwritten rules, an understood order, and habitual ways of being, understanding, and living. This is a sociological understanding of the concept of the everyday. Aside from Savolainen, Paulette Rothbauer (2005) and Kari and Hartel (2007) are among the few researchers in LIS who have directly invoked sociological notions in discussions of the everyday. Elfreda Chatman used these ideas in a different way, which will be discussed below.

⁷ This is not a new criticism of information seeking research in general. In particular Dervin's Sense-making methodology has been criticized for representing information need as a gap or problematic situation (Davenport, Higgins, and Sommerville 2000). Dervin's (1976a) taxonomy of everyday information needs is based on the conceptualization of information need as problem. Kuhlthau's (1991) model of information seeking finds prevalent feelings of apprehension, uncertainty, confusion and frustration.

EVERYDAY LIFE: HIGH OR LOW?

Kari and Hartel (2007) place everyday life in the category of "lower thing." They cite Heidegger (1978)⁸ as characterizing the everyday as relatively drab, uninteresting, and involuntary basic events that dominate people's behavior. They cite Maffesoli's (1996) description of everyday life as dominated by conformity, rules, rituals, and even unreality in the sense of "theatricality, superficiality, and spectacular effervescence" (70, cited by Kari and Hartel 2007, 1131). Lower things are contrasted with higher things. Higher things are defined as "usually positive human phenomena, experiences, or activities that transcend the daily grind with its rationality and necessities" (1132). While I agree with Kari and Hartel that the way everyday life has been conceptualized in LIS is primarily negative and problematic, I do not agree that it should be categorized as a lower thing.

The current conceptualization of everyday life in LIS is not the only way to view the matter. Perhaps the discipline's negative conceptualization of everyday life is an example of yet another social science domain out of balance. Given the rise of positive psychology and the hope of an LIS research agenda into higher things, perhaps we can hope for a positive everyday life?

We cannot escape the often dull and sometimes unpleasant aspects of everyday life, but we can choose to recognize its coexistent pleasurable and profound aspects (Highmore 2004). Metcalfe and Game (2004) vividly describe a small and simple moment of human connection in everyday life, in which attention to the mundane is the key to a profound experience of awe, love, and the eternal. Crook (1998) reviews approaches to everyday life which foreground spontaneity, playfulness, sensuality, and heterogeneity.

Sztompka (2008) outlines the meaning and anatomy of everyday life, defined as the observable manifestation of social existence, in terms both of what it is not and what it is. Everyday life is *not*:

- confined to the profane as opposed to the sacred. Magical and religious ritual and other symbolic practices happen alongside down to earth routines.
- Confined to a common class of people. Every person has his own everyday life.
- Limited to private life. Some people's everyday lives are more in the public eye than others, but we all live out parts of our everyday lives in view of other.

Everyday life:

- Always occurs in a social context
- Repeats. Everyday life events can be cyclical, rhythmic, or routine. They may happen multiple times a day or once a year.
- Very often assumes a ritual form following un-reflexive, deeply internalized scripts. These include habitual actions and formal occasions for which there is an understood order of doing things. Habitual and routine actions tend to flow un-reflexively

⁸ Because I am primarily concerned with how the concept of everyday life has been interpreted in LIS, I did not find it necessarily to consult all of the cited sociological works in these studies. When the original source was not consulted, it will be discussed only in terms of the secondary authors' interpretations.

• Is embodied and located in space and time. The location and duration of an everyday event influence the character of the event.

This echoes Lave (1988, 14):

In the functionalist view the label "everyday" is heavy with negative connotations emanating from its definition in contrast to scientific thought. Its customary use encompasses the unmarked, unsung category of humble domestic activities and their associated social roles (e.g. housewives, running errands). In the version of practice theory developed here, mundane activities in domestic settings do not delimit the boundaries of some putative "everyday world." Nor does the term denote a division between domestic life and work, domestic and public domains, routine maintenance and productive activity, or manual routines and creative mental work. "Everyday" is not a time of day, a social role, nor a set of activities, particular social occasions, or settings for activity. Instead, the everyday world is just that: what people do in daily weekly, monthly, ordinary cycles of activity.

These conceptualizations of everyday life clearly make room for the many ways in which people populate their everyday lives with the "higher things" of life. They would include religious practice (often routine, but also profound) and celebrations (cyclical and pleasurable). Many people decide to make other types of higher things a regular part of everyday life. Examples include taking on a hobby, deciding to regularly frequent cultural events, beginning a meditation practice, participating in volunteering or practicing "random acts of kindness," entering therapy or other self-development programs, resolving to have regular date nights with a partner/spouse or to liven up one's sex life, taking joy and physical pleasure in one's daily exercise routine, keeping a mindfulness/thankfulness journal to focus oneself on the good in one's life, and so on. The list of higher things that people choose to make room for in their daily lives is endless.

THE PRACTICE OF EVERYDAY LIFE

Rothbauer (2005) presents Certeau's practice of everyday life (de Certeau 1984; de Certeau, Giard, and Mayol 1998) as a theory of information behavior. Another review of Certeau's perspective on everyday life is (de Queiroz 1989). Certeau conceives of the practice of everyday life in the context of an increasingly socially fragmented world based on a productivist economy where increasingly marginalized ordinary people are characterized as consumers or users of culture and products lost in a jungle of functionalist reality. This sounds dark and dour indeed, but I see it as hopeful; his idea of practice of everyday life includes the ways in which individuals navigate through this unsavory world in creative, often subversive ways as meaningful individuals. These ways or practices are called "tactics." Tactics are contrasted with "strategies" which are the recognized, legitimized, expected ways of using and engaging with institutions, establishments, and systems over which ordinary individuals have no control. Tactics are ways of manipulating uncontrolled events to turn them into opportunities, and they comprise the bulk of everyday practice:

Many everyday practices (talking, reading, moving about, shopping, cooking, etc.) are tactical in character. And so are, more generally, many "ways of operating": victories of the "weak" over the "strong" (whether the strength be that of powerful people or the violence of things or of an imposed order, etc.), clever tricks, knowing how to get away with things, "hunter's cunning," maneuvers, polymorphic simulations, joyful discoveries, poetic as well as warlike (de Certeau 1984, xix).

Certeau's practice of everyday life featuring the ordinary person as an active, creative individual is inherently positive. Kinser (1992, 81) writes that Certeau's view of everyday life "is superbly idealistic: daily activities are neither alienating nor fatuously complicitous with the established order of things, but rather positively stimulating to the individual and for the individual's urban ambiance. The vision is inspiring." Several other foundational theories of everyday life summarized by Bovone (1989), also contrast everyday life with a larger system that is out of individual control.

SOME OTHER CONCEPTUALIZATIONS OF EVERYDAY LIFE

Hancock and Tyler (2004, 624-5) write that everyday life has traditionally existed as an analytical space used as part of broad interpretive approaches to understanding the social world. Citing Garfinkel (1967), Goffman (1959), and Schutz (1967), they characterize the traditional concept of the everyday as concerned with: "the mundane, common place and largely informal actions and interactions of people which provides the backdrop to, or set of resources for, their everyday sense-making activities." In (Schutz and Luckmann 1973), the everyday life-world is the unexamined ground of the natural world view--"the province of reality which the wide-awake and normal adult simply takes for granted in the attitude of common sense." Crook (1998) reviews other common conceptualizations of everyday life as taken-for-granted. Of course, what is taken for granted varies in different cultures, groups, and communities, for it is socially constructed (Berger and Luckmann 1989). While moving through the environments and communities in which we live out our everyday lives (home, work, social group, etc), each of us finds ourselves navigating through different social worlds with their own particular flavors of reality. The idea of the routine, patterned, or at least repeating nature of actions in everyday life seems to be the most common thread across approaches to the concept.

TREATMENT OF EVERYDAY LIFE IN ELIS RELATED STUDIES

Treatment of the concept of everyday life in ELIS related studies varies. One quality of the everyday found in LIS conceptualizations of the term is its patterned, routine, and/or habitual nature. Among serious readers, reading is interwoven into the everyday routines of life (Ross 1999). Our habitual use of digital technology, combined with its ubiquity and frequent invisibility, indicates that it is inextricably embedded in our everyday lives (Beer 2005). Illness is said to interrupt the structures and routines of everyday life and the forms of knowledge that underpin them. If illness is chronic, this interruption becomes a feature of one's everyday life (Baker 1998). The everyday in domestic environments is associated with "routine, patterns, structures" and "households locked into constantly shifting structures...by various social, technological and cultural networks" (Silverstone 1993, 229).

The last two examples above hint at the other understanding of the everyday often found in LIS: the notion of the everyday as a shared and often taken-for-granted understanding of reality, the order of things, and common sense. Davenport (2002) avoided the term "everyday" but defined mundane knowledge management in organizations as "an expression of shared order, articulated in generic activities, ordered by protocols, procedures, documentary genres, and other artifacts." This highlights the patterned, routine nature of this work and the way it constructs a shared common-sense understanding of the work. In (Agosto and Hughes-Hassell 2006), one function of ELIS is exploration that helps teens understand the social and physical worlds in which they live.

It is fairly common to avoid the ambiguous mess of the meaning of the everyday by defining it simply as not-work (Bates 2004a; Meyers, Fisher, and Marcoux 2007). Some do not explain what they mean by everyday at all (Carey, McKechnie, and McKenzie 2001; Mckenzie 2003; Tuominen 2004; Savolainen and Kari 2004). The assumption seems to be that "everyday" is synonymous with not-work.

Savolainen defined ELIS as happening outside of work contexts, but explicitly stated that the everyday and work are inextricable and complementary. This fact is reiterated by Spink and Cole (2001) in their introduction to a special journal issue on ELIS. Given (2002) specifically studied the overlap in work and non-work information needs and behaviors among mature undergraduate students. Likewise Julien and Michels (2004) note that work is an integral part of daily life and include work related information behavior in their intra-individual case study. Finally, some researchers examine everyday routine in the workplace (Jacob 2001). This is also the focus of much work in CSCW; (Davenport 2002) is but one example.

LIFE IN THE ROUND AND EVERYDAY LIFE

Chatman's theory of life in the round (1999) was developed in the domain of LIS and in many ways functions as a theory of everyday life. Chatman drew from a large number of sociological works including (Berger 1963), (Garfinkel 1967), (Berger and Luckmann 1989), (Goffman 1959) and (Unruh 1980). A life can be lived in the round when one lives in a small world. Chatman's explication of the small world sounds much like many descriptions of everyday life. The small world results in a particular worldview including rules about appropriate behavior and sources of knowledge that permits its members to conduct their lives in a routine, expected manner (Chatman 1999; Burnett, Besant, and Chatman 2001), but these rules can also be seen as constraining. Much of the information that holds a small world together "is perceived by members of that world as appropriate, legitimate, and as having a rightful place in the general scheme of things" (Burnett, Besant, and Chatman 2001, 536). A life in the round lived in a small world "acknowledges everyday reality at its most routine" and is usually so predictable that it is "a life taken for granted" (Chatman 1999, 214). One effect of living a life in the round is that people rarely cross the boundaries of their own small world in the conduct of their information behaviors. The way one understands everyday life strongly affects how one seeks and uses information. This very similar to the conclusions of Savolainen's original ELIS study (1995), and so we have come full circle in the discussion of the concept of the everyday within LIS.

CONNECTIONS STILL TO BE MADE

Finally, it is worth noting that only in the late stages of compiling this review did I discover the work of Pierre Bourdieu as a common thread between several of the themes and topics surrounding my proposed study. As mentioned above, Savolainen (1995) uses Bourdieu's notion of habitus as a basis for the ideas of way of life and mastery of life. Bourdieu and Whiteside (1990) discuss photography in terms of habitus and ethos in everyday life. Finally, Kane and Zink (2004) discuss the experience of serious leisure in terms of Bourdieu's conception of "field." The extent of the work I would like to examine and the fact that nearly all of Bourdieu's work held by UNC Libraries is currently held in reserve for an undergraduate class, combined with this late discovery means that I have nothing to add here except that I believe exploring Bourdieu's work may be fruitful for further guiding my thought and analysis on the proposed study.

My current conceptualization of the everyday for this study incorporates the following, but needs further exploration and rigor:

- A shared (or shared-enough to communicate and cooperate) understanding of the order of things and their meaning
- Taking this understanding of order and meaning for granted most of the time
- By carrying out our everyday lives in one or more social contexts, our shared understandings of the order and meaning of things is continually reinforced and reconstructed.
- A focus on the repeating, cyclical, patterned, habitual, and the routine
- A recognition that living in the everyday perhaps paradoxically means breaking with expectation, seizing opportunities, and deciding to do things differently.⁹
- Is inclusive of the high and the low, the profound and the mundane. With intent, profound and profoundly enjoyable experiences can be made part of one's mundane routine, while certain approaches to the mundane can lead to experience of the profound

INFORMATION ORGANIZATION PRACTICES OF EVERYDAY LIFE

Here I want to show how the proposed study fits into both the everyday and the research area of information practice. I think of the proposed study of the information organization and management behaviors of amateur art photographers as a PIM study. I assume the photographers will create and collect photographs (digital and print) and other information objects related to their serious leisure pursuit, and that they will have some level of system(s) and/or structure(s) for managing and organizing these information objects. My interest in PIM is in how people organize and manage their personal information, and I see this subset of PIM as falling under the umbrella of the LIS topic of organization of information. It can be seen both as a sub-category of HIOB and as a form of information practice.

The proposed study fits better into an information practice approach. I return to two statements about this approach mentioned above:

the discourse on information practice accentuates the continuity and habitualization of activities affected and shaped by social and cultural factors (Savolainen 2007, 126)

Talja and Hansen (2006) include interpreting and indexing ("giving names to pieces of information for the purpose or retrieval and re-use") as information practices because they "are part of the routine accomplishment of work tasks and everyday life" (125).

⁹ This is reminiscent of Dervin's view of "reality as both chaotic and ordered, the human as habitual and ever-changing and seeing structures as simultaneously static-seeming and continually constructed. Sense-Making embraces dichotomy and refuses to take sides" (Dervin 2003). The uncanny parallels between some of the ideas of de Certeau and Dervin must be saved for a future paper...

In its interest in activities that are continual, habitualized, or routine, the information practice approach is better suited for investigations of the everyday than the information behavior approach with its focus on problem situations and "practical information seeking."¹⁰

Infrastructure as unifying concept

I keep returning to the idea of infrastructure to explain my view of how PIM and the everyday are so tightly interlinked. It is not a perfect analogy, but it has been useful for organizing my thinking thus far. {Star 1999 #42773}outlines the properties of infrastructure. Below I will use Star's properties to briefly discuss points of similarity between these topics.¹¹

- Infrastructure is embedded into and inside of other structures, social arrangements, and technologies.
 - Everyday life is embedded in the social contexts in which we live. It allows us to do our business, and in the process of doing our business, we construct it.
 - PIM is not typically done for its own sake, but as a part of or support to other tasks. The use of technologies creates a need for PIM practice, and we use technologies to do PIM.
- Infrastructure is transparent, in that is invisibly supports tasks without having to be thought about or reinvented each time it is needed.
 - Everyday life is typically invisible and taken for granted.
 - Once we have PIM habits, we often don't have to think about them any more. The organization of information has in general been construed as hidden work (Neumann 1999b).
- Infrastructure has spatial and/or temporal reach and scope; it does not exist in one-time events.
 - Everyday life is embodied and takes place in time and space. It is made of those events and actions that are repeated.
 - PIM is concerned with objects that exist in space and we use space to organize things. PIM is an activity concerned with and influenced by time. We need reminding or refinding in the future. We need to find things from the past. Time is a common attribute for organizing information. PIM is not done once and finished.
- Infrastructure is learned as a part of membership in a community of practice and is taken for granted. It both shapes and is shaped by conventions of a community of practice.
 - This is part of many definitions of everyday life.
 - As PIM is typically done by an individual for himself, this does not clearly apply. On the other hand, it is reasonable to think one's use of PIM tools or ways of organizing might be at least in part affected by one's social contacts

¹⁰ I use this phrase in the spirit of (Savolainen 1995).

¹¹ Star notes that whether or not something is infrastructure is relative. For me, electricity is infrastructural, but for an engineer employed at the power company, it is the focus of work. The incredibly "meta" task of discussing the topic of infrastructure itself as a topic is slightly amusing.

- In order to support work in the background, infrastructure connects to other components of infrastructure in standard ways.
 - My everyday life requires infrastructural components such as a shared language, electricity, transportation systems, food supply system, etc.
 - PIM practices are dependent on other components of infrastructure like standard file formats, communication and file transfer protocols, and standard paper sizes.
- Infrastructure is always evolving in the inertia of the existing installed base with its strengths and limitations.
 - We cannot escape our histories. Our current worldview influences what ideas and experiences we accept and reject, controlling our ability to change understanding of everyday life all at once. New points of view or understandings do not necessarily erase old ones.
 - Our decisions on the adoption of new PIM practices and tools are influenced by current practices and tools as well as by the state and size of our overall collection of information organized using current and older tools. Whether we can migrate all of our data, metadata, and information structures without losing anything affects what new strategies we will try.
- Infrastructure becomes visible when it breaks.
 - Everyday life is generally invisible and taken for granted. When everyday life is interrupted or challenged we note its absence.
 - We don't pay much attention to our PIM practices until we can't find something, they become too cumbersome, we need to move our stuff to a new computers, or another aberrant or problematic situation occurs.
- Finally, no one is in charge of infrastructure, changing it from above. It is created in modular increments through routine practice in local spaces.
 - This is part of many definitions of everyday life. Highmore (2004, 316) writes of "the impossibility of finding an origin to routine: the way routine and habit creep up on you, the way you can never locate the moment when an activity became routine."
 - Rarely is a grand, all encompassing PIM design hatched and implemented in an orderly fashion¹²

Our understanding of everyday life can thus be described as infrastructure supporting our living of life. Things that are infrastructural in a context are by their natures part of everyday life in that context. PIM is an infrastructural activity supporting our functioning in an information rich and information demanding world. Thus PIM is an everyday life activity. This is true regardless of whether it is done at home or at work. For this reason, it is appropriate to characterize and approach PIM as an information practice.

¹² Jones (2008a) does mention a few people who go to great lengths to unify all of their personal information, but this happens as a response to the fragmentation of existing practices, or the threat of such.

WHY IS THIS TOPIC IMPORTANT?

My position is that as an everyday, infrastructural information practice, PIM is of central interest to LIS.¹³ There are two main reasons for this. First, libraries of all types have in the past decade begun to experience difficulty convincing the public and relevant stakeholders that they provide unique and valuable services. When the general perception is that any information worth having can be found on the Internet, of what use is the library? Miksa (2007) claims that changes in the information environment shifting the location of library use from public space to private space are challenging the most basic aspects of the library. He calls for LIS education to ensure the survival of librarianship by beginning to accommodate a very different view of the library as:

a personal (i.e., limited and highly controlled) function of individual or small group needs. This will involve altogether new concepts oriented around the selection, acquisition, and organization of information and provision for services for specific end-users--for example, end-user selection, end-user catalogs, and end-user classification--rather than in terms of large conglomerations of users (Miksa 2007, 18).

This vision of the librarian of the future is a person who is informed enough about different kinds of information, the information needs of individuals, and technology to create efficient personal systems for information access and organization for people or for small groups, or, in other words, a private PIM specialist.

This is a radical example, but in truth there has been a shift in libraries toward providing more visible information services (Fourie 2004).¹⁴ Helping people and groups manage their information is not an entirely new role for libraries. Over the years, some academic libraries have identified PIM as an area of instruction, offering workshops or seminars on the topic that met with success (Wanat 1985; Dow 1987; Fiscella and Sack 1994). Partridge and Genoni (1996) identified a gap in the education of researchers regarding strategies for managing personal research information, a specialized form of PIM for those engaged in research (Genoni and Partridge 2000) and provided training.

More recently there has been a shift from reporting upon instruction programs about PIM to calling for a shift in the understanding of the role of the library and librarians which includes PIM services (Newton-Smith 2000; Savenije and Grygierczyk 2001). Sullivan (2004) makes the case for the role of academic librarians in assisting university researchers in the use of information support tools to more effectively handle the increasing flow of information. Citing the heavy use and prevalence of personal information collections among scholars, McGeachin claims that librarians should conduct research on how such collections are managed and makes a strong case for the library role in helping:

¹³ PIM seems to have been more openly embraced as a research area outside of LIS, mainly by computer science and human computer interaction.

¹⁴ Selection, collection, and organization of information are perennial library services, but they happen behind the scenes, and are therefore invisible, leading to the age old question, "Why do you need a master's degree to check out books to people?!"

Librarians can be knowledgeable in the use of bibliographic citation management and personal information management applications and offer instruction to customers in one-on-one consultations, group classes, and by Web-based tutorials. Since the acquisition, classification, storage, and retrieval of information are at the heart of library science, librarians are a very appropriate group to advise scholars on how to manage their personal information collections (McGeachin 2004, 135).

This trend is not only happening in academic libraries. The public library's role is seen as shifting from "solely providing access to knowledge to acting as a platform for the storage and dissemination of local community knowledge within the global context created by twenty-first century digital technologies (Chowdhury, Poulter, and McMenemy 2006, 454). The need for providing some method or guidance for the organization of this local community knowledge is implied.

Second, in recent years there has been an overall increase in interest in and the importance of ordinary people and everyday life. This has been seen in LIS and other academic disciplines such as history, sociology, and cultural studies. The value of personal information collections for Institutions such as libraries and archives show greater interest in the fate of the personal collections of ordinary people, previously valued mainly for their creators' personal and family use (Beagrie 2005).

The "twenty-first century digital technologies" mentioned above have driven an explosion of digital content creation. People's personal collections now exist in multiple locations in multiple formats. The PIM implications of this will be discussed in the section on PIM fragmentation. The realization that digital information is both essential and fragile, requiring the active care and management of data to facilitate its current use and ensure future accessibility, resulted in the identification of digital curation as a necessary activity for long term stewardship of digital information (Rusbridge et al. 2005). While digital curation activity has been primarily focused on scientific data and digital libraries, Beagrie (2006) explores the need for this sort of care and management for personal collections. While digital curation of personal information is not synonymous with PIM, it seems reasonable to expect that effective PIM practices will simplify the tasks involved in digital curation (Paradigm 2008, sec. 3). However, as Marshall's (Marshall 2007) exploratory research shows, the long-term management of personal information is a highly problematic area. Helping people learn to manage their personal information for the long term may be a useful service, not only for library users, but for librarians, digital curators, and archivists interested in preserving such materials in their collections.

EVERYDAY INFORMATION ORGANIZATION PRACTICE IN AN EVERYDAY PURSUIT

I have now situated my proposed study of the everyday PIM information organization practices of amateur art photographers squarely within the LIS discipline and literature. I have explained why studies of personal information organization practices are highly relevant to the concerns of LIS. To provide further background for the proposed study, the remainder of this review primarily examines, from a few perspectives, the various ways people organize information. This includes the purely cognitive organization of knowledge or concepts, as well as the personal information management of many forms of information including photographs. I also examine to a lesser extent information organization behavior in organizations--this is of great interest to researchers in computer supported cooperative work--and in institutions like libraries that exist to gather, organize, and provide information to some population.

First, however, it is necessary to identify and describe the population I intend to study: amateur art photographers. For this purpose, I use the SLP. These are people who have committed to bringing the practice of art photography into their everyday lives as a serious, though non-professional pursuit. As I will demonstrate below, amateur art photographers are a distinct group of amateur photographers; to my knowledge their information practices have been studied.

The Serious Leisure Perspective

Since Jenna Hartel introduced Robert Stebbins' Serious Leisure Perspective in her work on hobbyist cooks (Hartel 2003), there has been a small but growing number of researchers in LIS using the Perspective to situate groups of people and their activities. These will be discussed after a review of the Perspective.

The simplest definition of the Serious Leisure perspective is that it is a theoretic typology of the whole of leisure. In development since 1982, it is rooted in theory derived from data gathered from nearly 30 years of sociological research into specific leisure populations. The Perspective provides a structure for identifying any activity as a specific type of leisure, related to other activities and types of leisure in various ways. Situating studies of diverse groups within a common framework, will, over time provide for the accretion of knowledge that is currently lacking in ELIS research.

Using the Serious Leisure Perspective as a lens through which to look at digital photography and its practitioners also provides a way to distinguish between different types of digital photographers, identify which types are of interest in the proposed research, and possibly compare the information practices of different types of photographers in the proposed research or follow-up work. It will also allow for the findings of the proposed research to be compared to other studies on different activities that happen to be the same type of leisure as digital photography.

Finally, though the importance of studying information practices outside the work context is no longer a debated point, the Serious Leisure Perspective has identified many important personal and social functions or participation in certain types of leisure. Urban (2007, p. 39) recently observed that "serious leisure participants look very much like the lifelong learners identified by the Institute of Museum and Library Services (IMLS) and other funding agencies as communities of interest." This observation was also explored in some depth by Jones and Symon (Jones and Symon 2001). To any who may still think of everyday and leisure to be frivolous pursuits, the potential fundability of this research may lend a greater sense of import to the topic.

An overview of the Perspective

The Serious Leisure Perspective breaks all of leisure down into three main types: serious leisure, casual leisure, and project-based leisure. Before the Perspective is explained, it should be noted that within it activities are categorized or given as examples of different types of leisure, but what the categories are truly describing is a particular mode of engaging in that activity. For example, we can say that watching movies is a casual leisure activity. Watching movies is indeed typically a casual leisure pursuit, but it can be categorized as another form of leisure given a different context or approach to the activity. Systematically becoming an expert on Japanese film by watching and studying the movies over years of one's life would constitute a serious leisure pursuit, while watching a few French films set in Paris to get oneself in the right frame of mind for an upcoming Parisian vacation might be closer to project-based leisure. Not all activities can cross these leisure type boundaries, but many can, including digital photography. The ways in which it crosses boundaries will be discussed after a general introduction and description of the Perspective.

WHAT IS LEISURE?

Before delving into the Serious Leisure Perspective's typology of leisure, it is first necessary to understand what is included in leisure sphere. Attempts to define leisure have primarily been experientially grounded. They are based on how people perceive their own uses of time and activities. Three factors have dominated in the research on what is perceived as leisure. They are: work relatedness, freedom, and motivation. That which is most clearly leisure has been defined as low in work relation, high in freedom, and intrinsically motivated (Iso-Ahola 1979). These factors are not without their critics, and a simpler kind of definition has emerged.

Low work relation as a defining characteristic of leisure is problematic because some leisure activities are work related. One reason is that leisure activity is sometimes undertaken with colleagues, or is made available through the workplace.¹⁵ Another is that some people who truly enjoy their work and/or the types of activities involved in it may choose leisure activities similar to their work. In tracing the history of hobbies in America, Gelber (1999) argues in Chapter 1 that certain leisure activities have been popular and encouraged in America because they are often work-like in their activities, have value that mirrors those of the workplace, and do not conflict with the Protestant work ethic. He also discusses the post-World War II surge in hobbyist attempts at turning their leisure activities into paying occupations.

The issue of remuneration is somewhat related to work relation as a determiner of leisure. Gelber (1999) and Stebbins (2007, p.6) both note that it is common for people make money in the pursuit of their leisure activities. In this case, the reason these activities remain in the sphere of leisure is that people are not dependent on the activities to make a living, and their motivation for taking part in an activity is not to make money. In summary, the earning of money in the pursuit of a leisure activity does not disqualify that activity as leisure. If a person would engage in the activity in the absence of any earnings, and if they do not rely on the earnings as a source of their living, the activity is still leisure.

¹⁵ See cases like the office giving employees tickets to a sporting event, or the once ubiquitous arcade games and ping pong tables in Internet boom startups. Also, consider the last line in the "Requirements" section of each of the current software engineer job openings at an Internet startup company in Seattle: Ping pong, Paintball or Barbequing experience a definite plus (LiveMocha 2007).

Freedom as a defining characteristic of leisure refers to how freely a leisure activity is chosen by an individual. If a person has no choice in whether to participate in an activity, that activity is unlikely to be experienced as leisure. Stebbins (2002) summarizes a shift away from free choice as a characteristic of leisure. There is a growing recognition that everyone is constrained by societal and cultural expectations, laws, availability of funds or the lack thereof, education, and individual abilities. People choose leisure activities out of the options that the above factors make available to them, but this is not truly free choice.

What remains is motivation. Leisure is seen as intrinsically motivated, i.e., it is pursued out of a personal desire or drive, not because of external demand or expectation. This idea is the linchpin of Stebbins' most current definition of leisure as it is approached in the Serious Leisure Perspective:

...uncoerced activity engaged in during free time, which people want to do and, in either a satisfying or a fulfilling way (or both), use their abilities and resources to succeed at this. "Free time" is time away from unpleasant obligation, with pleasant obligation being treated here as essentially leisure since *homo otiosus*, leisure man, feels no significant coercion to enact the activity in question (2007, p. 4).

So, leisure is one way a person can choose to spend free time. Leisure of any type may entail obligations, but these must be pleasant obligations. In casual leisure, a viewer is obligated to make it to the theater at a certain time to watch a movie. In serious leisure, a musician may be obligated to attend practice, but this is seen as an enjoyable opportunity to engage in the leisure activity instead of as an unpleasant obligation. At base, leisure remains a highly subjective construct. As Stebbins (1982, p. 254) wrote at the birth of the Serious Leisure Perspective: "leisure is activity defined as such by people engaging in it."

SERIOUS LEISURE

The first of the types of leisure to be examined in the development of the Serious Leisure Perspective was serious leisure. The concept was developed in response to a problem in leisure and leisure studies. Stebbins (1980) summarized research indicating that a majority of leisure time was spent in leisure activities returning the evanescent benefits of hedonistic gratification. He noted that there were other types of leisure with more durable benefits. Durable benefits are defined as the outcomes of such activities. The eight types of durable benefits available from leisure have been identified as: (1) self-actualization; (2) self-enrichment; (3) self-expression; (4) regeneration or renewal of self; (5) feelings of accomplishment; (6) enhancement of self-image; (7) social interaction and belongingness; and (8) lasting physical products of the activity (Stebbins 2007). In 1980, leisure activities with durable benefits were understudied; Stebbins highlighted the need to develop concepts and a vocabulary for discussion these activities so that research on them could proceed.

Earlier, Stebbins (1977) developed initial sociological definitions of the amateur, referring to all forms of amateur pursuits as semileisure. These pursuits, done outside of the work context, nonetheless had some work-like characteristics. Such activities did not fit comfortably with the general concept of leisure as the least determined of an person's time. This explained the lack or research on these activities. However, these work-like characteristics were seen as why these activities held durable benefits for their participants. This is not as illogical or contradictory as it may at first seem. Paradoxically, highly enjoyable flow states have been found to occur more than three times as often in work than in leisure, yet people wish to be at leisure when they are at work (Csikszentmihalyi and LeFevre 1989).

In 1982 Stebbins introduced the concept of serious leisure to describe these types of leisure having durable benefits. The new serious leisure concept incorporated his earlier conceptual work on amateurs and hobbyists (Stebbins 1980) and added career volunteering to the framework. These are the three types of serious leisure. Six qualities distinguish serious leisure from other forms of leisure. First, serious leisure is characterized by people having leisure careers in their chosen pursuits. A leisure career spans is a long-term endeavor, possessing an arc of increasing skill, knowledge, and/or experience over time. The acquisition and use of skill, knowledge, and/or experience over time. The acquisition and use of skill, knowledge, and/or experience over time can at times be challenging. It requires significant personal effort (the second quality) and perseverance when things do not go well, are frustrating, or are generally unpleasant (the third). A fourth quality is the social world (Unruh 1980) and unique ethos that forms around each instance of serious leisure. Fifth, due to the nature of the other five qualities people involved in serious leisure pursuits tend to strongly identify with those pursuits. Finally, in addition to the combination of enjoyment and fulfillment found in other forms of leisure, serious leisure results in the eight durable benefits listed above. (Stebbins 2007, p.11-13).

Durable benefits are the outcomes of involvement in a leisure pursuit, but a fine distinction is made between these beneficial outcomes of the activity and the rewards that motivate people to engage in the activity. Some durable benefits are also rewards. These include personal enrichment, self-actualization, self-expression, self-image, and regeneration of oneself after work. Some rewards are social (associating with other participants and being part of a social world, a sense of accomplishing something together, and a sense of being needed and contributing to a group); however, most of the rewards of serious leisure are personal. In addition to the rewards that are also durable benefits, personal rewards include self-gratification (pleasure) and financial return.

Such rewards offset the costs of serious leisure. Stebbins (2007, p. 14-15) reports that each serious leisure pursuit he has studied has had its own specific constellation of costs or negative aspects, but that participants report that any costs are heavily outweighed by the rewards that the activity brings. One general cost of serious leisure is time. To be serious about a pursuit requires a substantial time commitment, which means taking time away from other activities and responsibilities including work and maintaining relationships with others. Stebbins reports on participants whose prioritization of their chosen pursuit precipitated talk of divorce (1992, p. 108-111). Another general (and literal) cost of serious leisure is money. As a leisure career progresses, a devotee often consistently wants to upgrade any relevant equipment, acquire more specific equipment, amass more information¹⁶, and/or get more training. Enjoyment of a serious leisure activity and the pursuit of its rewards may at times create a sense of uncontrollability around the activity and how much time and/or money is allotted to it. When a serious leisure pursuit becomes uncontrollable, all costs increase, but the rewards are still high enough to continue to drive the participant to continue. A social cost, exacerbated by the above personal costs, can be the social marginalization of the devotee outside the social world of his pursuit (2007, p. 17).

¹⁶ One survey found that amateur scientists are far more likely to gain access to books and magazines by purchasing them than by getting them from a library (Dolence and Gilmour 2006).

The terminology used to describe serious leisure in the sociology of leisure is by necessity precise and technical. A focus on the existence of the costs of serious leisure and perseverance through difficulties is necessary in describing serious leisure because these differentiate it from other forms of leisure. In all of the seriousness it is easy to lose track of the notion of leisure as something that is generally pleasurable. Studies of serious leisure stress that, "...the adjective serious is distinguished from humourless, and offered without any sense of moral judgement" (Crouch 1993, p. 19). Stebbins sums it up best:

...the senses to be stressed of the adjective "serious" are earnestness, sincerity, importance, and carefulness, rather than gravity, solemnity, joylessness, distress, and anxiety. Though items in the second list occasionally describe serious leisure events, they are not characteristic of them, and they fail to nullify or, in many cases, even dilute the overall pleasure participants gain from them (Stebbins 1982, p. 258).

TYPES OF SERIOUS LEISURE

As mentioned above, the three types of serious leisure are volunteering, pursuit of hobbies, and amateurism. These three types are clearly described with many examples of how different activities fall into the types in (Stebbins 1998), while current research on the three is synthesized in (Stebbins 2007). Basic descriptions of the three types follow below to enable discussion of digital photography as a serious leisure pursuit.

VOLUNTEERING

Stebbins defines volunteering as:

Uncoerced help offered either formally or informally with no, or at most, token pay and done for the benefit of both other people (beyond the volunteer's family) and the volunteer (Stebbins 2007, p. 9).

Among the serious leisure types, it is only in volunteering that self-interest that characterizes serious leisure is joined by altruism as a motivation, though the dynamic between the two motivations is not yet understood. Another way volunteering is different from the other types is that the activities of the volunteer are directed by another--an employee in charge of managing volunteers, or another volunteer with more experience. Amateurism and hobbies are self-directed. Volunteering can be done as casual leisure, for instance passing out flyers at an event. It can also be done as project-based leisure. One example is going on a trip to help build houses for the poor. But as a serious leisure pursuit, volunteering is undertaken as a career over time. Career volunteering entails acquiring certain skills, knowledge, and/or training requiring time and effort (Stebbins 1992). (Stebbins 1998) presents a description of 17 different types of serious leisure volunteering (p. 72-80). While digital photography may be undertaken in the course of a volunteer activity--for instance, documenting the construction of a house on a volunteer trip--it is not entered into by itself on a volunteer basis. Therefore, we will leave the topic of volunteering behind and discuss the other types of serious leisure.

AMATEURISM

The distinctive quality of amateurs is that they are engaged in activities that other people do professionally as an occupation. Setting up the definition of the amateur as requiring a professional counterpart means that we have to be able to define who the professionals are. In early work on conceptualizing amateurism, Stebbins argued for a complex macrosociological definition of the professional based on type of service or product provided, authority, cultural tradition, standards, a sense of identity with colleagues, and training or certification requirements for admission to the profession (Stebbins 1977). However, he has recently stated that the intricacies of sociologically defining professionalism should be left to the sociology of work instead of the sociology of leisure; in the Serious Leisure Perspective, professionals are to now be defined as "someone who is dependent on the income from an activity that other people pursue with little or no remuneration as leisure" (Stebbins 2007, p. 6). This has implications for the placement of activities within the Perspective because as many activities move toward professionalization, people begin making a living off of them long before they develop the hallmarks of the macrosociological definition of professional.

From the beginning, amateurs have been defined as playing a part in a Professional-Amateur-Public (P-A-P) dynamic. Both amateurs and professionals serve publics, sometimes the same publics. Amateurs are also part of the public of the professionals. Indeed, because they seriously developing their knowledge and skills toward the goal of professional-level standards and insist on excellence, they become a critical part of the professional's public. Amateurs are also able to move fields forward intellectually in ways that professionals cannot (Stebbins 1982). Haley (Haley 1976) discussed amateurs in a broader sense than that of the Serious Leisure Perspective, but one suggestion remains in line with this claim of the P-A-P: amateurs are allowed to guess, and professionals are expected to prove the amateurs wrong, if indeed the amateurs are wrong. Professionals who guess, however, are in trouble. Yoder's (1997) study of the amateur activity of bass fishing introduced another actor, and potentially complicating factor, into the P-A-P: the commodity agent. Commodity agents are "groups and individuals involved in the production, facilitation, and exchange of activity related commodities" (p. 415). Some serious leisure activities are more commodified than others; in these there is at least the perception that a great deal of specialized equipment is required. The role of commodity agent in some activities may be filled by both amateurs and professionals (see the amateur who makes equipment to sell to other amateurs, and the professional whose image and/or expertise is used to market products to amateurs). This finding introduces another layer into the P-A-P dynamic (Stebbins 2007, p. 7).

In contrast with general parlance, the term "amateur" does not indicate shabby or unprofessional work in the Serious Leisure Perspective. The opposite is true. Amateurs know enough to require excellence from professionals because they themselves are striving for professional levels of excellence at their chosen activity. As activities become professionalized and one can make a living at them, levels of standards and expectations begin to rise. In such a case, a practitioner of such activity can decide to take on the activity as a full time profession. Participants who do not become professionalized will not be able to do the activity full time. They may get discouraged by the difficulty of keeping up with rising standards in their limited leisure time, either becoming dabblers or ceasing the activity. Or, they may find a fulfilling and (mostly) pleasurable experience in challenging themselves to meet high standards as part of an amateur leisure career.

HOBBIES

Hobbies are much like amateur pursuits in that they involve a leisure career with all the difficulties and rewards that entails. They require commitment and perseverance and provide durable benefits to participants. Hobbyists find publics in their family, friends, and other hobbyists. The main difference is that hobby pursuits have no professional counterpart. Though in some cases there may be commercial equivalents to hobby activities, these hobbies do not constitute a work role for other individuals (Stebbins 1980). This is why participation in some sports (e.g. mountain climbing (Stebbins 2005a) or long-distance running(Yair 1990)) is categorized as a hobby, whereas serious participation in other sports with professional leagues (e.g. tournament bass fishing (Yoder 1997) or basketball) are considered amateur pursuits.

Collecting is probably the most common form of hobby, and is the most studied (see (Olmsted 1991) for a review of research and (Gelber 1999) for a history of hobbies in America centered on collecting as the most common type of hobby). Serious collectors gain deep knowledge of the history, context, manufacture, and properties of the collected items. They are not be confused with casual accumulators who may have collections of items, but have not engaged in learning about the collected objects, or obsessive hoarders (Olmsted 1991). Other types of hobbies include makers and tinkerers, activity participants, players of sports and games, and liberal arts hobbies. This last group is of particular interest in LIS because it indicates the existence of hobbies defined by their "search for broad knowledge of an area of human life and the search for this knowledge for its own sake" (Stebbins 1994, p. 175). Essentially these hobbies are based on information seeking and synthesis.

PROJECT-BASED LEISURE

Project based leisure is defined as:

...a short-term, moderately complicated, either one-shot or occasional, though infrequent, creative undertaking carried out in free time. It requires considerable planning, effort, and sometimes skill or knowledge, but for all that is neither serious leisure nor intended to develop into such (Stebbins 2005b, p. 2).

In effort and skill involved, project-based leisure can be similar to serious leisure. Also, they types of activities undertaken in projects are often pursued by others as serious leisure. The main difference is that projects do not require long-term commitment and so do not constitute a leisure career. For people who have no time or inclination to begin a serious leisure career, project-based leisure pursuits can provide a sense of fulfillment not gained from purely casual leisure. Because of the relatively short duration of a project, a real social world does not spring up around it. However, project-based leisure can build community by bringing people together with a common goal and carrying off community events and projects. Some examples of project-based leisure include a genealogical project,¹⁷ volunteering for a sporting event, planning a party, and making preparations for a holiday. As is suggested in these examples, project-based leisure is often motivated by an event. Stebbins identifies two types of project-based leisure: one-shot and occasional.

¹⁷ Yakel (Yakel 2004), however, notes that genealogy and family history do not have clear end goals. There is always more information that can be searched for and integrated into the larger narrative of a family.

CASUAL LEISURE

Casual leisure is defined as "immediately, intrinsically rewarding, relatively short-lived pleasurable activity requiring little or no special training to enjoy it" (Stebbins 1997, p. 18). It includes play, relaxation, passive entertainment, active entertainment, sociable conversation, sensory stimulation, casual volunteering, and pleasurable aerobic activity (Stebbins 2007, p. 39). Though it does not offer the durable benefits of a leisure career, casual leisure is not denigrated in the Serious Leisure Perspective and is required for an "optimal leisure lifestyle," defined as:

...the deeply satisfying pursuit during free time of one or more substantial, absorbing forms of serious leisure, complemented by a judicious amount of casual leisure (Stebbins 2007, p. 42).

Like serious leisure, casual leisure comes with a set of costs and lasting benefits. These benefits include the sparking of creativity and discovery, learning through edutainment or infotainment, re-generation or re-creation of self outside of work time, the development and maintenance of interpersonal relationships, and a sense of well-being and quality of life. Costs vary by activity but in general include boredom due to lack of challenge, absence of a distinctive leisure identity, and limited contribution to self and community (Stebbins 2001).

Reviewing the Serious Leisure Perspective

At its base, the Serious Leisure Perspective is a classification scheme. Life and human activity are messy, tending to resist classification. For this reason, there are some basic problems with the Perspective, which I will discuss below. However, this is not to say that the Perspective will not be useful for the proposed research and future LIS research on information practices in everyday leisure.

PROBLEMS

The value of the concepts of serious, casual, and project-based leisure is clear for communicating about approaches to leisure activities, but the clarity and usefulness of the Perspective seems to break down at the closer levels of classification. In particular, the distinction between amateur and hobbyist is problematic. Stebbins places photography in the amateur category because professional photographers exist (Stebbins 1998). On the surface, this seems clear enough, but I will tease out how complicated the real situation is below.

Hartel (1994) studied information practices and spaces in gourmet cooking, which is classed in the Serious Leisure Perspective as a hobby (Stebbins 1998)¹⁸. Serious leisure gourmet cooks clearly have professional counterparts, including actors who are also commodity agents. Chef Emeril Lagasse's empire of fine dining establishments, television shows, kitchen equipment, and foods is just one example. Professional chefs create cookbooks, television shows, and websites that amateur gourmet chefs consume. The institutions that train people for entrance into the culinary profession are open to people who do not intend to become chefs or cooks. The gourmet techniques that hobbyist gourmet chefs work to acquire are pioneered and practiced by professional cooks--they set the standards. Amateur gourmet chefs sometimes eat at gourmet restaurants where the food is prepared by professional chefs and cooks. If the crème brulée is not up to snuff, they will notice. In her study, Hartel explicitly differentiates the hobby of gourmet cook from the professional catering or culinary arts.

Raising and breeding animals and gardening are also classed as hobbies in the Serious Leisure Perspective. Professional gardeners are employed in the private sector and by institutions. There are also professional landscapers and garden designers. As for raising and breeding animals, breeding racehorses is big business. In American Kennel Club activities and competitions, both amateurs and professionals are present and striving to meet professional standards (Baldwin and Norris 1999).

What this means for the theoretic relationship between amateurs, professionals, and hobbyists has not been sufficiently addressed and Stebbins admits this leaves the relationship in "conceptual limbo" (Stebbins 2007, p. 26).

One explanation may be that prior to the Perspective's shift in definition from sociological to economic, those employed in these activities did not meet the complex criteria of the professional category. Stebbins also allows for the fact that activities become professionalized over time and may move from hobby to amateur pursuit. However, the classifications reported here were published in 1998 and cooking, gardening, and breeding animals have been done professionally since long before then. Also, in particular, the professional culinary arts seem to fully meet the sociological definition of professional presented in earlier work on the Perspective (Stebbins 1992). That the Perspective does not explain why these activities should be hobbies instead of amateur pursuits shows that lines between the two categories have not been drawn clearly enough. The theoretic relationship between amateurs, professionals, and hobbyists has not been sufficiently addressed and Stebbins admits this leaves the relationship in "conceptual limbo" (Stebbins 2007, p. 26).

A slightly different issue is raised by the fact that people have the ingenuity and creativity to turn almost anything into a career. Robert J. Lang is a former physicist who folds origami full-time. He has also designed folding mechanisms for use in designing heart implants and rockets (Orlean 2007). Yet origami is a paper craft, so it is classed as a hobby in the Serious Leisure Perspective. This issue is perhaps quibbling, for as Stebbins points out:

¹⁸ There is one varying characterization in an earlier paper: "Likewise, amateur cooks are continually adding to the technical knowledge they need to prepare their meals well" (Stebbins 1994, p. 175).

...enactment of the core activity by the professionals in a particular field, to influence amateurs there, must be sufficiently visible to those amateurs. If the amateurs, in general, have no idea of the prowess of their professional counterparts, the latter become irrelevant as role models, and the leisure side of the activity remains at a hobbyist level (Stebbins 2007, p. 6)

My friend who does origami with his son on the weekends is not likely aware of Robert J. Lang or the high-level standards of the serious competitions addressed in the above-cited article. In fact, my friend pursues origami as a *casual* leisure pursuit, not a hobby. He does not do keep up with research on new designs or collect different types of paper. He is not committed to improvement; it is a fun way to pass time with his son. Lang's approach to origami is not leisure at all, but his work.

This underscores the caveat I made at the beginning of my discussion of the Serious Leisure Perspective. It should be thought of as a classification of *approaches* to an activity, not as a taxonomy of activities. However, in Stebbins' own work and that of other researchers using the Perspective this distinction is not typically made--it is generally the activities that are presented as being categorized. Jones (Jones 2006) suggests a shift from defining serious leisure in terms of specific activities defined as amateur, hobbyist, or volunteer to a definition based on social identity. Defining serious leisure as "any leisure activity that is able to provide the participant with a valued social identity" foregrounds the fact that any leisure activity can be approached with various levels of seriousness.

Finally, like any classification scheme, the Serious Leisure Perspective has some issues of bias. Parker (2006) claims that serious leisure is a middle-class phenomenon. Serious leisure is also a very Western, capitalist perspective (Gelber 1999). Very little is known about the existence of serious leisure in other cultures and studying leisure outside our own culture requires different approaches (Stebbins 2005c). Serious leisure may also be a more predominantly male phenomenon (Raisborough 1999). Raisborough (Raisborough 2006; Raisborough 2007) suggests that the demands of participation in serious leisure require women, but not men, to distance themselves from normative gender expectations. The self-interest required of a successful serious leisure career is typically frowned upon in women, who are expected to be caretakers of others. These and other studies indicate gendered work roles and gender stereotypes extend into serious leisure, especially in volunteer pursuits (Bartram 2001; Rotolo and Wilson 2007).

Lawrence (Lawrence 2006) calls attention to the ghettoization of some kinds of leisure activities into the categories tolerable and intolerable deviant serious leisure. Particularly problematic is the categorization of religious beliefs non-dominant in Western culture as leisure. Judeo-Christian religious practice is not included in the SLP, yet in 2007 (66), Stebbins uncritically cites a very dated article on the occult revival as popular culture (Truzzi 1972) to support his categorization of deviant belief systems. Here, witchcraft and Satanism are combined into witchcraft-Satanism, though many practitioners of modern witchcraft consider their practice to be religious¹⁹ and do not include Satan in their cosmology (Adler 1997). "Eastern religious thought," which qualifies as a dominant in a global culture, is also included as a deviant belief system.²⁰.

¹⁹ As does the US Military (U.S. Department of the Army 2001).

²⁰ For comparison, the other categories in Truzzi's paper are astrology; parapsychology and extrasensory perception; and a "waste-basket" category containing such things as Nostradamus, sea serpents, snowmen, werewolves, vampires, and unidentified flying objects.

USEFULNESS

The concepts of serious, casual, and project-based leisure introduced in the Perspective provide a useful framework for thinking about leisure activities and different approaches to them when designing studies, selecting participants, and reporting the work. Attention to this would allow studies of information practices in specific leisure activities to be compared and contrasted in meaningful ways, addressing in part some of the criticism that research of this nature tends to accrete rather than build upon itself. For instance in (Miller and Edwards 2007), the researchers discover in the course of the study that they have stumbled across two distinct groups of Flickr users with widely varying practices. They name the groups Snaprs and Kodak Culture participants. In the context of the Serious Leisure Perspective, this is not surprising and there are names for these two groups, respectively: serious amateur and casual photographers. Not using a shared framework for describing different approaches to leisure activities leads to confusion and inability to compare findings. For example, can we compare Snaprs to the serious amateur photographers using Flickr presented in (Cox, Clough, and Marlow 2008)? It seems likely, but is unclear because of differences in the way participants were chosen and described.

The names for the categories serious, casual, and project-based leisure were derived by Stebbins from his conversations with leisure participants about their pursuits. Though most people do not go through life categorizing their leisure pursuits, Stebbins found that his participants recognized casual leisure, contrasting it with what they did as "serious" leisure (Stebbins 2007, p. 121). Asking people to characterize their leisure is what the Perspective is based on. This approach has been used by other researchers as well. Lawrence (2006, p. 80) asked Star Trek fans whether their fandom was leisure or not. If they considered it leisure, they were asked to class their fandom as non-serious, casual leisure or serious leisure. The newly developed Serious Leisure Inventory Measure (SLIM) (Gould et al. 2008) could be a useful tool for measuring the seriousness with which participants pursue the activity of interest. The SLIM is a survey instrument based upon the six qualities of serious leisure identified by Stebbins and confirmed in many studies using the Perspective. The SLIM operationalizes these qualities and attempts to quantify the concept of serious leisure. The measure has just been introduced and use in various leisure populations is needed to determine its validity across the leisure spectrum; however the beginning of the development of measures is one indication of the maturity of the Serious Leisure Perspective.

Hartel (1994, p. 26-31) analyzes the treatment and coverage in the leisure literature of information phenomena in hobbies. She finds that there is no consistent or rigorous approach to information in the studies she examined. Information activities are largely reported only to illustrate other aspects of the hobby, though there is enough coverage to indicate that rich information phenomena take place in hobbies. Multiple information sources are consulted, including people. Some hobbies generate their own literature and genres.²¹ Finally the liberal arts hobbies identified by Stebbins are based upon the acquisition of information and learning (Shields 1994). This indicates a gap in knowledge about leisure domains that LIS research is in a unique position to fill.

²¹ Excellent examples of this sort of leisure activity researched primarily in education and literacies research, are role-playing games and fan fiction (Kustritz 2003; Thomas 2007).

Digital photography as serious leisure

My interest in the proposed research and in this review is people who do photography using a digital camera. While digital photos may be printed, they exist first as digital files which must be managed in some way. Little is known about how individuals interested in photography as a serious leisure pursuit manage their digital photos, especially in the context of long term plans. For this reason I formally specify "digital photography" as the topic. This does not, however, indicate a lack of interest in other types of photography a person might engage in or how they manage photographic prints or any other non-digital information associated with the activity. Where these exist, they will be taken into account as part of the photography-related personal information collection.

First, it is not my intention to present a history of photography, but several historical facets come to bear on teasing out how photography fits into the framework of the Serious Leisure Perspective. My knowledge of the facts of the general history of photography has been derived from (Marien 2006), (Peres 2007), and the works of Don Slater (1991; 1995).

It is undeniable that digital photography is nudging traditional film photography into obscurity. In 2003, the sale of digital cameras surpassed the sale of film cameras in the United States (Lipkin 2005, p. 8). In 2003, the Kodak Corporation announced it would cease the production of slide projectors. This was followed in 2004 by the news that Kodak would no longer make paper for black and white photography (Marien 2006, p. 491). A report on the professional photo market in 2005 estimates that while over half of professional photographers still use film cameras for some shots, 70% of all professional photos are taken with digital cameras. The report projects that by 2010, 90% of photos will be digital and the number of photographers using film cameras will fall to 40% (InfoTrends 2006). In late 2007, the New York Times reported that for the past four years the sale of film dropped at a rate of 25 to 30 percent each year (Hafner 2007).

Opinions differ on what the rise of digital photography means for photography. Some make a clear distinction between photography and digital photography, insisting that digital photography is not actually photography, but a form of imaging. Ostrow (Ostrow 2007, p. 187) refers to digital photography as "the photographic effect," the doppelganger of photography. Some see digital photography as a technological threat to "real" photography's continuation (Batchen 2001, p. 129). Others are less purist and more sanguine. Early on, Manovich (Manovich 2003) identified digital photography as paradoxically breaking with older modes of visual representation while simultaneously enforcing them. Marien (2006, p. 398-410) summarizes measured responses to the threat of the digital, using numerous examples of how some "new" anxieties about the possibility of manipulation and the results of over-popularizing the medium have been present throughout the history of photography. Lipkin (2005, p. 25) sees digital photography as just another of many technological developments in how images are produced, albeit a drastic one. He describes the profound changes to photography that are occurring due to the fundamental difference between traditional and digital photographs. The first involves manipulating objects, while the second involves manipulating information (2005, p. 13). This fundamentally changes each step of the image making and distribution process, but somehow digital photography seems to be a familiar process: one is still making images by capturing light.

The research that will be reported on non-professional photographers (and almost any work on photography that does not emanate from the world of art theory and criticism) does not tend to make any great distinction between digital and film photography. The focus is on the activity of making images. That the default end product is in a different form tends to influence the act of photography mainly by lowering the cost of making multiple photographs. The effects of this will be discussed in the section on how people manage their photo collections, but in brief they are a broadening of subject matter and an increase in the number of photographs taken. Though the differences in cost-per-image and affordances between formats influences behavior, most people do not attend to their theoretical, conceptual, or mechanical differences. Neither will this review or proposed research introduce a conceptual or theoretical distinction between the two. My interests in differences between digital and film photographs lies in how the format affects what people do (or don't do) with their photos.

PROFESSIONAL PHOTOGRAPHERS

Given an understanding of the Serious Leisure Perspective, it initially appears obvious that photography should be classed as an amateur activity because there are professional photographers. This is where Stebbins has categorized the activity (1998, chap. 2). This classification task becomes more complicated when one begins to take apart the activity of photography. There are at least three distinct photographic professions and at least another three modes of photography as leisure that do not match up with the three professional types. This underscores once again the importance of conceptually steering away from categorizing activities into serious leisure categories. Instead, different approaches to any leisure activity may be categorized as different types of serious leisure.

The ability to confidently identify amateur²² art photographers rests upon a clear understanding of the amateur's professional counterpart(s). Two works helped me crystallize the relationships between the different types of leisure and professional photography. The first is Barbara Rosenblum's comparative ethnography of three main types of professional photography. In all, she was immersed in various aspects of photography as a participant-observer for about four years in the early 1970s. The result is an in-depth social-behavioral description of the three different photography worlds, and the impact of each world on its associated photographic style (Rosenblum 1978). The second is Howard Becker's *Art Worlds* (1982), which uses the example of photography to illustrate how change happens in art worlds. Both books address the definition of a professional in the arts and the social worlds that exist around various art and photographic pursuits. This research is dated, but given my personal knowledge of the different photographic professions²³, the core of each description still rings true. While particulars and technology have changed, the core values of the professions and the fact that they inhabit distinct social worlds remain the same.

 $^{^{22}}$ A note on terminology: as will be discussed later, the term "amateur" is used loosely in the literature on art. In this review the term will refer to the Serious Leisure Perspective sense of the word unless the term appears in quotes.

²³ I considered and researched careers in photography and the fine arts as an undergraduate in an arts program. This included getting to know professional artists and photographers, working in a gallery, frequenting museum and gallery events, considering MFA programs, and reading on the subject. Obviously I ultimately decided that the fine arts were too insecure a prospect and advertising photography was too boring and tedious--the commercial studio in which I spent some time did a lot of shots for chicken-feed advertisements.
Rosenblum (Rosenblum 1978) studied three photographic professions: newspaper photography, advertising photography, and fine art photography. My interest is in the latter, so it will suffice to say the standards of newspaper photography are based in the values of journalism, while the style and content of the photos are constrained by journalistic conventions, technologies of reproduction in the newspaper, and editors. Likewise, the standards of advertising photography are based in marketing and sales. The style and content are constrained by product, client, budget, audience, and art directors.

Rosenblum admits that professional art photographers are a difficult group to define (Rosenblum 1978, p. 10). Art photography is not a typical occupational category; people do not get hired at jobs to be fine artists (1978, p. 87). Art photography is a job that people create for themselves. Rosenblum and Becker (1982, p. 93) both discuss the difficulty of earning a living (or a substantial part of a living) as a fine artist. Professional art photographers may have other jobs such as teaching, commercial photography, or jobs unrelated to art that may command more of their time than art and pay substantially more money. In such a case it may appear the art photographer is a non-professional, depending on interpretation of the economic definition of professional.

There are other qualities that are hallmarks of professionalism in art. In addition to making *some* money from their art, Rosenblum's definition of professional art photographer requires that an individual publicly take on the role of a professional photographer--acquiring the attitudes, behaviors, and vocabularies of the profession and "learning to see" like a photographer (Rosenblum 1978, p. 19). Becker also notes the need for an art professional to be fluent in the conventions of his or her medium (1982, p. 34), and to have access to the knowledge available only at the inner circle of the art world (1982, p. 63) which is only available to those who actively participate in that world (1982, p. 95). Further, Becker states that ultimately it is the market which sorts the professional artists from the non-professionals (1982, p. 16). In the same vein, Rosenblum's criteria for identifying professional art photographers included having had shows in galleries or museums (1978, p. 10). Even if a small percentage of income is derived from her art, the professional art photographer is working hard to increase that percentage. Her goal is to make a living from her art, becoming and remaining a central player in the social world of art, which also includes critics, collectors, connoisseurs, artists, museums, and galleries (1978, p. 87).

This is to be contrasted with the amateur art photographer, who is serious about her photography leisure career, is aware of the standards, conventions, values, and language of the professional art photography world, moves at least peripherally in that world, and who may even sell a print from time to time. The difference is that the amateur will have a work career that she will not describe as "what she does on the side." Her photography will clearly be a leisure activity and she will typically want to keep it that way.

Rosenblum discusses the primary role that art schools play in the socialization and professionalization of art photographers. Photography departments in art schools have relationships with important art world gatekeepers, and it is by impressing their teachers that promising photographers will garner introductions to gallery owners, curators, and administrators who may be able to offer a teaching job to support their art career (1978, p. 38-40). Of photography schools, Becker notes that they turn out thousands of graduates who do not become professional art photographers, but who form an educated audience to whom the professionals can address their work, and who, by attending lectures, taking classes and workshops, and buying photographic books, provide an economic base for the field of fine art photography (1982, p. 53). These sound like the amateur public described by Stebbins in the Serious Leisure Perspective.

Art schools spend a lot of time teaching students how to think about and communicate about their own art and that of others. Much emphasis is placed on determining what qualifies as a fine art photograph and what does not (1978, p. 35-36). This may be of particular importance in art photography because it is such a young art form. The invention of photography was made public on August 19, 1839 (Marien 2006, p. 1). The medium gained some acceptance as a minor art form around the beginning of the 20th century, but it did not graduate to fine art until the 1960s (Ostrow 2007). There has been an international art market for fine art photography for only about 30 years (Kaplan 2007). Becker outlines photography's troubled history as art and the attempts art photographers have made to distance themselves from camera club amateurs and commercial photographers (1982, p. 339-350).

THE INVENTION OF PROFESSIONAL FINE ART PHOTOGRAPHY

The inventors (or discoverers) of the first photographic image making techniques were scientists, not artists. Soon after its debut, the potential of photography was thought to be as an aid to archeological research and restoration, and as an instrument that would assist scientists in studying the properties of light (Marien 2006, p. 19). The inventors of photography stressed that photographic techniques generated images "impressed by Nature's hand" and not dependent upon the talent of effort of the camera operator (Marien 2006, p. 23). This attitude is still present in the common claim that "anyone can take a photo," yet at the time the photography was referred to as an art-science --a blend of a science and a craft-- because the photographer needed to know chemistry, calculate exposure, and measure light, yet also creatively experiment with technique and equipment (Marien 2006, p. 26). The first professional photography was already moving into the streets to record events, and even further afield to document war and expeditions.

As photography became more well known, amateurs began to take up the activity. They formed clubs and salons in which members met to view photos, exchange knowledge, and participate in contests. Amateur photography was then a primarily male pursuit,²⁴ but a surprising number of middle and upper class women did become amateur photographers (Moeller 1992). The priority of these amateur photographers was primarily technical proficiency--the ability to capture a photographic image that accurately represented nature. Though some of these amateurs thought of themselves as artists, their creativity typically extended only to experimentation with photography clubs as interested in the craftsmanship of photography--the practical use (accurate recording) created with virtuoso skill, adhering to strict conventions of beauty (1982, p. 340, 258). If art is created in this environment, it exhibits academicism, which "consists of an increasing concern with how things are done with the skill the artist or performer exhibits, as opposed to what is done, the ideas and emotions the works embody or express" (Becker 1982, p. 289). This tradition of camera club is still in existence. These are the amateur photographers studied by Grinter (2005) and Schwartz (1986).

²⁴ It still is in certain flavors of the activity (Slater 1995).

Garner suggests that, given the levels of sophistication and education of the people who could afford the time and financial costs of early amateur photography, it was inevitable that some would decide they wanted to make photographs that looked like fine art (2007, p. 188). But before 1902, the concept of photography as fine art did not yet exist. Enter Alfred Stieglitz. A member of the conventional New York Camera Club, Stieglitz grew weary of the conventional style, and in a move toward the artistic, developed "pictorialism," a soft-focused style that attempted to represent a painterly view of the world, radically breaking with camera club convention. Stieglitz' vision was not shared by his camera club peers, so he broke with the club and set out to promote photography as fine art.

Of creating new art worlds, Becker writes:

When an innovation develops a network of people who can cooperate nationwide, perhaps even internationally, all that is left to do to create an art world is to convince the rest of the world that what is being done is art, and deserves the rights and privileges associated with that status (1982, p. 339).

The rest of the world was not convinced.²⁵ Stieglitz moved ahead, taking action that fulfilled Becker's three further criteria for the creation of a new art world (1982, p. 339). Stieglitz' break with the New York Camera Club and organization of the fine arts oriented Photo-Secession in 1902 began to distance art photography from craft photography. In 1903, Stieglitz began publishing the art photography journal Camera Work. The journal was an instrument through which an aesthetic code and language developed, enabling art photography to be discussed, judged, and critiqued. Finally, Stieglitz opened a gallery that displayed fine art photography, and eventually other types of fine art as he became a social connector between photographers, painters, and sculptors. In this way, art photography was linked with previous art forms in a way that validated photography as art.

Since then, photography has increasingly won acceptance as fine art, and has even been called "the art form of the century" (Kaplan 2007, p. 470) in spite of fine art photography's continual aesthetic oscillation between craft-like values and artistic values. Fine art has even periodically embraced the aesthetic of "folk," "vernacular," or "snapshot" photography (Edwards 2004; Scott 2007).

OTHER PHOTOGRAPHIES, OTHER PHOTOGRAPHERS

I present the preceding art history digression to lend authority and context to my claim that there are at least two types of serious amateur photographers in operation today: camera club amateurs and art photo amateurs. Before examining this claim in more detail, I must make one more brief digression on other non-professional modes of photography that will be referenced below.

²⁵ In fact, the rest of the world was still not convinced when the market for fine art photography was in its infancy in the 1970s. Kaplan writes that, "Excoriated and ridiculed in the 1970s, a burgeoning community of photographers, dealers, curators, and collectors were undeterred. They struggled to counteract the critical perception that, since photography relied on a mechanical instrument (the camera), it was not an authentic art form" (2007, p. 470)

Conducting research on non-professional modes of photography is complicated by the language used to describe different types of leisure photography within and across disciplines. In the art and photography literatures "amateur" is used to describe both home-mode and camera club photography. The home mode is additionally referred to as *folk photography* or *vernacular photography* in the arts literature, while in sociology it is sometimes called *snapshooter photography* or *family photography*. In most LIS related research it has been called either *family photography, consumer photography*, or simply *photography*. Some sources in art and sociology refer to camera club photography as *hobby photography*. In some research this group of photographers are referred to as *camera buffs* instead of photographers. The non-professional art photographer is barely mentioned in any literature and has no associated term aside from the vague *enthusiast*.

Home mode photography

Home-mode photography is the most discussed and researched mode of photography outside of the arts literature. In 1981, Jacobs pointed out that the most interesting questions and discussions regarding home-mode photography had come from sociology and psychology instead of art; in recent years, however, the topic has become increasingly discussed in the literature of the arts, and shows of home-mode photographs have even been exhibited in museums and galleries (Spence and Holland 1991; Batchen 2004; Zuromskis 2006; Levine, Snyder, and Douglas F. Cooley Memorial Art Gallery 2006; Ritchin 2007).

Richard Chalfen introduced the notion of the home mode of pictorial communication—a pattern of interpersonal and small group communication centered around the home and focused on pictorial materials (1987p. 8). He further explains that "Kodak culture" is that which one has to learn, know, or do in order to participate appropriately in the home mode of photographic communication (1987p. 10). These are unwritten and often unexamined rules of the home mode that govern when we take photos, how we take photos, and the subjects of our photos. One might conceive as the home mode as the everyday mode of photography. Home mode photographers take pictures as records, for fun, and sometimes to satisfy personal obligations. Home mode photographs serve as documentation, capture and preserve memories²⁶, and act as catalysts for storytelling (Chalfen 1987, p. 119-142). The roles and constraints of home mode photography have been further critiqued by Bourdieu (1990).

In that the rules of Kodak culture and home mode communication are passed informally and often unconsciously through community, home mode photography meets Becker's (1982) definition of a folk art. In terms of leisure, the doing of home mode photography functions mainly to document leisure activities, not as an independent leisure activity. The capturing of the requisite snapshots in a situation may be thought of as an extremely brief form of project-based leisure, for it is usually an agreeable obligation. Stebbins (2005b, p. 7-8) gives the creation of a family slide show as an example of project based leisure. Likewise, the creation of a photo album would fall into this category. Going through photographs, reliving memories, and telling stories would count as instances of casual leisure.

²⁶ The efficacy of the photograph for preserving memory is debated by Batchen (2004)

Photoblogging

Photoblogging is another mode of photography that I cannot currently categorize as amateur photography, though there are many similarities between the two. I mention it here because it is mentioned in the literature and might in some cases be a complementary leisure activity to one's amateur photography career. Photoblogging is very different from the home mode in several ways. First, the notion of putting one's home mode photos up for the public to see is anathema in the Kodak culture (Miller and Edwards 2007). One of the defining characteristics of the home mode is its very specific audience (Chalfen 1987). Next, photoblogging is concerned with taking very large numbers of photographs. The subjects of these photos are usually everyday, mundane objects and activities (Cohen 2005a). The notion of photographing one's lunch or one's shoes at the bus stop is foreign to the home mode.

Photoblogging is also distinct from amateur art or camera club photography in several ways. Photobloggers are not concerned with capturing photographs with craft-like technical skill. Nor do they speak about expressing ideas or emotions in their photographs. Cohen (2005a) reports that they become frustrated when asked to explain their reasons for and processes of making photographs. They speak of going by their instinct and photographing with no prior intention. They do not aspire to create art; the goal is to capture the everyday as they see it (Cohen 2005a): in fact, photobloggers actively resist being labeled as "photographers" (Cohen 2005b). Photobloggers are not amateurs because there is no professional counterpart to the way in which they approach photography. The closest would probably be documentary photography, but in the sparse available literature, photobloggers do not identify with the language, conventions, or values of that particular social world.

This does not imply that amateur photographers cannot maintain blogs on which they post their photographs. The Flickr photostream is a photoblog which, as will be shown below, is used by all types of photographers. Photoblogging as it is described by Cohen appears to be a specialized approach to an activity shared by many casual and serious leisure photographers. Photoblogging could be typically pursued as a hobby, but the research on the activity is too sparse to tell.

AMATEUR ART PHOTOGRAPHERS

That fine art photography was born by divorcing itself from camera club photography implies that the amateurs inhabiting the world of fine art photography will be distinct from those in the world of camera club photography. In the SLP, it is expected that amateur fine art photographers will strive for standards set by professional fine art photographers and orient themselves in that social world. A comparison of the stark differences in the values and social worlds of professional fine art photography and camera club photography in the early 1980s (Schwartz 1986) is summarized in Table 1.

Table 1: Characteristics of camera club amateurs and fine art photographers identified in (Schwartz 1986)

Camera club photography	Fine art photography
Presented as	
Populist	Elite
Models of competent work	
Studio portraiture, nature and travel photography as in National Geographic	Varies greatly, dependent on "school" and intent
Relationship with other art media	
Deny artist identity. Distance themselves from what they see as a lack of skill and aesthetic discrimination in fine art photography.	Interrelated. Many see themselves simply as artists who happen to work in the medium of photography. Some work in multiple media. They are inspired by art in general.
Social world Camera club networks, Photographic Society of America	Art world
Relationship with history	
Photos consistently patterned off of earlier work, so style changes little. Still predominantly pictorialist and postpictorialist.	Valued as scholarly pursuit. Makes no mention of non-art modes of photography. Used to evaluate new work for originality, and to inspire informed "revivals" of styles
Aesthetic criteria	
Narrow. Conventional beauty. Conventionally interesting. Good technical quality defined as sharp focus, clear exposure, composition.	Constantly in flux, demonstration of awareness of current styles. Includes the mundane and the conventionally unattractive.
Goals, Ideas of Success	
Aspire to same achievements as predecessors	Improve upon the works of admired predecessors. Become known for original vision.
Critical language	
Straightforward. Modeled on camera club competition judging. Centered on liking or disliking and technical criteria like composition, focus, and exposure.	Specialized, complex. Based on metaphors of seeing, vision, psychology, and emotions.
Role of image	
Represent reality. Demonstrate photographer's competence and skill in articulating camera club tradition.	Convey ideas. Serve as metaphor for the artist's experience.
Requirements of viewer	
Appreciate beauty, recognize skill of photographer.	Active interpretation or discovery. Have emotional response.
Priorities	
Technical aspects of capturing pictures	Conceptualization of pictures.
Interest in innovation	
Technological innovation. New equipment or devices to improve quality of photos.	New and original techniques to avoid seeming imitative.
Relationship of self to work	
Expresses camera club conventions. Little emotional investment. Identity of maker unimportantimages judged anonymously.	Personal, self expression. Identity of maker is important to image.
Benefits experienced	
Sense of achievement	Sense of enrichment and self-gratification

Grinter's (2005) description of the strict conventions of amateur camera clubs and how they changed with the introduction of digital photography indicates that the basic culture of the camera club has not changed dramatically since Schwartz conducted her research. Camera club and art amateur photographers should not be conflated in research on photo practices, and my interest is in the latter group. Recently, the split between types of amateurs has been remarked upon by other researchers:

Yet looking at the dominant discourses current in amateur photography, the technophile strand promoted in magazines is often resisted by others that are dominated by the language of art and personal expression and which are technophobic. Precisely how this discourse is maintained institutionally is unclear from existing literature (Cox, Clough, and Marlow 2008).

As the above quote claims, there is little information about differing approaches to amateur photography. I could find little mention of amateur fine art photographers in the pre-2006 literature. The preponderance of items retrieved when searching for terms and phrases related to amateur photography were irrelevant. They were either referring to camera club amateurs²⁷ or were using the term "amateur" to describe general consumer/home mode photography (Jacobs 1981).

Mentions of amateur art photographers were generally oblique implications that such creatures exist, given the existing split between photography as art and photography as craft. Schwartz (1986, note 14) indicates the presence of two different types of amateur by mentioning that "Art photographers distinguish between unorganized photo enthusiasts, who may move beyond publicly accessible picture taking to "art," and camera club amateurs." In her study of camera club members, Grinter (2005, p. 183) states that the amateurs she studied do not occupy the worlds of fine art, journalism, fashion, or consumer photography, which could be read as an implication that there are amateurs who do occupy such roles.

Outside the realm of photography, two studies report on distinct craft/art divides in amateur painting. Becker reports on amateur women painters who are keen to distance themselves from amateur "picture painters" working in a craft-based mode divorced from the social art world around fine art painting (1982, p. 98). Aibel (1984) studied the role of group membership as social communication in two organized groups of amateur painters in a rural county in Pennsylvania. Each group firmly rejected the activities and products of the other group. One group was oriented toward the art world, modernism, and travelling to larger cities to participate in art world events. The other was more traditional and focused on painting conventional art that fit in with the mores of the community.

²⁷ There are many historical accounts of camera clubs and well known camera club participants. See (Harthardottir 1999) (Wilsher 1981; Mensel 1991; Glauber 2007). Descriptions of these overall match descriptions of current camera clubs by Grinter (2005) and Schwartz (1986).

Four recent studies discuss amateur art photographers, or people who sound very much like they might fall into that category. These studies are connected by the fact that they all focus on use of the online tool Flickr (Yahoo! 2008b). Further, in all of these studies, participation in Flickr was related to the increase in seriousness with which people pursued photography.²⁸ In the following section, I will first briefly summarize the four studies. Then I will discuss their descriptions of the photography activities of each group of participants in terms of the characteristics and durable benefits of serious leisure as described by Stebbins (2007) and summarized above.

First, Davies (2006) examines Flickr as a dynamic, multimodal environment for learning and teaching. Her participants, self-selected by answering a questionnaire, are not characterized as amateur art photographers in the study. Several elements of her description suggest that some of her participants may take their photography seriously as an art activity. Second, Miller and Edwards (2007) report that they found a group of participants (Snaprs) whose photo practices on Flickr differed greatly from the rest of the participants whose photo practices were in line with the previous research on home mode photographers. Though the Serious Leisure Perspective is not used in the study. Snaprs demonstrate characteristics that imply they might be serious art photographers. Third, part of Jean Burgess' dissertation work on the cultural citizenship implications of ways of using new media to articulate vernacular creativity is a case study of another group of Flickr users who, while not characterized in the Serious Leisure Perspective, appear to be amateur art photographers (2007). Finally, Cox et al. (2008) state that they examined the use of Flickr in the context of serious leisure photography. This study conceptualized participants in terms of the Serious Leisure Perspective and included in the interview schedule several questions that attempted to get the participants to characterize the place of photography in their lives, it did not directly ask participants how seriously they take this leisure activity.

SERIOUS LEISURE CAREERS

Participants in all four studies tell stories suggesting serious leisure careers in photography. Burgess (2007) and Cox et al. (2008) report a common progression among participants from being snapshooters in the home mode to being "better," more advanced photographers with their own personal styles. Several in the Cox study had or were seeking formal photography training. Most of the participants in the aforementioned studies and all of the Snaprs (Miller and Edwards 2007) owned advanced equipment such as digital single lens reflex (SLR) cameras and multiple lenses. The need for professional equipment is often driven by a desire to meet professional standards; this is a sign of an amateur career. Snaprs also reported interest in improving technique and wanted to take "arty" photos. Davies (2006; 2006, p. 229) remarks on one participant's "growing expertise and confidence over a period of time" and her awareness of her learning process.

In addition, the photography careers of the people in these studies are inextricably bound up with their Flickr activity. Burgess (2007, p.189) explains the relationship in this way:

people become increasingly interested in 'better photography' as they become more deeply engaged with the various layers of possible participation; and a growing interest in photography drives a deeper engagement with the Flickr network.

²⁸ This should not be interpreted as a suggestion that all Flickr users become more serious about their photography. The samples in these studies are not random, and tend to be made up of unusually active Flickr users.

Cox et al. (2008) report predictable changes in Flickr use patterns as an amateur photography career progresses. These include a shift of audience away from family and friends to a wider audience including the general public and other people with a serious interest in photography; increasing sophistication of evaluation criteria for photographs; and increasing frequency of Flickr activity. Miller and Edwards (2007) did not ask about change in Flickr use over time, but their Snaprs' Flickr use patterns match the patterns of the amateur photographers in the Cox study.

SIGNIFICANT EFFORT AND PERSEVERANCE

Increasing one's photography skills involves expending much time and effort on the activity. There is much to learn about technology, technique, aesthetics, the theory of photography, and "how to see." This requires reading, experimenting with taking many photographs, carefully examining one's own photos and those of others, and often discussing these issues with other photographers. These activities are reported in all of the Flickr studies. The participants may put significant effort into teaching themselves how to be better photographers, studying websites, participating heavily in Flickr groups, and reviewing books on photography. Difficulties demanding perseverance are only reported in one study, but difficulties, confusions, and frustrations are a natural part of gaining and perfecting any skill. Only Burgess directly reports on this. One of her participants ran into problems when he upgraded from a point and shoot camera to an SLR; the settings seemed too difficult to figure out, even with the manual. This participant persevered by signing up for a formal photography course (Burgess 2007, p.163). Cox et al. (2008) mention that as participants advance in their careers they "*need to discipline themselves* to be creative, interesting, to have fun and be supportive of others in the Flickr community" [emphasis mine]. This indicates some level of effort, commitment, and perseverance.

PARTICIPATION IN A SOCIAL WORLD AND IDENTIFICATION WITH SERIOUS LEISURE PURSUIT

There is evidence that there are multiple levels of social worlds that participants become a part of as amateur art photographers on Flickr. First, Flickr participants may be active in Flickr groups. Three of these studies (Davies (2006) excepted) recruited participants through Flickr groups. Burgess claims that each Flickr group is a community of practice, defined as an emergent culture that results from interaction between the members of the more abstract 'designed' community-Flickr as a whole (Burgess 2007, p. 127). Each is built on a common base architecture (the Flickr application), but each has its own content, purposes, scope and aesthetics determined over time by the activities of the group members (Burgess 2007, p. 176). The main argument of the Davies (2006) study is that participants in different Flickr groups learn specific "ways of seeing" appropriate for participation in those groups. "Learning to see" in an appropriate is one of the important socialization requirements for identification as a professional art photographer and is stressed in art school (Rosenblum 1978). Its presence here and in the rest of this section indicates that these amateur art photographers do share values and vocabularies with the world of professional art photography.

Cox et al. (2008) discuss Flickr overall as a place with its own historically and culturally constructed social order. Though individual use of Flickr varies widely, and individual Flickr groups have their own cultures and conventions, some general expectations of site-wide behavior are learned with active participation. Some of these codes of behavior have moral qualities such as whether to respond to comments left on one's photos, how to comment on others' photos, how to respond when added as a contact, and whether to assign tags to others' photos. Additionally, participants learn how to manipulate the system through strategic uploading, description, and commenting in order to maximize views of, and comments on, their images.

Finally, all but the Davies study mentioned that participants have some awareness of, and even participation in, the professional art world. Burgess explores this in the most depth. Likewise, Burgess is the only study to report on participants strongly identifying as art photographers:

...most Flickr users are not 'professional' photographers, nor are they 'artists' in the sense of fully occupying those identities. However, the participants I interviewed for this project do represent themselves as creative practitioners, or even self-taught artists, and some harbour significant ambitions for their photographic work (2007, p. 168).

Flickr groups focused on artistic photography "discuss, deliberate and negotiate photographic aesthetics by participating in conversations that are mirrored in the art world". Participants interested in art photography made judgments about what constitutes good photography in ways that fit with expert discourses of photography as art.

Rosenblum (1978) and Becker (1982) discuss the priority of the "idea" in professional art photography. Professionals are able to speak about the motives and meanings behind their photographs. Professional art photography also values creativity, the development of an artistic "way of seeing," originality, and its own history. These characteristics are echoed in some of Burgess' participants' explanations of their photography. One participant "represented his practice in ways that differentiate it from vernacular photography, instead reproducing the discourses of art photography, where creativity is constituted via a balance between technical problem-solving and aesthetic innovation (or 'something different')" . Another explained how Flickr participation exposed him to the history of art photography, enabling him to participate in aesthetic debates. Yet another "privileged the development of an 'eve', or 'seeing things differently', actively resisting the principles of 'good photography'" as it is practiced in amateur camera clubs and professional photographic societies. This echoes Becker's (1982) discussion of how professional art photographers must know the conventions demanded by the art world, so that they can strategically break them to express their unique vision and creativity, without rebelling so much as to become "mavericks." Cox et al. (2008) describe their participants as seeing distinct boundaries between different types of photography, including at least two who maintain multiple Flicker accounts to keep their art photography (presented publicly under their real names) separate from their personal snapshots. Miller and Edwards (2007) also report on the artistic orientation of their Snaprs. One clearly states, "Most of the photos I post to Flickr are for the purpose of art. They're not for information sharing.".

DURABLE BENEFITS

These studies provide some evidence that amateur art photographers gain durable benefits from their photography leisure career. Some of the durable benefits named by Stebbins are not clearly defined, and these benefits were not the foci of any of the studies under discussion, so this analysis is based on what happens to be mentioned in passing. The most obvious durable benefit resulting from photography is the photographs: lasting physical products of the activity. Cox et al. (2008) note that participation in Flickr increases one's "scope for individual creativity, releasing the individual to explore their own identity in a way not possible in the narrow world of the photo club, for example." This self-exploration can result in another durable benefit: selfactualization. The acceptance of individual creativity also encourages a wide range of self**expression** and self-representation. One participant in the Cox study described logging onto Flickr as "a release" while working on a computer all day, suggesting the benefit of **regeneration** or renewal of self. Davies (2006) describes participants receiving the durable benefits of feelings of accomplishment ("I feel proud of myself for this shot) and enhancement of self-image (acknowledgement of one's own expertise). One of Burgess' participants was offered a gallery show based on the work he shared on Flickr. The show was well-attended and he even sold some works (2007, p. 174). One would assume that he gained a sense of accomplishment and an enhanced self-image as an exhibited, selling artist. Self-enrichment naturally occurs in the process of gaining knowledge and skills in a leisure career.

The final durable benefit is **social interaction and belongingness**, which is mentioned in all four studies. In Davies (2006) the reference is implicit: learning to see in a particular way defined by a group and participating in that group is described as a social learning experience and will engender a sense of belonging. The other studies discuss the social aspect of Flickr more directly. One participant in the Cox study saw meeting people as a central pleasure of using Flickr. Social interaction such as sharing information and expertise, getting feedback on photos, and participating in groups were also important uses of Flickr (2008). Participants in two studies not only engaged in social interaction and group membership online, but also attended local offline meet-ups and group photo outings organized in Flickr (Miller and Edwards 2007; Burgess 2007).

The above discussion and analysis shows that an under-studied population of amateur art photographers exists. Perhaps they always have, but Flickr has suddenly made them much more visible than every before. Amateur art photographers are differentiated from camera club amateurs by their individuality, creativity, and lack of adherence to convention and tradition. It is then reasonable to expect that their approach to their photographs and other information may be different. Amateur art photographers are differentiated from home-mode snapshooters by the seriousness with which they approach their photography. It is also reasonable to expect that the current knowledge we have of the photowork practices of these home-mode snapshooters will not apply to amateur art photographers. To my knowledge, there is no existing research on the photography-related information practices of amateur art photographers, aside from how they organize and tag their images for public consumption on Flickr. The proposed research will fill that gap.

ORGANIZATION OF IMAGES

Returning to the focus of this review and the proposed research, the question is how amateur digital photographers make decisions about their methods of managing the artifacts and information surrounding their hobby, and how they go about and make sense of changing the structures used to organize these materials. It is assumed that the preponderance of the materials surrounding the hobby of amateur digital photography will consist of images—in print or digital formats. Therefore, an understanding of some special issues and topics regarding the organization of images is in order.

The first part of this section provides an overview of image organization for retrieval, focusing on conceptual indexing of images. Research in this area has focused on the issues of what will here be called institutional collections: how to best provide access to large image collections with heterogeneous user populations. Some of the findings may apply to other kinds of image collections, including personal collections. The second part of this section covers the research on how individual people organize their own collections of images for personal use. It identifies a gap in knowledge on this topic that the proposed research aims to fill.

ORGANIZATION OF IMAGES IN INSTITUTIONAL COLLECTIONS

Organization of images is here used as a shorthand phrase to refer to a number of activities related to providing intellectual access to images in collections. These include the manual description of images using natural language (annotation) or controlled language (indexing), the automatic generation of image descriptions (automatic annotation, face recognition, automatic classification, etc), the development and/or application of schema for manual and automatic image description, the development of indexing languages for image description, the automatic processing of images for retrieval purposes, and the design of image retrieval systems and interfaces. All of these activities are concerned with placing images and information about them into a structure or system that facilitates the provision of access to those images.

The initial stirrings of research interest in image organization in institutional collections became visible in a January 1978 panel entitled "Subject Access to Visual Images," organized by Eileen Fry and held at the College Art Association in New York. Ohlgren (1980) traces the early work in this area beginning with and following this panel. The questions asked and issues raised then remain central to research in this topic. Additional reviews have been published periodically as the field has developed (Markey 1986) (Baxter and Anderson 1996) (Rasmussen 1997) (Chen and Rasmussen 1999) (Jorgensen 1999a) (Goodrum 2000) (Jorgensen 2003) (Enser 2008).

What is being organized in this domain?

The items of interest in this research have variously been referred to as images, pictures, and pictorial works. In general, these terms have not been rigorously defined, likely because common sense seems to indicate what an image or a picture is: we know an image when we see it. Two exceptions are Jorgensen's definition of image and Shatford's definition of pictorial works. An image, defined using its Latin root, is "a pictorial representation of a person, scene, or object" (Jorgensen 1998, p. 164). Following this definition excludes any concern with provision of access to abstract images. Indeed, little work has been focused on this issue. Pictorial works are "any predominantly two-dimensional, static … items that convey information in the form of images" (Shatford 1984, p. 14). Using this definition, identifying an item as a pictorial work requires a determination of both what counts as an image, and whether a given image conveys information. Given the lack of a clear definition of image by Shatford, and the subjectivity of information, the exact nature of the pictorial work remains open to interpretation. In general, image organization researchers have been primarily concerned with two-dimensional, static representations of living things, places, and things.

Types of images

Several typologies of images have been developed, illustrating differing conceptualizations of what counts as an image and how the various types of images break down into categories. In their structural classification, Lohse et al. (1994) identify pictures—" realistic images of an object or scene"—as just one out of eleven kinds of visual representation. Enser and Sandom (2003) break images into five categories: creative images, models, moving images, and general and specific documentary images. Jorgensen (1999a) lists three non-mutually exclusive types of images: data image, informative images, and expressional images. Another three-category typology was developed by Greenberg. It is includes visual resource images, art images, and archival images.

Table 1 synthesizes these four image taxonomies, highlighting that image organization research in LIS is concerned with few existing image types. A recent review of visual image retrieval (Enser 2008) includes a new taxonomy of still images which skews closer to that of Lohse et al. (1994) than the other three schemes presented in Table 1. As is suggested in the definitions given in the literature, knowledge about the organization of images is generally limited to the types of images in the first two rows of Table 1: photographs/faithful representations of reality and creative or expressional representational art images. The types of images represented in the third row—special purpose documentary or data images—have been given attention in specialized areas of informatics, such as biomedical informatics (Marcos et al. 2007; Lacoste et al. 2007). Moving images are included in only one of the typologies. Moving image description, surrogates, and retrieval is a rich separate research area existing in two bodies of literature divided by approach: automatic (National Institute of Standards and Technology 2008) or manual (Yee 2007). Maps are specified as one type of informative image in the Lohse and Biolsi taxonomy. Map librarianship is a well developed specialization in the library world. Again, much is known about organizing and providing access to cartographic materials, but this topic falls outside the literature of organization of images (Larsgaard 1998; Andrew and Larsgaard 1999). The organization of other informative images such as models, graphs, tables, and diagrams has received little attention in LIS (one notable exception is (Brunskill and Jorgensen 2002)), perhaps because few image collections consist primarily of these image types.

It is probable that the photographs produced and collected by amateur digital photographers will mainly be classifiable into the following image typology categories: Lohse and Biolsi's pictures, Jorgensen's expressional images, Greenberg's art images, and Enser and Sandom's general documentary images and creative images, and Enser (2008)'s direct picture. These are the main types of interest in image organization research, indicating the relevance of this domain to the proposed research.

Lohse et al. 1994	Enser & Sandom 2003	Jorgensen 1999	Greenberg 1993
Pictures - realistic images of an object or scene	Documentarygeneral - faithful representations of reality	Expressional images - pictorial, photo-	Archival images
	Creative - may be placed on a spectrum of reality representation	realistic, abstract, subject to multiple interpretations	Art images
	Documentaryspecial purpose - faithful representation of a some subject of specialised analysis and not necessarily visible without special equipment.	Data image - in which raw data is captured and perhaps processed for visual clarity	
Graphs - encode quantitative information using position and magnitude of geometric objects		Informative images - to which human intelligence has been applied to organize	Visual resource images
Tables - an arrangement of words, numbers, signs, or combinations of them to exhibit a set of facts or relationships in a compact format. Tables have less abstract symbolic notation than graphs.		the visual material for communication of information	
Graphical tables - tables that use visual elements such as shading to encode data in the table. This is contrasted with numerical tables, which present only numeric data			
Time charts - display temporal data			
Networks - show the relationships among components using symbols indicating the presence of components and lines, arrows, proximity, etc to represent relationships among components	Models - 2- and 3-dimensional images which model aspects of reality such as processes and geographical phenomena		
Structure diagrams - express spatial data. A static description of a physical object			
Process diagrams - express spatial data. Describe interrelationships and processes associated with physical objects.			
Maps - symbolic representations of physical geography			
Cartograms - spatial maps showing quantitative data			
Icons - impart a single interpretation or meaning for a picture			
	Moving images		

The landscape of the research area

The domain of image organization can be divided into three main research areas. The first is the intellectual process of conceptually representing images to facilitate retrieval. Any intellectual work done by information professionals to make images accessible to users (indexing, annotation, cataloging, etc.) falls into this category. The second research area is content-based image retrieval (CBIR). This is the automatic processing of images to facilitate retrieval based on the content of the images themselves. To contrast with CBIR, the first research area is called concept-based image description (CBID). CBID takes place before retrieval and serves to represent images in text-searchable language to facilitate retrieval. CBIR techniques and processes can be used before retrieval to generate searchable data that may or may not be human-readable, but can also be carried out during retrieval. Though the overall goal of both CBID and CBIR is to provide access to images, there is an enormous rift in research focus and approach. CBID research tends to be carried out by LIS researchers and practitioners. CBIR research tends to be carried out by computer scientists and engineers. Two distinct bodies of literature exist with virtually no overlap (Chu 2001). This disconnect poses a challenge to progress on image organization, as a combination of concept-based and content-based techniques will result in the most useful and powerful image retrieval approach (Enser 2000).

The third main research area within image organization is user behavior. This includes study of how people use images, how people use image retrieval systems, and the queries that people make to those systems. This area is foundational because the goal of image organization is to facilitate retrieval. The best organization methods will take into account how people search for and use images. It is impossible to know this without user behavior research. The area of concept-based image description (CBID) has been heavily influenced by user behavior research in ways that will be described in more detail below. This area has had much less impact on developments in content-based image retrieval (CBIR). In fact there is little evidence that kinds of content-based image processing that are currently possible are of much use to general users. Enser (2000) suggests that CBIR techniques have more potential for usefulness for users of special purpose documentary images or data images. These types of images include things like medical imagery, radar imagery, and complex data visualizations.

The remainder of this review will focus mainly on concept-based image description (CBID). Certain findings from this area may have potential relevance to the organization of images in the personal collections of amateur art photographers. Images will have certain attributes regardless of the type of collection of which they are a part. Identifying which attributes should be represented in retrieval systems is a large area of inquiry in CBID. Whether the same image attributes are important in the organization of institutional and personal collections is an open question to be explored.

The user behavior aspect informing image organization is not covered in depth because the searching and use of information in a large institutional collection is very different than the searching and use of information in a personal collection. People tend to generally know what exists in their personal collections. They have usually seen the items before and have often made decisions to keep them and have often organized the items themselves. Refinding in a personal collection is a different activity than finding in an institutional collection. I make an exception for image organization user behavior research that is directly focused on improving CBID. These studies will be covered in more detail with the relevant topics in the CBID section.

CONCEPT-BASED IMAGE DESCRIPTION

Concept-based image description (CBID) is the intellectual process of conceptually representing images to facilitate their later retrieval. This consists of describing images using words indexing, annotation, or cataloging them—and developing the languages, formats, and systems with which to do so. A foundational issue in CBID is the appropriateness and sufficiency of text in representing non-text resources. Using text to describe images, particularly the subjects of images or what they are about, is seen by some as problematic. Svenonius states, "It would be a mistake to suppose because subject access, using language, is a prevalent and successful mode of retrieval in some contexts, that it should be employed in all possible contexts" (1994, p. 605). She claims that any attempt to index what an item is about comes from a scientific perspective based on definable objects about which propositions can be made in language. Art and other images are not expressed verbal and their methods of representation are complex. The symbolism in the visual language of iconography is too rich to be expressed in a keyword or subject heading. The expressiveness of the lexicon of form cannot be captured in words as it is purely visual.

Enser (1995) analyzes the verbal inexpressibility of image subject and other issues. These include the multiple meanings of any image to multiple viewers, inter- and intra-indexer inconsistency, and limitations of and dissatisfaction with image indexing languages and systems. He concludes "that the attempt to satisfy queries by matching their linguistic form against the linguistic identifiers, in the form of indexing terms, titles and captions, attached to images within a collection offers little promise as an effective pictorial information retrieval procedure" (p. 156).

Shatford (1986) cautions that anyone attempting to analyze and encode in indexing or description the "aboutness" of an image runs the risk of introducing bias into the collection and limiting user interpretation of images. However, as will be discussed below, she shows that some other types of image subjects lend themselves more safely to verbal description.

These are serious concerns, but there are two constructive messages for CBID that emerge from these criticisms. The first is that that creative steps should be taken to explore appropriate means of representation and retrieval of aspects of images cannot be captured in words. Content-based image retrieval is a move in this direction, but currently has had little success in developing techniques to represent and retrieve images based on attributes that are conceptually useful to users. Finally, it is critical to understand the various attributes of images in order to make informed decisions about which aspects of images can be adequately represented in text and other formats.

IMAGE ATTRIBUTES

The previous section underscored the importance of understanding the attributes of images. For this reason, identifying and describing image attributes has been a main focus of concept-based image description (CBID). Some of the questions explored include: What attributes do images have? What attributes are useful for retrieving images in institutional collections? Findings on these questions are reviewed below. All images have attributes regardless of the type of collection in which they are housed. It may be instructive to compare the attributes useful for organization and retrieval of images in institutional collections with those attributes that are useful for the same tasks in personal collections.

Jorgensen (2003) defines an attribute as "a feature, component, or property of a stimulus (an image) that can be represented by an information processing system. An image attribute is thus not limited to purely visual characteristics, but includes other cognitive, affective, or interpretive responses to the image such as those describing spatial, semantic, or emotional characteristics" (p. 3). In short, an image attribute is some aspect of the image that can be described. An attribute is a property, and for each image that property will have one or more values. For clarification of this distinction, Table 3 presents some image attributes and associated values. There are many types of image attributes and several frameworks to represent and categorize types of attributes have been developed.

Attribute	Possible value	
Creator	Ansel Adams	
Form	Collograph	
Subject	Birds	
Table 3:	Distinction between attribute and value	

Shatford Layne's framework of image attribute types

DESCRIPTIVE ATTRIBUTES

Image attributes can first be divided into descriptive and subject attributes. Layne (1994) lists three families of descriptive attributes: biographical, relationship, and exemplified. Biographical attributes describe the birth or creation of an image (creator, place and date of creation, title assigned by creator, etc) and the image's travels (provenance, alterations, etc). Relationship attributes specify links between images and other images or texts. Exemplified attributes describe what an image, as an object, is—a certain type of photographic print, a specific digital image format, an example of a particular genre or style. Exemplified attributes (what it *is*) are distinct from subject attributes (what it is of, or what it is about) (Shatford 1986).

Statements of descriptive attributes are propositional; therefore, there is no concern about the appropriateness of representing these attributes linguistically in image databases. It is a fact that a specific image was created by a certain person. Persons are represented by names, which are textual. Usually the values for descriptive attributes can be objectively and clearly determined. The task becomes somewhat more difficult in the description of art images—for example, photographs of artworks. Given a photograph of the Mona Lisa, should the indexer record the photographer of the painting or Leonardo da Vinci as the creator? This conundrum is resolved by introducing separate attributes to describe the work in hand (the photo) and the work represented in the photo (the Mona Lisa) (Shatford 1984).

SUBJECT ATTRIBUTES

Sara Shatford Layne pioneered the careful analysis of the different types of image subjects (image subject attributes) in LIS. Her analysis began with Panofsky's levels of subject matter in images (1962). In the context of studying the iconography of Italian Renaissance art, Panofsky outlines three levels of image subject matter. All three levels must be considered to understand an image fully.

Panofsky's first level is primary/natural subject matter of two sorts: factual and expressional. The objects of interpretation of factual subject matter are the generic objects or actions represented in an image: a man, a flag, or the lifting of a hat. Expressional subject matter includes the atmosphere or character expressed in an image: gloominess, cheer, warmth. The first level may be interpreted and understood by anyone with practical experience and familiarity with objects and events. The factual objects are objective, while some subjectivity enters into identifying expressional subject matter—the key is that no special knowledge is required to recognize sadness or excitement. Interpretation of this level takes the form of pre-iconographical description.

Panofsky's second level is secondary or conventional subject matter, requiring "iconographical analysis in the narrower sense of the word." A viewer with knowledge of literary sources and representations of specific themes and concepts can at this level identify a grouping of men around a table as representative of The Last Supper tale from the Bible. Likewise, two fighting figures may be identified as representative of the concepts of Vice and Virtue.

Panofsky's third level is that of intrinsic meaning or content, requiring "iconographical interpretation in a deeper sense," or iconographical synthesis. This allows the interpreter to understand how the themes and concepts represented in an image fit into the particular time, place, culture, and worldview of the creator of the image—and how all of these are in turn unconsciously condensed into the image by its creator. For example, the depiction of the position of the Virgin Mary at the nativity was changed in the later Middle Ages from reclining to kneeling before her child. According to Panofsky, this shift revealed "a new emotional attitude particular to the later phases of the Middle Ages." Analysis at this level requires expertise, synthetic intuition, and familiarity with concepts of the expression of personal psychology and worldview at different points in history.

To demonstrate the complexity of describing image subjects, Shatford developed a classification—based heavily on Panofsky's levels of meaning, with contributions from linguistic theory, and Ranganathan's fundamental facets—of types of image subject attributes (1986). This explicit enumeration makes it possible to decide which types of subjects to represent in a particular image retrieval system. At this level of analysis, judgments may be made about whether a text string or index term is an acceptable value for a given subject attribute.

Shatford (1986) introduces a distinction between *ofness* and *aboutness* as different types of subjects. In Panofsky's first level, the factual subject is what the image is *of*. The expressional subject is what the image is *about*. Munch's "The Scream" is *of* an open-mouthed figure of indeterminate sex on a road, two figures in the background, and a red sky over Oslofjord. "The Scream" is *about* anxiety and existential dread. Panofsky did not divide his second level into two types, but Shatford demonstrates that secondary/conventional subject matter can also exhibit separate *ofness* and *aboutness*. At this level we can say a painting is *of* a specific woman: Mrs. Siddons. The artist posed Mrs. Siddons as the Tragic Muse, so the painting is also *about* the Tragic Muse. The distinction between *ofness* and *aboutness* becomes less sharp at this second level.

Applying referential theory to image description, Shatford states that an image is a depiction of a specific referent (or multiple specific referents). The sense of the image—its "subject"—is derived from the referent depicted in the image. A referent can be described with different words having senses at varying levels of specificity. A specific canary can be accurately described as Tweety, a canary, a bird, or an animal. An image of that canary can factually be described as of Tweety, a canary, a bird, or an animal. The description of image subjects must account for both generic and specific descriptions. Panofsky's first level factual subject matter is equated with *Generic Ofness*, and secondary/conventional subject matter with *Specific Ofness*. Findings from research on cognitive category structure would suggest that the inclusion of a description of the referent at the basic level of specificity is likely to be most useful (Rosch et al. 1976).

Finally, Shatford draws on Ranganathan's basic facets—personality, matter, energy, space, and time (PMEST)—to further specify the types of subject attributes an image may have. *Specific Ofness, Generic Ofness* and *Aboutness* can be separately described within each facet. The resulting classification of subject types is presented in Table 3. Each shaded cell represents a kind of subject attribute. Cells are populated with the types of values that might be recorded for each attribute. Non-facet-specific Aboutness stretches across the facets because certain themes or concepts are represented by objects in a combination of facets. Many images will not display all of the types of subject attributes. Keeping in mind the caveat that recording textual values for attributes describing *ofness* is less problematic than attempting to textually represent attributes related to *aboutness* (Svenonius 1994), designers of image organization systems may choose which subject attribute types to represent in their systems. There is also evidence of the usefulness of this classification for conducting fine-grained query analysis in order to understand the needs of users of an image collection (Armitage and Enser 1997).

Ranganathan's Facet	Natural Language Facet Description	Specific Of	Generic Of	About
Personality Matter	WHO? Animate and inanimate; concrete objects and beings	Individually named persons, animals, things	Kinds of persons, animals, things	Mythical beings (generic/specific); abstractions manifested or symbolized by objects or beings
Energy	WHAT are the objects and beings doing? Actions, events, emotions.	Individually named events	Actions, conditions	Emotions; abstractions manifested by actions, events
Space	WHERE? Locale, site place; geographic, cosmographic, architectural	Individually named geographic location	Kind of place; geographic or architectural	Places symbolized (generic/specific); abstractions manifested by locale
Time	WHEN? Time; linear or cyclical	Linear time; dates or periods	Cyclical time; seasons, time of day	Emotions or abstractions symbolized by or

manifested by time.

Table 4: Shatford's (1986) Classification of Image Subjects

Jorgensen's image attribute scheme

Corinne Jorgensen's dissertation research is an example of user research producing important findings for CBID (1995). A scheme of image attributes was derived from written natural language image descriptions generated by people in three different task contexts. The Descriptive Viewing Task asked people to describe what they notices about an image. The Descriptive Memory Task asked participants from the Descriptive Viewing Task to describe what they remembered about each image four weeks after the initial description task. The Descriptive Search Task asked people to write a description as if they hoped to find the image in an image collection.

Using the constant comparative method of content analysis, Jorgensen identified 47 individual image attributes and categorized these into 12 higher level classes (1995; 1998). Attributes and their classes fell into three main types. Perceptual attributes are described in direct response to a visual stimulus. Interpretive attributes are described based on interpretation of perceived perceptual cues and inferences made applying a general level of knowledge. Finally, reactive attributes affective and subjective personal reactions to the viewing of an image. Table 4 presents the higher level image classes falling into each of these main types.

Table 5: Jorgensen's (1995, 1998) image attribute scheme

TYPE OF ATTRIBUTE ATTRIBUTE CLASS

SELECTED ATTRIBUTES

PERCEPTUAL	LITERAL OBJECTS contains items which are classified as being literal (visually perceived) objects.	Object, Text, Body part, Clothing
	PEOPLE the presence of a human form.	People
	COLOR includes both specific named colors and terms relating to various aspects of color value, hue, and tint.	Color, Color value
	LOCATION includes attributes relating to both general and specific locations of picture components.	General location, Specific location
	VISUAL ELEMENTS	Orientation, Shape, Visual Component, Texture
	DESCRIPTION includes descriptive adjectives and words referring to size or quantity.	Description, Number
INTERPRETIVE	PEOPLE QUALITIES	Relationships among people depicted in an image, Emotional states of depicted people, Social status of depicted people
	ART HISTORICAL INFORMATION information which is related to the production context of the representation.	Artist, Medium, Style, Type, Technique
	ABSTRACT CONCEPTS	Theme, Atmosphere, Symbolic aspect, State
	CONTENT/STORY attributes relating to a specific instance being depicted	Activity, Event, Setting, Time aspect
	EXTERNAL RELATION comparison of attributes within a picture or among pictures or reference to an external entity. EXTERNAL RELATION comparison of attributes within a picture or among pictures or reference	Comparison, Similarity, Reference
	to an external entity. EXTERNAL RELATION comparison of attributes within a picture or among pictures or	
	reference to an external entity. EXTERNAL RELATION comparison of attributes within a picture or among pictures or reference to an external entity.	
REACTIVE	VIEWER RESPONSE	Personal reaction, Conjecture, Drawing, Uncertainty

This scheme is particularly notable first because it was derived from different image task contexts (Jorgensen 1998). Second, it is important because it has been tested with various kinds of images. The initial study gathered descriptions of illustrations, but further research has tested the applicability of the scheme to fine art images (Jorgensen 1999b) (Chen 2001), and scientific diagrams (Brunskill and Jorgensen 2002). The scheme has been found to be applicable to these image types with the addition of some specialized attributes. In all of these studies the frequency with which individual attributes are described varies some depending on the description task and the image type, but attributes in the Object class are consistently the most frequently described.

The Pyramid Model of visual image attributes

Drawing on the literatures of cognitive psychology, LIS, art, and content-based image retrieval (CBIR), Jaimes and Chang (2000) developed separate models for visual and non-visual information. Non-visual information is information you cannot know by looking at the image. The price of a painting is one example of non-visual information. In contrast, a visual examination of a painting reveals that the painting is very blue, has a shiny surface, or depicts a seascape. These are visual image characteristics.

The Pyramid Model in Figure 1 represents a conceptual framework describing ten different levels of visual image attributes and the relations between those levels. The model is based on three major distinctions: percept vs. concept, syntax vs. semantics, and general vs. visual concepts. The basic distinction between each of these is that the former concerns what is objectively perceived (light perceived as color and texture; lines, shapes, and tones in a spatial arrangement; something round and blue) and the latter concerns what interpretations are made of what is perceived and ideas generated about those interpretations (what it is and what it means).



Figure 1: Pyramid model of visual image attributes (Jaimes and Chang 2000)

The top four levels of the pyramid represent levels of image description concerned syntactically with percepts. The lower levels represent semantic and conceptual levels of description. The width of each level in the pyramid represents the amount of knowledge or expertise needed to index at that level. CBID has been concerned with the six levels at the base of the pyramid. Elements in levels 2 through 10 can be syntactically related spatially, temporally, and/or visually. Semantic relationships can be described for elements in levels 5 through 10 only.

In a separate framework, Jaimes and Chang (2000) present types of non-visual image attributes in three levels: physical attributes, biographical information, and associated information. The availability of this non-visual information is valuable in enabling the indexing of images at the lower conceptual levels of the pyramid.

This framework is notable in its scope, precision, and representation of the complexity of image description. Also, the framework came out of the content-based image retrieval (CBIR) community and is the first to specifically include low-level image attributes unlikely to be perceived or described by people, but potentially powerful for retrieval based on similarity or visual query. Finally, its synthesis of findings from multiple research areas increases the power of the framework. Included in the framework are Shatford's emphasis on the split between generic and specific (1986), as well as Jorgensen's findings on the importance of Object, Location, and Story attributes (1998). Further research has demonstrated the harmony between Jorgensen's image attribute scheme and the Pyramid Model and has shown how the two have complementary strengths in guiding rich image description (Jorgensen et al. 2001).

Hollink et al.'s synthesized framework

Concerned with understanding the gap between what is represented in image databases and what attributes of images users actually use for searching, Hollink et al. (2004) conducted a study using content analysis to categorize image attributes from user-generated image descriptions. The scheme they used to categorize the attributes is a unified framework synthesizing the previously discussed work of Shatford (1986) and Jaimes and Chang (2000) with two frameworks of image search queries. These include Eakins' primitive, logical, and abstract query types (Eakins 1998) and Enser and McGregor's 2x2 matrix of uniqueness and refinement (Enser and McGregor 1992). The combination of findings from work on image indexing and user search queries is explained by the fact that both of these are types of image descriptions. Ideally, the goal is a perfect match between them.

Unified Modeling Language (UML) was used to synthesize the previous schemes into a unified framework with three now-familiar levels: nonvisual, perceptual, and conceptual. Only the conceptual is divided into the general (defined as the basic level or broader), specific (narrower than the basic level), and abstract. User descriptions were analyzed and slotted into these categories. Conceptual attributes were by far more common (87%) than perceptual (12%). The lack of nonvisual attributes is an artifact of the study design, which used imaginary images with no objective associated nonvisual information. 74% of the conceptual attributes were general, with 16% specific and only 9% abstract. This roughly mirrors Jorgenson's findings of the most frequently described attributes falling into the Object class.

Important attributes identified in user query studies

Enser and McGregor (1992) classified user queries of an image collection into a 2x2 matrix with the dimensions of uniqueness and refinement. Unique queries are for specific subjects, while nonunique are for generic . A refined query is qualified by adding another image attribute to the query. "Red-winged blackbirds" would be an unrefined unique query. "Birds flying" would be a refined non-unique query. 70% of queries were for unique objects. Armitage and Enser (1997) found similar results in the analysis of the search queries of users of seven different image collections. They followed up by using Shatford's classification of image subject attributes to analyze the queries in more detail. General similarities exist across all collections. Queries tend to focus most frequently on specific attributes, a bit less on general image attributes, and rarely on abstract attributes. Specific persons and locations are searched for more frequently than specific objects or times. Of the generic attributes, person is searched on most frequently. These findings on the prevalence of searches for specific image attributes, while limited, are interesting given the preponderance of representations of general attributes in image descriptions as identified by Hollink et al. (2004). Shatford Layne suggests that part of the apparent contradiction in the research may be the different types of image collections used for stimuli or searched by users (2002). The images searched in Hollink et al. (Hollink et al. 2004) were commercial stock photographs searched by design professionals and publishers; however, a preference for specific queries in art image databases has also been found (Chen 2001).

The general level matches up with the basic level of cognitive categorization. This is supposed to be the level at which people most frequently and easily name a concept. Jorgensen (2003) suggests that indexers focus on adding more basic level index terms to items, and that more research be done to identify basic level values for image attributes outside the realm of objects and natural kinds. In practical indexing terms there is good reason to index images more heavily at a general level. General attributes require less knowledge to describe and CBIR systems are likely to be able to extracted general attribute information from the content of images they will be able to identify specific attributes (Jaimes and Chang 2000). However, the purpose of any image retrieval system remains to connect a person with a desired image in the easiest way possible—for this reason it remains important to also attend to specific attributes in description.

As is discussed earlier in this section, concerns exist about the appropriateness of textually representing the aboutness of images—the abstract, connotative attributes (Svenonius 1994). Adequately representing these attributes requires much more indexer knowledge and effort (Jaimes and Chang 2000) and the ability to make decisions about indexing in an area that is subjective, complex, and sometimes ambiguous (Shatford 1986). The aforementioned study of user queries of existing image collections found searches on abstract attributes to be quite rare. Perhaps this is less indicative of the importance of these attributes than it is of low expectation of their efficacy as search criteria in existing databases that do not represent them. Jorgensen's work has highlighted the importance of interpretive story and content attributes (1998). Other work likewise supports the importance of representing the narrative as well as affective attributes of images for retrieval (O'Connor, O'Connor, and Abbes 1999) (Greisdorf and O'Connor 2002) (Yoon 2006).

PRINCIPLES FOR IMAGE DESCRIPTION

Another area of interest in CBID is the development of principles for image description. These include considerations such as what classes of subjects will be indexed and at what granularity an image will be indexed. What is appropriate will vary from collection to collection, but two basic principles seem to be generally applicable.

Two overarching principles for the subject indexing of images are the threshold of detail and the threshold of pertinence (Shatford 1986). The threshold of detail principle tells the indexer not to describe integral parts of a whole which itself may be indexed. For example, if "woman" is described, it is redundant to also describe "face," "hands," and all of the other expected parts of "woman."

The threshold of pertinence instructs the indexer to describe only those wholes that are meaningful in the context of the image. If an image is of a loaf of bread, or a loaf of bread is an important symbol in the context of the image, "loaf of bread" should be described. If the image is of a banquet table laden with foods, among which is a loaf of bread, it is typically unnecessary to describe the presence of the bread.

DEVELOPMENT AND EVALUATION OF IMAGE INDEXING VOCABULARIES AND METADATA FRAMEWORKS

A final topic of interest in CBID is indexing vocabularies and metadata frameworks that have been developed for the description of institutional image collections. Examples include the VRA Core (Visual Resources Association 2007), the Art and Architecture Thesaurus (J. Paul Getty Trust 2000), ICONCLASS (Rijksbureau voor Kunsthistorische Documentatie 2007), and the Library of Congress Thesaurus for Graphic Materials (Library of Congress 2007). While very important in the context of institutional image collections, such tools are not for use in personal image collections and have no relevance to the current discussion.

USER BEHAVIOR

There are three main areas of user behavior research related to the organization of images and their retrieval. The first is the analysis of user image search queries. Relevant studies of this type have been discussed in the above section on image attributes because they have been useful in identifying important attributes and testing existing frameworks of image attributes. The two remaining areas of research in user behavior are outside of the scope of this review but bear brief mention. Much research has been conducted on user judgment of image relevance and similarity. This area is fruitful for the design of image retrieval systems and the development of content-based image retrieval (CBIR) techniques. Understanding the cognitive process of searching for images is another area of user behavior research, but relatively little work has been done in this area (Matusiak 2006).

Different types of users will rely on different image attributes to describe and retrieve images. Hollink et al. (2004) three user characteristics that will affect their image retrieval needs and behavior: domain, expertise, and task. Enser and Sandom (2003) includes a brief discussion of the differing needs of specialist and generalist users.

O'Connor et al. (1999) described a potential image browsing and retrieval system based on allowing users to enter descriptors, annotations, or captions to images they encountered in the system. This user-generated information would then be used by the system to construct categories and access for subsequent users. Such a system would provide a mechanism for capturing and utilizing Jorgensen's Viewer Response class of image attributes. This idea is mentioned here because it seems in recent years to have come to life with the advent and rise of image tagging systems like Flickr (for personal photos) (Yahoo! 2008b) and the Steve.museum project (for art images) (Bearman and Trant 2005; Trant and Wyman 2006). The use of such systems will be covered in more detail in the section of this review that describes what individuals do with their photos.

CONTENT-BASED IMAGE RETRIEVAL (CBIR)

Content-based image retrieval (CBIR) is automatic image processing, organization, and possibly description based on algorithms utilizing the content of digital images. The promise of CBIR includes the provision of more efficient, objective, and predictable methods of describing and searching image collections. Enser (1995) characterizes the current CBID image organization mode as linguistic-linguistic (LL). It involves the retrieval of images using the matching of linguistic user queries with the indexer-created linguistic representations of images in a retrieval system. This is seen as inefficient and problematic. CBIR offers three new modes of image retrieval presented in Table 5.

Image Retrieval Model	Description
Visual-visual (VV)	The query assumes a visual form and the search operation proceeds by attempting to retrieve digitised images which match the query image.
Visual-linguistic (VL)	The visual properties of images in system are encoded in text that can be indexed and searched using textual input and pattern matching techniques.
Linguistic-visual (LV)	Thesaural image classification schemes are visually augmented so that they can be searched which can be searched via visual query. Images with matching visual features would be returned and images associated with them in the classification scheme would be available.

Table 6: Enser's (1995) image retrieval modes

CBIR is currently fairly limited to the processing of low-level, perceptual, syntactic attributes like color, texture, shapes, and basic composition, but the field hopes to make progress in the lower levels of the Pyramid Model (Jaimes and Chang 2000). CBIR techniques have heretofore not become useful or interesting to general users, though they are quite powerful for some specialized image types. This is blamed on the still-yawning "semantic gap" (Enser and Sandom 2003).

The semantic gap has been defined by Smeulders et al. as "... the lack of coincidence between the information that one can extract from the visual data and the interpretation that the same data have for a user in a given situation" (2000, p. 1353). Methods of attaining CBIR's current goal of closing the semantic gap fall into two camps. Work is being done on developing algorithms to break down raw images into separate features and learning how to interpret those features as generic objects. Other research focuses on developing the high-level reasoning necessary to place those generic objects in sociocognitive space and to label them properly as specific image attributes (Enser et al. 2007).

Reaching these goals will take time, especially in large, general image collections. Limited, welldefined domains make machine learning and processing much simpler. It is possible that advanced CBIR techniques such as face recognition (specific person identification and description) will appear in general usage in tools for personal image collections. The reasoning here is that personal and family image collections are more constrained; there are fewer faces to differentiate from one another and more examples of each face for the machine to learn from.

It is not yet known whether such capabilities would greatly improve the situation of the general consumer photographer and her personal or family image collection. Relatively little is known about the image organization practices and needs of this population. The existing literature is review in the following section.

ORGANIZATION OF IMAGES IN PERSONAL COLLECTIONS

Personal image collections in this review are defined as collections of images created and/or gathered by individuals primarily for use outside of work contexts. This includes family image collections—collections of images created and/or gathered by a family for the use of those in the family.

The importance of studying the organization of personal image collections

The number of photographs taken by individuals shows great increase with the increasing availability of stand-alone digital cameras and digital cameras built into other nearly ubiquitous items such as mobile telephones (Rodden and Wood 2003) (Frohlich and Fennell 2007). Individuals need systems or tools to maintain some level of control over the photos they take. Chen et al. (2006) provide a concise review of many tools that have been produced and the principles upon which they are based. Some suggest that the need to understand the practices and needs of individuals when designing these tools has been often overlooked in the development of these tools (Vroegindeweij 2001). Others note that these tools have tended to constrain what the user can do with photos, rather than expand the possibilities (Frohlich et al. 2002).

Crabtree et al. (2004) have described a photo practice ecology that includes the use of conventional photos and their management. The entire ecology must be understood broadly in order to provide support for any discrete part of photo practice. A large focus in photoware development has been on designing tools to support two of the most important uses of personal photos: sharing and storytelling. To support this end, user research has been conducted to discover how people share photos and tell stories using them (Balabanovic, Chu, and Wolff 2000) (Crabtree, Rodden, and Mariani 2004) (Frohlich et al. 2002) (Miller and Edwards 2007).

Less is known about the rest of the photo practice ecology, particularly the background personal information management work that supports the activities of sharing and storytelling with photos. This work, named "photowork" by Kirk et al. (2006), includes the organization of photos so that individual photos can be retrieved at a future point for sharing (Crabtree, Rodden, and Mariani 2004). A 2005 survey asked 763 professional photographers about their primary issue or challenge with photo management and found a cluster of concerns the researchers labeled "time consuming, learning related issues." The issues so labeled are: photo management, tagging/cataloging, learning/keeping up to date on technology, time consuming, search/locating files, and workflow (InfoTrends 2006). This is among professionals for whom photo management is a priority, so it seems consumers would only have more trouble. This indicates that research on photowork is necessary in order to understand the photo practice ecology and inform the development of tools that can better support photo practice.

The increasing accessibility of digital photography has complicated photowork in several ways. Because there is no cost associated with taking and viewing a digital photo beyond the initial cost of the camera equipment, people take many more digital photos than conventional photos. As the size of a photo collection increases, it becomes more important, yet possibly more difficult, to do photowork in order to use the collection. One reason for the increase in collection size related to the lack of any cost per digital image is practice of capturing non-identical multiple photos— slightly different photos taken of the same subject (Rodden and Wood 2003). Similarly, many original digital photos are edited after creation. The edited versions are often saved as new files, leaving the original photo file unchanged. The end result is another type of non-identical multiples. The ease of simple duplication of digital photos once they have been created also contributes to increased collection size (Kirk et al. 2006). Therefore, the problem is not simply one of managing more photos, but also of more complex collections to be managed.

Assumptions and misconceptions about personal photo collections

POPULATION

First, it should be mentioned that the bulk of the research reported here cannot be assumed to apply to the population of interest in the proposed research. The people that have been studied in research on personal photo collections are mainly general consumer photographers. Most of the collections are characterized as "family photos." These people and collections fall squarely into Chalfen's (1987) home mode of pictorial communication—a pattern of interpersonal and small group communication centered around the home and focused on pictorial materials. My assumption is that amateur photographers will approach photography and their photo collections differently. They are interested in the process of photography as a skill to be learned and in the artistic end result of that process whereas those in Kodak culture are snapshooters concerned with capturing memories of events and to share with people in their lives (Slater 1991; Miller and Edwards 2007).

This review focuses on the organization of these Kodak culture personal collections for two reasons. First, I identified very little research focusing specifically on amateur photographers and their photo collections. Second, it may be interesting to compare the findings of the proposed research on the organization of personal photo collections of amateur photographers with the findings from the literature reviewed below.

CONTENTS OF THE PERSONAL COLLECTION

The assumption of most of the research in this area is that the personal photo collection consists of photos taken by the person or family that owns the collection. In truth, personal photo collections have not only been found to contain photos from other sources, but also images that are not photographs. This issue of multiple sources and multiple types of images in the personal collection issue has been mentioned in a few only studies. Koh and Kerne's study (2006) of undergraduate student collecting behavior did not focus only on photos and images, but the collections examined included images. These images were of various types including photographs taken by the participants and their friends, photos from the popular media (movie star or musician photos, etc.), art images, and other images saved from the web for various personal or academic uses. Descriptions of the personal photo collections of 22 undergrad students revealed that these collections consist of photos taken by the students using one or more digital cameras, including mobile phones; photos received from friends and relatives via email attachment, by SMS, or on CDs, and images found on the web. In addition to regular photos the collections include photos that have been modified using graphics software, cartoons, and drawings (Cunningham and Masoodian 2007). Users of the photo sharing website Flickr reported that photos received from others enter their personal collections. These users either filed these photos as "received" or integrated them into their overall filing structure (Miller and Edwards 2007).

It is no paradox, however, to find content from other sources in the personal collection. Much of the content of interest in PIM research originates with sources other than the people participating in the PIM studies. We must all deal with the information that comes at us from all sides in the course of our lives. The acquisition, addition to a personal collection, maintenance, and use of any content by an individual makes that content personal. In a study of the use of personal photos and purchased commercial music, people were found to treat the two types of information in similar ways despite the differences in format and origin (Bentley, Metcalf, and Harboe 2006).

PRINT VS. DIGITAL PHOTOS: A FALSE DISTINCTION

It is easy and convenient to think about print photos as distinct and separate from digital photos. Indeed many papers, including this review, discuss them separately. It is important, however, to admit there is not a clear distinction between the two. An industry now exists to scan photographic prints, rendering them digital images (Red Mountain Media Group 2008) (ScanCafe Inc. 2008). Digital photos get printed and are then treated like any other photographic print (Frohlich et al. 2002). This review will refer instead to a distinction between digital and conventional photography, where the latter describes the photography that begins with film in a camera that is developed into photographic prints.

How people keep and organize their personal photo collections

Photowork is a specialized form of PIM. The types of studies that have been done on personal photo collections are similar to the majority of PIM studies: qualitative, semi-ethnographic explorations of the practices of a small sample of people. The results of any one of these studies are not generalizable to a larger population, however, similar findings consistently emerge across the studies, indicating some basic patterns in how consumer photographers tend to organize their personal photos. As in studies of PIM, a wide range of photowork practices has been identified. These practices are summarized below.

CONVENTIONAL PHOTOS

The significance of a photo or collection of photos to an individual will often influence how that photo or collection is kept and organized. A couple's wedding photos may be kept in a special wedding album, while their children's school photos are kept in a special photo file box. Photos from family vacations are less precious and are perhaps placed into a stack in a cabinet (2004). Very important and meaningful photos are often displayed. Usually this means the prints are shown in frames, but it can also include wallet pictures, unframed prints hung in the office and any other ways of displaying a photo. Frohlich and Fennel (2007) and Rose (2003) have written about the importance of the displayed photo and the importance of its placement. The main methods of organizing conventional photo collections are summarized below.

THE PHOTO PROCESSING ENVELOPE

Conventional photos are taken with film cameras. The film is then sent out for processing. Film negatives and photo prints are returned to the consumer in a photo processing envelope. This envelope is commonly the basic unit of organization in a personal photo collection (Rose 2003). There are several advantages of retaining photos in the photo processing envelope. First, it requires no extra materials or effort. Second, the prints within each envelope are in film exposure order, which corresponds to chronological order. Given the usual way of flipping through photos by placing the top photo on the back of the pile, it is not difficult to retain this order. Even if this order is lost within the contents of a photo processing envelope, keeping the photos in their respective envelopes can allow a rough chronological arrangement. Photos taken on one roll of film, regardless of how long it takes to use up the roll of film, are together in one envelope (Rodden and Wood 2003). Of course, this affordance assumes that only one camera is being used over any period of time by a person or family. Another advantage of the photo envelope as a unit of organization is that it preserves a link between film negatives and photographic prints (Vroegindeweij 2001).

THE SHOEBOX

It is common for conventional photos to be stored in shoeboxes, special photo boxes, or other similar containers. Often this type of box is a larger container for storing the photo processing envelopes. The envelopes can be filed in the shoebox in order of receipt, maintaining the rough chronological order mentioned above (Balabanovic, Chu, and Wolff 2000) (Rose 2003).

THE ALBUM

The photo album is the pinnacle of photowork involving conventional photos. In families, mothers typically feel responsible for chronicling family memories in albums (Rose 2003). The album generally consists of a carefully selected and ordered set of photos, presented in a book-type format (Balabanovic, Chu, and Wolff 2000). Prints that are judged as "good" are actively selected (Frohlich et al. 2002)and arranged, usually in chronological order, within an album. Albums tend to be classified by event, often with one album per event. Likely due to this careful process of selection and arrangement, photos in albums are viewed more than photos left in their envelopes (Rodden and Wood 2003). Unfortunately, compiling an album is a time-intensive activity that is rarely an urgent priority of life. In most cases, prints remain in their envelopes, or sometimes in "temporary" albums that end up becoming permanent (Frohlich et al. 2002). Having an external motivator for the creation of an album—giving it as a gift or planning to share it at a special event—increases the likelihood that the album will be created (Vroegindeweij 2001).

ANNOTATION

The ideal album is one annotated with information about the event, the location, and the people appearing in the photos, but this level of description is rarely achieved for the reasons explained above (Frohlich et al. 2002). Stay-at-home mothers mentioned the importance of dating photos, but confessed they rarely get around to doing this (Rose 2003). Even less detailed annotation, such as the labeling photo processing envelopes, happens rarely. Rodden and Wood (2003) identify an "annotation paradox": Because one does not need annotations when one remembers who and what is in a photo, annotating photos while they are recent is a low priority and is not done. Annotations become important when one does not know who or what is represented in a photo, but then it is too late to annotate.

DIGITAL PHOTOS

Crabtree et al. (2004) developed their idea of the ecology of photowork practice in the context of conventional photos. The introduction of digital photographs into the conventional personal collection is a step outside of the normal ecology. Different tools are used and different strategies are needed. Unless all of the conventional photos are scanned, or all of the digital photos are printed people are now facing the problem of multiple hierarchies in the management of their photo collections (Boardman, Spence, and Sasse 2003).

CONCEPTUALIZING DIGITAL PHOTOWORK

In order to conceptualize this space outside the conventional photowork practice ecology, two schemes describing the tasks and lifecycle of digital photowork and one model for thinking about the different ways in which this work can be accomplished have been developed. Vroegindeweij (2001) identified three subtasks of digital photowork as view and retrieve, sort and add, and storage and media. There are also three stages in Kirk et al.'s (2006) lifecycle of digital photowork: pre-download, at download, and pre-share. The pre-download stage includes image capture and sometimes on-camera editing. Activities undertaken in the at-download stage include downloading and filing pictures. Editing on the computer may take place between downloading and filing, and back-up may be done after filing. The pre-share stage includes another round of editing, possible photo printing, and then sharing.

Vroegindeweij (2001) also introduces a 2x2 matrix for thinking about different digital photowork systems. The first axis is personal vs. shared. This refers to who can see the photos and their organization. If the system is completely personal, it is private: only the creator of the collection can view the photos and their structure. There is a continuum of openness on this axis. Shared systems may be viewable by a few select individuals, or by anyone with an internet connection. The second axis is hierarchic vs. dedicated. A hierarchic photowork system relies on the hierarchic directory structure of the computer's operating system. The photos are arranged in levels of folders. A dedicated system uses specialized software based on the metaphor of the album. A personal, dedicated system would allow a user to create albums on his own computer. Picasa is one example of this sort of system. Examples of a shared, dedicated system could include any of the web-based photo sharing tools which allow the creation of albums. Most of these give the user some control over who can view her albums. The "My Photos" directory on a user's computer would constitute a personal, hierarchical system, while moving such a directory to a web server and allowing others to navigate it and view the images in the photos would constitute a shared, hierarchic system. There is a bit of a false dichotomy in this model, however, as many albums created with dedicated software are hierarchically organized. These applications present the hierarchies in a more attractive and navigable manner, and usually allow titles, captions, and keywords to be shown with the photos.

DIGITAL PHOTO ALBUMS

The use of dedicated photo albums software for organizing personal digital image collections appears to be relatively unusual. Album-based photo management software is rejected because it is often complicated, and because a simple hierarchical folder-based organization system meets the needs of the users, as discussed below. An exception to this finding is that Mac users are more likely to use the iPhoto software that is their operating system's default tool for photos (Kirk et al. 2006).

People do create digital equivalents to the conventional photo album for sharing images, but they do not organize their entire collection in digital albums. This is parallels conventional photo collection management, in that creating an album is a special, separate activity outside the basic management of the collection. The ability to create these albums is predicated on the photowork done to maintain the collection so that images can be located and used. Kirk et al. (2006) point out that people do not typically approach the management of their personal photo collection as a long term, overall activity. Rather, various short term tasks involving photos (adding new photos to the collection, editing photos, choosing photos to upload to a personal website, emailing photos to family, etc) drive the management of the collection. The preparation and description of subcollections of images to share is a large part of this activity. They suggest that software tools leverage the implicit metadata created in these activities to provide better access to photos. In a sense, and on a much larger scale, Google image search provides an example of this. The results of a Google image search are not retrieved because they were specifically described for retrieval. To automatically index web images, Google analyzes text adjacent to the images in web pages, the file names of the images, and many other factors in addition to image captions (Google 2008). Even though an image has never been explicitly described as being of a cat, it could be retrieved in an image search for "cats" because of how the image is used on a web page. Likewise, how a person uses her personal photos could be analyzed to sort or automatically describe those photos.

HIERARCHICAL FOLDERS

Despite the attractiveness of and features offered by digital photo albums, the hierarchical folder structure of the computer's operating system is generally the preferred of organizing the overall personal photo collection. Multiple studies have confirmed this finding (Vroegindeweij 2001) (Rodden and Wood 2003) (Frohlich et al. 2002) (Kirk et al. 2006). When a batch of images is downloaded from a digital camera, they are usually automatically placed in a folder labeled by default with the date of image download. Typically, one folder on the hard drive is designated as the destination for these downloads, so this folder becomes filled with these dated batches of images in subfolders.

This folder-based organization is analogous to the common arrangement of conventional photos in photo processing envelopes inside a shoebox, and it seems to work for the same reasons. The file naming conventions of digital cameras ensure the maintenance of chronological order, and the downloading of images in batches supports keeping groups of images together. The studies above found that people often download their digital photos after events so that all of the photos from the event are together in a folder. If there are a large number of photos downloaded in a batch, people will sometimes organize images into subfolders of this dated batch folder. They also often edit the batch folder file name, leaving the existing date, but adding the some indication of event or occasion to the end. Beyond this editing, annotation of digital photographs in the personal collection is rare. This makes sense, as the annotation of individual files is not well supported at the basic operating system where this photowork is being done. Also, in strictly personal photo collections, the annotation paradox would still be in effect.

PHOTO TRIAGE

The sorting, selecting, and filtering of photos have been identified as important tasks in photowork (Vroegindeweij 2001) (Frohlich et al. 2002). Kirk et al. (2006) found this "photo triage" work to be a key task at multiple stages of the digital photowork lifecycle. The first two stages at which this triage process tends to occur are on the camera and when downloading photos from the camera to the computer. On-camera triage is generally only conducted when data storage becomes limited. Triage at the time of download is more common. At each of these stages, photo triage tends to focus on the general quality of the photos. Overly blurry or dark photos, unflattering portraits, and photos that did not capture the intended subject may be discarded. The number of non-identical multiples of a single subject may be winnowed to the best shots of that subject. The third stage at which photo triage occurs tends to be before sharing the photos. This includes sorting and filtering to decide which photos to feature in an album, send to relatives, or post to the web. Here the triage focus tends to be on choosing the best quality photos of each subject a person wants to share and selecting the most appropriate photos for the intended audience. This often means choosing one photo from any group of non-identical multiples.

The prominence of triage work in the digital photowork lifecycle indicates a user need that photoware systems could support. The typical focus in photoware development has been on designing systems that can automatically sort or organize enormous numbers of photos. Frohlich and Fennell (2007) point out that there is a greater need for interfaces that allow people to easily compare and sort their photos. The result of supporting this triage work would be smaller image collections which would be easier for people to organize and use.

SEARCHING AND BROWSING IN THE PERSONAL DIGITAL PHOTO COLLECTION

Several studies have found that people search their personal digital photo collections relatively rarely (Rodden and Wood 2003) (Bentley, Metcalf, and Harboe 2006) (Kirk et al. 2006). Chronological, event-based browsing is far more common, and most people report this method is sufficient for finding photos (Miller and Edwards 2007) (Cunningham and Masoodian 2007). The prevalence of chronological, event-based browsing for photos may be in part explained by almost pervasive findings that the most recent photos in a collection are the most frequently used, browsed, and viewed. Users in only two of the studies reviewed here reported interest in going back to look at older photos (Cunningham and Masoodian 2007) (Rodden and Wood 2003). People are familiar with their recent photos, and so there is little need to search for them in order to use, browse, or view them.

Rodden and Wood (2003) found that, though searches of personal digital photo collections are relatively rare, the types of searches conducted fall into three categories. The most frequent searches are conducted to find the set of photos from a particular event, such as a holiday. Next, people search for specific individual photos that they remember. Searches for photos sharing a property (such as the depiction of a certain person) but taken at different events are the least frequently conducted.

One cannot assume that these frequencies reflect user need or desires; they may instead reflect the affordances of the photoware tools in use. The most common method of organizing photos is in the hierarchical directory structure of the computer operating system. Especially if the directory names are edited to include an event label, searches on dates and events will be possible. Specific individual photos may likewise be searched for by event or date. Most photoware tools will also support these search types because they use the automatically captured date information to enable the chronological ordering of photos, and provide for the grouping of photos into folders or albums which can be labeled with event name.

The least frequent type of search—for photos sharing a property but taken at different events—is the least likely to actually be possible in available photoware systems because it assumes some level of semantic indexing or description at the individual photo level. The basic operating system file structures most commonly used do not support this level of description in an easily usable way. Even in photoware tools that make this level of description easier, the annotation or indexing of individual photos research findings so far indicate this is unlikely to be done with any consistency or completeness. Content-based image retrieval cannot yet provide access at the semantic level of interest to end users. For these reasons, searches for all photos sharing a specific property are not likely to be possible. If they are possible, the results will at best tend to suffer from low recall. Therefore, this type of search will not be frequently conducted.

With advances in both digital camera technology and content-based image retrieval, more automatic capturing of image descriptions will be possible. Already, some digital cameras and camera phones are equipped with GPS. These automatically record the geographic coordinates of the photographer's position at the time each image is created in the image's EXIF file along with the date and time of image capture and camera settings such as shutter speed, focal length, and aperture. Automatic face recognition may be accomplished in personal image collections before it is feasible on a large scale. When such contextual information is automatically available, image search behavior in the personal collection may change.

COMPARING THE ORGANIZATION OF IMAGES IN PERSONAL PHOTO COLLECTIONS AND INSTITUTIONAL IMAGE COLLECTIONS

DIFFERENCES

Turner (1999) developed a typology of image collections which identifies the characteristics of image collections along the following facets:

- personal or institutional collecting entities
- users
- activities
- images collected
- responsibilities for collections.

In this typology, collecting entities are identified as having characteristics including status (public/private), type of institution or sponsor, physical organization, and collector. "Type of institution or sponsor" appears to refer to the creator of the collection—artists are included as one type. "Collectors" appear to be the institutions that keep and maintain the collection. The examples here include large institutional library, museum, and corporation. Personal photo collections can be fit into this typology if one considers individuals and families to be local, private, personal collecting entities.

After fitting personal photo collections into the typology, one can use it to compare them with institutional collections on other facets of the typology. A facet with major differences is "users." "Type of use" is the most relevant aspect of this facet. In personal collections, main uses include sharing with others, storytelling, and remembering. In institutional collections the range of uses will be wider because of the larger, heterogeneous user base and the makeup of the collections. The uses will depend on the nature of the collecting entity and its mission.

The "images collected" facet includes type of images collected. Again, for institutional collections, this will depend on the nature of the collecting entity and its mission. In an institutional collection, the types of images collected will vary, but the goal is to build a collection that will meet the needs of the entire population of users. As mentioned above, personal photo collections often contain other types of images besides photographs, from sources other than the collector. However, all of these images hold some meaning to or interest for the collector, indicated by their inclusion in the collection. They are made for and by a user base of one (or, in the case of the family collections, a small few).

The above review has shown large differences in the methods of organization of images in these collections. Institutional collections take a formal approach to organizing and providing access to image collections. The research on important image attributes reported above is meant to inform the design of databases for image retrieval in this context. In contrast, the most common method of organizing the personal photo collection is a set of directories labeled by date and event. Most users say this method of organization is sufficient for their personal collections. It is unlikely anyone would find this method sufficient for organizing institutional collections. Institutional collections are typically much larger than personal collections and therefore need more involved control and access systems.

A more important reason for the differences in methods of organization of images in these two types of collections is the distinction between finding and refinding. Users of institutional collections do not know the extent of what is in the collection and often have not previously seen the items for which they are searching; therefore, institutional collections must support finding. The contents of personal image collections have been created or collected by the individual who will later be using the collection, so these collections must support re-finding. As was covered in the review of personal information management, finding and re-finding are two different tasks with differing requirements.
SIMILARITIES

In the past several years web applications for sharing and exploring content have emerged that incorporate tagging as an important description and access mechanism. Many such tools exist for many types of content, including URLs (Yahoo! 2008a), academic papers (Oversity Ltd. 2008), music (CBS Interactive 2008), and blogs and blog posts (Technorati, Inc. 2008). Of particular interest here are photo sharing sites with tagging. The most notable and popular of these is Flickr (Yahoo! 2008b). In Flickr, an individual has an account to which he or she can add photos. The general assumption is that these will be photos taken by that individual, though users can upload any sort of image from any source to their own accounts. Each account features some or all of the content of a personal photo collection. Photo sharing and browsing is the main purpose of Flickr. Photos can be kept private, but most photos are shared publicly or with a chosen set of specific people.

The ability to share one's personal photos publicly in some ways makes these shared collections of photos similar to institutional collections. All photos publicly shared on Flickr become part of vast larger photo collection that comprises the bulk of the site. The user base for these personal photos now becomes immense, heterogeneous, and for the most part, unknown. When users of Flickr move outside their individual photo collections and any other accounts they regularly follow, the main activity becomes finding images rather than refinding them.

These changes appear to affect how people organize their own personal collections, or at least those parts of the collections made available to others in public systems. Overall, people report tagging their photos not for themselves, but to build community on the site and help other people find their photos (House 2007) (Miller and Edwards 2007). Users sometimes tag (albeit cursorily) despite finding the process to be boring or difficult; however, some people go to great lengths to thoroughly tag their photos with synonym terms, plural forms, and even equivalent terms in other languages (Beaudoin 2007; Cox, Clough, and Marlow 2008). Personal photos are not being tagged to facilitate refinding—they are tagged so they can be found. Since the impetus for describing photos in these openly shared collections is no longer remembering and revisiting, the annotation paradox present in unshared personal photo collections disappears.

Morrison (2007) derived a typology of motivations for tagging from an analysis of a variety of tagging systems. Some motivations that particularly apply to personal image collections include a) increasing the exposure to photos by generating traffic; b) voicing opinions; and c) taking advantage of functionality built on top of a folksonomy. Tags facilitate these in different ways. First, tags increase exposure by making photos findable and browsable in the larger Flickr collection. The concern with generating traffic and feedback on one's photos is backed up by recent research on Flickr users (Cox, Clough, and Marlow 2008). They found that other methods such as targeted commenting, group participation, and strategic posting of images are also used to maximize exposure and feedback. Second, tags express opinions when people use them to make statements regarding the *aboutness* of their photos. People can tag the photos of others in Flickr if those other people have set their account options to allow this. When this is allowed, tags are often used to voice opinions on the quality of photos (Dennis 2006). Finally, Flickr builds a variety of useful features on top of the folksonomy created by individual taggers. Cox et al. (2008) suggest that people tag to make their photos browsable via folksonomy-based functions browsing functions, since tags are not necessary for searching.

Analyses of the tags assigned in photo sharing systems suggest that these tags generally fit into the models of image attributes and descriptors developed in research in the context of institutional collections (Alexander 2005) (Beaudoin 2007). The exceptions can be explained by the dual personal/social nature of photo sharing systems. "Signalling tags" such as *top50*, *deleteme*, and *saveme* are described as those that communicate that other users should take action on a photo or recognize the importance of a photo (Dennis 2006). Signalling tags may be applied by the creator of a photo, or by viewers of that photo if the creator has public tagging enabled. A parallel can be drawn between the signaling tags found in photo sharing systems and the time, task, and emotion-based persona tags sometimes applied in the scholarly paper tagging system CiteULike (Kipp 2007).

To study user descriptions of shared photos not based on tagging, a system was designed to support the annotation of shared photos (Alexander 2005). The annotations entered by users were analyzed and found to be characterized by four descriptive dimensions: word types used in annotation, length of annotation, creative vs. descriptive annotation approaches, and structure. Structure characteristics parallel the image attributes identified in other studies, including *who*, *what*, *location*, *event*, *action*, *timeline*, and *emotion*. The most frequently described characteristic was *what*, followed by *who*, as Jorgensen's (1998) work would predict. In decreasing order of frequency, main English word types used in annotations were common nouns (40%), proper nouns (25%), verbs (19%), adjectives (11%), adverbs (5%). The high frequency of common nouns supports Hollink et al.'s (2004) conclusion that general attributes are described more often than specific attributes. Finally, 33% of the annotations contained emotion description, confirming the importance of affective image attributes identified by Griesdorf and O'Connor (2002). There seems to be some evidence that important image attributes for description may be the same in institutional and personal collections, at least when the latter are shared with others.

Layne (1994), in the context of institutional image collections, states that the goals of image indexing are: to provide access to images based on the attributes of those image and to provide access to useful groupings of images in addition to access to individual images. These goals also apply to personal photo collections. People tend to look for photos taken at a certain time or at a certain event, so the attributes of time and event are most important in personal collections. These attributes can be described and browsed using a simple hierarchical folder system. Rodden and Wood (2003) reported rare searches for photos sharing a certain attribute other than time or event, but it is unknown whether these searches would be more frequent in systems that better supported the description of individual photos. The most common searches, aligned with Layne's second goal, were for sets of images.

CONCLUSIONS

REGARDING PHOTOWARE

Building good photoware tools that will support the needs of users requires an understanding of the real ecology of digital photowork and digital photo use practice. Based on the findings reported above, one of the most pressing needs in photoware is support for photo triage—the comparing, sorting, filtering, and weeding of the personal digital photo collection at various points in the photowork lifecycle. A simple folder-based organization scheme based on events in chronological order seems to meet the needs of most people, so focusing on developing sophisticated automatic classification features for photoware is probably misguided. In fact, some people choose to use the directory structure of their operating system to organize their photos because it gives them more control over how their photos are organized and managed. Vroegindeweij (2001, p. 32) writes that, "in reality people like to apply their own organising strategy, which develops and changes over the years." They do not want to adapt their practice to meet the design of a specialized photoware tool. The annotation of unshared digital photos in private personal collections is rare. This could be caused by the same annotation paradox found in conventional photowork, but it could also be affected by poor support for easy and natural annotation. Photoware should provide the capability to annotate and index photos at the folder or album level instead of requiring this work to be done at the individual photo level.

WHAT WE DON'T KNOW ABOUT PHOTOWORK: PLANNING FOR THE FUTURE

The ways in which people create sub-collections of digital photos for sharing has been little studied. However, a major lacuna in knowledge about digital photowork is the long-term archiving, preserving, and management of photos. One of Vroegindeweij's (2001) digital photowork subtasks is storage and media, which includes personal archival storage. Kirk et al. (2006) briefly treat the topic, reporting that keeping their photos on their hard drives seemed adequate for many of their subjects. Others reported saving photos to CDs, but this might be precipitated more by running low on hard drive disk space than by any concern about preserving or archiving the photos. Rodden and Wood (2003) identify long-term storage of digital photos as a concern that should be investigated further. While this topic is treated in the digital curation and preservation literature, the focus does not tend to be on strategies for personal collections. To fill this gap, people's long-term keeping strategies should be investigated in studies of photowork. Another approach might be to analyze the coverage of this topic or the lack thereof in the popular literature about how to do photowork, since this might be the only place many people would encounter an idea of the importance and difficulty of long-term strategies.

WHAT WE DON'T KNOW ABOUT PHOTOWORK: OUTSIDE THE "HOME MODE" OF PHOTOGRAPHY

Research on photowork in personal photo collections has focused almost exclusively on average consumer photographers and general personal/family photo collections, but there are indications that other modes of personal photography and photowork exist. In their study of general consumer photographers in the home mode, Frolich et al. (2002) discovered that photos taken in the course of a hobby, or to document the activities of a hobby, were treated differently and were more likely to be shared publicly than the regular personal or family photos. These were photos were not described as results of photography as a hobby, but nevertheless their difference from the rest of the personal collections indicates different modes of photowork exist related to hobbies.

In their study of Flickr users, Miller and Edwards (2007) found that their sample contained two different types of users that they named Kodak Culture users and Snaprs. Kodak Culture users are typical consumer photographers in the "home mode" as described by Chalfen (1987), while Snaprs appear to be serious leisure photographers. Their goals for taking photographs and using Flickr were focused on improving their photography skills, creating and sharing artistic images, and building a community of people with similar interests. Snaprs' photowork practices were very different from those of the Kodak Culture users. Snaprs tended to download, process, and organize their photography-related activity. They preferred to use the basic directory structure of their operating system to organize their photos, explaining that this strategy gave them more control over the photos. Finally, they were heavier users of Flickr than the Kodak Culture users, did not consider their photos to be private and personal, were more likely to share their photography skill building. The Kodak Culture users tended to use Flickr to share photos with specific family members and friends only.

If Miller and Edwards' (2007) Snaprs indeed are serious leisure photographers, the study is a first glimpse at how tools like Flickr may have changed the landscape of serious leisure photography as a hobby. Alternately, the old landscape may be intact, and the Snapr-type hobbyist may be a new kind of serious leisure photographer. Flickr and its communities of Snapr-type users look very different from the amateur photo contest communities studied by Grinter (2005). Grinter did not examine individual photographers or their personal collections, but how classification was used to deal with large numbers of submissions to photo contests and organize the activities of the group. She traces how the advent of digital photography necessitated the re-working of the classification. These communities were much more structured and formal than the communities of Snaprs; however, it should be noted that photo communities that run contests do exist on Flickr. The structure of these groups might be more appropriately compared with Grinter's findings.

The photowork practices of photobloggers and participants in webcam and photo portal communities have also been found to be quite different from those of typical consumer photographers (Cohen 2005a) (McDonald 2007). These photographers cannot be categorized as serious leisure photographers simply because they photoblog or participate in communities— serious leisure photography and online photo posting and sharing are overlapping, but distinct activities. These studies do provide additional evidence that there are populations with ecologies of photowork practice that differ from what has been described in the bulk of the photowork research.

The proposed research aims to fill the intersection of gaps in knowledge about long-term photo keeping strategies for personal photo collections and the basic ecologies of photowork practice developed by photographers outside the typical consumer "home mode."

PERSONAL INFORMATION MANAGEMENT (PIM)

The PIM literature can be roughly divided into two categories: research into user behavior, practice, and needs in PIM; and development and evaluation of PIM tools. I focus on the former in this review. The review begins with an analysis of definitions of PIM. Next, the basic activities of PIM are discussed. Then, I discuss the types of information objects considered in studies of PIM, and summarize the main findings regarding the management of specific information objects. This discussion highlights the central problem of PIM: fragmentation of information, which is described. Next, I discuss two things that appear to be constant across different forms of PIM, despite fragmentation. These are the importance of contextual cues and document attributes in PIM, and the emergence of basic PIM personalities. Then I pose two questions: what now, and so what? I will outline the main outstanding challenges in PIM research.

DEFINING PIM

Defining the object or field of inquiry situates the work and bounds its scope. I will begin by exploring some definitions of personal information management. A gradual broadening of the scope and focus of the definition of PIM emerges, along with three tensions in defining what PIM is.

Broadening the Scope

Though the phrase "personal information management" appears to have been first used by Lansdale in 1988, ideas about what we might now call ideal PIM systems were posited by pioneers in information and computer science long before. Bush's (1945) memex was "a device in which an individual stores all his books, records, and communications, and which is mechanized so that it may be consulted with exceeding speed and flexibility. It is an enlarged intimate supplement to his memory." (Engelbart 1961) proposed microdocumentation, described as "a way to store, retrieve, and manipulate the information within our individual's private domain, with information-packet sizes that match his actual needs (i.e., separate concepts, facts, considerations, etc.)." Nelson (1965) intended "to think out (and eventually program) the dream file: the file system that would have every feature a novelist or absent-minded professor could want, holding everything he wanted in just the complicated way he wanted it held, and handling notes and manuscripts in as subtle and complex ways as he wanted them handled."

Empirical research on individuals' PIM practices began developing in the 1960s. Most early work examined the files and indexes of researchers (Jahoda, Hutchens, and Galford 1966; Sauvain 1970; Jahoda 1970; Burton 1972; Leggate et al. 1977; Sauvain 1979; Burton 1981). Burton (1981) moved beyond focus on the personal index by examining the "personal information systems," of scholars, defined as "systems where an individual collects, annotates, and stores bibliographic information according to his own (idiosyncratic) needs and preferences." In his study of how professional and clerical office workers organize the information in their desks and offices, Malone (1983) both looked outside the academic environment, and used the phrase "personal information environment," highlighting the physical space aspects in which information organization takes place. The first appearance of the phrase "personal information management" in this body of research seems to have occurred in (Lansdale 1988). This study added the organization of information in domestic life to the definition of PIM.

More recently, the scope of PIM has been further broadened. Jones' (2004) definition of PIM "includes all activities relating to the acquisition of new information (whether by deliberate search or more happenstance encounter), its organization into a personal store and its eventual reaccess for re-use." The activity of sharing information was included as part of PIM by Teevan, Jones, and Bederson (2006). Finally, Jones (2007) sets forth an ideal of PIM: " that we always have the right information in the right place, in the right form, and of sufficient completeness and quality to meet our current need."

Tensions in definitions of PIM

In examining definitions of PIM, it becomes clear that various researchers have defined PIM differently. Three main tensions in definitions of PIM emerge.

WHAT DOES "PERSONAL" MODIFY?

The phrase "personal information management" is ambiguous because it is not clear what exactly the adjective "personal" is modifying. Is it the information in PIM that is personal, or is it the management of that information?

Lansdale (1988) explained that the information in PIM is not personal in the sense that it is private, but because we have it for our own personal use. He then defined PIM as "the process of managing this type of information: the methods and procedures by which we handle, categorise, and retrieve information on a day to day basis." Before the phrase "personal information management" was coined, Leggate et al. (1977) highlighted that it was the process of working with the information added to one's personal index that made the index unique and useful:

The communal records of the public data base are transferred to a private data base and given a unique identity by being reformatted, annotated, indexed, or abstracted to suit the personal requirements of an individual or a group. Each personal index is idiosyncratic to the extent that its content and organization reflect the nature of work, the method of working, the technical environment and the personality of its progenitor.

Bergman et al. (2004) define PIM as "the storage, organization, and retrieval of information by an individual for his/her own use. In these definitions, it is clearly the activity of management that is personal.

Others have defined PIM as the management of personal information. Cutrell, Dumais, and Teevan (2006) are interested in "the extent to which search can mitigate the need to organize one's personal electronic information." Here, it is clearly the information that is conceptualized as personal, for they imply the management part is unnecessary.

Bergman et al. (2004) state that "millions of computer users manage personal information (e.g. Files, email, contacts, bookmarks, reminders) every day." This highlights one pitfall of conceptualizing PIM as the management of personal information: one must then decide what is and is not personal information. This is problematic first because the LIS does not agree upon exactly what information is (Capurro and Hjørland 2003; Bates 2006). Second, the phrase "personal information" itself is ambiguous. Lally (2004) defines personal information as information that relates directly to our own lives because it is either about us or created by us, or our ancestors. In popular use, personal information generally refers to information that is to keep private (Karat, Brodie, and Karat 2006). Neither of these is the personal information that is typically discussed in PIM research.

Recent reviews of PIM circumvent the entire issue by defining personal information so broadly it applies to almost anything, depending on how one defines information. This includes information controlled or owned by a person; information about a person; information directed toward a person; information created, sent, posted, provided, or published by a person; information previously experienced by a person; and information not yet experienced by a person that might be relevant or useful to him (Jones 2008a).

Despite the fact that it ruins a perfectly good acronym, I prefer to conceptualize PIM as the personal management of information because it obviates the need to define "personal information." It also avoids narrow assumptions about what types of information should be investigated in PIM research. Finally, focusing on the actions of the individual keeps the focus directly on the person, not on the information, the technology, or the system.

A person's interactions with the information in his environment personalize that information for him. The information becomes personal only after a person has engaged with it. It is understanding these interactions and activities of engagement, and how to best support or augment them, that is the concern of my research in PIM.

COMPUTER AND PAPER-BASED PIM

Bergman et al. (2004) described PIM as a "fundamental aspect of computer-based activity millions of computer users manage personal information (e.g. Files, email, contacts, bookmarks, reminders) every day to support their work and leisure needs." Cutrell, Dumais, and Teevan (2006) characterize PIM as a response to "the need to organize one's personal electronic information."

Despite the usefulness of computers for managing information, and the vast amount of digital information many people must deal with, a large amount of personal information still exists and is managed on paper. A 1997 survey of 23 technology-savvy subjects in England found that less than one-fifth were using any computer-based technologies to manage their information. All use of computer-based technologies was augmented or supported by use of traditional (pen and paper based) PIM technologies (Jones and Thomas 1997). This study is dated now, but even at that time, the researchers expressed surprise at the lack of use of electronic PIM tools among the population studied. More recently, Whittaker and Hirschberg (2001) examined paper archives in an office amidst a move, and "found little compelling evidence that paper had no role in modern office work." In fact, people were keeping more paper than ever, devising strategies to organize it, and struggling with information overload.

Finally, Peters (2002) found a striking definitive preference for using paper in PIM work. He concludes that people are familiar with the affordances of paper and that, "those affordances, predictability, familiarity, and generalizability promote the usability of these (paper) artefacts through simple recognition, ease of use and cognitive support that extends the interactions across information boundaries, respectively." Also, unlike most computer documents, paper-based information may be created and arranged in various ways without explicit naming or saving into a rigid hierarchical structure. Given the differing affordances of both paper and computer-based systems for managing information, it is unlikely that computers will replace paper for all information tasks (Sellen and Harper 2002). Recent trends such as the "Hipster PDA" further illustrate the continuing importance of paper-based PIM strategies. The Hipster PDA is simply a stack of index cards held together with binder clips. Its construction and various strategies for its use have been extensively discussed on various web sites, and it appears to be primarily popular among technology-literate people, among them many IT workers (Mann 2004; Wikipedia 2007).

Despite the continuing importance of managing information on paper, the majority of studies in recent years have focused on managing digital information. Comparatively few PIM studies examining individuals' strategies for organizing their paper-based information were identified as being published in the last ten years (Jones and Thomas 1997; Genoni and Partridge 2000; Whittaker and Hirschberg 2001; Sellen and Harper 2002; Peters 2002; Abrahamson 2002; Bondarenko and Janssen 2005).

While we know much about the organization and management of paper-based information from older studies, we know little about what issues arise in attempts to interface one's paper systems with one's electronic information. For example, how does one manage a personal collection of scholarly articles when some of them are kept in PDF format, while others are only available in print? How is a growing collection of music purchased as MP3 integrated into an extensive collection of compact discs? How and why do some people create digital catalogs of their physical collections, such as books, film, or music? The overlaps between the management of paper and digital information are many, and are largely unexplored.

PIM AT WORK, PIM AT HOME AND ELSEWHERE

The bulk of research in PIM has examined the management of information in the context of the workplace. Since about 2002, however, the number of studies looking into or allowing respondents to talk about the management of information outside the work environment has seemed to increase. Peters (2002) explored personal information spaces "in what was considered the usual workplace, home environment or both." Goncalves and Jorge (2003) attempt to characterize the entire personal document space of 11 individuals, across multiple locii. The tasks used in Capra and Perez-Quinones' (2005) experiment in web refinding were focused on everyday life tasks and information needs not tied to work. Jones, Munat et al. (2005b) asked about work and non-work projects in their study of the use of folders to organize information for projects. Koh and Kerne (2006) studied the collections students keep for both fun and for their work. One part of Hartel's (2006) work on hobbyist gourmet cooks as focuses on them as producers and managers of information resources.

Hartel (2003) makes a case for the importance of studying information behaviors in serious leisure and hobby domains. This approach and focus extends the larger movement within library and information science research to study Everyday Life Information Seeking (ELIS) (Savolainen 1995) and information seeking in context (Vakkari, Savolainen, and Dervin 1997). Where there is information seeking, one hopes there is information finding. Once information is found, PIM begins. In the everyday life context, these practices of PIM are mainly unexplored.

Another strand of literature salient to PIM in everyday life outside the workplace is the work done on information and information technology use in the home (Davenport and Higgins 1995; Hindus 1999; Kraut et al. 2000; Rieh 2004; Crabtree and Rodden 2004). In looking forward to ubiquitous computing, smart homes, and how to build tools to support the needs of people in their homes, it is important to understand the needs and desires of the target consumer and user. Many of the home-based tasks these tools will support are at heart personal information management tasks. Merkel (2002) conducted a study on the use of computers and the Internet for home-based "life-managing" in a low-income community. Here "life-managing" was categorized as a form of vernacular literacy. She found that "participants used their computers to make calendars, to organize their daily activities, and to keep track of collections. They looked up information on the Internet to organize themselves and their activities in the home. They planned trips using on-line maps and weather web sites. They used their computer to maintain budges, to check their bills online from local utility companies, and to look up financial information from their banks and employers."

In the home it is important to balance the desire for efficiency in home-based production and consumption cycles (Venkatesh 1985) with the need to support play and leisure in the home. Gaver explains that "people do not just pursue tasks and solve problems, they also explore, wonder, love, worship, and waste time." New home-based computing should not hamper these ludic pursuits by perpetuating a work-based model of human-computer and human-information interaction (Gaver 2001).

In the home, the management of physical things, including information artifacts to be managed (Nojima 2005), the patterns of routines (Tolmie et al. 2002; Crabtree and Rodden 2004), and the use of space (Junestrand, Keijer, and Tollmar 2001; Crabtree and Hemmings 2001a; Crabtree and Hemmings 2001b) are foregrounded. Finally, it has been pointed out that computers are not the only technological tools that will be useful in the home (Venkatesh and Nicosia 1997).

In summary, it seems that certain types of research in PIM could nestle comfortably in, and in some cases tie together, the loose threads of everyday life and leisure, information behavior and practices in context, and technology in the home. All of these threads are also reminders that strategies and approaches from the workplace may not be found, or found desirable, outside of work.

MESSES

PIM is often characterized as keeping things organized, and includes systems for doing so. Thinking of being organized tends to bring to mind images of everything neat, tidy, and clean. It is important, however, to remember that there are many types of systems, and many forms and levels of organization. Burton (1981) pointed out that a personal information system may bear "little semblance to a system in any rigorous sense of the word, although many such systems are quite well developed." There are less structured, yet still useful, ways that people handle their information. Abrahamson (2002; 2006) suggests that a certain type and level of mess in an organizational system is efficient and can enhance creativity. Williamson (1998a) outlines problems of finding and reminding that arise on the truly messy desk, when piles have degenerated into undifferentiated heaps. One should not overlook or discount a system or strategy simply because it doesn't look like one.

ACTIVITIES OF PIM

PIM activities are typically broken down into three categories: finding and refinding, keeping, and meta-level activities (Jones and Teevan 2007). This typology has emerged from research in PIM at the University of Washington, but much previous and ongoing research elsewhere fits into it nicely. My conceptualization of PIM roughly follows these classifications, with a few main differences, which I will explain in the appropriate sections below.

Finding

Finding and refinding are combined in the predominant frameworks for discussing PIM activities (Jones 2007; Jones 2008b). On one hand this works well. Strategies such as searching, browsing, scanning, and recognizing are used both to find both new and already-seen information. I may find a web page using Google today, read the page, close my browser, and go about my day. If I want to access that information again, my web browser gives me the option to revisit my browsing history, but often it seems easier just to re-do my previous Google search to re-find the page. In a sense, I'm doing the exact same thing.

But in another sense, everything changed after I initially found the web page. I discovered the existence of the web page and in my attention to and making sense of the web page, I personalized it. I now know something about what the page means to me and whatever I happen to remember about it. It is something in my experience that I have made meaning of. I use this personal knowledge of and previous personal experience with the web page to re-find it. This a very different process from finding. The differences between finding and re-finding are identified in the work using the framework which lumps them together (Teevan, Capra, and Perez-Quinones 2007; Jones 2008b), and it is true that tools are increasingly supporting both activities.²⁹

My issue with finding is its inclusion as part of PIM. Definition of PIM associated with this activity framework tend to include "the practice or the study of the activities a person performs in order to acquire...information" (Jones 2008b, 5). This is problematic because it radically broadens PIM's scope by suddenly including within it the vast topic of information behavior and information practices.³⁰

My position is that PIM begins at the moment of acquisition. Acquiring information means having that information, even if it is only in your mind. Having a thing (or access to a thing) means you can do something with it. The step of information acquisition means that PIM activities can then take place. The way in which a person acquires information indeed affects his PIM activities on that information, but they are not part of his PIM activities.

²⁹ In the example of finding the web-page, even though Google is primarily a finding tool, if I have a Google user account, I can access my search history for re-finding purposes. I use the Google Firefox Search extension which makes finding easy, but also saves my queries so I can re-find without even typing in the whole query.

³⁰ As described in the first section of this review, this literature has heretofore been predominantly concerned with information seeking behaviors and practices--those activities performed in order to acquire information.

An analogy may clarify my point. The content-creation, editing, design, publication, and distribution of an item in very large part define how that item will be cataloged or otherwise described in the organization of library materials. No one would claim, however, that the activities of content-creation, editing, design, publication, and distribution are included in the practice or study of bibliographic control. The process of bibliographic control begins when a cataloger sits down with the item in hand.³¹ If one says that the acquisition of information is finding oneself in possession of that information, then PIM begins in this particular moment of finding.

Acquiring

In-depth coverage of the many ways that people come to acquire information is beyond the scope of this review. The section on information behavior and practice covers some of the ways this topic has been modeled in LIS. Its literature is vast and has been reviewed elsewhere (Case 2002). Here, I will present an initial framework of types of information acquisition situations in relation to PIM.³² What leads to this moment of finding one has information precedes PIM, but is a situational factor which influences PIM decisions and practice.

There are at least four modes of acquiring information: directed information seeking, information receiving, information recognizing, and information creating. A directed information seeking situation is characterized by an active attempt to locate information for a specific reason. It may be a formal, explicit, and conscious process, beginning with the identification of an information need, selection of sources, and formation of a query. It may be a very subtle, almost unconscious process embedded in everyday interaction. If I am in a directed information seeking situations, I am ready for information and have a planned use for it. This can make PIM easier, at least initially.

Information receiving situations are characterized by the passive receipt of information. Many information receiving situations are unsolicited. Some of these are desirable: I might receive a useful citation from a colleague or an interesting news clipping from my dad. All too often, however, the unsolicited information received is undesirable: spam and junk mail are obvious examples. Some information receiving situations are not entirely passive in that they have been actively contrived by a person to ensure they will passively receive information later. I may subscribe to a listserv or RSS feed on a topic. This is related to information monitoring behaviors such as those investigated by Savolainen in his original ELIS study (1995).

³¹ For the sake of argument, I'm pretending the LC Cataloging-in-Publication program does not exist.

³² This is not based on any empirical work on my part or conscious synthesis of specific research findings. Instead it is an attempt to organize my thoughts on the relationship between information seeking and PIM, based on the gestalt of my knowledge of both literatures.

Perhaps unsolicited and contrived information receiving situations should be separate categories altogether since their origins are different. But I am concerned here with the moment of acquisition. A person has little control over any of these situations at the moment of acquisition. Email is a hub for information receiving and it is paradoxically both the home of many people's PIM practices (Ducheneaut and Bellotti 2001) and a big PIM problem area (Whittaker and Sidner 1996; Marshall 2007). When I open my email application each morning it is a torrent of happy surprises, irritating (and by now expected) surprises, and some widely varying number of semi-expected listserv posts. One saving grace is that PIM decisions about unwanted received information are probably the easiest of all to make. But even the happy and requested items can feel overwhelming or annoying at the moment of acquisition.

At a cognitive level, we are all receiving information at all times through our various forms of perception. What information we acquire in a consciously useful way depends on what we notice. This characterizes the information recognizing situation. Here information is not necessarily directed at or sent to us, and we are not particularly looking for it, but we may run across it anyway. This is the kind of information acquisition situation happening in information related to one problem and unexpectedly finds information related to some other problem." My conception of information recognizing situation does not require this happen in the context of an active information search, however. These types of situations can be challenging in terms of PIM because we are often focused on other goals when we recognize information.

Finally there are information creating situations, which include creating a spreadsheet, writing an email, taking a photograph, or scribbling down some notes. In each case the creator must make decisions about what to do with the information when it is created. Short term PIM in such situations may be easy if information is created for a specific reason, or in an area where one already has an established PIM structure or routine. Other types of information creating situations can be challenging since many PIM tools do not have good support for fragmentary or ephemeral information.

The type of situation in which one acquires information is very important context for understanding PIM, but has not been systematically explored in the research from this perspective. This is one area in which a Sense-Making approach to studying PIM could be particularly helpful, given Sense-Making's emphasis on Situation Movement States and their relationship with action (see below).

Keeping

Keeping includes deciding whether or not to keep acquired information, and what to do with it if it is to be kept. To keep means to take some action to bring information into a personal collection based on anticipation of the future. The keeping decision is central to personal information management and is fundamentally difficult (Jones, Bruce, and Dumais 2001).

The initial question of keeping is "Do I need or want to keep this?" This can be a difficult question to answer. It requires an understanding of and ability to anticipate one's own future information needs (Bruce 2005). It also requires the ability to predict whether or not the found information has any sustaining value (Peters 2002). The initial keeping decision has been analyzed as a signal-detection task, similar to separating signal from noise (Jones 2004).

Once this initial decision is made, a cascade of other decisions must be made. How and where should the information be kept? In what form shall I keep it? Does it need to be filed, or can it be piled loosely? If I file it, what do I name it, and into which folder or under which label do I place it? The answers to these questions are dependent on a person's knowledge of his own information needs and extant information management systems (Jones 2004). They are also dependent on further questions about the contextual attributes of the found information and the tools and systems the user has at hand for managing that information. Is the information needed now, or am I saving it for the future? What is that best way to ensure that I remember this information? Do I need to add contextual information to it when I put it in its place? What are the affordances of the tools that I have for managing this information, and what are the costs and benefits of using those tools (Peters 2002)? The result of this decision-making process is some initial organization of the kept information.

Keeping is central to the practice of PIM. Without keeping decisions and activities, little management of the information occurs, and much of the personal meaning and usefulness of individual's collections are removed.

Refinding

Two basic approaches to refinding personal information have been identified in multiple studies. Teevan et al. (2004) called these orienteering and teleporting, and these terms are used here. A third technique of refinding, sorting, can be used as a part of both of these and will be discussed after they are presented.

Orienteering comprises navigating through the information space, step by step. Each new step is informed by the context of the information available at the destination of the last step. This spatially oriented approach is our only option in the physical world, where we re-find information objects by going to where we believe we put them, drilling down level by level, shuffling through papers, and eventually finding what we wanted. In the physical world, we almost unconsciously make use of multiple rich context cues or document attributes, such as form, size, color, and space to find what we are looking for. Despite the lack of such robust contextual cues in the digital environment, people orienteer there by navigating through file structures or browsing through lists of files. This approach has also been referred to as manual search (Ravasio, Guttormsen Schär, and Krueger 2004), and location-based finding (Barreau and Nardi 1995).

The second way of refinding personal information is teleporting. This approach consists of entering a query into a search tool to retrieve desired information directly. Teleporting can only be accomplished in the electronic environment, and it can happen at various levels. One application or information type can be searched, such as searching within the email application for a message. Teleporting can be system-wide, across multiple file types, as in the operating system based search functions or utilities such as Google Desktop. Teleporting also happens on the web at multiple levels. One can use a search engine to search the entire web, or one can use a site-specific search tool to find a specific product in an online store.

Teleporting or searching in personal, already-seen information is different from other searching. The personal nature of the information means that many more contextual cues are associated with the items in the collection. Also, one knows that the desired information is "in there somewhere," which can increase frustration if the information is not found.

Ideal search for supporting refinding would be cross-form, allowing a user to simultaneously search email, files, web content, and other forms of information. It would also need to support searching by rich contextual cues beyond simple keywords (Cutrell, Dumais, and Teevan 2006). The ideal search tool will search across all of the discrete digital information spaces in an individual's information environment. For example, the ideal search would allow you to locate with one search an item that may be stored on your desktop computer, laptop computer, external hard drive containing backups, iPod, or Palm Pilot. Finally, the ideal search tool will also allow for retrieval of information from personal collections at a various levels of granularity (Bovey 1996). Levels of granularity refers to the idea that the information objects a person has can vary from as small as a phone number or a fact within another file, to as large as an entire research report.

As mentioned above, sorting is a re-finding strategy that may be used in orienteering or teleporting. Sorting can be done in a paper-based environment, but computer-based tools are much faster at sorting on attributes supported by those tools. Ducheneaut and Bellotti (2001) found heavy use in email applications of sorting of messages within folders by attributes such as date and sender, instead of a teleporting approach. The contents of folders in the computer operating system can also be sorted by attributes such as date created, date modified, file type, and file size to assist in finding information by orienteering. Finally, many search utilities allow the results of a search to be sorted by various attributes.

The meta-level

The term "meta-level" to describe PIM activities was introduced by Jones (2007) and further described in (Jones and Teevan 2007; Jones 2008a). The meta-level includes organizing and maintaining the overall information structure and the information within it, making sense of information and planning for its use, managing privacy and security, and measuring the effectiveness of PIM practice. These activities require the individual to take a step back from the day-to-day tasks of PIM, consider his or her PIM system as a whole, and how it could be improved. I am primarily interested in the organization and maintenance aspects of the meta-level, and will discuss them below.

The management of information in the work environment has been described as hidden work (Neumann 1999b). People do not tend to give much thought to the hidden work that they do. As various PIM researchers have found, however, once you highlight the work of PIM, and demonstrate its importance by asking individuals about their strategies for research purposed, they begin to think about PIM more deeply, and often begin to reevaluate their systems (Barreau 1995; Boardman and Sasse 2004; Jones et al. 2005b).³³ This indicates that there is some possibility of raising awareness of the importance of PIM, and perhaps educating people on ways to manage their information.

³³ Unfortunately I know of no research into whether this effect persists past the research period. Longitudinal studies of PIM are needed. The one example I know of is Barreau's forthcoming follow-up on participants she studied in 1995.

To date, PIM research has focused relatively little on meta-level activities, but some studies have touched upon it. Several of the factors that Kwasnik (1991) identified as important in affecting the classification of an item in an office hint at maintenance tasks. These mainly fall under the category "disposition" (change, discard, keep, locate, postpone decision). The maintenance of personal management systems was covered by Barreau (1995), but was generally reported to be of low priority. Seven of her participants, however, cleaned up their filing structures during their interviews. Likewise, Boardman & Sasse (2004) report little maintenance in collections beyond occasional spring-cleans. What maintenance did occur tended to be centered on a major life change. They also conclude that maintenance is of low priority.

In the same paper, however, Boardman & Sasse (2004) later report that most participants participating in the study changed their PIM behavior as a result of their participation. Many reported planning future PIM strategy changes. Out of 31 respondents, 14 reported changes to past strategies including both increases and decreases in level of organization. Some cleaned up their file structures during the interviews. These are meta-level PIM activities and do appear to be of importance to participants. To the users studied by Ravasio, Schär, and Krueger (2004). "archiving was decidedly an important matter," and maintenance was found to be "an important activity in milestone situations, such as when projects end." Khoo et al. (2007) report that 10 of 12 subjects in their study periodically adjust their folder structure and delete old files. Some of the subjects report positive affective effects from maintaining their structures, while some viewed the task either with resignation, or as a waste of time. In a study of 20 students, Koh and Kerne (2006) found that 36% of them organize their collections weekly, while 57% organize monthly. These tasks include creating and changing folder structures, renaming folders and files to include salient metadata in the name, and creating index files within folders to describe the contents. While meta-level activities may be of relatively low importance, and may happen much less frequently than keeping or re-finding, the findings I have summarized suggest that they are important to users. More research focused on these activities is needed in order to understand them.

The collections of information that people keep and manage are important to them (Kaye et al. 2006). As increasing amounts of information are collected, created, and kept by people in a digital format, ensuring the long-term accessibility and utility of one's personal information becomes an ever-more daunting task. As will be discussed below, the fragmentation of personal digital information does not mitigate the difficulty of this task. Cathy Marshall and associates have been conducting exploratory research on the nature of this task and the difficulties people face in keeping their personal digital information for long periods of time (Marshall, Bly, and Brun-Cottan 2006; Marshall 2007). Some of the problems found include lack of technical knowledge, lack of time, lack of interest,³⁴ dependence on others for help, the fragmented and scattered formats, applications, and places in which this information exists, lack of system metaphors and functions that support thinking about the long-term, and the basic fragility of digital information.

³⁴ This refers to the general low priority we assign to things that are not pressing in the moment but might be good for us in the future. Marshall also refers to an attitude of "radical ephemeralism" in which people have lost digital data and expect to lose more digital data. The attitude seems to be that this just happens. It can't be avoided, so why put the time and effort into trying?

Those working in the fairly new area of digital curation realize that digital information is both essential and fragile, requiring the active care and management of data to facilitate its current use and ensure future accessibility (Rusbridge et al. 2005). Digital curation activity has been primarily focused on scientific data and digital libraries. Marshall's work suggests that individuals are currently not up to the task of doing their own digital curation, while Beagrie (2006) explores the need for this sort of care and management for personal collections. Digital curation of personal information is not synonymous with PIM, but personal digital curation activities would be meta-level PIM activities. One project concerned with the long-term institutional preservation of digital archives of private papers suggests that archivists and curators should talk to creators of personal digital material because the inconsistent and haphazard management of this information puts its long-term survival at risk (Paradigm 2008, sec. 3).

All of this indicates that the meta-level of PIM is an important, yet relatively unexplored area of research. If we want continued access to our digital information, meta-level tasks are absolutely necessary, especially those of maintenance. The proposed research intends to add to this body of knowledge by focusing on amateur art photographers' organization and maintenance practices for information related to their leisure pursuit.

PERSONALLY MANAGED INFORMATION OBJECTS

While the focus of PIM is on the activities involved in it, those activities are performed on external information objects. The types of information objects that have been the primary objects of PIM research heretofore have been files (both paper and electronic), email, and web information. The following section is a simplified summary of specific findings regarding the PIM activities and behaviors associated with these types of information objects.

Files/documents

Early PIM studies examined the paper-based PIM systems used by researchers in their offices. The basic findings and challenges identified in these studies continue to inform the study of PIM in the computer-based environment.

Perhaps the most important finding is that users tend to organize their documents and represent their PIM systems in memory according to both document attributes, and highly individualized non-topical contextual cues (Cole 1982; Malone 1983; Kwasnik 1989b). These contextual cues apply not just to files, and their role in the activities of PIM for various forms of personally managed information will be examined in more depth below.

Another important finding is that PIM systems involve two main strategies: filing and piling. These support the twin functions of finding and reminding. Both piling and filing facilitate finding; however, only piles facilitate reminding. Piling is often a reaction to the difficult cognitive task of classifying documents into specific categories required by filing, and it affords interaction with information by the spatial and contextual cues mentioned above. This is in contrast with filing, which provides a more limited arrangement of information (Malone 1983).

These findings have been found to apply to the management of digital files as well. Barreau and Nardi (1995) found that many of Kwasnik's dimensions also apply to managing files on a computer. Boardman and Sasse (2004) categorized users by their digital document organization strategies. There were people who filed everything away, people who filed extensively, and those who only filed occasionally. The latter are left with the digital equivalent of piles. Goncalves and Jorge (2003) measured the dimensions of personal digital document spaces and found that the filing structures tended to be narrow and fairly shallow, but Khoo et al. (2007) found much greater variation in the depth and breadth of file structures. Goncalves and Jorge (2003) also found that about 80% of files are inactive—they have been untouched by at least a month, but that since personal document spaces are so large and difficult to visualize, they are difficult to maintain.

Web information

Web browsers support several ways of returning to previously viewed web pages (Tauscher and Greenberg 1997). People have various ways of keeping web-based information for future access and reuse. These methods include emailing URLs to themselves and others, saving web pages to a local computer, printing the information, pasting URLs into a document or adding them to a web page for keeping, and bookmarking the site in a web browser (Jones, Dumais, and Bruce 2002). In a survey of 236 web users, Aula, Jhaveri and Käki (2005) found that the most common methods of re-finding web information was using a web search engine, typing the URL in directly, or saving web pages or documents as local files. The study claims that bookmarks are made frequently, but used less often; however, it is unclear how making bookmarks and using existing bookmarks were teased apart, given the design of the survey instrument. A study by Capra and Perez-Quinones (2005) reinforces the importance of web search engines in re-finding information on the web. If users initially found information with a search engine, it is most likely that they will re-find it with a search engine. This changes as the value of the information increases to the user, or as the user's familiarity with or frequency of use of the information increases. When these occur, shortcuts such as bookmarks or typing in the URL directly tend to be used.

Bookmarking behavior has been investigated in more depth. Individual ways of spatially and cognitively organizing bookmarks vary greatly. File structures range from elaborately nested folder hierarchies, to basic groups placed in folders one level deep, to a single listing of all of the bookmarks. Bookmark placement and folder labeling decisions are based on the situation or task context of the individual user (Gottlieb and Dilevko 2001; Gottlieb and Dilevko 2003). A common complaint among users is that the bookmark organization tools provided by web browsers manage to be simplistic, yet unwieldy to use (Abrams and Baecker 1997; Abrams 1997; Abrams, Baecker, and Chignell 1998). These studies are ten years old, but the situation in browser-based bookmarking tools changed little. There is little to no native support for the needs that Abrams identified: annotating bookmarks, keyword searching in bookmark titles and annotations, and placement of bookmarks into more than one folder at a time. Cockburn and McKenzie (2001) found that most users in their study used bookmarks, that the rate of addition of new bookmarks was far greater than rate of deletion, and therefore the collections tended to grow in size and become unmanageable. Also, about a quarter of the bookmarks were invalid at the time of the study, indicating that maintenance is a problem.

Recently, "social bookmarking tools" such as del.icio.us and Furl have been developed. These tools allow users to easily and flexibly tag, annotate, and share their bookmarks. Furl allows each user to search across the content of pages that he has bookmarked using the tool. So far there has been little research into the use of these tools by individuals. Most of the research that has been done focuses on the social nature of the tools and what can be learned by aggregating user-created tag sets. Whether these tools are filling a gap in PIM for web-based information, and how they may be doing so, are open questions.

Email

Though email was developed as a communication tool, it is also used to manage information, tasks, and time (Mackay 1988a; Mackay 1988b). Bellotti and Smith (2000) discovered that email "may well be the most important and frequently used computer application for most people." It is the one application that the majority of people tend to leave running all day as they do their work, and it is checked and managed multiple times a day. This finding was later developed into the idea of email as a work habitat, where people live and embed their work (Ducheneaut and Bellotti 2001). Today, email is still playing a major role in task management, personal archiving, contact management (Whittaker and Sidner 1996; Whittaker, Bellotti, and Gwizdka 2006).

Classificatory structures used in email are highly individualized, and most often based on situational cues such as project, time, or sender. Later retrieval of emails depends heavily on the user's memory of those cues (Mackay 1988a). Likewise, email PIM schemes range from deep and nested folder structures, to shallow folder structures, to simple accumulation of messages in the inbox (Mackay 1988b).

Email applications were not designed to support the range of PIM tasks for which people use them. Problems arising from using email for PIM include information fragmentation and a lack of direct support for PIM functions such as reminders and file management. Combined, these findings suggest that email could be the base for a redesigned PIM tool that is truly embedded in the existing work routines of users (Whittaker, Bellotti, and Gwizdka 2006). Tools such as Microsoft Outlook, which combine email with calendars, contact management, and reminders, have moved in this direction. The danger in this approach is packing so many features into one application that it is difficult to learn and use, or does none of the desired functions as well as you would like it to.

Unlike document filing systems or web information keeping, email has been studied in great depth outside the area of PIM. Though now dated, Rudy's 1996 critical review of email research in the area of computer mediated communication (CMC), is a useful in-depth synthesis of the foundational work on email as a communication genre. Ducheneaut and Watts (2005) review of thirty years of research on email, and draw attention to the failure of email research to have impact on the design or use of email. Email researchers are spread over multiple disciplines and their research stems from vastly different theoretical and methodological assumptions, often with "incommensurable theoretical gaps" between studies. As a result, the body of research on email can seem incoherent and even contradictory.

Other formats

In-depth empirical PIM research has focused almost exclusively on the aforementioned three formats of information, while the types and formats of information that make up personal collections of information continues to grow. As reviewed above, there is a body of literature on photowork, but it is mostly separate from research describing its topic as PIM. The overall problem here is a focus on information format rather than information practice. More studies have begun to look across tools and information types to get a more holistic picture of PIM.

Marshall, Bly & Brun-Cottan's (2006) participants collected a wide range of digital objects in addition to files, email, and bookmarks: photographs, video, self-generated remixes of video and audio, Web sites, blogs, manipulated images, game characters, IM transcripts, and music purchased from online sellers or moved to the computer from CDs. Koh & Kerne's (2006) participants likewise collect broadly across format: articles, URLs, images, animations, audio, and video. Other types of items frequently managed include task to do lists and reminders, contacts, calendars/schedules/appointments, notes, clippings, and annotations. The management of all of these formats of information leaves open many issues and interesting questions.

Related domains

Two sub-areas of PIM attracting increasing research attention. Personal health information management is a specific type of PIM that has been of interest in the health informatics community for some time (Moen and Brennan 2005). Interest in its relation to PIM is recently growing (Pratt et al. 2006). Our health is enmeshed with and inextricable from our everyday life. Persons with health problems often face information management challenges. These mirror many of the more general PIM challenges, such as information overload and fragmentation, and decision making about keeping, and refinding. In addition, some unique challenges include the need to make sense of what is often specialized medical information, the need to share information with doctors, family, and friends without compromising the privacy and security of the information, and the need to support specialized health context/cues such as treatment events or phases of care.

Group information management (GIM) is another area that has long been a topic of interest in computer supported cooperative work and knowledge management (Berlin et al. 1993). It has recently been suggested that GIM should be approached as a research area that overlaps with PIM (Erickson 2006). The keeping of personal information to share it with others is not a new phenomenon, however new online social software tools are making this sharing more frictionless than ever to simultaneously keep information for oneself while sharing it with others. New tools of this nature continue to emerge. Some of these services allow a user to control what information is public or private. Some also allow for levels of privacy. For example, on Flickr, you can allow only people you have designated as Friends to see certain photos. Easily sharing information with approved people, while keeping others from accessing it, is a central problem in GIM.

Personal health information management can also be seen as a form of GIM, in that the information being managed centers on the health of an individual, but is in part created by various medical practitioners. Personal health information is shared with care providers, family, friends, and insurance companies. Likewise, personal financial information management could also be approached as GIM.

Questions of privacy and trust in sharing information in GIM are key. Also of interest from a PIM standpoint are understanding the motivations for sharing what is shared in GIM systems, and how the sense-making about and organization of personal information changes when the expectation is that the information will be used by a group, rather than only one person.

CONTEXTUAL CUES AND DOCUMENT ATTRIBUTES

As stated above, users tend to organize their documents and represent their PIM systems in memory according to document attributes and non-topical contextual cues (Cole 1982; Malone 1983; Kwasnik 1989a). The use of a document influences what cues a person will remember, and how well (Lansdale 1991).

Ideal PIM systems will support keeping and refinding through these contextual cues. Currently, available tools do a relatively poor job of this. (Ravasio, Guttormsen Schär, and Krueger 2004) wrote that the technical metadata captured and available for managing files on the computer do not significantly help in searching and finding because they do not match the way people remember their documents. Hierarchical file structures do not easily facilitate the placement of a document into various places in the structure. File naming is highly constrained. There is little support for annotating documents or files or adding any meta-information that will be of use in searching, browsing, or sorting through the documents.

Once contextual cues were identified as important in this area, researchers examined them more closely. For Case's historians, physical storage space was the most influential element on document organization within the office, followed by form, topic, and either treatment, purpose, or quality (Case 1991a). Kwasnik determined that a number of document aspects affect item naming and classification. Situation aspects of documents--access, circumstance, need, and use--must be taken into account along with document aspects such as form and topic (Kwasnik 1988). Current or intended use may be the most salient classificatory cognitive reference point (Kwasnik 1989b).

What follows is a relatively brief examination of the attributes that have been most frequently identified as important in PIM systems.

Level of Use

One of the most important contextual cues affecting the organization of individuals' information is level of use. Level of use is affected by the frequency of need for the information object, what projects or topics it is related to, and the expected use of a document as time passes. Information objects move through the different levels of information as work is done and time passes. PIM tools should support the need to treat information at different levels differently; ephemeral documents need to be managed in different ways than do archival files.

Cole (Cole 1982) identified three levels of paper-based information in the office: action information, personal work files, and archive storage. Action information is information that is being dealt with currently or that is to be dealt with in the near future, as well as reminders. It tends to be organized so that it is within reach and immediately accessible. It may be piled in the workspace, or stacked in trays. The space action information inhabits is tightly coupled with its purpose and use. Personal work files are information that is relevant to ongoing work schedules. Personal work files are arranged in some strategy in the immediate office environment. Finally, archive storage is for information that is no longer needed for ongoing work, but which should not be discarded. It is kept in a location away from the individual's immediate office, and tends to be in a very structured form of storage, not under the control of the individual.

Examining the organization of electronic documents in the office, Barreau and Nardi (1995) identified three similar levels of use: ephemeral, working, and archived. Ephemeral information is of very short use. Like Cole's action information, the placement of ephemeral information is important, as its visibility is important to facilitate its reminding function. Working information is frequently used, as it is relevant to current work. An item may remain at the working level of use for weeks or months. The frequent use of working information builds rich familiarity with that information based on spatial and other cues. Archived information is irrelevant or indirectly relevant to current work, but is kept. It may consist of completed work and information related to that work. It may be kept for months to years, but it is infrequently accessed. A difference between Cole's archive storage and archived information in the computer-based environment is that in the latter, the user still has access to the information in his or her office, and may be the sole person responsible for maintaining it. Gwizdka (2000) changes the label of Barreau and Nardi's archived information to "retrospective information" and adds the category of prospective (future) information, characterized by its reference to or expected usefulness in a specific time in the future. Boardman & Sasse (2004) argue that the facets of levels of use should be separated into attributes of information usefulness and information ownership. Levels of usefulness include: active (which maps to ephemeral and working), dormant (mapping to archived), not useful, and un-assessed (mapping to primitive). Information ownership is split into mine and not-mine, which is related to whether a keeping decision has been made on the information.

Peters (2002) extends Barreau and Nardi's levels of use classification, but describes the temporal states a piece of information can exist in relative to the person's interactions with that information object within the PIM system. This is different from the previous sense of levels of use because it is not primarily focused on and linked to attributes of the work that the information object is supporting. He does away with the ephemeral/action information category, replacing it with three new states: primitive, formative, and transitory. The primitive state is a "state of initial recognition needing additional contextual information for addition" to a person's actual personal information space. This state seems to exist between the activities of finding and keeping. An item cannot ever return to the primitive state. The formative state "implies awareness of the original content of the information permitting placement of the item into a contextual waiting state for further task analysis and processing." This seems to include information which an individual has decided to keep for future use, but is not actively using. The transitory state is another temporary state "where contextually focused information may reside awaiting additional supporting information or contextual refinement." This seems to include information which has been worked on, but is waiting until a certain point in the future to either be used further, filed away, or discarded. Finally, Peters adds another state between working and archived information. The reposited state is one "that the user creates to place valued information into a contextually important and visually active position within the information space." This seems to include information that is to act as a reminder.

Of these classifications of levels of use, only Peters' was developed from research that included personal information spaces outside the workplace. This could explain the shift away from work-centric levels of use. Future research could examine whether these same basic levels of information are found in PIM in everyday life.

Space

The location of paper documents in the physical office has been identified as an important contextual cue. The location of papers, piles, and files in the office space is not simply an indication of disorder or neatness. The placement of information objects in the workspace serves functions of loose organization (as opposed to filing) when naming or classification of information is difficult. Objects placed in spatial arrangements remind, as well as organize tasks and other actions (Malone 1983). As discussed above, spatial location of information objects is often related to level of use.

Kirsh (2005) states that humans manipulate objects in the space around them to improve recall, visual search, perceptual acuity, reasoning, and the execution of tasks. "How we manage the space around us, then, is not an afterthought; it is an integral part of the way we think, plan and behave, a central element in the way we shape the very world that constrains and guides our behavior." Neumann's findings in her examination of the role of the physical environment in information work support this as well. The space, place, and artifacts involved in work are key support in the accomplishment of that work (Neumann 1999a).

Peters (2002) found that the primary organizational method of paper-based personal information was spatially organized, or geographical in nature, but for electronic information, the primary method was by topic. He suggests that the users find it difficult to reconcile their natural spatial approach with the hierarchy of the computer's file structure. The natural spatial affordances of physical space, objects and documents have not yet been translated well into electronic information environments. The ability to create messy, yet informative stacks in the computer does not yet exist. This idea was being developed at Apple Computer (Mander, Salomon, and Wong 1992), and researchers are still trying to get it right (Atzenbeck and Nürnberg 2005). The critical difficulty in supporting spatial organization in the computer may be that the gestures and actions for manipulating and managing papers easily in the physical world do not work well given the limited representations of spatiality and methods of input available in the digital environment. The current lack of support in the electronic environment for natural spatial abilities and preferences may explain why many people continue to rely on paper for their work (Sellen and Harper 2002).

People organize information spatially, but space and place is also a cue that we associate with and remember about particular documents when we try to re-find them. We may remember where we were when we created, last worked on, or viewed an information object. Ways of representing these various facets of place into the metadata of information objects for searching and browsing are needed. Hewagamage, Hirakawa, and Ichikawa (1999) cover capturing location using GPS to record location associated with the creation of multimedia information that is added to a personal collection as a primary part of the user's "situation." Situation also includes time and user activity.

Time

As was discussed in the section on levels of use, time is an important factor in making keeping decisions. When and with what frequency an individual expects to access an item again affects how the item will be kept.

Time is also an important cue for refinding. Over 60% of all search result sets in an evaluation of the Stuff I've Seen tool were sorted by date for browsing. An information object has many dates with which it can be associated, including dates of creation, encounter, receipt, last access, and last change. The date remembered in association with an information object tends to differ for different document types. For example, we remember when we received an email, when we created or edited a file, or when we last visited a website (Dumais et al. 2003).

The ideal PIM system will allow for support of time-based keeping and refinding beyond simple dates. People aren't very good at recalling the exact date that something happened. They are better at remembering roughly dates in relation to other things going on in their personal lives and the world in general. For this reason, refinding via episodic access is likely to be more useful than retrieval by exact date (Bovey 1996; Ringel et al. 2003).

Task/Project

Task or project is an important contextual cue in PIM. Ducheneaut and Bellotti (2001) found that email folders were created most frequently for projects. This makes sense, with the previously discussed finding that email is heavily used for task and time management. Most of the overlap across multiple hierarchies in categories was based on projects. They were a common cue in organizing files and web information, as well as email (Boardman and Sasse 2004). The structure of a task or project can also provide a useful structure for the information required to complete the project (Kaptelinin 2003; Jones et al. 2005b).

Document form

In physical collections, Case (1986; 1991a) found that type or form of information affected organization of that information most, after the factor of available physical space. This makes sense in the physical environment where it is easier and a more efficient use of space to store books with books, and reprints with other reprints. Also, there is strong visual recognition for form when looking for an information object in a space.

Barreau (1995) found that the application used to create a document was a strong contextual cue that people remembered about their documents. The application used to create and edit documents is related to their form. Text documents are manipulated with a word processor, emails with the email application, and so forth.

As mentioned above, one of the biggest PIM challenges is form fragmentation. Form cues should not be forced as the primary axis along which information is organized in the digital realm. However, they must be retained as a useful facet for keeping and refinding, as the individual so desires.

PIM PERSONALITIES

Various studies have identified broad classes of what can be described as PIM styles. If the generalized applicability of these styles across populations could be demonstrated, this might be a key to designing PIM systems that flexibly accommodate different styles or approaches to PIM. While a system cannot be built specifically for every individual, there could be systems more hospitable to the general tendencies of a particular PIM style.

The major PIM style distinction has come from Malone (1983), in which offices were categorized as either neat or messy. Some people tend to file things away while others pile things around, so that there are filers and pilers. Malone noticed that the office workers with jobs of a more structured and routine nature seemed more likely to be filers, and guessed that this might be due to a better match between their structured work and the nature of filing systems. In digital document filing, Boardman and Sasse (2004) identified categories: total filers, extensive filers, and occasional filers (who would be more like pilers). Khoo et al. (2007) found that most of their subjects were frequent filers or spring cleaners.

In email organization, Whittaker and Sidner (1996) found further support for filers and pilers. They called pilers "No Filers," who let all of their mail pile up in their inboxes. Filers were divided into two groups: Frequent Filers, and Spring Cleaners, who clean out their inboxes and file things away periodically. Likewise in email, Teevan et al. (2004) provided further support for Malone's classification of people into filers and pilers. Boardman and Sasse (2004) also found Frequent Filers and No Filers in email, but added two other categories: extensive filers and partial filers, based on how many emails are filed each day.

Similar findings have emerged regarding individuals' web bookmark organization behaviors. Some file and label each bookmark as it is made. Others do it at the end of each browsing session. Some do "spring cleaning" of their bookmarks on a semi-regular basis, while others let all of their bookmarks collect, undisturbed, in chronological order (Abrams, Baecker, and Chignell 1998). Boardman and Sasse's (2004) bookmark strategies of extensive filer, partial filer, and no-filer match up with those categories identified by Abrams.

Berlin et al. (1993) identified dimensions on which people differ in categorization behavior: purist vs. proliferator ; semanticist vs. syntacticist ; scruffies vs. neatnicks ; savers vs. deleters. It was also found that the role a person played in the organization shapes their understanding of the purpose of the document and reason for saving it, thus resulting in different categorization behaviors.

Peters (2002) developed three whimsically named profiles of PIM behavior in relation to attitude toward and use of technology for PIM tasks. The Luddite Larry is resistant to the idea of using new technology to manage their information. Pragmatic Polly identifies where technology will make her information management tasks more efficient or easier. She uses technology daily and solicits recommendations for better ways to manage her information, but is not enticed only by newness. This is in contrast with Gadgety Georgina, who actively seeks out and explores new technologies, showing great persistence for learning a tool's functionality and making it work for her.

Research on this topic has recently been reviewed by Gwizdka and Chignell (2007), who find little support for the existence of stable PIM personalities for individuals. PIM practice varies widely based on situation and context. This is another place where a Sense-Making approach to PIM would be useful. Sense-Making does not expect to find stable differences between people across time and space that predict behavior, because people are all assumed to be flexible and chaotic. Sense-Making has, however, found relationships between how people viewed their situations at various points in time, and how they reacted to those situations.

PIM FRAGMENTATION

As early as 1985, the specter of information fragmentation was looming, and the need to integrate or unify different types of personal information was recognized (Burton 1985). Unfortunately, the fragmentation problem has grown worse over time. Jones (2007) identifies it as the major challenge of PIM. The basic problem of fragmentation is that people must separately maintain and manage information that is conceptually or contextually related. There seem to be three main axes along which PIM fragments: form, location, and granularity.

Form fragmentation mainly results because many digital information forms require that the information be managed using specialized applications. For example, email must be managed within the email application, web bookmarks within the web browser or other tool, contacts in the contact management application, files in the operating system hierarchy, and so forth. Form fragmentation also results from managing some information digitally, and some on paper. Form fragmentation goes against the subjective classification principle, which states that "all information items related to the same subjective topic should be classified together regardless of their technological format" (Bergman, Beyth-Marom, and Nachmias 2003).

Location fragmentation results because information exists in different places. You may keep files on your laptop, your home desktop computer, your office work computer, on various external media, or in various forms or remote electronic or physical storage (Goncalves and Jorge 2003). This leads to problems with access, re-finding, backup, and synchronization.

These types of fragmentation require individuals to maintain multiple hierarchies in order to organize information. Boardman (Boardman 2001b) discusses multiple hierarchies in the context of form fragmentation, but the problem is multiplied by location fragmentation. The extent to which individuals attempt to mirror their multiple hierarchies varies, but managing multiple hierarchies based on format with overlapping topical coverage introduces extra overhead in the workspace organization process. Even when users attempt to mirror hierarchies across formats and software, inconsistencies in labeling and spatial placement of nodes occur (Boardman 2001a). The amount of redundant work and inconsistency across hierarchies in email, file systems, and web bookmark collections was associated with feelings of guilt, stress, and lack of control over disorganization of data in all three collection areas (Boardman, Sasse, and Spence 2002). Ironically, the development of specialized PIM tools has helped to worsen the form fragmentation problem.

Granularity fragmentation is due to the fact that information objects contain information which may be related to information that is part of another object, or to another information object as a whole (Bovey 1996). A paragraph from one paper may be related to another whole article. A folder containing 100 digital photographs may be related to one web page, to one sentence on that web page, or to the entire web site of which the web page is a part. There is currently no way for individuals to control the granularity at which information objects can be described and linked to one another. The problems of this sort of fragmentation must be addressed to develop flexible tools for the collection and synthesis of information in personal collections.

WHAT NOW?

Unification

If fragmentation is the main problem of PIM, the main challenge for research and development in this area is to attain unification of PIM in the face of the various forms of fragmentation currently faced.

Various approaches to this problem exist. Bergman, Beyth-Marom and Nachmais (2003) introduced the user-subjective approach to guide a more unified PIM. This approach is a set of three principles. The subjective classification principle suggests that all information items related to the same subjective topic should be classified under the same category regardless of their technological format. The subjective importance principle suggests that information items should be characterized by their subjective importance, and that this attribute should determine their visual salience and accessibility. The subjective context principle suggests that information should be retrieved and viewed by the user in the same context in which it was previously used.

Support for powerful searching across personal information is another approach (Russell and Lawrence 2007). Some advocate search--a powerful method of bringing together fragmented information and supporting refinding-- as a way to eliminate the need for individuals to manage their personal information (Cutrell, Dumais, and Teevan 2006). In essence, this approach seems to seek to obviate the keeping and meta tasks involved in PIM. Research continues to suggest that elimination of the organization of information is not what users want. They want to be able to organize in better ways *and* to search all of the information.

People do not want to give up the structures created via keeping activities. People's file folder hierarchies are informational in their own right, serving sensemaking and planning purposes. The folder structure often is a bottom-up version of a problem decomposition, and serves task management and reminding functions (Jones et al. 2005b). Peters (2002) found that the acts of creating their own information structures helped users to achieve their personal information goals, moving "more deliberately and with greater intent" within their personal information spaces. Various field research has demonstrated that "the sensemaking activities that surround keeping are critical for our ability to use things later when we most need them, whether these activities involve associating material with a particular taxonomy or establishing a stable sense of place" (Marshall and Jones 2006).

Also, search has been shown in previous research to only be used as a last resort for refinding information (Barreau and Nardi 1995). An alternate explanation for this finding was that people in the study did not like to use search because, at the time, search didn't work very well (Fertig, Freeman, and Gelernter 1996). However, more recent studies on systems with much more powerful search tools continue to conclude that people prefer a more orienteering approach to finding their information (Teevan et al. 2004; Ravasio, Guttormsen Schär, and Krueger 2004; Koh and Kerne 2006; Khoo et al. 2007). Even supposing the existence of a perfect search tool, people say they want to be able to organize things themselves in folders (Jones et al. 2005b).

A final problem with relying on search alone for refinding information in personal collections is that it can make information invisible unless the user specifically searches for that information. This can reduce a) memory for what is in the collection; b) serendipitous information discovery or encounter. One answer to this is building systems that can present users with possibly related and relevant documents, such as the Implicit Queries in Stuff I've Seen (Cutrell, Dumais, and Teevan 2006).

In addition, Jones (2007) identifies several other approaches to integrate PIM. The first is to extend the functionality of email applications to support all PIM tasks (Whittaker, Bellotti, and Gwizdka 2007). Another is using the notion of project to organize related information regardless of form or granularity (Jones et al. 2006). Expanding project to encompass different types of topics, this approach follows the subjective classification principle. Yet another is to allow for the organization and retrieval of information by properties, attributes, or associated cues, instead of in the file folder hierarchy (Kargar 2007). Unification through a common underlying representation recalls transclusion (Nelson 1999), and is the only approach to clearly address granularity fragmentation. Two final integration strategies hinge upon the digital recording of "everything" (Tan et al. 2007) and integration through the adoption of specific organizational techniques and strategies such as personal ontologies (Catarci et al. 2007).

Development of Methods & Evaluation

A preponderance of PIM studies to date have used quasi-ethnographic methods, comprising indepth interviews, and tours or observation of personal information spaces. These studies have provided rich, detailed explanations of how people manage their information. More importantly, they have been able to tell us in many cases why people do the things that they do in PIM. But these studies are very expensive in terms of both researcher and participant time. For this reason, they can only consider relatively small numbers of subjects, in very specific settings. Findings across these studies are not comparable, and their results are not generalizable.

One way of gaining some broader knowledge of PIM practice and challenges would be to take a survey approach with a greater number of respondents per study. The findings of such studies would be shallower than the heretofore typical PIM study approach, but could provide an empirical basis for identifying problem areas for more in-depth research. Also, surveys can be developed to explore and provide empirical validation of specific findings from more qualitative studies.

Kelly (2006) introduces the idea of developing and sharing a bank of qualitative data on individuals' PIM behaviors from various studies. Rich information about the individual cases and their PIM practices would be made explicit in a structured manner. Information on these individuals would be available in such a way that various analyses could be performed.

As described at the beginning of this review, a large portion of the PIM literature has been devoted to the development and evaluation of tools to solve PIM problems. A proliferation of tools has been blamed for at least of the portion of the problem of fragmentation in PIM. Many of these tools are examples of radical invention (Whittaker, Terveen, and Nardi 2000). "A well-known problem with radical invention is that it often is not based on an understanding of user tasks and requirements. Researchers thus find themselves proposing radical solutions to problems that are of little interest to users, while neglecting genuine problems." In order to avoid the troubles of radical invention, Whittaker, Terveen, and Nardi (2000) advocate a reference task approach based on identifying common, well-defined, important problems, and focusing research efforts there.

Kelly (2006) also points out that, while a majority of the prototype PIM systems developed and described over the years have indeed been user tested and evaluated, there has been little comparison of these systems against each other to learn which approaches are most efficacious. The reference task approach would make this type of comparison possible.

The highly idiosyncratic and unpredictable nature of PIM makes it an extremely difficult phenomenon to study in a structured, measurable way, but this approach is necessary to further the field. Only in this way can metrics for evaluation, theory, and models of user PIM behavior be developed.

Synthesis

Another large problem in PIM is how to better support individuals in their need to make sense of and synthesize the enormous amounts of information in their personal collections. This begins to cross the line into interface design, data mining, and other subfields outside the scope of this article, but it is important to note that the problem of supporting people's sense-making tasks in their personal information environments is of great importance. Research supports the idea that categorizing incoming information increases information integration and knowledge synthesis, improving decision-making (Hilmer and Dennis 2000). Burkett's (1999) dissertation work began to inquire about the processes of scholarly thought and work, and how computers and personal documentation systems can augment these processes, including the synthesis and manipulation of large amounts of information. The M2 project currently underway is also concerned with issues of managing information for knowledge synthesis. (Barreau et al. 2006).

Maintenance

Very little research has been focused on understanding the meta-level PIM activities of maintenance, managing privacy and security, and measuring the effectiveness of PIM systems. This is a wide open area that is of great importance for PIM.

SO WHAT?

The preceding sections have presented many findings and challenges in PIM. Why is this an important area for study? Below, I outline the three main reasons.

First, advances in PIM will bring greater quality of life and work. PIM is something that everyone must do, to a greater or lesser extent. As a very widely held problem there is much benefit to be had from solving it. (Jones et al. 2005a) states that "better PIM means a better use of our precious resources (time, money, energy, attention) and, ultimately, a better quality to our lives." In the workplace, it "means better employee productivity and better team work in the near-term. Longer-term, PIM is key to the management and leverage of employee expertise." As we are increasingly surrounded by more information in every area of our lives, the problem of information overload continues to grow. PIM has been identified as a response and solution to information overload (Edmunds and Morris 2000). We need to do PIM to retain control of the information we need, but we also may take comfort in the way PIM allows us to carve out our own information spaces in which to operate. Making this task easier will improve the quality of life for large numbers of people.

Second, advances in PIM can enrich our knowledge of information behavior in general, and advance the discipline of library and information science. In the above discussion of finding, the ambiguity between the process of seeking and finding information and the process of managing the found information was discussed. Case (1986) outlines the need for studying the stage at which information is assimilated into the minds and files of the researcher. We currently understand a lot about information seeking and use. We also understand a lot about PIM. We don't know much about how the two interface. Bringing together different bodies of research in a discipline is one way of generating rich new knowledge.

CONCLUSION

There are many open questions about PIM practice and how to reach the PIM ideal of always having the right information in the right place, in the right form, and of sufficient completeness and quality to meet our current need (Jones 2007). The main challenge now is to facilitate unification of currently fragmented PIM. Meeting this challenge will require understanding the reasoning, motivations, and concepts that underlie PIM behavior and practice. Understanding this will require knowing how people think and feel about their PIM practices. There is a need to better understand PIM in everyday life, without limiting the object of study computer-based PIM. Finally, the meta-level of PIM activities remains to be explored.

ORGANIZATION OF INFORMATION

CATEGORIZATION IN COGNITIVE PSYCHOLOGY

There are many theories about the structure and representation of concepts, and hence categorization, in the mind. These theories are alternately called views, and that is how they will be referred to in the following. Each view has varied expressions by different researchers and over time, as well as associated models, experiments, and empirical confirmation. However, no agreement has been reached as to what the true nature of concepts in cognition actually is.

The study of concepts and categorization is central in many disciplines including philosophy, cognitive science, cognitive psychology, linguistics, computer science/artificial intelligence, and recently, neuroscience. This review will primarily focus on approaches from cognitive psychology. Because even this subset of the literature on the topic is vast, most of the following review is a highly simplified and necessarily incomplete overview. I spend go into more depth on views that have been influential in LIS, particularly in organization of information. Several excellent and in-depth reviews of the subject are available (Smith and Medin 1981; Mervis and Rosch 1981; Lakoff 1987; Oden 1987; Medin 1989; Komatsu 1992; Lamberts and Shanks 1997; Cohen and Lefebvre 2005; Rips and Medin 2005; Chemlal and Cordier 2006). My organization and presentation of the views below roughly follows Komatsu's (1992) review.

NOTES ON TERMINOLOGY

Though it often seems that they are used interchangeably,³⁵ the terms concept and category have been disambiguated. In general category refers to an actual set of things sharing some property or properties, or to which some assertion or set of assertions can apply (Medin 1989). A concept is a mental representation of a category or a property. Concepts are used in a variety of cognitive functions including learning, reasoning, and communication *in addition to* categorization (Medin 1989; Solomon, Medin, and Lynch 1999).

SIMILARITY-BASED VIEWS

Each of the similarity-based views has in common the notion that similarity (by some definition) is the primary criteria for the grouping of members of a category into a concept. As will be shown in following sections, more recently developed views of concept have moved away from similarity as the central feature.

CLASSICAL VIEW

The classical view of concepts was assumed by default in cognitive psychology and philosophy until the middle of the last century. It is called the classical view because some trace its origins back to Aristotle (Smith and Medin 1981; Lakoff 1987), though others have interpreted Aristotle's work on categories differently (Hacking 2001). This view has three core assumptions. The first is that each concept is represented by a summary representation of the entire class. Second, the features that make up this summary representation of a concept are both singly necessary and jointly sufficient to define the concept. Finally, the third assumption is the hierarchical nesting of features. The features of a concept are necessary, but not sufficient, to that concept's sub-concepts. Each sub-concept's summary representation includes additional defining features beyond the parent category's representation (Smith and Medin 1981). The classical view has also been called the traditional view or the definitional view (Armstrong, Gleitman, and Gleitman 1983; Laurence and Margolis 1999; Storms 2004).

³⁵ See (Markman and Stilwell 2001).

FAMILY RESEMBLANCES AND THE PROTOTYPE VIEW

Though the classical view still has its defenders (Harnad 2005), its status as the default view of concepts in human cognition began to slip with growing criticism. Most notably, using the example of the concept "game," Wittgenstein (1953) showed that there is no summary representation consisting of a set of necessary and sufficient features for all concepts: no one feature is shared by all games. Therefore the existence of a summary representation defining what is and is not a game cannot be created. Yet we know what is a game is (and what is not), and can produce instances of specific games. Wittgenstein posited that members of a category are instead related by family resemblances, "a complicated network of similarities overlapping and criss-crossing: sometimes overall similarities, sometimes similarities of detail."

Wittgenstein's family resemblances theory was empirically validated in (Rosch and Mervis 1975). In no semantic (conceptual) or artificial category studied did all members of the category fully share a set of attributes. Instead there was a network of attributes shared to different degrees by the category members. Some members shared more attributes in common with other members; these members were judged to be "more typical" of the category. This typicality effect will be examined more closely below. Finally, (Smith, Shoben, and Rips 1974) showed that category judgments are often made using features that are characteristic of the category, but not necessary. None of these findings makes sense if the classical view is correct.

The prototype view is also called the family resemblance view (Komatsu 1992) or the probabilistic view (Smith and Medin 1981). The core of the prototype view is that information about the features of a concept are abstracted from the individual category members, resulting in a "best example," or prototype. New categorization decisions are made by comparing a new item to the prototype. If the new item surpasses a certain threshold of similarity to the prototype, it is judged to be a category member.

Ideas about what exactly the prototype is and how to identify it differ. If the prototype is considered to be represented by an actual member of a category, that member could be identified by measuring cue validity (Rosch and Mervis 1975), or use of the contrast (Tversky 1977; Tversky and Gati 1978) or feature comparison (Smith, Shoben, and Rips 1974) models. Another possibility is that the prototype may be construed as an abstract average image representing the category in the brain (Kosslyn 1978), or as the central tendency of a category (Reed 1972).

The prototype view was initially modeled by (Posner and Keele 1970) and (Reed 1972), but the researcher most strongly associated with the view is Eleanor Rosch. Though (Rosch and Mervis 1975) posit that prototype(s) might be the member or members most representative of the category and least representative of other categories, this was not tested in Rosch's work. In (Rosch 1978, p. 40), she points out that this is "an unspecified formula until it is made concrete by inclusion in some specific theory of representation." Rosch's major contributions to knowledge about concepts in human cognition were demonstrations of graded structure within categories and a basic level of categorization in taxonomies. She explicitly stated that these were not theories of category representation or models of cognitive processes such as category learning or use. They are instead characteristics of the structure of categories that should be accounted for in any model of categorization (Rosch 1978).

Rosch's contributions will be discussed in this section because they emerged from and are related to her work refuting the classical view and supporting the existence of family resemblances. Keep in mind, however, that they do not apply only to concepts as conceptualized in the prototype view.

Graded structure

Concepts have a graded structure. This means that not all members are equal members of the category. Members with higher typicality ratings are better examples of the category, while less typical members are worse examples. In addition, graded structure accounts for why edge cases can be difficult to categorize.

(Berlin and Kay 1969) identified a number of "focal colors" they claimed served as best examples of their broader color categories. Rosch (her previous name was Heider) found evidence for graded structure in by comparing focal colors to other colors in their categories, and showing that:

- young children initially become attached to focal colors (Heider 1971);
- focal colors are more accurately remembered (in short- and long-term memory) (Heider 1972);
- names of focal colors are learned more quickly (Rosch 1973);
- focal colors are judged more typical of their category than other colors (Rosch 1973).
- Likewise, certain "best-example" forms are also learned faster and receive higher typicality ratings (Rosch 1973). Mervis and Pani (1980) confirmed similar findings among young children.

Categories learned through exposure to more typical examples of the category were learned more quickly and accurately than those learned though exposure to less-good examples. Better-examples were learned as members of their categories more quickly than were less-good examples. Finally, best example members of natural categories serve as cognitive reference points to which other members of the category are compared, and by which other members of the category are judged (Rosch 1975).

Basic categories

Graded structure pertains to the horizontal axis of category structures. This means there are typicality effects and graded structures within concepts and across concepts at the same hierarchical level. Rosch and her colleagues also found evidence of a preferred level of abstraction on the vertical axis of categorization—within a hierarchical taxonomy of conceptual categories. The basic level of abstraction was identified as "the level at which categories carry the most information, possess the highest cue validity, and are, thus, the most differentiated from one another" (Rosch et al. 1976). It has an optimal balance of cognitive economy and informativeness (Komatsu 1992).

The determinant of the basic level in a taxonomy is theorized to be a combination of the correlational structure of features of objects in the world, the emphases and state of knowledge of the culture or group, and the level of expertise of the individual (Rosch et al. 1976). In general, the basic level should be the most useful level of categorization. It has been shown to be the most general level at which:

- Attributes are predictable
- Objects in the category are used the same way
- It is most readily possible to identify the category by the shapes of its members, and by an averaged shape of its members.

• It is easiest to generate a mental image for the category

Basic object categorizations are considered to be the basic categorizations made during perception, the first learned and first named by children, and most necessary in the language of any people (Rosch 1978). The basic level also appears to be the preferred level for remembering episodic information (Pansky and Koriat 2004).

The identification of a basic level of categorization assumes a hierarchical arrangement of concepts, yet views of concepts that are not based on hierarchical conceptual representation must still account for the evidence found by Rosch and her colleagues. Graded structure has found in virtually all concepts, even those such as "even numbers," which clearly are defined by necessary and sufficient criteria (Armstrong, Gleitman, and Gleitman 1983). As such, it too must be accounted for in views of concepts and categorization.

As will be outlined below, many more views of the nature of concepts have been developed within cognitive psychology. Rosch's theories are still the most prevalent in the literature on organization of information. I discuss some of the impact it has had below. First, I survey some other ideas about concepts.

EXEMPLAR VIEW

Recall that the prototype view assumes one "most typical" representation of each concept. In most prototype models, this prototype is assumed to be abstracted from all of the members of the category. The exemplar view, in contrast, maintains that in learning new categories, representations of members of the category are retained in the form of exemplars—examples of that category. Some exemplar models posit that only exemplar information is retained and summary information is abstracted from the exemplars at the time of need (Hintzman 1986). Others, such as the context model (Medin and Schaffer 1978), do not preclude the retention of specific types of summary information about a concept, but hold that retained exemplars are more heavily used in categorization. Some, such as the proximity model (Reed 1972), assume all encountered instances are stored as exemplars, while others, such as the best-examples model (Smith and Medin 1981), assume that only some instances are stored.

HYBRID VIEWS

Various hybrids of the previously discussed views also have been developed. The dual view (Landau 1982; Armstrong, Gleitman, and Gleitman 1983) holds that concepts exhibit dual structures. Family resemblance-like structures support the identification of examples of a concept, while the structures of the classical view form the core of the concept to support explanation, reasoning, or justification.

Norm theory (Kahneman and Miller 1986) accepts the basic exemplar view but adds that stimuli experiences trigger exemplars related to them in various ways. From these retrieved exemplars, summaries are constructed on an ad hoc basis. These summaries are then compared to the current stimuli on certain features highlighted by the current context.

The schema view (Rumelhart 1980; Rumelhart 1983) can be seen as a hybrid of the prototype and exemplar views. It sees knowledge structure as made up of packets of information about concepts. This includes both retained exemplars and summaries of what category members, in general, are like. Also included in a schema is information about relationships between concepts, and how each concept is to be manipulated (Komatsu 1992). This view is a step in the direction of the explanation-based views, which are reviewed next.

EXPLANATION-BASED

There are several critical reviews of the role of similarity in concepts and categorization, including (Murphy and Medin 1985), (Rips 1989), (Goldstone 1994) and (Sloutsky 2003). In his review of the shift from similarity-based views to explanation-based views, Medin (1989) summarizes the trouble of relying on similarity to explain conceptual structure with two questions:

- What constrains the features on which similarity is salient for categorization, or, when things can be seen as similar on an infinite number of features, why do we have the concepts we have instead of the other possible concepts?
- How do we know if the similarity of things leads us to categorize them together, or if the fact that things are categorized together means we see them as similar?

Similarity-based views, because of their fundamental assumptions, cannot address these questions. Therefore many have recognized a need for explanation-based views of concepts and categorization.

The explanation-based view in general does not deny that prototypical summary representations or the retention of exemplars play a role in conceptual structure; however, it maintains that in addition to these, there is an explanatory component consisting of rules and causal principals regarding concepts. Keil (1989) explains the heart of this view:

...concepts are construed as intrinsically relational sorts of things. They are not isolated entities connected only in the service of propositions. No individual concept can be understood without some understanding of how it relates to other concepts. Concepts are not mere probabilistic distributions of features or properties, or passive reflections of feature frequencies and correlations in the world; nor are they simple lists of necessary and sufficient features. They are mostly about things in the world, however, and bear nonarbitrary relations to feature frequencies and correlations. If it is the nature of concepts to provide such explanations, they can be considered to embody systematic sets of beliefs—beliefs that may be largely causal in nature. (p. 1)

THEORY VIEW

The theory view³⁶ holds that individuals' theories about the world comprise the explanation component of conceptual structure. Concepts encode causes and explanations just as scientific theories encode how and why things work. Features that play into these causes or explanations become part of the concept (Murphy and Medin 1985). Features involved in causal theories become the most typical and important features for making categorization decisions (Ahn et al. 2000).

It appears that children may start out using similarity-based conceptual structures, but very early they begin to use theories to structure concepts as they learn (Karmiloff-Smith and Inhelder 1974-1975; Carey 1985; Gelman and Markman 1986). However this has been debated. Also disagreed upon is which of the two types of processing takes place first in the categorization processes of adults (Keil et al. 1998).

³⁶ This view is sometimes amusingly referred to as the theory theory (Margolis and Laurence 1999).

Psychological essentialism

Many of the theory-based views to some extent embrace psychological essentialism—a view about the nature of people's causal theories of natural kind concepts. This view states that a causal theory of a natural kind arises from the individual's belief that there is an internal essence belonging to each member of that kind that is responsible for its typical features, category membership, and more. These essences can be seen as folk theory and beliefs about concepts and objects in the world (Rips and Conrad 1989; Waxman, Medin, and Ross 2007). Individuals will defer identification and testing of an essence to experts if they cannot see or test for it themselves. In addition, even if people do not know and cannot explain what the essence is, there is a belief that there must be one holding the members of the concept together (Medin and Ortony 1989). For example an expert would be able to conclusively identify an object as gold by examining it for essential properties. Most adults will say that a horse painted to look like a zebra is still a horse, because it still has its essential internal "horseness" (Keil 1989).

SPECIFIC EXPLANATION-BASED VIEWS

Lakoff (1987) posits a conceptual structure organized by idealized cognitive models, or ICMs. An ICM is itself a complex structure informed by four structuring principles: propositional structure, image-schematic structure, metaphoric mappings, and metonymic mappings. Here there is an interaction between conceptual knowledge and background knowledge and theories. This can result in even more complex category structures, such as clusters of related models Lakoff calls radial categories. An example of a radial category is the concept of mother, which is made of various models such as the birth model, genetic model, nurturance model, and so on. Lakoff (1987) is fairly frequently cited in LIS, but usually in reference to his discussion of the demise of the classical view of categorization and summary of Rosch's work.

Johnson-Laird (1980; 1987) emphasized that the relational conceptual schemata stored in longterm memory contain information about how concepts are to be used in working memory to construct mental models. These mental models of concepts constrain how members of the concept can interact with each other, and other objects and forces in the world. This view is echoed in Barsalou's explanation of how graded structure is derived differently for the same concept in different contexts (Barsalou 1987). A representation in long-term memory that is used in working memory to interpret a concept in a particular context is also found in Michalski's twotier approach (1989).

HOLISTIC VIEWS

Medin (1989) stated that in this area of research:

...we have neither consensus nor stability. The relatively recent past has experienced at least one and probably two major shifts in thought about conceptual structure, and stability is the least salient attribute of the current situation. (p. 1469)

This lack of stability has not changed, but it seems to be becoming clear that there is no one explanation, theory, or view that can explain conceptual structure and categorization. Views are becoming broader and attempting to explain more. There is evidence for multiple, qualitatively distinct systems, explained by different views of conceptual structure, at work in different types of category learning (Waldron and Ashby 2001; Ashby and Maddox 2005; Ell and Ashby 2006). Ashby and Maddox (2005) state that much research in the next decade will focus on determining under what condition these separate systems operate, how they work, and how they are related.

Further broadening the scope of what must be taken into account in the study of concepts is a multi-function approach. Categorization is only one of the cognitive functions in which concepts play a role. Others include conceptual combination, inference, explanation, reasoning, learning, and communication. In order to understand concepts, their multi-function roles must be studied and explained (Solomon, Medin, and Lynch 1999).

Others have found that approaches to concepts which assume a separate cognitive system for representing concepts is too limited, and that conceptual knowledge is inextricably linked to other processes in the brain. Some state that because memory plays a role in retaining concepts and knowledge over time, conceptual structure and processes cannot be separated from memory processes (Pansky and Koriat 2004; Rips and Medin 2005; Hahn, Bailey, and Elvin 2005; Ashby and O'Brien 2005). Others point out that conceptual structure cannot be separated from the perceptual system because concepts, to some extent, use same representational and processing mechanisms as perceptions (Goldstone and Barsalou 1998). Barsalou (1999) and colleagues (Barsalou et al. 2003) have gone further, making a case for all conceptual representation and processing being grounded in modality-specific perceptual systems through perceptual symbol systems.

Types of categories

Several different types of conceptual categories appear to exist. Types of concepts, criteria for differentiating types of concepts, and issues with identifying a fixed typology of concepts are reviewed in (Medin, Lynch, and Solomon 2000). The vast majority of the research on conceptual structure has been carried out using three types of concepts: natural kind (things that exist in nature, such as bird, tree, metal), artifact (things humans make or conceptualize, such as furniture, vehicle, weapon), and artificial (patterns of dots, lines, digits, and letters).

Other types of concepts have also been discussed. We have concepts of individuals and of instances of categories (Blok, Newman, and Rips 2005). Some types of concepts, such as color and shape concepts, are generally considered to be perceptual categories rather than conceptual categories. While there are no sharp distinction between conceptual and perceptual categories {Nolan 1994 #39878}, perceptual categorization is concerned with basic sensory phenomena and has a physiological basis. For example, we see only a limited portion of the color spectrum because of the way our eyes work. This physiological component of categorization is related to categorical perception—the idea that we perceive certain things in chunks or categories due to our physiology (Harnad 1987; Harnad 2005). Abstract concepts (such as love, anger, intelligence) make up a large portion of our conceptual knowledge, but little is known about their characteristics and structure (Sloutsky 2003). Exceptions include Rehder and Ross's (2001) work on the features and structure of abstract coherent categories, and the theory that artifact or natural concepts are used as metaphors for abstract concepts (Lakoff and Johnson 1980; Lakoff 1987).

AD-HOC AND GOAL-DERIVED CATEGORIES

Ad hoc categories are defined as categories constructed to achieve goals, with two further characteristics. First, they do not match the correlational structure of natural categories. For example, in the ad hoc category "Things to take on a picnic," there are no features of blankets which are correlated with features of the other members of the category, such as salads, spoons, or baskets. Second, ad hoc categories are also not generally thought of by most people as a category outside of the context of a goal (Barsalou 1983).
Ad hoc categories tend to be less established in memory than natural and artifact categories because they are constructed impromptu when needed. With repeated use, however, an ad hoc category can become established in memory, causing the category to lose its ad hoc status and become a goal-derived category (Barsalou 1991).

Influences on conceptual structure

The review above was by necessity fairly brief and simplified. Many differences in views have been glossed over. Also, many findings about the influence of variables on conceptual structure have been skipped because they are out of the scope of this review. What follows is brief mention of a few of the more important influences that may be related to the overall topics at hand.

INFLUENCES ON TYPICALITY AND GRADED STRUCTURE

The type of category has an effect on what determines the graded structure of the category. Ad hoc categories exhibit graded structures as stable and salient as those found in common natural and artifact categories, but the most important determinants of the graded structure are different. As discussed above, similarity to central tendency is an important determinant of graded structure for common categories; however, similarity to the "ideal" of the category is the major determinant of graded structure for ad hoc categories (Barsalou 1985; Barsalou 1987). Estes (2003) found that some categories exhibit more gradedness than others. Artifact categories tend to be more graded than natural categories, but the latter are still graded to some extent and do not exhibit absolute membership.

Expertise also affects typicality ratings, indicating differences in graded structure. Central tendency is an important determinant at all levels of knowledge of a domain; however, at the expert level, subjective familiarity with the domain becomes an even stronger determinant than central tendency. Different kinds of expertise may lead to variations in conceptual structure between experts in the same domain. This may be because at the expert level goals, ideals, and familiarity play a larger part in determining graded structure, while non-experts rely more heavily upon similarity-based central tendency judgments (Johnson 2001).

Point of view, in providing a particular context, also appears to affect typicality ratings. For example, tea with milk is regarded as a very typical beverage if people are instructed to take the point of view of secretaries taking a break, while it is much less typical when the point of view is that of truck drivers taking a break (Roth and Shoben 1983). (Solomon, Medin, and Lynch 1999) further reviews influences on graded structure.

INFLUENCES ON THE BASIC LEVEL

There is strong evidence that expertise also changes the level of concept hierarchy considered to be the basic level. For experts, the basic level tends to fall at a lower, more specific, level of the hierarchy (Tanaka and Taylor 1991; Johnson and Mervis 1997). In the overall category of birds, genus functions as the basic level for ethnobiologists (Berlin 1992), whereas the class level (bird) was the basic level for psychology undergrads (Rosch et al. 1976). This can be partly explained by differences in expertise, but (Medin et al. 2002) show that expertise cannot be separated from culture, which also seems to have a strong effect on conceptual structure. Finally, (Medin, Lynch, and Solomon 2000) suggest that the type of task at hand (induction, category verification, or naming) have an effect on which level is basic, especially for novices in a domain.

INFLUENCES ON OTHER ASPECTS OF CONCEPTUAL STRUCTURE AND CATEGORIZATION

Yeh and Barsalou (2006) provide an in-depth review of the importance of context, in that all concepts are situated. They show situational context effects in multiple categorization tasks such as object categorization, object recognition, object memory, and elicited conceptual structure. They provide a taxonomy of situation effects with grain size, meaningfulness, and tangibility as factors. Though accounting for situational context is exceedingly complex, theories of conceptual structures that deny the situated nature of concepts are weak.

Lamberts (Lamberts 1995; Lamberts 2000) has shown that time allotted to categorization tasks has an effect on specificity or generalization in categorization. Under greater time pressure, subjects categorize more generally and weight differently the dimensions used to make their categorization decisions.

Relevance of cognitive psychology findings to the organization of information

Findings from cognitive psychology regarding concepts and categories can be applied to the organization of information, though the multiplicity of theories and inconsistent findings suggests caution be used. As early as 1955, Farradane noted the relevance of the cognitive psychology literature of the time to LIS. The findings supported the need for the relationships between concepts to be better represented in bibliographic classification schemes. Najarian (1981) highlighted the value of understanding the processes and structure of categorization in cognition for informing the design of systems for organizing information in libraries. These arguments were made before the classical view of cognitive categorization was largely rejected by the cognitive psychology community.

Marco and Navarro (1993) describe information science as concerned with the "transfer of information as a social event, mediated by psychological, historical, and social factors, as well as technological factors." A shared interest in how psychological processes mediate the information cycle is given as one reason cognitive psychology should be of interest to information scientists. Jacob argued that in order to further the primary goal of the information industry—facilitating effective interactions between users and information systems—there must be "an understanding of the relationship that exists between an external, artificial ordering of knowledge and the internal, mental representations of the user—of the interaction between the intellectual structure imposed upon recorded knowledge by the classification system and the cognitive framework individuals impose upon their experiences of the world" (Jacob 1991, p. 68). For this reason it is important for LIS researchers to take the findings of cognitive psychology into account in studying the spectrum of information organization and representation, from large formal systems to the conceptual structures and organizational schemes of individuals.

We must take care to do this in careful and appropriate ways, however. Cole and Leide (2006) draw on concepts such as ad hoc categories, frames, and metaphor to explore how information retrieval systems could better serve users by "transducing" the user's query (understood as some sort of metaphor instantiation) into the system language and vice versa. Unfortunately, how all of these concepts relate to each other and the findings is not explained, and the paper shows the difficulty people had with describing their research topics in metaphorical terms, perhaps indicating that it is unnatural for people to think about their research topics in metaphorical terms.

By now, it is well recognized that a shift to a cognitive approach in LIS has taken place. The cognitive approach, however, has been most strongly associated with the areas of information retrieval and user information seeking and use behaviors. Jacob and Shaw reviewed sociocognitive approaches to understanding information organization and highlighted the need for more study in this vein (Jacob and Shaw 1998). Some of this work will be reviewed below.

Relevance of cognitive psychology in PIM

In PIM research the focus is usually on the organization of things (books, papers, emails, etc). These objects are artifacts. As discussed above, one method of organizing these objects is by the kind of objects they are—by form or format. Some cognitive psychology findings on artifact categories may apply in such cases. A few studies have examined categorization of artifact objects (Malt et al. 1999; Sloman and Malt 2003).

More often these artifacts are not organized based on the kind of object they are. Instead they are organized based on some facet of the information the artifact carries. Alternately, they are organized based on the future purpose for which that information is expected to be useful. As discussed above, information objects are organized in PIM by topic, time, person, expected use, or associated project, task, or goal. The work on the cognitive structure of events may inform the organization of information by project or task (Rifkin 1985; Zacks, Tversky, and Iyer 2001) by explaining how people tend to break down events into smaller pieces. Research into episodic memory (Tulving 2002; Tulving 2002) clearly has some relevance to how we may organize information by temporal cues.

Cautiously, we may ask how findings regarding graded structure and basic categories may inform PIM. The fact that categories have graded structure may be related to the difficulty of filing and the ease of piling. In piling, one can simply put things that are roughly related together without worrying if something truly belongs in a category or not. A pile is a grouping without a label. The physical arrangement of a pile or group of piles can represent the fuzzy boundaries between categories with graded structure. By contrast filing requires a person to make a decision about whether something belongs in a folder or does not. If a new folder is needed, the process of naming the folder requires extra cognitive effort. Finally, the physical arrangement of files much better represents a classical model of categories than one with graded structure.

Research on the basic category level raises questions about the level of detail at which people tend to organize their information. Expertise and culture affect what level is basic, so there is unlikely to be any one level that will be useful for all users. PIM researchers cannot attempt to identify some correct level, but thinking about the basic level focuses our attention on which level in a person's organizational structure seems to be of primary importance. Further, might we be able to learn something about how the personal organization of information changes with increased expertise by paying attention to changes in categorization strategy? Of all of the cognitive psychology research summarized above, it seems that Barsalou's studies of goal-derived categories may have the most direct relevance to work in PIM. His exploration of the instantiation of frames for the purpose of deriving ad hoc categories in the planning process (Barsalou 1991) could provide one way of approaching support for PIM in the context of planning personal projects (Jones et al. 2005b). Also, the notion that people do PIM to achieve some future goal of completing a project, remembering an event, or refinding information for some purpose suggests that some PIM may be a process of creating ad hoc categories for information objects, some of which become goal-derived categories established in memory. Systems should support the construction of flexible, dynamic information organization structures that mirror the flexible, dynamic way we appear to order concepts in different contexts and for different goals.

One example of research in cognitive psychology being directly applied to the problem of PIM is a recent paper by Huggett, Hoos, and Rensink (2007) outlining principles drawn from cognitive psychology in order to guide the design of truly human-centered information management tools.³⁷ They claim that the human-computer interaction approach at mediating between man and machine with interface is not enough and propose that:

information within machines should be stored and retrieved in a manner that is inherently biomimetic (i.e. based on forms in nature) so that it is inherently comprehensible. Human memory represents a clearly successful approach to information retrieval and processing. One goal then is to transfer this efficient memory structure to machines for better organization and retrieval of information. Conversely, the implementation of evolved human information-management solutions, such as associative retrieval, makes machines more comprehensible by providing a familiar (in fact ingrained) information-management paradigm, instead of an ad hoc system-specific one" (458).

Some other studies and tool designs have already been based upon the relationship between memory and PIM (Jones 1986; Lansdale 1991). This suggests that research in human memory may be more applicable to PIM work than the research on concepts outlined above. The way in which we store and process concepts, however, is strongly related to memory (Johnson and Hasher 1987).

Different subsystems of memory are recognized in the literature, thought there are indications that they may not work as distinct, separate systems (Jones and Anderson 1987; Johnson and Hasher 1987). These memory types include working/short term memory (Jonides et al. 2008), long term memory , episodic memory, and prospective memory. The possible relevance of episodic memory to better support of temporal organization and PIM tools was touched upon above. Work on prospective memory also seems highly related to understanding PIM practice and supporting better tool development.

Prospective memory involves "the process and skills required to support the fulfillment of an intention to perform a specific action in the future" (Ellis and Kvavilashvili 2000, S1). Successful prospective remembering means we need to remember the content of the action we intend to do, and we need to remember this information at the right time. Reminders support successful prospective memory and research has been done into the characteristics of successful reminding (Guynn, McDaniel, and Einstein 1998; Herrmann et al. 1999; Meier, Zimmermann, and Perrig 2006).

³⁷ I assume that (Jones and Ross 2007) is also directly relevant, but it has not been available from the library since I found the citation. It is on my reading list.

Above, I claimed that the organization of information in the practice of PIM can be an important way of synthesizing information and thinking creatively. Unfortunately most current systems do not support such synthesis and thought in an effective way. Questions of how people think and learn by organizing information are related to research in sensemaking-R (Russell et al. 1993; Qu 2006; Russell, Jeffries, and Irani 2008). Such approaches may also be served by attention to work in extended (Clark and Chalmers 1998), embodied (Shapiro 2007), situated/grounded (Barsalou 2008), and spatial (Tversky 1993; Kirsh 1995; Tirassa, Carassa, and Geminiani 2000) cognition.

CATEGORIZATION AND CLASSIFICATION IN LIS

Researchers in cognitive science study and model categorization by individual people, but their goals are to generalize theories that explain how people in general cognitively organize concepts. Within LIS we have studied categorization and classification at many levels--from the broad general level of the universal bibliographic classification to the specific level of individual people's knowledge structures. Like the study of categorization in cognitive science, the study of classification in LIS has evolved from focusing on formal and well defined universal structures to an interest in a wide array of classification structures of varying levels of formality in various contexts. This review traces some similarities and connections between the treatment of categorization and classification in LIS and cognitive psychology. In this way, it narrows the focus from methods and structures for organizing information applicable on a large scale back down to my overall focus in this review: the individual person and her organization of concepts and information.

Jacob and terminology

Elin Jacob suggests that the confusion in the cognitive science literature and the lack of a cohesive general theory of cognitive categories "...is due, in large part, to a pervasive failure to acknowledge that classification and categorization are distinct processes..." (Jacob 1991, p. 80) Jacob illustrates the interchangeable manner in which terms such as category, class, and concept are used in cognitive categorization research by quoting a passage from Rosch et al.'s influential 1976 article discussed above. The emphasis is Jacob's (Jacob 1991, p. 77):

"...one purpose of *categorization* is to reduce the infinite differences among stimuli to behaviorally and cognitively usable proportions. It is to the organism's advantage not to differentiate one stimulus from others when that differentiation is irrelevant for the purposes at hand. The basic level of *classification*, the primary level at which cuts are made in the environment, appears to result from the combination of these two principles; the basic *categorization* is the most general and inclusive level at which categories can delineate real-world structures" (Rosch et al. 1976, p. 384).

Jacob says that classes and classification are very similar to categories and categorization, but makes a fine distinction between them:

"While traditional classification is rigorous in that it mandates that an entity either is or is not a member of a particular class, the process of categorization is flexible and creative and draws nonbinding associations between entities—associations that are based not on a set of predetermined principles but on the simple recognition of similarities that exist across a set of entities. Classification divides a universe of entities into an arbitrary system of mutually exclusive and nonoverlapping classes that are arranged within the conceptual context established by a set of established principles. The fact that neither the context nor the composition of these classes varies is the basis for the stability of reference provided by a system of classification. In contrast, categorization divides the world of experience into groups or categories whose members bear some immediate similarity within a given context" (Jacob 2004, p. 527-528).

According to Jacob, two distinct processes are being studied and discussed by cognitive psychology researchers; the different camps misunderstand each other and disagree because they have not distinguished between the processes of classification and categorization. If Jacob's distinction is taken into account, the classical theory of categorization appears to apply to much of traditional LIS classification theory, while the move in LIS to the "cognitive approach" is aligned with the newer ways of viewing cognitive categorization that account for graded structures, fuzzy boundaries, and the importance of context and expertise. The classical approach echoes the common approach in the design of classification systems and retrieval tools in LIS. Meanwhile, the prototype approach has implications for the design of interfaces for use by common people, choice of access points in bibliographic systems, and understanding the need for specialized information tools for specialized needs (Marco and Navarro 1993).

The development of classification theory

Much of the history of LIS research in organization of information has been related to classification theory. The term "theory" as used here generally refers to the identification of principles for classification, rather than the development of testable explanatory statements derived from empirical research (Jun-Sep2001; Smiraglia Jun-Sep2001; Smiraglia 2002). This branch of classification theory has primarily focused on the construction of bibliographic classification schemes. These schemes are commonly referred to as "universal" classifications, in that they are intended to organize the entire universe of knowledge embodied in the bibliographic world and collected in libraries. In a review of the development of classification theory prior to the mid-1970s, Dahlberg (1976) defined classification theory as having to do with the conceptual foundations of class formation, division and partition. As we will see, the scope of classification theory has changed over time. Smiraglia (2002) traces the move of the field through various epistemic stances beyond the original focus on rationalist construction of classification schemes based on reasoned principles. Aspects of universal classification schemes have also changed over time. The next section, however, focuses on the initial approaches to classification theory and scheme construction.

CLASSIFICATION AS TRUE STRUCTURE

"Classification is a representation of the true structure of knowledge" (Farradane 1955).

Much of the work of early classification researchers and theorists was on how to best represent this true structure of knowledge. The major universal classification schemes—with the exception of Ranganathan's Colon Classification—were attempts at this type of representation. As such, they reflect the same world views and philosophies that nurtured the classical view of cognitive categories.

Bowker (2005) traces how knowledge of current science leads people to organize information based on those paradigms. This is borne out in the history of classification research and development. Foskett (1980) reminds us that "the history of classifications of knowledge shows that schemes for the ordering of knowledge or of documents containing knowledge always, and inevitably, reflect the philosophies and theories of knowledge with are dominant at the time." Likewise, Donovan (1991, p. 28) points out that "The categorization which necessarily precedes classification is therefore the product of a specific cultural and intellectual milieu."

Miksa (Miksa 1992) and Olson (Olson 1994) trace the history of the modern library movement and librarians' unquestioned assumption that "that the most natural and best way to organize books--obviously, on the shelves, but also in catalogs--was in terms of what was considered to be the natural hierarchical classificatory order of knowledge." (Miksa 1992, p. 105) Marco and Navarro (Marco and Navarro 1993) describe this assumption and the resultant classification schemes as products of 18th century developments in the fields of biological taxonomy and phenetics. These are related to rationalism and logical positivism—"the two principal contemporary Western approaches to human knowledge." Shapiro and Hughes (1999) write: "The majority of current schemes (e.g. the LC and Dewey Decimal systems) are in effect operationalizations of neo-Platonic, realist ontology and theology, the "Great Chain of Being" (Lovejoy 1936) that asserts the priority of the universal over the particular, of the abstract over the concrete and that see the individual or particular as mere emanations of the abstract and the universal." The empiricist and rationalist origins of traditional classification and knowledge organization tools are further described by Albrechtsen and Jacob (1998). Rafferty (2001) concurs that traditional classification theory has been a positivist endeavor that assumes "if we carve up and organize knowledge in such a way that it accurately reflects Truth, then the furtherance of knowledge is the outcome." Finally, Beghtol {Beghtol 1998 #972 /d} states the traditional desiderata for any classification system: "that the classes be both mutually exclusive (i.e., do not overlap) and jointly exhaustive (i.e., account for all possibilities)." These requirements are core features of the classical view of cognitive categories; traditional classification theory and the classical view are related.

DISCIPLINARY STRUCTURE AND ITS DISCONTENTS

The main classes of the major classification schemes—the primary joints at which they attempt to carve reality—are based upon traditional academic disciplinary structure. Some see this as a primary strength of these schemes and described disciplinary division as a historist and pragmatic approach to classification. In this view, the academic disciplines are historically developed structures that determine how subjects are interpreted and organized; therefore, they are the most useful way to divide up a classification scheme at the top level (Hjørland and Albrechtsen 1999). There is a tension between being a classification meant to represent the natural and true structure of knowledge and being a classification whose main divisions are academic disciplines; disciplines do not realistically represent the structure of all knowledge, but divisions that have arisen due to both the historic development of ideas, methods, and theories, and the administrative convenience of the university (Popper 2002).

While Hjørland describes dividing by disciplines as a pragmatic approach to classification, the approach is not without practical difficulties. Below three main problems with this disciplinary organization are outlined. They are discussed separately, but the issues are tightly intertwined. First, one subject may be treated by several disciplines. Works relating to that subject are then scattered into distributed relatives throughout the classification scheme and the library. This may confuse users who enter a library or retrieval system looking for a topic. In a library organized by the Dewey Decimal Classification a user looking for information on heroin addiction would have to look under the following classes to find a wide range of information on the subject: social problems and services, criminology, diseases, subcultures, and customs. These classes would not include works on programs, support, and services for recovery from heroin addiction. Literary treatments of the topic would be scattered by language and literary form. In the classification schedules many of these disciplinary treatments of the subject are linked by cross references to assist the classifier (Dewey 2003); however such references are not available to a library user browsing the shelves.

The second problem is how crossdisciplinary works should be classified in a scheme that scatters topics by discipline. Five types of crossdisciplinary interaction have been identified through longitudinal examination of domains and disciplines: interdisciplinarity, transdisciplinarity, multidisciplinarity, pluridisciplinarity, and syndisciplinarity (Dahlberg 1994). Beghtol (1998) traces how four universal classification schemes (Dewey Decimal Classification, Library of Congress Classification, Universal Decimal Classification, and Bliss Classification) have made changes to address the problem of representing these interactions. In some cases, instructions about where to class crossdisciplinary works have been added to the classification schemes. Again, there are likely no notes in libraries or online catalogs to inform the user of where to look for crossdisciplinary works. In other cases, methods of constructing classification numbers have been modified to allow the combination of numbers from multiple locations in the classification schedules—a representation of multiple disciplines in one number. Finally, various synthetic devices have been introduced, such as auxiliary tables of numbers to be added to primary class numbers. This use of the term synthetic is in the sense of synthesis. The importance of accommodating for synthesis in a classification scheme is discussed below in relation to the third problem.

The third and final problem with the disciplinary structure of classification schemes is how to accommodate entirely new topics (or disciplines) that arise from the combination or splitting of currently recognized disciplines. Changing the structures of the schemes themselves to include all new crossdisciplinary topics is generally dismissed, as the possible combinations (and splittings) of disciplines is nearly infinite. Ranganathan (1967) colorfully expressed the impossibility of designing any neat structure to represent topics:

"In the true tree of subjects, one branch is grafted to another at many points. Twigs too get grafted in a similar way among themselves. The branches from one trunk get grafted with those of another. It is difficult to say to which trunk such branches belong. The trunks get grafted among themselves. Even then, the picture of the Tree of Subjects cannot be said to be complete. It is far more complex than all of these."

Upon their introduction to the West, Ranganathan's principles of analytic-synthetic faceted classification were celebrated for their hospitality to new and unknown topics, varied treatments of existing topics, and disciplinary combinations (Classification Research Group 1955). Recognition of Ranganathan's work by Western classificationists is identified by some as an initial sign of a move away from the classical approach in library classification. Ranganathan's work moved away from the notion of the superiority, naturalness, and utility of a top-down, preconstructed system reflecting some true structure of knowledge.³⁸ Instead, it was based on processes of analysis and synthesis allowing various facets and combinations of facets of any new subject to be expressed at the time of classification (Dahlberg 1976). Kwasnik (Kwasnik 1992) characterizes Ranganathan as an early post-modern classificationist: "Ranganathan's contribution to classification theory is not only his innovative principles, canons, and techniques for notation, but also his acknowledgment that all classification is tentative in nature, that is, he developed his scheme with the understanding that there is no one way to view the world."

POST-MODERN CLASSIFICATION

"There is no one correct or natural way of classifying a universe of objects." (Sparck-Jones 1970, p. 577)

Sparck-Jones went on to explain that the above statement was necessary because:

in many cases remarks are made about the relative merits of classifications as if classification reflects something intrinsic to a set of objects, where it in fact reflects the frame of reference of the person seeking a classification.

Over time, the relative and arbitrary nature of classification has become less of a position to be defended or explained and more of a default statement or assumption. Jacob (1994) defines classification as involving:

the systematic creation of order within a framework that is frequently both arbitrary and artificial: Arbitrary in that it adopts one perspective of the domain to the exclusion of all others; and artificial in that it is a tool or artifact created for the express purpose of establishing order.

Olson (Jun-Sep2001; 1994; 2001; 2002) has built her research career on deconstructing the assumptions and exclusions of the major classification schemes.

The growing acceptance of the tentative nature of all classification precipitated a shift in classification research. The field moved away from attempting to uncover universal true classifications and their principles. Researchers began to recognize the need to study the use of classification schemes in context. They saw that understanding the contexts in which classifications are used would inform the development of more useful classifications(Mai 2004). Jacob and Shaw (1998) reviewed early classification research using cognitive and social approaches, highlighting the importance of this line of research to the discipline of LIS as a whole. According to Jacob (2004), this sociocognitive shift can be seen as analogous to the shift away from the classical view of cognitive categories in cognitive psychology.

³⁸ "The intellect cannot be tied down with a decimal thong" (Ranganathan 1967, ch. P, sec. J, p. 362).

THE INTERACTION OF CLASSIFICATION AND KNOWLEDGE IN CONTEXT

Kwasnik (1992) explores the relationship between classification, theory, and knowledge. Some classifications—the periodic table of the elements for example—are theoretical. They are based on a theory of how the domain works, and inferences can be drawn from them. Other classifications are relatively atheoretical. The DSM classification for mental disorders is one example. These classifications are specialized instead of universal. They are examined in context of their disciplines, development, users, and uses. Kwasnik concluded that classifications can be thought of as theories in themselves:

A good classification functions in much the same way that a theory does, connecting concepts in a useful structure. If successful, it is, like a theory, descriptive, explanatory, heuristic, fruitful, and perhaps also elegant, parsimonious, and robust (Kwasnik 1999, p. 24).

She went on to examine the use of these theoretical classifications in developing theory, facilitating discovery, and representing knowledge, identifying a number of ways that classification interacts with knowledge.

First, classification has a role in theory building and knowledge creation. Changes in classification can make new connections visible and bring about new explanatory frameworks. Again, the periodic table of the elements is one example (Kwasnik 1999). Beghtol (2003) examines how classifications developed by domain experts are used in the process of knowledge discovery. These "naive classifications"³⁹ are used for specific purposes by scholars, including:

- to discover gaps in knowledge;
- to fill gaps in knowledge;
- to reconstruct historical situations and evidence;
- to facilitate integration and communication of findings; and
- to suggest revisions or amplifications of accepted classifications (Beghtol 2003, p. 66).

Kwasnik (1999) discusses the process of qualitative data analysis as a form of classification used to build theory. In this process complex coding structures are developed by the researcher to organize data, findings, and thoughts.

³⁹ This terminology prompted heated debate (Nicolaisen and Hjørland 2004; Beghtol 2004; Hjørland and Nicolaisen 2004). Beghtol had contrasted naïve classifications with expert classifications, where the experts were those formally trained in the construction of classification schemes. Hjørland and Nicolaisen averred that the domain specialists were the experts when they were constructing their own classifications and using those classifications to generate new knowledge.

Second, new knowledge and technology have effects on existing classifications. As new knowledge is revealed important new dimensions to classify along may be identified. As new tools are developed new data can be gathered that reveal other new dimensions for classification. Bowker (2005) explores this phenomenon in detail. One example is the relatively recent ability to analyze the genetic sequences of species. The biological taxonomy derived from genetic findings differs from—and cannot be reconciled with—the traditional Linnean taxonomy of the species. Conversely, attempts at classification are complicated when there are gaps in our knowledge of the domain and tools for measuring its dimensions. Kwasnik refers to the domain of smell. There are no measureable units to describe smells, so they can only be described in terms of analogies and other comparisons. This makes it difficult to develop a useful classification of smells (Kwasnik 1999). A final issue is that new knowledge and new technologies emerge that do not fit into the existing structures of classification schemes. The Dewey Decimal Classification has struggled with fitting all of the new technological advances since its creation into its decimal structure; the results is often awkward and unintuitive placement of topics.

Third, some atheoretical classifications interface with knowledge problematically. Often these classifications are intended for use by multiple groups across which there is no consensus on the domain. Kwasnik's example of this is the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM) (Kwasnik 1999). The classification is used by doctors, counselors, patients, insurance companies, pharmacies, and others. For this reason it attempts to be neutral and reflect no one user group's conceptualization of the domain. This atheoretical stance meets the needs of all players at a basic level, but meets no one's needs well. Bowker and Star (1999) discuss the same type of issue and its practical consequences in relation to the International Classification of Diseases (ICD). Complex, atypical, and marginal cases are often forced uncomfortably into a class that doesn't quite fit in these schemes. In some cases, the method of classification distorts knowledge of the domain. Analysis of a classification scheme should attend to the question of whose interests are served by a classification scheme. This includes how economic concerns shape the theory or lack of theory of the scheme.

An understanding of the interactions between classification and knowledge provides a foundation for examining and evaluating the construction, maintenance, and use of all types of classifications. Given the shift to a social and cognitive interest in classifications researchers have turned more attention to classification and categorization in more specific contexts. These include disciplines, collaborative work groups both large and small, and the individual. Some of the most important ideas to emerge from the study of disciplines and work groups are summarized below. Then studies of individual people's conceptual models and categorization behavior are reviewed. At this level it is clear that all of this study of the organization of information is related to the study of PIM.

THE STRUCTURE OF INFORMATION IN DISCIPLINES (DOMAIN ANALYSIS)

The information structure of disciplines can be understood via multiple approaches, many of which have been described by Hjørland as approaches to domain analysis (Hjørland 2002a). Hjørland's theoretical domain analytic approach considers, among other things, classifications *of and within* disciplines. The goal is to design useful subject access, including new or modified classifications *of* disciplines (Hjørland 1998). Hjørland uses the term "domain" heavily. Particularly in his early work this tended to be used as a synonym for *disciplines* in the academic and scientific tradition.

This domain analytic approach is presented as a pragmatic, realist approach to subject in contrast with other ways of defining subject, or aboutness, in information science. Hjørland strongly critiques several other approaches: the facet analytic approach (Hjørland 1992); statistical and probabilistic models of determining subject using term frequency and more complex algorithms on general collections of full-text (Hjørland 1996; Hjørland 2002a); and individual indexer determinations of aboutness based upon imaging the author's intent or potential users (Hjørland 1992).

Hjørland further criticizes the cognitive paradigm that is prevalent in information science because "it is not possible to determine subjects by examining the minds of authors, users, or any other specific group of people" (Hjørland 1992, p. 173). Even if we can determine the individual user's cognitive structure and processes there is no realistic way to support an enormous number of individual mental models in information systems (Hjørland and Albrechtsen 1995). Finally, user knowledge of information sources and searching is often "defective," and it should be left to the experts on information—information scientists—to build systems that will work most effectively and efficiently for the competent user in a domain (Hjørland and Albrechtsen 1995; Hjørland 1996).

In contrast with the cognitive approach, the domain analytic approach is seen as a way to understand the qualities of the domain. With this understanding, the information needs of users within that domain can be supported in the most useful way. The researcher does not conduct empirical user studies on people in hopes of extrapolating a workable system structure from individual cognitive structures. The researcher instead qualitatively studies the domain—tracing its history, methodological development, and the changes in epistemological viewpoint that underpin the growth of the field—in order to objectively determine the shared knowledge structures and assumptions of users. Hjørland maintains this is the only way to gain a realistic, pragmatic view of knowledge domains for information science purposes. Focus on the domain necessitates a move from methodological individualism toward methodological collectivism—considering individuals only with the understanding that they are part of a larger group. (Hjørland 1997).

Because of its focus on larger groups and individuals cooperating across domains, the domain analytic approach can be aligned with a broader sociocognitive perspective despite Hjørland's criticism of individual cognitive approaches (Jacob and Shaw 1998; Hjørland 2002b). The domain analytic approach is also an example of the move to post-modern classification studies. First, it focuses on deeply understanding the structure of specific areas of the universe of knowledge. Second, it recognizes that no single view, or classification, of a domain will be enough to accurately represent it in a truly useful way. From the domain analytic perspective, the challenge to researchers in the organization of information is to find ways to represent the multiple dimensions of any domain.

The critiques of traditional classification by discipline briefly outlined above may appear to undermine the importance of conducting in-depth analysis of individual domains. Hjørland maintains that the rise in crossdisciplinary scholarship in fact heightens the need to understand the historic and epistemological developments of the traditional domains so that we may understand the qualities of crossdisciplinary knowledge and its structure (Hjørland 1994).

The domains Hjørland considers tend to fall into the traditional academic disciplines. However, the approach can be applied to less formal areas such as hobby domains (Hjørland 2004). Jenna Hartel, who has been studying the hobby domain of amateur cooks, states: "A question of the first order is: what are a hobby's information resources and forms? To that end, one strength of domain analysis is that it directs inquiry to objective, not subjective, features" (Hartel 2003, p. 233).

COMPUTER SUPPORTED COOPERATIVE WORK (CSCW)

In computer supported cooperative work (CSCW) the scope of classification research is further narrowed to groups of people working cooperatively. There are two camps of CSCW researchers that mirror the camps in PIM research. The first is made up of people interested in developing novel solutions to problems. This usually entails the development of new software tools. The tools are then tested to see if they solved anything. The second camp is made up of people interested in the study and in-depth description of work practices and the problems therein. They hope to use the knowledge thus gained to inform the design of technological support tools. This camp often focuses on understanding the articulation work done in a cooperative work environment, so as to understand how best to support that work (2003).

Articulation arises "as an integral part of cooperative work as a set of activities required to manage the distributed nature of cooperative work" (1992). It supports the management of workflows and common information spaces. The nature of articulation work is complex, expensive in cognitive effort and time, and often hidden (Star 1991; Suchman 1995; Star and Strauss 1999). Conceptual schemes including classifications are one of many mechanisms for reducing the cognitive complexity and overhead cost of articulation work. For this reason, classification schemes and other information organization structures have been studied to some extent in CSCW. In order to simplify the remainder of this section, I will use the word "classifications" to describe all of these structures.

Simone and Sarini (Simone and Sarini 2001) reviewed field studies of how classifications are used in cooperative work. They found that a key requirement of an effective classification is that it be adaptable. Martin et al. (Martin et al. 2007) reviewed and analyzed ethnomethodologically-informed field studies on classification in call centers. Two specific ways classifications have been identified as supporting articulation work are by acting as boundary objects and coordination mechanisms.

BOUNDARY OBJECTS

Boundary objects are concrete or abstract objects that inhabit several intersecting social worlds, but are able to meet the informational needs of all of those worlds. They are able to do this because they are plastic enough to adapt to local needs and constraints, but are robust enough to maintain their identity across sites. Broadly specified in general use, boundary objects become more specific and defined in each local setting as they are interpreted for the purpose of accomplishing work in that place. Boundary objects are one way of managing the tension between the need to accommodate the divergent viewpoints of actors and the need to collaborate and get work done (Star and Griesemer 1989). Four types of boundary objects were initially identified: repositories (libraries, museums), ideal types (maps), terrain with coincident boundaries (something with agreed upon boundaries, but where the contents within the boundaries have not been specified), and forms/labels (forms for gathering information in a standardized way) (Star 1989; Star and Griesemer 1989). Various types of items can be used as boundary objects.

Albrechtsen and Jacob (Albrechtsen and Jacob 1998) considered classification systems as boundary objects in libraries. As classification theory has left behind the idea of the classification scheme as a one-size-fits-all tool, the classification scheme can move toward being a discoursebased tool facilitating interactive cooperation between librarians and user groups. Jacob (2001) discusses two ways of viewing classification systems in the context of work. The first is classification-as-scaffolding. Here classification serves as a device for storing knowledge supporting and promoting cognitive economy. The second is classification-as-infrastructure. Here classification is developed through the practice of work. The classification becomes deeply embedded in work practice and is mainly visible when it fails.

The concept of the boundary object can be useful in analyzing both of these types of classification in work contexts. Classification-as-scaffolding can help collaborating groups with different goals ensure they are communicating about the same things without requiring them to agree on all of the close specifications of each class. Classification-as-infrastructure can serve as part of an internal workflow or as a structure for sharing common documents across groups. Depending on the way one approaches classification-as-scaffolding and classification-as-infrastructure, they may appear similar and even overlapping. Looking through the lens of classification-as-boundary object may be a fruitful way to analyze other situated classification schemes.

Bowker and Star (1991) examined the International Classification of Diseases (ICD) as a boundary object allowing communication across highly distributed groups including doctors, insurance companies, pharmaceutical companies, and the government. They later expanded this work in their book, which also examined other classifications as boundary objects and infrastructure. The schemes covered include Diagnostic and Statistical Manual (DSM), Diagnostic Standards and Classification of Tuberculosis, Nursing Intervention Classification, and racial classification in South Africa (Bowker and Star 1999).

COORDINATION MECHANISMS

Schmidt and Simone (1996) included classifications as examples in their paper introducing the concept of coordination mechanisms. They defined a coordination mechanism as a construct consisting of two parts. The first is an artefact, or permanent symbolic construct. The second is a protocol that specifies how the artefact is to be used in the process of work. This protocol may be defined formally or implicitly by local work practice. Coordination mechanisms are useful for reducing the amount of cognitive work and negotiation involved in articulating distributed work activities in settings characterized by complex task interdependencies. Andersen (1994) analyses an index of technical drawings used by the technical documentation department of a large manufacturer. The index and the product classification used to describe the items in the index are discussed as coordination mechanisms. The helped to reduce complexity in the creation of new documentation by facilitating information reuse. In a case study of the development of a nationwide information system, Hertzum (2004) discusses a requirements classification as a coordination as a coordination mechanism. The requirements classification was used by developers as a checklist for ensuring that work was done and also to organize bug reporting and repairs.

STUDIES OF INDIVIDUAL PEOPLE'S ORGANIZATION OF INFORMATION FROM AN LIS PERSPECTIVE

At the most specific level, researchers in organization of information have tried to understand the way that individual people conceptualize and categorize information. They hope to use this knowledge to inform the design or revision of information organization systems and information services and tools.

DETERMINING USER-ORIENTED INFORMATION ORGANIZATION THEORETICALLY OR WITH IMPLICIT DATA

Though formal classification is rarely carried out by people for their own purposes, knowing how people think about information could assist in providing better access to it through formal means like classification. Some researchers have attempted to approximate people's conceptual information organization either through the application of general principles drawn from cognitive science, or from implicit data.

Najarian (1981) reviewed studies from the classical school of cognitive psychology that provided support for a hierarchical structure of memory and learning in the human mind. From these, she concluded that the general-to-specific hierarchical organization of library classifications is the most useful and effective at facilitating access to information. For these hierarchies to be most helpful to the user, the structures should be made apparent in the library and its access tools. This would facilitate finding known information and exploring the structure of new topics.

Working well after prototype theory emerged, Donovan (Donovan 1991) assumes that general principles of individual cognition suggest orderings of information that match with universal classification schemes to a greater or lesser extent. His work draws on three principles found in the cognitive psychology literature: (1) radial category structures based on prototypes (Lakoff 1987); (2) Wilensky's law: more specific knowledge takes precedence over more general knowledge (Wilensky 1983); and (3) the basic level of categorization (Rosch et al 1976).

Comparing these principles with the structure of library classification, he identifies disjoints between the general patron's expectations of information organization and the organization that the library provides. First, in mental space there are not sharp distinctions between disciplines; there are sharp distinctions in classificatory space. Second, classificatory principles instruct classifiers to privilege the general over the specific in classifying works on multiple or hybrid topics; patrons expect the specific to take precedence. Finally, patrons expect materials encompassed by basic level categories to be collocated on library shelves, but in classifications distributed relatives are often scattered into separate disciplinary facets.

With the goal of determining which classification's citation order is closest to the psychologically real, Donovan developed a measurement to quantify how far distributed relatives get scattered by different schemes. The main weakness of this study is that the titles chosen for collocation measurements were selected by Donovan because, given the cited findings of the psychological research, he believed they should be collocated. Data on actual patron expectations were not gathered. As discussed above, expertise and context can affect what level of categorization is basic, as well as what members of categories are considered typical and atypical. The distance between psychologically real and really real will not be the same for all users. Also, regardless of these findings, libraries are locked into the classification schemes that are already in use. Findings from further research of this kind could, however, be used to develop user-friendly access layers atop classifications already in use.

Boter and Wedel (2005) analyzed library loan transaction data for adult fiction. They used ultrametric trees in combination with latent class analysis in order to derive overall segments of fiction and specific categorizations within segments. Clear hierarchies of works emerged. Two libraries changed their fiction shelving to reflect the categorization that emerged from the study, and saw an increase in the number of titles borrowed per visit.

ENGAGING THE USER IN RESEARCH TO IMPROVE CLASSIFICATION

Studies using naturalistic or qualitative methods are necessary for understanding how people use classifications and where breakdowns occur. This knowledge is necessary to create user-based classifications and information systems (Solomon 1991). While such studies are common in CSCW, the use of naturalistic qualitative methods to study classification in the context of the library is rare if not nonexistent. Though focused on children's use of Library of Congress Subject Headings (LCSH) in an OPAC instead of a classification proper, Solomon's 1993 study is an example of how such naturalistic methods can reveal possibilities for adding a user perspective to information organization systems. Suggested improvements include displays of the structure of topic areas and interrelations between subject headings.

A more common research approaches in this area include assigning tasks or conducting targeted interviews to elicit information people's conceptual structures. Cooper (2002; 2004) studied kindergarten through 4th grade children's cognitive categories, or typifications, of library materials over time to understand how their conceptions changed in the first years of formal schooling. The children were asked to shelve library books in a way that made sense to them. Then they labeled the resultant categories. Analysis was conducted using hierarchical clustering and multidimensional scaling to trace the development of categories or typifications over time.

Bilal and Wang (2005) used concept mapping to compare middle schoolers' conceptual structures of Science & Nature and Health & Family. Each child created a hierarchical arrangement of researcher-provided concepts. Then each child turned the hierarchy into a concept map by drawing in appropriate links. Hierarchies were compared across children and also to the hierarchical classification of two web directories targeted at children. Unexpectedly, the children's structures did not tend to be based on conceptual relationships. Instead, they were based on perceptual, experiential, and situational relationships. The children's hierarchies did not match the existing web directories' structures, which were based on the conceptual relationships of the disciplines. Each of these studies suggests that access to information for children could be improved by organizing it in a way that more closely mirrors the way children conceptualize information.

Kwasnik and Rubin (2004) used an iterative interview and concept mapping technique to elicit fourteen people's conceptual structures of kinship relations. Each person was from a different country and spoke a different language. The analysis of kinship terms and inter-term relationships across languages was used to highlight difficulties in making current universal classification schemes more hospitable to different cultures, and in constructing a multilingual universal classification scheme.

Some studies have examined how people categorize information with a different aim: to determine the elements or dimensions of library materials that are salient in people's cognitive structures. Howarth (1998) conducted focus groups with users of public and academic libraries in order to define more user-centered bibliographic descriptions and displays for monographs and serials. Users were asked to order descriptive metadata elements by their importance for identifying and accessing items. This study was focused on user's cognitive representations of ideal item surrogates, not how those surrogates should be arranged.

In order to elicit a set of attributes for grouping records in catalog displays, Carlyle (1999) focused on how users categorize and describe related documents. Her study used a sorting task of items related to Dickens' A Christmas Carol. Participants were recruited at a shopping mall, asked to group the items, name the groups, and describe the attributes used to create each group. Attributes such as document form, audience, and language were identified. Carlyle checked whether these attributes are recorded and encoded in current catalog to determine the feasibility of using each for record clustering. Use was one popular attribute not recorded in any standard way in catalog records.

Personal construct theory and its techniques of repertory grid and laddering comprise an approach to eliciting the mental constructs a person has regarding a topic and how those constructs are structured. It results in a set of verbal data elicited from the interviewee that can be analyzed statistically. This technique was developed in clinical psychology (Kelly 1955; Walker and Winter 2007) and has been used in knowledge elicitation for the development of expert systems (Cooke 1994). This approach appears to be useful for studying the dimensions on which people cluster items and information but has rarely been used in an LIS context.

One exception is Burke's (2001) analysis of people's classifications of nine photographs from the Irish Folklore Archive at University College Dublin. She compared the constructs of Irish folklorists with those of students in library and information studies. All of these constructs were also compared with the in-house classification scheme used by the Archive. Twelve frequently used constructs were identified. These twelve constructs could be matched with elements from established approaches for analyzing the subjects of images: Shatford's theoretical approach (1986), Panofsky's iconographical approach (1962), and Ranganathan's facet analysis approach (Ranganathan 1967). The method was deemed useful in identifying, from the user perspective, what aspects of photo subjects from previous approaches could be used to practically enhance photo retrieval.

In their review of the sociocognitive approach to knowledge representation, Jacob and Shaw (1998) highlight the importance of identifying shared patterns of cognitive organization and categorization. They cite two classic studies from the PIM literature discussed above as examples of important work of this nature (Kwasnik 1989a; Case 1991b). Each study was able to generalize dimensions on which people cognitively and physically organize and deal with the information objects in their information environments. In the study of PIM we have not yet developed a clear understanding of how people conceptualize their information environments. McKnight (McKnight 2000) explores the usefulness of eliciting constructs using repertory grid technique for understanding how individuals perceive and understand the notion of "information space." He found that the technique can be used for eliciting and analyzing the structure of the individual's view of the concept. A better understanding of how people or groups of people cognitively construe their information space could provide us with important context for the study of PIM.

This section has traced the study of classification and some other means of organizing information from the universal scope of the traditional library classification, to how working groups use information organization structures to mediate and articulate their work, to the way that individuals think about subjects and documents. Classification research has moved away from a focus on mainly large, formal classification schemes in the classical tradition. Now studies of information organization systems and practices of domains, groups, and individual people— and people's conceptual organizations—are seen as valuable. The findings can inform the improvement of formal knowledge organization structures and the information storage and retrieval systems that use them. The findings can also inform the tools developed to allow people and organizations to create and maintain their own structures for organizing information. This validates the overall questions of interest to this review: how do amateur digital photographer make sense of making decisions about how to organize the information they gather and create in their hobby? Have the systems and structures they have put into place changed over the course of their amateur digital photography careers? If so, how did they decide it was time for a change and how did they navigate the decisions involved in implementing that change?

SENSE-MAKING METHODOLOGY

The Sense-Making Methodology is a set of meta-theoretic assumptions out of which emerge a methodology which mandates methods of question framing, data collection, and analysis that can be used in conducting research that begins with the goal of understanding how people experience and make sense of the phenomenon being studied, in and on their own terms (Dervin 1992). The approach has been under development, primarily by Brenda Dervin, since 1972. It originally grew out of Dervin's work in communication research, but it has guided communicative approaches to research in various other disciplines, most notably information needs and uses.

The Sense-Making Methodology and some of its assumptions have changed over the course of its development. It was previously called the Sense-Making Approach, and is often referred to simply as Sense-Making. For brevity, in this review, I will use the shortened, capitalized, and hyphenated term Sense-Making to refer to the Sense-Making Methodology.

Sense-Making is not to be confused with theories or models of sensemaking--describing how people or groups make sense--such as those developed by Weick (1995) or Snowden (2000). Nor is it meant to be a cognitive science approach to uncovering the inner physical, chemical, or cognitive workings of the mind and brain in the process of making sense across all humans. Sense-Making, instead, is an approach to research that rests upon the assumption that people are making sense of their world at all times. Further, how they make sense of their world, and how they think and speak about making sense of it, tend to be related to their behavior. Therefore, Sense-Making underlines the importance of asking people about their individual processes of making sense of particular aspects of their world as they move through life. Sense-Making includes a set of assumptions that have informed methods of eliciting and analyzing descriptions of those processes, in order to both describe the experiences of people in their own terms, and to find patterns in them. Dervin has called it "a methodology disciplining the cacophony of diversity and complexity without homogenizing it" (1998). Because it is a metatheory encompassing general fundamental assumptions about the world, Sense-Making is not testable. However, it can be used to orient and inform research that tests theory (Vakkari 1997; Pettigrew, Durrance, and Vakkari 1999).

This review first presents the fundamental metatheoretical assumptions of Sense-Making. The general approach is then critiqued. Next, the ways in which Sense-Making has been used are summarized, followed by a brief overview of the methods associated with the approach. Finally an argument is made for using Sense-Making to investigate the research area of personal information management (PIM), and the question of what PIM would look like through the lens of Sense-Making is explored.

Why Sense-Making?

There are a few initial suggestions that Sense-Making might be a fruitful approach to PIM study. Savolainen (1993) writes that "it seems that the theory is applicable in contexts wider than just information seeking." As demonstrated by the summaries presented above, several other areas have been studied using the approach. Dervin (1976b) listed important unanswered questions approachable by thinking of information communicatively, i.e. through Sense-Making. These included two questions central to PIM: "What strategies do people create in dealing with real life situations, and how do they implement these strategies? How do they make order, make connections?" Both of these questions are central questions in PIM research.

The results of Sense-Making studies have been used to inform the design of tools and prototypes. These include a university information system (Nilan and Pannen 1989), an OPAC interface (Hert and Nilan 1991), a word processing application (Bergeron and Nilan 1991), and a desktop publishing application (Nilan 1992). Dervin (1998) believes that results of Sense-Making based inquiry can inform "...how can we build systems which are maximally useful and responsive to real living-breathing human beings and the real nitty-gritty, changing conditions of their work and lives." An ideal PIM system would fit this description.

Finally, PIM topics have already emerged as Sense-Making concerns in two studies. In Bergeron and Nilan's (1991) study of the information needs of people learning word-processing, nearly 9% of questions asked were related to file management. Cheuk (1998) examined information literacy in the workplace, and states that information organization strategy is an aspect of information literacy and behavior to be examined at the individual level, and that it is possibly related to situation movement state.

One of the challenges of PIM research is that PIM is highly individual. Each person will have a unique PIM process and strategy, which may be influenced by various aspects of context, task, and individual difference. Information seeking and use is also a personal and individualized activity, influenced by various aspects of context, task, and individual differences. The Sense-Making approach has been used successfully to generate theory driven, predictive findings in the latter areas. It follows that it might be a valuable tool for studying certain aspects of PIM.

THE METATHEORETICAL ASSUMPTIONS OF SENSE-MAKING

First it is important to review the context in which Sense-Making was developed. Dervin's disciplinary home is Communication. She began to develop her approach in response to the tradition of system-focused communication research based on what she perceived as flawed assumptions of what information is, and how communication with others takes place (Dervin 1980; Dervin 1981; Dervin 1984). Her alternative assumptions became the foundation of Sense-Making.

Early in its development, Sense-Making began to be used to study information needs and uses. Dervin saw identifying information needs, seeking information, and using information as communicative processes, and identified the same system-focused bias in library and information science (LIS) research as she had in communication research. Her 1986 review article with Michael Nilan is one of the most highly cited works in information needs and use, information seeking, and information behavior research. Using author co-citation analysis, White and McCain (1998) found Dervin to be the most influential of authors categorized in information science user theory, despite only entering the map of top authors in information science in the period 1988-1995. Today, citing the Dervin/Nilan ARIST review is shorthand for referencing what has been called the paradigm shift to user-centered research (Olsson 2003). Bates (2004b), notes that Dervin and Nilan (1986) overlooked user-oriented research conducted in information science since the 1950s, implying the importance of the review may be somewhat inflated.

Dervin has continued to synthesize the literature on information seeking and use, distilling this synthesis into a set of 25 propositions (Dervin 2005a). The propositions are a succinct and practical summary of ways to apply the current ideas and assumptions of Sense-Making in research and practice. I review the major assumptions of Sense-Making below. Each section contains an explanation of the assumption at hand, any critiques specific to that assumption, and some initial thoughts regarding what the assumption might mean in conceptualizing the practice of PIM and inform PIM research.

Discontinuity/Gappiness

The assumption of gappiness or discontinuity is the core of Sense-Making. Discontinuity is seen as a fundamental aspect of reality--gaps exist between people, things, spaces, and times (Dervin 1992). There are gaps between what is "actually here" and the small amount of it we perceive. There are gaps between what is perceived and what we make of it--is that shape in the darkness a frightening closet monster, or is it just my coat hanging inside the open closet door? There are gaps between what we think and the words we use to express our thoughts, between what I say and what you hear me say, between what you literally heard and what you understand me to mean, and even between me as I understand something today and how I might understand it tomorrow. What fills each gap, according to Sense-Making, is an active process of sense-making (or sometimes sense-unmaking). Starting from where we are in our situation, using (and creating) the materials we have at hand or can find, we construct a bridge over the gap and move on to outcomes. Here, it should be noted that 'outcomes' were initially labeled 'use' in Sense-Making. A bit later, 'helps' was sometimes used instead of 'use', which was defined as also including 'hurts.' For clarity and brevity, in this review, I will use the current label 'outcomes' to refer to this aspect of Sense-Making.

APPLIED TO PIM

In conceptualizing the practice of PIM within a larger information practices context, the triggering of PIM activity (organizing, re-finding, evaluating, etc) can be seen as a response to a gap situation. In this way, PIM activities can be seen as communicative sense-making strategies to bridge the gaps between self (and self's situated needs and understandings) at different points in space and time. This is discussed in more detail after related assumptions are introduced.

Alternately, the practice of doing PIM can be seen as an ongoing process (or processes) rife with gaps. A Sense-Making Approach to the study of PIM might ask users to explain where they get stopped in their PIM practice, how they see those situations, how they bridge those gaps, what the outcomes are, and what would help or hurt in those situations. As an example, look through the Sense-Making lens at making an initial keeping decision regarding an encountered web page of interest. The gap situation is a stoppage until a decision is made: "Do I want to keep this?" One might define movement in this situation as a fork in the road, because he sees only two options: keep the web page, or leave it behind as one continues surfing the web. Sense-Making would then ask: "What is the process of making that decision? What questions does one need answered in order to bridge the gap? If one bridges the gap by deciding to keep the web page, does one then immediately find oneself in another, possibly more complex, stopped position of having to make sense of how and where to keep it? What is that process?"

Transmission model of information

Given the discontinuity of reality, and the need to bridge gaps at each step, human perception and understanding of messages are not absolute; each of us must make sense of what we encounter. For this reason, Sense-Making's view of information is contrasted with Dervin's metaphors of the traditional approach:

- information as message to be cleanly transmitted
- information as brick to be thrown at people construed as empty buckets that catch or fail to catch the thrown bricks
- message-serum in a hypodermic needle to be injected into an audience.

In Sense-Making, "the empty bucket has evolved into a thinking, self-controlling human being. Information changes from brick to clay, moved and shaped in unique ways by each perceiver" (Dervin 1983a).

CRITIQUE

The concept of information as objective, transmitted thing has been useful and necessary in designing and evaluating mechanisms of communication and information systems. The study of information as an entity distinct from its meaning content can still have benefits in certain contexts (Bates 2004b). Sense-Making, however, is not interested in this conceptualization of information and rejects it as useful for studying how humans experience and use information in their lives.

Sense-Making conceptualizes information as "that sense created at a specific moment in timespace by one or more humans" (Dervin 1992). In its assumption of the subjectivity of all information, Sense-Making does not deny an external objective reality or an existing message; for its own purposes it instead focuses in on the subjective construction of that reality, or the encoding and decoding of messages by individuals (Neill 1987). Such a conceptualization of information may seem contrary to most definitions of information in information science. Savolainen (2006) suggests that the discipline is moving steadily toward understanding information as Dervin has conceptualized it, citing the shift to cognitive models and the recognition of the role of affect in information seeking and use. Finn & Roberts (1984) imply that Dervin, Jacobson & Nilan's (1982) critique of Shannon's transmission-based information theory stems from conflating the two parts of the theory: the relationship between source and receiver, and the technical characteristics of transmission channels. Bates (2004b) states that Dervin's characterization of early work in information science "as reflecting a naive assumption that information is an objective entity to be transferred from a sender to a recipient and has an identical meaning to both parties in the transaction" is based on misreading and oversimplification. Exploring the veracity of these criticisms is beyond the scope of this review. Since Dervin's conceptualization of information has been extensively developed and used successfully in many research projects, any misunderstanding of other models in the development of Sense-Making do not lessen the proven usefulness of the Sense-Making conceptualization in tackling problems appropriate to its own methodology.

APPLIED TO PIM

The design of many PIM studies seems to assumption that the management of personal information is consists of the shuffling about and refinding of discrete, objective pieces of information or information objects found, received, or encountered by a person. This is based on a transmission model of information. A Sense-Making approach to PIM would require a different approach. It would certainly not preclude looking at what people do with information objects, but it would foreground the idea that an active and creative process of making sense happens each time a person interacts with said information objects. It would also recognize that by engaging in the practice of PIM, a person creates new information and informs herself. Perhaps the arrangement of the computer desktop is also the creation of a reminder. The placement of two documents into the same folder is also a statement about the relationship between the documents. The meaning and informativeness of such actions may change over time. A year from now I the presence of the documents in the folder might indicate to me that they are related, but I might not remember why. I might make a guess and create a new relationship between them I had not previously thought of.

The foregoing review has discussed various ways people use the process of making representations and organizing information to make sense of reality and learn. A conception of the personal information environment as a bucket into which information is dropped in hopes of later retrieval ignores the opportunities and abilities that the process of organizing information affords us. Given the quantity of information objects that quickly accumulate in our lives, the focus of PIM study on documents, files, objects, and emails is understandable, but it should not be the only focus.

Model of the individual

The Sense-Making Approach makes several assumptions about people. First, it assumes that individuals move through space and time. As an individual moves through space and time, his situation and context change. In Sense-Making, "the human is conceptualized as centered and decentered; ordered and chaotic; cognitive, physical, spiritual, and emotional; and potentially differing in all these dimensions across time and across space" (Dervin 1999). This view has been supported by at least one study of an individual's information behavior in everyday life (Julien and Michels 2004).

Dervin (1989b) describes the traditional approach to research that categorizing people by demographics, personality indicators, or cognitive style. Such categorizations assume the person remains static across time and space, with the result of perpetuating current assumptions about various populations and weakening research results. Ford (2004) sums up Dervin's argument against utilization of such categories: "Emphasis on across time/space constants may result in research methodology that is ultimately tautological to the extent that, as a perspective, it may constitute an a priori assumption that is not tested within the research."

In contrast, Sense-Making focuses on the types of situations and gaps in which people find themselves at particular points in time-space, how people define those situations and gaps for themselves, the behaviors used to bridge gaps and make sense of situations, and the outcomes of bridging gaps and making sense. In this way, Sense-Making moves the analysis to a unit smaller than the person. The unit of interest is instead the situation, gap, or question as identified and described by the individual at a moment in time-space. This shift in the focus of analysis has uncovered systems and order hidden within the apparent chaos of individuality, and poorly explained by across time-space constants.

Empirical work supporting the early development of Sense-Making hypothesized that the way an individual defines the situation or gap he faces at a particular moment is more strongly related to the steps he takes to bridge the gap than are across-time categories. Several Sense-Making variables were constructed to test this hypothesis. The most important and fully-tested variable was Situation Movement State, defined as:

a measure that taps the different qualitative ways in which the respondent sees his/her movement through time-space blocked...The different Situation Movement States are all seen as different ways of being stopped in movement through time-space" (Dervin 1983b).

Several early Sense-Making studies of information seeking found that Situation Movement State was significantly related to both the types of questions asked and to how answers helped. Situation Movement State was found to be an equal or more powerful predictor of information seeking and use than demographic or personality traits (Dervin et al. 1980; Dervin, Nilan, and Jacobson 1981; Atwood and Dervin 1981; Dervin, Jacobson, and Nilan 1982; Newby, Nilan, and Duvall 1991; Shields et al. 1993).

This work demonstrated that the usefulness of Sense-Making is not limited to eliciting and dealing with the rich qualitative experience of users. It is also possible to conduct quantitative content analysis to test hypotheses, confirm theory, and make predictions. Dervin has called Sense-Making "a methodology between the cracks," because of its acceptance of positivist and post-modern approaches, quantitative and qualitative analysis, reality as both chaotic and ordered, the human as habitual and ever-changing and seeing structures as simultaneously static-seeming and continually constructed. Sense-Making embraces dichotomy and refuses to take sides (Dervin 2003). The approach acknowledges "the uniqueness of individuals and their circumstances, while identifying commonalities in the processes they go through. Such commonalities permit systems and services to be created that provide appropriate help" (Morris 1994).

Second, Sense-Making assumes the full human is present and active in this movement through time and space, "positing as possible fodder for sense-making not only thoughts and ideas, observations and understandings, but emotions and feelings, dreams and visions, pretenses and illusions, connections and disconnections" (Dervin 2003). Emotions, expectations, and imaginations are seen as potential outcomes of gap-bridging. They are also part of the bridging process, for they are central in allowing us to communicate and cooperate with others, to evaluate, and to plan. Finally, gap situations are often entangled with emotions which may affect how a person sees his situation, and how he then moves (Dervin 1998). Issues of emotions and dreams are not to be discounted or omitted from analysis. Instead they are to be elicited from respondents and valued as part of their processes of making sense (Dervin 2003).

Finally, Sense-Making assumes that each individual is an expert on and theorist of her own world and experience of it. Since each individual is involved in developing strategies for bridging her own gaps, each individual consciously or unconsciously theorizes why certain strategies are appropriate or useful for her. A researcher using the Sense-Making Approach must take care to frame research questions and gather data in such a way that the expertise of the individual participant in the research is uncovered and her theories elicited (Dervin 2003).

APPLIED TO PIM

In summary of the previous section, Sense-Making's model of the individual human assumes three things: (1) each human and his behavior may vary or stay the same as he moves through time and space; (2) a human has many facets and ways of reacting; and (3) each human is the expert and theorist of his own experience.

Some cross time/space categories for users PIM research have been developed. I have discussed some of these above as "PIM Personalities." Some research aims to understand PIM behavior based on individual difference criteria⁴⁰. A Sense-Making approach to PIM would not be interested in these sorts of categorizations. Instead, it would attempt to uncover whether there are relationships between how people see specific situations and what PIM activities they do in those situations.

The former approach would have trouble explaining the PIM practices of someone whose office is a massive drift of piled paper, while their work computer's desktop contains only a handful of neatly arranged icons and their mp3 collection at home is obsessively tagged with metadata painstakingly gathered, and categorized into a complex set of genres and playlists. Is this person a Piler or a Filer?

Sense-Making suggests those categories are irrelevant because it assumes people will do different things in different situations. It would hypothesize that the great differences observed in this person's PIM practices are related to differences in the way the person sees and experiences the situations and contexts surrounding those practices. It would look across groups of people for patterns of similar practices in similarly construed situations instead of expecting each person's PIM practice to be consistent across time and space.

⁴⁰ Gwizdka and Chignell (2007) present a recent review of this work, concluding that changes in context and type of information being managed appear to influence a person's PIM style or personality in different situations. This suggests that a Sense-Making approach to conceptualizing the individual doing PIM may be useful.

The identification of patterns of PIM practice in response to different types of situations could greatly advance the study of PIM. Such findings could inform the identification of:

- Reference tasks and the compilation of test collections for conducting evaluation (Kelly and Teevan 2007);
- Requirements for PIM tools (or modes of these tools) for use in different types of situations;
- Teachable PIM strategies (Jones 2008a, 395).

A Sense-Making approach to PIM calls for attending to the whole person in PIM studies. Of course we want participants to speak about their PIM practices and the logical explanations for them. A Sense-Making approach would additionally mandate inquiry into how a participant's emotions, hopes, intuitions, and imaginings are involved in their PIM practices, as well as imaginings of what they would like their PIM processes to be.

Olsson (2005) identifies the research constructions of people in the role of information users. In most information behavior research to date, they are typically defined by their ignorance, uncertainty, and failures in the bulk of information behavior research to date. PIM researchers typically present the participant as the expert on his own information space and PIM practices; however, the focus of most studies remains primarily on problems and breakdowns in PIM practice rather than on successes or innovative solutions.⁴¹

A Sense-Making approach would position the participant to speak from a place of authority and familiarity about her processes of PIM--including difficulties and successes, problems and solutions. Sense-Making asks the researcher to trust that the participant, as expert theorist on her own experience, can identify and see beyond the barriers and constraints in her situations. She is asked not only about her PIM practices, but also about what gets in the way of optimal PIM practice, what assists PIM practice, and what she would like her PIM practices to look like. This sort of approach could leverage the creativity and expertise of many individuals in order to create new strategies and systems for doing PIM that are not "radical invention" (Whittaker, Terveen, and Nardi 2000).

Dalrymple (2001) states that "If one adopts the Sense-Making approach, clearly, one cannot focus on the system to advance understanding, but rather must concentrate on the user to interact with the system and make sense of what is obtained from the system." Sense-Making mandates allowing the user to speak from his viewpoint. Attempting to understand the processes of PIM by conducting studies focused on individual information formats or applications (e.g. email, bookmark, or contact) is an approach constrained by the capabilities of the system. Sense-Making provides options for learning about PIM in a broader way from a true user perspective.

⁴¹ It may seem that a Sense-Making approach, with its assumption of continual gaps, is also focused on problems. In truth, an instance of discontinuity can be an opportunity or a problem. The outcome may be success, failure, or something in between.

Verbings, not nouns

Sense-Making conceptualizes information as the active construction of sense in gappy situations. Its model of the individual conceptualizes users as "actors navigating moments of situation-facing" instead of as "nouns ascribed with adjectives of our choosing" (Dervin 2006). Both of these changes involve moving from a focus on the static, to a focus on dynamic processes. In this way, Sense-Making is a process oriented approach.

Dervin calls these processes involved in gap-bridging "verbings." They are the foci of Sense-Making studies (Dervin 1993). The focus is on the individual's processes of making sense, working, changing, or creating. "Sense-Making assumes that it is only by focusing on changes across time and space and on the flows of events that we can search for and study patterns in the human condition without fixing them tautologically and a priori" (Dervin 2003).

Sense-Making does not preclude attention to nouns, but insists that they be examined outside the typical noun-based framework in which the bounds of the inquiry are drawn by researcher assumptions about and definitions of the objects of interest. Instead, Sense-Making conceives of nouns as being constructed by processes, and therefore as fluid and open to interpretation. For example, a structure is made and maintained by active structuring. Sense-Making says that asking about the process of structuring will produce picture of structure as the user sees it, instead of one that fits what the user thinks the researcher is asking about when he asks about structure.

To achieve this, the Sense-Making interview mandates "minimal intrusions and 'namings of the world' by interviewers. Except for eliciting attention to a set of critical situations, the Sense-Making interview is constrained to queries based on the Sense-Making metaphor with its emphasis on time, space, movement, gap, power, history, constraint, outcomes, repetition, and change," that is, open ended questions focused on allowing the respondent to communicate her process (Dervin 2003).

An example of a verbing approach is that used by Ross (1999). She uncovered information behavior and uses encountered in pleasure reading by first asking not about information, but about the processes of reading and choosing books to read, including how these actions brought value into the lives of respondents. A rich description of many types of information and information behavior emerged from user descriptions of their processes and activities involved in pleasure reading. A noun approach, such as initially asking what information people get from reading for pleasure, would have resulted in very different findings. The techniques of verbing-focused interviewing are examined in more detail below.

APPLIED TO PIM

PIM appears to be attuned to both nouns (email, bookmarks, files, and folders) and verbs (finding, reminding, filing, piling, keeping, organizing, managing, and re-finding). Unfortunately, research into the verbs is most often conducted in terms of nouns. For example, a study designed to investigate organizing information in the office which analyzes snapshots of the number of files and piles in the physical space, the directories or documents on the desktop, the messages in their email inbox, and the number of bookmarks is actually focused on the nouns (the information objects and existing structures) instead of the verb (organizing--the process of creating those structures and working with information objects within them). Such an approach defines a priori what organizing the researcher is interested in.

In contrast, a verbing approach might involve asking the office worker to think of the last time they were engaged in organizing at work, and what actions they took. A Sense-Making interview might ask them to describe their actions step by step. This sort of approach is more likely to allow new knowledge about PIM practices the researcher may have never thought of to emerge.

Attention to power

Fidel et al. (2004) criticized Sense-Making as being one-dimensional, interested only in the internal individual processes of cognition, which cannot be fruitfully examined out of social context. However, Dervin has increasingly discussed assumptions of and attention to the power, constraint, culture, and community in Sense-Making as it has evolved over time (Dervin and Frenette 2001; Dervin 2003). While each individual is ultimately the active constructer of her own sense, she is never truly solitary or free in this action. We are embedded in a social context, which shapes us. It provides some opportunities while taking others away. In the world we encounter "energy and forces that impel, assist, and facilitate movement, as well as constrain, hinder, and limit" our Sense-Making (Savolainen 2006).

Issues of power and constraint involve forces and players outside the individual's process of cognition, but from the individual's perspective, and Sense-Making is interested in how the individual understands this context. Dervin (1992) writes that "because we have sought only across time-space understandings, we have missed so much of the whole range of human existence that involves struggling with, breaking with, coming to terms with, and changing whatever structure the human finds himself in." This range of existence recalls Certeau's image of the everyday creative tactical movements of the ordinary person within through a strategic landscape constructed by larger social and economic forces (de Certeau 1984). Uncovering these processes requires a verbing approach when defining "social context," which is constantly being made and interpreted by the actions of all involved.

Dervin (1991) writes that "whether a given user is constrained or free in a given situation is accounted for by some combination of how the user constructs that situation and the forces that other entities exert on that situation and the interaction between the two." This is supported by Nilan's (1985) findings that Perceived Relative Status (measuring whether an individual felt higher or lower status than others in the situation) and Perceived Openness of Communication (measuring whether the individual felt that it was possible, safe, and acceptable to communicate in a situation) contribute to predicting information behavior above and beyond the Sense-Making Situation Movement State variables. Sense-Making mandates paying attention to the various manifestations of power in the individual's process, allowing for consideration of the social and its influence, without allowing external forces to obscure the individual's agency.

APPLIED TO PIM

A Sense-Making approach to PIM would require attention to issues of power, constraint, culture, and community in the processes of PIM. An employee required by his employer to use an email client he wouldn't otherwise choose for himself is an example of the influence of power in PIM practice. An overwhelmed email user who spends lots of time filing email, but doesn't know how to set up rule-based filtering in her email client, or that such a thing is possible, is an example of PIM practice constrained by lack of technical knowledge. There are many kinds of constraints including the lack of time, money, or other resources. A person who decides to organize his photos using Flickr because it seems cool and his friends are sharing photos there is an example of a PIM practice influenced by culture and community. What if he cannot afford the \$25 for a year-long "Pro" subscription? He will be limited to an account that will only display the 200 most recent photos. How will this limitation influence his use of Flickr?

A Sense-Making approach to PIM would also requires attention to the affordances and constraints introduced by the formats of information objects and the capabilities of systems to manipulate them. If a participant's process for managing digital photos is to download each batch into the default folder on her desktop, is this because this process works well for her? Or is it because it is tedious and time consuming to structure the photos in some other way, and the disadvantages of the default method do not outweigh the annoyance and time required to do things differently?

Here one might also identify clever tactics used by people to subvert the organization strategies embedded in the system or tool (de Certeau 1984). An example is achieving a desired nonalphabetical ordering of folders by adding numbers or special characters to the beginning of a file name (Jones et al. 2005c). The system strategy (arrangement only by alphabetical order) is still in effect, but the user has creatively implemented a tactic for getting the effect he wants.

Researcher reflexivity

Finally, Sense-Making requires reflexivity on the part of the researcher. Researchers are first and foremost people, which means they use their own experiences, biases, theories, understandings, and hunches to make sense of their world and their work. Sense-Making requires the researcher to acknowledge this and reflect upon how it may affect her research. It also requires that the researcher ensure that studies using the approach are framed in such a way that participant has the opportunity to share his own experiences, biases, theories, understandings, and hunches, and that these will be considered and represented in the analyses and reporting (Dervin 1997). Ford (2004) identifies Sense-Making's ability to uncover hidden and untested biases on the part of the observer as a strength of the approach, for these can be turned into testable research questions. This assumption applies in much the same way regardless of the topic of the research.

The Sense-Making Metaphor

These assumptions and mandates are summarized and visually represented in the graphical Sense-Making metaphor shown below. This shows the individual, continually moving through situations and contexts in time and space, coming upon a gap or discontinuity of some sort. The active verbing processes of making sense enable the individual to bridge the gap, leading to outcomes. The "Sense-Making triangle" of Situations-Gaps-Outcomes, used to direct questioning in the Sense-Making interview, is embedded in the metaphor.

Figure 2



Figure 1: Core Sense-Making Metaphor (Dervin and Frenette 2001)

CRITIQUE

Savolainen (2006) has critiqued the Sense-Making metaphor as both a strength and a weakness of the approach and cautions against confusing the metaphor with the phenomenon at hand. On one hand, metaphors are powerful ways to help humans understand phenomena. However, any metaphor is one view of a phenomenon, highlighting certain aspects while ignoring others. Morris (1994) found that most people "easily understand the notion of information in the Sense-Making approach after it has been explained to them. However, they do not see it this way without having it explained." Davenport, Higgins, and Sommerville (2000) point out that people do not necessarily approach or describe their experience in "narratives of breakdown and discontinuity," as required by Sense-Making, and claim that forcing respondents into the Sense-Making metaphor framework the researcher deprives them of their voices.

Throughout the development of Sense-Making, Dervin has continually stated that the Sense-Making metaphor is just that--an abstract metaphor. Its linear construction is not meant to imply that the reality of communication and sense making is always linear, logical, or purposive, or that individuals naturally conceive of these processes through the lens of this metaphor (Dervin and Frenette 2001). It is meant instead as "a highly abstract methodological tool, a way of looking" in order to focus the efforts of researchers on previously overlooked aspects of phenomena of interest (Dervin 2003). How this is put into practice will be covered below.

APPLIED TO PIM

Looking at PIM practice through the Sense-Making metaphor for any amount of time tends to draw me into an endless recursive loop of different ways the metaphor could apply. In nearly all cases, viewing PIM practice through the metaphor at least slightly shifts the conception of what PIM practice is. I'll briefly describe a few possibilities.

As described above, the most obvious is that each decision or other stopping point in PIM practice is an instance of Sense-Making as represented in the metaphor. The gap opens up in a particular situation stopping movement. Through a sense-making process using various bridging materials such as cognitions, values, and feelings about the situation, one bridges the gap and moves forward. This process may have various outcomes.

Taking a step backward, one can ask how different activities of PIM practice might be framed in this metaphor.

Keeping practices may be seen as opportunities for the present self to provide bridging materials for gaps faced by the imagined future self. Bridging gaps in keeping involves not only imagining a future self, but also imagining likely future gaps and what will be helpful in bridging them. The outcomes of bridging keeping gaps may not be known until an item is wanted in the future.

Organizing practices are also ways for the present self to communicate with and provide bridging materials for and imagined future self facing imagined future gaps. The creation of structures or the placement of information objects within such structures is a way to bridge gaps of disorganization or lack-of-sense in the present. These structures are also representations-of-sense-made that act as bridging materials for in instances of future re-finding.

Re-finding information in a personal information space becomes a process of present self in dialog with past self, using previously constructed representations-of-sense-made to bridge gaps of information need in a situation of knowing one has seen the information before.

Meta-level PIM practices such as management require the present self to move between past, present, and future. The present self must interpret the representations-of-sense-made created by the past self and answer additional gappy questions such as: Does this still make sense? Does my routine of practices work? Does it serve my future self? If not, how can I improve my practices?

GENERAL CRITIQUES OF SENSE-MAKING

Above, I discussed critiques directly related to Sense-Making's assumptions. Next, I discuss a few further judgments of Sense-Making as an overall approach. Hjørland and Albrechtsen (1995) refer to the Sense-Making approach as "the communication paradigm," one of four main research approaches in IS. They review Sense-Making in light of their domain analytic approach, finding that Sense-Making's attention to epistemological questions indicates it could possibly contribute to the domain analytic approach. However, they found the consequences of Sense-Making's epistemological questions unclear and possibly not fruitful. I see a fundamental mismatch between the two approaches. Sense-Making foregrounds the individual experience, assuming useful patterns can be found in all of the variations therein. The domain analytic approach focuses on knowledge domains, rejecting infinite individual subjectivity as a useful grounding for information systems (Hjørland 1997). The two approaches can be viewed as complementary approaches to understanding information phenomena.

The broadness and flexibility of Sense-Making is one of its strengths. Pettigrew, Fidel, and Bruce (2001) named Sense-Making as a model that can be applied to almost all situations of information behavior. Fisher, Durrance and Hinton (2004) mention it as one of the few common approaches to studying information behavior that does not omit information use. Savolainen (2006) also highlights the increasing attention to information use behavior in the development of Sense-Making, but points out that the practical application of the approach to these matters has not yet been discussed in detail by Dervin. The approach is, as it has been since its birth, under development by Dervin and those who use the approach in their own work.

Whether the assumptions of Sense-Making and the results of studies using the approach can be put to practical use is an enduring question. Savolainen (1993) found no clear answers, but an examination of Sense-Making studies uncovers some examples of its practical use. The Sense-Making informed design of information resources, campaigns, and services has been described (Dervin 1989a; Dervin and Frenette 2001). Dervin (1991) imagined ways in which Sense-Making could inform the design of retrieval systems, journalism, software applications, documentation, and more. Since the publication of that paper, some of these ideas have since come into being, at least in part, though they haven't necessarily been explicitly based on Sense-Making. An obvious example is the rise of social tagging. In tagging systems, each user can assign terms describing each information item in terms of what the item means to him, how and in what contexts it may be useful, and affective response. A system populated by such tags can then be navigated in many different ways.

The Sense-Making approach has also been used to elicit user activity models to inform the design of an NSF grant submission system (Nilan and Fletcher 1987), a desktop publishing help system (Nilan et al. 1989), an online public access catalogue (OPAC) (Hert and Nilan 1991), and a geographic information system interface (Ju and Gluck 2005). The approach has also been fruitful in designing and evaluating library and information center services (Dervin 1977; Dervin and Fraser 1985; Dervin and Clark 1987; Morris 1994; Gluck 1995; Gluck 1996; Pettigrew, Durrance, and Vakkari 1999; Downs and Friedman 1999; Pettigrew, Durrance, and Unruh 2002; Durrance and Pettigrew 2002; Durrance and Fisher 2003).

Finally, in a review of the work of Dervin and Douglas Zweizig (to whom Dervin's work owes a large debt), Dalrymple (2001) outlines its contribution to library and information science:

- Greater attention to conceptualizing the problems in library and information science to avoid oversimplifying them.
- Greater familiarity with the armamentarium of methodologies to select them carefully, apply them appropriately, and remain aware of their limitations.
- Greater persistence in fully exploring the fundamental problems in library and information science.
- Dedication to a dispassionate approach to research, recognizing that investigations do not always produced the result deserved, and that fundamental assumptions must also be examined if work is to advance.

USING SENSE-MAKING

I summarized the metatheoretical assumptions of Sense-Making, its central metaphor, and critiques of the approach above. In this section, I turn to how the metatheory has been translated into method and used in research. First, I review the broad research areas to which Sense-Making methods been applied, inside and beyond information seeking in context. Then I summarize the main methods of data collection that have evolved, giving examples of how these have been modified and expanded in various studies. Finally, I summarize some Sense-Making approaches to data analysis.

Areas of application

Sense-Making has been put to practical uses in creating user activity models, and in creating and evaluation library and information center services. It has also been heavily used in the study of information behavior (specifically in information needs, information seeking, and information use). Though it is more difficult to draw direct practical applications from many of the following studies, this is the area with which Sense-Making is most strongly associated in LIS. The following summary is by no means complete, but is intended to give an overview of the extent of the use of Sense-Making in this area.

Some of these studies are general, allowing respondents to speak about information behavior as it may manifest in any part of their lives. Populations studied have included California residents (Atwood and Dervin 1981) and African-American inner city gatekeepers in a community (Agada 1999). Most studies, however, have a narrower focus such as the information behavior in a specific situation, or on a specific topic.

Sense-Making has been used heavily in the study of health information behavior. Nilan, Peek, and Snyder (1988) and Halpern and Nilan (1988) used Sense-Making to explore evaluation criteria for information in both everyday life and health situations. Dervin et al. (1980) examined the information needs of patients communicating with their doctors in a health context. Montgomery and Amos (1991) studied the nutrition information needs of cardiac patients and their spouses. Baker (1998) investigated the information needs and use of women experiencing an attack of multiple sclerosis. Dervin, Harpring, and Foreman-Wernet (1999) researched the information needs of pregnant drug-addicted women, and the barriers to the information needed. Wathen (2006) examined women's information seeking while making decisions about hormone replacement therapy.

Sense-Making has also been used to explore information behavior in a wide range of other specific situations such as: completing job tasks (DeMartini and Whitbeck 1986; Cheuk 1998), using a university information system (Nilan and Pannen 1989), using information systems in colleges and universities (Dervin et al. 2006a; Dervin et al. 2006b), learning word-processing (Newby, Nilan, and Duvall 1991), using a full-text multi-file database (Jacobson 1991), completing Internet training (Hert et al. 1995), seeking weather information (Barry and Schamber 1998), and making career choices in high school (Julien 1999).

Despite its association with information behavior research, the use of Sense-Making is not limited to this topic. Shields' 1994 dissertation work used a Sense-Making approach to explore responses of male and female respondents to gender depictions in magazine advertisements. Dervin and Shields (1999) examined people's experiences of telephone-related privacy violations. Ross (1999) did not describe her study of pleasure reading as a Sense-Making study, but the research question and design were heavily informed by the Sense-Making approach. Trepagnier (2002) assessed the effectiveness of learning and using cognitive mapping in the classroom using a Sense-Making approach. Hepworth (2004) used Sense-Making to test a framework developed to collect and understand the information needs of a community. Finally, Foreman-Wernet and Dervin (2005) investigated and compared the arts and popular culture in students' experiences.

Methods

DATA GATHERING

The primary and core method for data gathering in Sense-Making is the Micro-Moment Time-Line Interview. This technique has been developed over time and is described at varying levels of detail, with examples, in various publications (Dervin 1983b; Dervin 1992; Dervin 1999). In addition, extensive examples of Sense-Making interview instruments and transcripts are available online (Dervin 2005b).

The basic process of the Micro-Moment Time-Line Interview "involves asking a respondent to detail what happened in a situation step-by-step in terms of what happened first, second, and so on. Then, for each step (called a Time-Line step), the respondent is asked what questions he or she had, what things he/she needed to find out, learn, come to understand, unconfuse, or make sense of" (Dervin 1983b). Then, for each of these questions or gaps, the respondent is asked questions designed to elicit his experience and understanding of the three points of the Sense-Making Triangle: Situation-Gaps- Outcomes. These questions vary with the purposes of the study at hand. A full Micro-Moment Time-Line Interview takes, on average, two hours to complete.

Dervin (1999) writes that "since Sense-Making provides only a theory of the interview and not a script, actual implementation may take myriad forms, depending on the purpose of the study." There are several variant techniques based on the full Micro-Moment Time-Line Interview. The Abbreviated Time-Line Interview goes into detail on only one time-line step (Dervin 1992). Abbreviated Time-Line Interviews have further been modified by focusing on a subset of initially elicited Time-Line steps chosen by respondents based on various criteria (e.g. most important, most recent, most problematic, best remembered). Another shortened form of the interview may focus on a particular type of situation, or on particular aspects of gaps or gap-bridging (Dervin 1989a).

Though most Sense-Making interviews begin by asking about a certain type of situation, interviews may also open by asking respondents to focus on a certain type of gap, or a certain type outcome. Follow-up questions then complete Sense-Making triangulation. Some forms of Sense-Making interviewing gather additional information. In a Helps Chaining Interview, answers about Outcomes are investigated in depth using subsequent queries about how each outcome further helped or hurt.

The Message Q/uing variation asks the respondent to make sense of and respond to a particular message. As the respondent steps through the process of making sense of the message, each stopping point and question asked is noted. These questions and stops are later triangulated using the Sense-Making Triangle questions. A variation of this that has been used in LIS is to ask a respondent to complete a task such as using a desktop publishing tool (Nilan 1992) or OPAC (Hert and Nilan 1991). Each stopping point is noted aloud by the respondent in the process of completing the task. These stops and questions are then triangulated. One further variation of this type captured logs of respondents' database searching. These detailed logs were later used as time-lines in Sense-Making informed interviews (Downs and Friedman 1999).

In areas where the typical situation types or states, gap types, or outcomes have been previously established, close-ended Sense-Making questionnaires can be developed to facilitate larger scale data collection, quantitative analysis, and hypothesis testing (Dervin 1983b). For example, Atwood and Dervin (1981) collected data using a blend of open-ended interviewing and closed-ended interviewing in which respondents chose information sources they had used from a list. In asking about respondents' last visit to a library, Dervin and Fraser (1985) asked some open-ended questions, but users were asked to choose from a list of 16 ways the visit helped them.

These are the main variations on the method, but many other variations have been used. Some of the more unusual variations are briefly described below. Nilan and Pannen (1989) turned the Time-Line into a truncated storyboard of four panels. The first and last panels were the first and last things that happened, and the respondent was free to choose two other steps to populate the remaining panels. Questions were elicited for each panel, and then each question was triangulated. Bergeron and Nilan (1991) elicited particular steps from respondents who had recently learned word processing. The steps were: When you first realized you would be learning to use word-processing software, during the training, the first time you used word-processing software. Each of these steps was examined as per the usual Time-Line Interview.

Sense-Making informed data gathering is not limited to face-to-face interviews. Some of Dervin's own studies have utilized telephone interviews (Shields and Dervin 1993; Dervin and Shields 1999; Dervin et al. 2006b). Other studies have used written questionnaires which ask respondents to write answers to Sense-Making questions (Nilan 1985; Montgomery and Amos 1991; Hert et al. 1995; Gluck 1995; Gluck 1996; Julien 1999). Using a combination of respondent diaries and a series of interviews, Julien and Michels (2000; 2004) gathered data on sources and their selection and use in everyday life. The researcher-provided personal diary sheets consisted of Sense-Making informed questions, which served to get the respondents thinking about their information behavior in between interviews.

Regardless of the form it takes, the Sense-Making interview is focused on verbings or processes, mandating "minimal intrusions and 'namings of the world' by interviewers. Except for eliciting attention to a set of critical situations, the Sense-Making interview is constrained to queries based on the Sense-Making metaphor with its emphasis on time, space, movement, gap, power, history, constraint, outcomes, repetition, and change. No other noun-based questions are asked" (Dervin 2003). In this way the researcher is prevented from narrowing the scope of the research to particular objects he has pre-defined as salient. The subject is asked about a specific process or situation and may speak, unconstrained by perceived researcher expectations, about whatever actions, objects, and thoughts are important to her.

CRITIQUE OF DATA COLLECTION METHODS

The Micro-Moment Time-Line Interview and its derivatives have been widely used because they are neutral, flexible instruments that gather rich, detailed data from the user's perspective (Nilan, Peek, and Snyder 1988; Jacobson 1991; Shields 1994; Bystrom and Jarvelin 1995; Barry and Schamber 1998; Hepworth 2004). However, all methods of data collection have some weaknesses. A main disadvantage of the time-line interview is its labor and time intensiveness for both researchers and participants. The process of conducting a full Micro-Moment Time-Line interview can be very long, leading to interviewer and respondent fatigue which can affect the quality of responses. The format of the interview may become redundant to the respondent, leading to frustration and lower response quality (Sonnenwald and Lievrouw 1991). Dervin (1983b), however, claims that Sense-Making interviewing in general is characterized by high respondent and interviewer interest and involvement.

Designing the structured interview schedule is complex and difficult, as care must be taken in developing the wording of the items to maintain a process orientation and avoid introducing biases that may be difficult for the researcher to identify (Schamber 2000). In some cases, the open-endedness of the interview questions may trigger the respondents to continually wander off topic. Baker (1998) reported some difficulties in using the technique because her respondents tended to talk about their attacks of multiple sclerosis in a non-linear way and to compare over time. Finally, proper administration of the interview, including probing and chaining, requires indepth training of multiple interviewers if a large number of respondents are to be included (Schamber 2000).

Schamber (2000) assumed "that users' self-reports are valid indicators of their perceptions about their situations." This assumption is at odds with some critiques. Jacobson (1991) points out general concerns about the validity of the time-line interview, given its reliance on self-reported verbal recollections. Self reporting is fairly ineffective for explaining the cognitive processes that actually occur in the brain. Often these are not even known to the person (Nisbett and Wilson 1977; Bargh and Chartrand 1999). However, Sense-Making does not purport to uncover some objectively defined "actual" cognition at a level of interest to cognitive scientists; its goal instead is to uncover how individuals consciously interpret and interact with their world--how they consciously make sense of it and communicate about it. As a communicative, dialogic approach it allows respondents to verbalize their conscious understandings of themselves and their world.

Barry (1997a) cautions that "Relying on oral reports of participants views, without attempting to marry them to actions can lead to inaccurate explanations." Similarly, Bystrom and Jarvelin (1995) state that questionnaires and interviews "in general, have problems of reliability and completeness when data collection occurs long after the activities being described." Sense-Making researchers claim that the visual cues of the index cards used to represent steps, and the overall focus on moving step-wise through time facilitate respondent recall in a great deal of detail (Nilan, Peek, and Snyder 1988; Barry and Schamber 1998; Schamber 2000). The Time-Line interview will only elicit data on memorable or significant situations, so if smaller or more day-to-day tasks are of interest, other methods should be used (Hepworth 2004). Sense-Making assumes that the experiences and memories of respondents are "real" to them, so external judgments of accuracy are inappropriate. Every data collection technique comes with strengths, weaknesses, and assumptions. For this reason, triangulation of methods is important.

DATA ANALYSIS

The typical analysis method in Sense-Making studies is content analysis. Sometimes this is quantitative content analysis used for hypothesis testing, but more often it is qualitative and exploratory. Over the development of Sense-Making, some sets of content analysis categories have been developed to describe people's processes of making sense while moving through time and space. These sets of categories follow the Sense-Making Triangle and have been used as variables in quantitative Sense-Making studies. They are designed to be general and content-free insofar as they can be applied in studies of different populations and phenomena.

The first set describes the way respondents see the situations they are in. The core variable used in Sense-Making has been Situation Movement State--the way respondents describe their movement through a situation. Examples include "Wash-out" and "Decision." There are 11 Situation Movement States (Dervin 1984), but this scheme has been simplified for analysis in some studies. Respondents are most often asked to choose the Situation Movement State that best describes their situation, but in some studies researchers have coded respondents' situation descriptions into the categories. A number of other situational variables have been used when appropriate to a particular study (Dervin 1983b).

A second set of categories schemes focuses on gaps. These describe the different types of questions people have in their situations. Various category schemes have been used to describe gaps, but the core set of gap categories used in Sense-Making research describes the focus of the user's question. The categories are:

- 5W question (who, what, when, where, why)
- Question regarding time (past, present, or future)
- Question about valence (goodness, badness, neutrality)
- Question involving an entity (self, other, processes, objects, etc).

Finally, Sense-Making proposes a taxonomy of outcomes, defined as including both helps and hurts. (Dervin and Fraser 1985) present a list of 16 outcomes. These include "kept going when it seemed hard," "got ideas and understandings," and "got out of or avoided a bad situation." This list includes no hurts; at the time outcomes were conceptualized as uses, which had a narrower scope.

One weakness of all of these category schemes is that they have primarily been developed through information seeking studies. Savolainen (1993) expresses concern that the category schemes of gap types and outcomes may not in fact be as global as Sense-Making claims. Different activities may have different types of situations, gaps, and outcomes.

Sense-Making does not mandate the use these specific categories, but requires analytic attention at the levels of situations, gaps, and outcomes. When specialized category schemes are developed, more detailed description of a specific topic or population is gained, but the ability to compare these findings with other Sense-Making studies is lost. A number of studies have developed different typologies of situations, gaps, and outcomes more appropriate to each study. Some of these are presented in the tables below.
Citation	Domain	Situation Categories		
Jacobson, 1991	Using multi-file database system	Decipher; used help; made progress; read screen; tried; tried again; emotion		
Hert et al., 1995	Internet training	Working toward goal; getting frustrated; lack of personal understanding; making mistakes; evaluating results of search; getting confused; attempting something on system; message interpretation; computer malfunction; lack of information on screen; system inconsistency; having instructions/lecture; lack of instructions/lecture		
Cheuk, 1998	Job tasks of engineers	Task initiating; focus formulating; ideas assuming; ideas confirming; idea rejecting; ideas finishing; and passing on finished ideas; moving between other situations		

Table 7: Category schemes of domain-specific situations

Citation	Domain	Gap/Need Categories		
Bergeron & Nilan, 1991	Learning word processing	Access to equipment; file management; format; initial concerns; hardware concerns; instructional learning issues; navigation within documents; personal concerns; printing; other; and missing data		
Jacobson, 1991	Using multi-file database system	Library or file choice; navigation; search string; display; system behavior		
Hert et al., 1995	Internet training	Problem, questions, or uncertainties with: locating information; understanding applications; application malfunction; not able to use resource; not understanding where things go wrong; determining if application or information is useful; utility of class/internet/exercises; system responses; other		
Baker, 1998	Multiple sclerosis	Physical symptoms precipitating an attack; emotional reactions to the disease; lack of information about drugs and treatment		
Savolainen & Kari, 2006	Web searching	No relevant material; confusion; inaccessible content; overload; no access; crossroads; no links; wrong way; badly organized material; no search terms; technical problems		

Table 8: Category schemes of domain-specific gaps or needs

Citation	Domain	Use Categories
Hert et al., 1995	Internet training	Had insights about: effective use of resource; utility of resource; relationships among resources; the application; a way to improve resource; using the internet; other
Cheuk, 1998	Engineers	use or choice of information source; judgment of information relevance; choice of information organization strategy; choice of information presentation strategy; changing feelings; changing perceptions

Table	9:	Category	schemes	of	domain-s	pecific	outcomes

CONCLUSION

Sense-Making can be used wholesale as a set of methods and analysis methods. I have endeavored to demonstrate the ways a Sense-making approach could contribute to the study of PIM. Successful use of the Methodology in PIM would also be a great contribution to the development of the Methodology, demonstrating its usefulness in a new area of inquiry. If a Sense-Making approach were fruitful for PIM, it could be extended into other questions in the organization of information that could benefit from a more user-centered perspective. Because of the way my plans for the proposed study have developed since I began this literature review, I do not believe a full Sense-Making approach is a good match for my questions. However, my questions and thoughts on method have been heavily influenced by my exploration of Sense-Making.

My goal in this review⁴² was to express my view of how the questions I am asking in the proposed study fit into the current LIS landscape and may bridge (or at least drive some piles into or do some surveying of) existing gaps in knowledge in that landscape. I hoped to describe many of the ways in which I see these topics connecting to each other and my questions, while avoiding the creation a confusing mess. I hope I have succeeded.

⁴² Aside from just getting done with comps, already. ©

I committed to the topics covered in this review fairly early in my conceptualization of what I wanted to do in my dissertation work. Were I to design the review from scratch again now, I would of course change my approach in some ways. I would look less at issues of cognitive conceptual structure and category representation, spending more time on human memory and embodied cognition. I would cover in more depth the topic of digital preservation for personal collections and the role of such collections in institutions. I might take a broader look at methods that could be appropriate for my questions. Perhaps these realizations are part of the point of this exercise--it was invaluable in helping me define, shape, and situate my questions, and some change in focus is to be expected. I take heart in a lesson learned in this process that I expect to hold true for the work done here: no work is ever wasted, and knowledge gained will almost always be useful later--if you can find where you saved your notes on it.⁴³

⁴³ Everything comes back to PIM in the end!

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Abrahamson, Eric. 2002. Disorganization Theory and Disorganizational Behavior: Towards an Etiology of Messes. *Research in Organizational Behavior* 24: 139-80.
- Abrahamson, Eric, and David H. Freedman. 2006. A perfect mess : the hidden benefits of disorder : how crammed closets, cluttered offices, and on-the-fly planning make the world a better place. Boston: Little, Brown.
- Abrams, David. 1997. "Human factors of personal web information spaces." Unpublished Master's thesis, Department of Computer Science, University of Toronto, Toronto.
- Abrams, David and Baecker, Ron. 1997. How people use WWW bookmarks. ACM SIGCHI 1997, held 1997. Available at http://www.dabrams.com/research/bookmarks/chi97/chi97paper.doc
- Abrams, David, Baecker, Ron, and Chignell, Mark. 1998. Information archiving with bookmarks: Personal web space construction and organization. In *Proceedings of CHI'98 Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, held 18 Apr 1998-23 Apr 1998, in Los Angeles, 41-48. New York, NY: ACM Press.
- Adler, Margot. 1997. Drawing Down the Moon: Witches, Druids, Goddess-Worshippers, and Other Pagans in America Today. Rev. and expanded ed. ed. New York: Penguin.
- Agada, John. 1999. Inner-City Gatekeepers: an Exploratory Survey of Their Information Use Environment. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science* 50 (1): 74-85.
- Agosto, Denise E. and Sandra Hughes-Hassell. 2006. Toward a Model of the Everyday Life Information Needs of Urban Teenagers, Part 1: Theoretical Model. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* 57 (10): 1394-403.
- Ahn, Woo-Kyoung, Nancy S. Kim, Mary E. Lassaline , and Martin J. Dennis. 2000. Causal status as a determinant of feature centrality. *Cognitive Psychology* 41 (4): 361-416.
- Aibel, Robert Steven. 1984. "Art as social communication: the Ridge County amateur art world." PhD dissertation, University of Pennsylvania.
- Albrechtsen, Hanne and Elin K. Jacob. 1998. The dynamics of classification systems as boundary objects for cooperation in the electronic library. *Library Trends* 47 (2): 293-312.
- Alexander, Nataliya. 2005. "Personal photo annotation." Unpublished Master's thesis, University of East Anglia -Norwich, Norwich.
- Andersen, Hans H. K. 1994. Classification schemes: Supporting articulation work in technical documentation. In Knowledge organization and quality management: Proceedings of the Third International ISKO Conference, held June 20-24, in Copenhagen, Denmark, edited by Hanne Albrechtsen and Susanne Ornager, 286-293. Advances in knowledge organization, no. 4. Frankfurt, Germany: Indeks.
- Andrew, Paige G, and Mary Lynette Larsgaard, Editors. 1999. Maps and Related Cartographic Materials: Cataloging, Classification, and Bibliographic Control. Also Published As Vol. 27, Nos. 1/2 and 3/4 of Cataloging & Classification Quarterly. Binghamton, N.Y: Haworth Information Press.
- Armitage, Linda H. and Peter G. B. Enser. 1997. Analysis of user need in image archives. *Journal of Information Science* 23 (4): 287-99.
- Armstrong, Sharon Lee, Lila R. Gleitman, and Henry Gleitman. 1983. What some concepts might not be. *Cognition* 13: 263-308. Available at KLIB
- Ashby, F. Gregory and W. Todd Maddox. 2005. Human category learning. Annual Review of Psychology 56: 149-78.
- Ashby, F. Gregory and J. B. O'Brien. 2005. Category learning and multiple memory systems. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences* 9 (2): 83-89.
- Atwood, Rita, and Brenda Dervin. 1981. "Challenges to sociocultural predictors of information seeking: A test of race versus situation movement state." In M. Burgoon, ed. *Communication Yearbook*. Vol. 5. New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Books, 549-69.
- Atzenbeck, Claus and Nürnberg, Peter J. 2005. Looking Beyond Computer Applications: Investigating Rich Structures. In *Proceedings of the Metainformatics Symposium 2004*, held 15 Sep 2004-18 Sep 2004, in Salzburg, Austria, edited by Uffe K. Wiil, 51-65. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, 3511. Berlin: Springer.
- Aula, Anne, Jhaveri, Natalie, and Käki, Mika. 2005. Information search and re-access strategies of experienced web users. In *Proceedings of the 14th international conference on World Wide Web*, held 10 May 2005-14 May 2005, in Chiba, Japan, 583-592. New York: ACM Press.

Bakardjieva, Maria. 2005 . Internet Society: the Internet in Everyday Life. London: SAGE.

- Baker, Lynda M. 1998. Sense Making in Multiple Sclerosis: the Information Needs of People During an Acute Exacerbation. *Qualitative Health Research* 8 (1): 106-20.
- Balabanovic, Marko, Chu, Lonny L., and Wolff, Gregory J. 2000. Storytelling with digital photographs. Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human factors in computing systems, held 1 Apr 2000-6 Apr 2000, in The Hague, The Netherlands, 564-571. ACM.
- Baldwin, Cheryl K. and Patricia A. Norris. 1999. Exploring the dimensions of serious leisure: "Love me Love my dog!". *Journal of Leisure Research* 31 (1): 1-17.
- Bargh, John A. and Tanya L. Chartrand. 1999. The unbearable automaticity of being. *American Psychologist* 54: 462-79.
- Barreau, Deborah K. 1995. Context as a factor in personal information management systems. *Journal of the American* Society for Information Science 46 (5): 327-39.
- ———. forthcoming. The persistence of behavior and form in the organization of personal information. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology*.
- Barreau, Deborah K., Greenberg, Jane, Crystal, Abe, and Sharma, Anuj. 2006. Personal Information Management in a Learning Context. SIGIR 2006 Personal Information Management Workshop, held 10 Aug 2006-10 Aug 2006, in Seattle, WA. Available at http://pim.ischool.washington.edu/pim06/files/barreau-paper.pdf
- Barreau, Deborah K. and Bonnie A. Nardi. 1995. Finding and reminding: File organization from the desktop. SIGCHI Bulletin 27 (3): 39-43. Available at http://doi.acm.org/10.1145/221296.221307
- Barry, Carol L. and Linda Schamber. 1998. Users' Criteria for Relevance Evaluation: a Cross-Situational Comparison. Information Processing & Management 34 (2-3): 219-36.
- Barry, Christine A. 1997a. Information skills for an electronic world: Training doctoral research students. *Journal of Information Science* 23 (3): 225-38.
- Barry, Christine A. 1997b. The Research Activity Timeline: a Qualitative Tool for Information Research. *Library & Information Science Research* 19 (2): 153-79.
- Barsalou, Lawrence W. 1983. Ad hoc categories. Memory & Cognition 11 (3): 211-27.
- ———. 1985. Ideals, central tendency, and frequency of instantiation as determinants of graded structure in categories. Journal of Experimental Psychology-Learning Memory and Cognition 11 (4): 629-54.
- ———. 1987. "The instability of graded structure: Implications for the nature of concepts." In Ulric Neisser, Ed. Concepts and conceptual development: ecological and intellectual factors in categorization. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 104-40.
- ———. 1991. Deriving categories to achieve goals. *Psychology of Learning and Motivation-Advances in Research and Theory* 27: 1-64.
- 2008. Grounded Cognition. Annual Review of Psychology 59 (1): 617-45. Available at http://arjournals.annualreviews.org/doi/abs/10.1146/annurev.psych.59.103006.093639
- Barsalou, Lawrence W., W. Kyle Simmons, Aron K. Barbey, and Christine D. Wilson. 2003. Grounding conceptual knowledge in modality-specific systems. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences* 7 (2): 84-91.
- Bartram, Sherry A. 2001. Serious leisure careers among whitewater kayakers: a feminist perspective. *World Leisure Journal* 43 (2): 4-11.
- Batchen, Geoffrey. 2001. Each Wild Idea: Writing, Photography, History. Cambridge, Mass: MIT Press.
- ------. 2004. Forget Me Not Photography & Remembrance. Amsterdam: Van Gogh Museum.
- Bates, Jessica A. 2004a. Use of narrative interviewing in everyday information behavior research. *Library & Information Science Research* 26 (1): 15-28.
- Bates, Marcia J. 2004b. Information Science at the University of California at Berkeley in the 1960s: a Memoir of Student Days. *Library Trends* 52 (4): 683-701.
- Bates, Marcia J. 2006. Fundamental forms of information. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* 57 (8): 1033-45.
- Baxter, Graeme and Douglas Anderson. 1996. Image indexing and retrieval: Some problems and proposed solutions. Internet Research-Electronic Networking Applications and Policy 6 (4): 67-76.
- Beagrie, Neil. 2005. Plenty of Room at the Bottom? Personal Digital Libraries and Collections. *D-Lib Magazine* 11 (6). Available at http://www.dlib.org/dlib/june05/beagrie/06beagrie.html

- —. 2006. Digital curation for science, digital libraries, and individuals. *The International Journal of Digital Curation* 1 (1): 3-16.
- Bearman, David and Jennifer Trant. 2005. Social Terminology Enhancement through Vernacular Engagement: Exploring Collaborative Annotation to Encourage Interaction with Museum Collections. *D-Lib Magazine* 11 (9).
- Beaudoin, Joan. 2007. Flickr image tagging: patterns made visible. *Bulletin of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* 34 (1): 26-29.

Becker, Howard Saul. 1982. Art Worlds. Berkeley: University of California Press.

- Beer, David. 2005. Sooner or later we will melt together: Framing the digital in the everyday [computer file]. *First* Monday (Online) 10 (8): 1.
- Beghtol, Clare L. 1998. Knowledge Domains: Multidisciplinarity and Bibliographic Classification Systems. Knowledge Organization 25 (1-2): 1-12.
- Beghtol, Clare L. 2003. Classification for information retrieval and classification for knowledge discovery: Relationships between "professional" and "naive" classification. *Knowledge Organization* 30 (2): 64-73.
 - ——. 2004. Response to Hjørland and Nicolaisen. *Knowledge Organization* 31 (1): 62-63.
- Bellotti, Victoria and Smith, Ian. 2000. Informing the design of an information management system with iterative fieldwork. In *Proceedings of the conference on Designing interactive systems: processes, practices, methods, and techniques*, held 2000, in New York, NY, 227-237. New York, NY: ACM Press.
- Bentley, Frank, Metcalf, Crysta, and Harboe, Gunnar. 2006. Personal vs. commercial content: the similarities between consumer use of photos and music. *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human Factors in computing* systems, held 2006, in Montreal, Quebec, Canada, 667-676. New York: ACM Press.
- Berger, Peter L. 1963. Invitation to sociology. New York: Anchor Books.
- Berger, Peter L, and Thomas Luckmann. 1989. *The social construction of reality: a treatise in the sociology of knowledge*. New York: Anchor Books.
- Bergeron, Pierrette and Michael S. Nilan. 1991. Users Information Needs in the Process of Learning Word-Processing

 a User-Based Approach Looking at Source Use. Canadian Journal of Information Science-Revue Canadienne
 Des Sciences De L Information 16 (2): 13-27.
- Bergman, Ofer, Ruth Beyth-Marom, and Rafi Nachmias. 2003. The user-subjective approach to personal information management systems. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* 54 (9): 872-78.
- Bergman, Ofer, Boardman, Richard, Gwizdka, Jacek, and Jones, William P. 2004. Personal Information Management. In *CHI 2004*, held 24 Apr 2004-29 Apr 2004, in Vienna, 1598-1599. New York: ACM Press.
- Berlin, Brent. 1992. Ethnobiological Classification: Principles of Categorization of Plants and Animals in Traditional Societies. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Berlin, Brent, and Paul Kay. 1969. *Basic Color Terms: Their Universality and Evolution*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Berlin, Lucy M., Jeffries, Robin, O'Day, Vicki L., Paepcke, Andreas, and Wharton, Cathleen. 1993. Where did you put it? Issues in the design and use of a group memory. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human factors* in computing systems, held 1993, in Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 23-30. New York: ACM Press.
- Bernstein, Michael, Max Van Kleek, David Kargar, and Monica Schraefel. submitted. Information scraps: how and why information eludes our personal information management tools. *Transactions on Information Systems*. Available at http://eprints.ecs.soton.ac.uk/14231/
- Bilal, Dania and Peiling Wang. 2005. Children's conceptual structures of science categories and the design of web directories. Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology 56 (12): 1303-13.
- Blok, Sergey V., George Newman, and Lance J. Rips. 2005. "Individuals and their concepts." In Woo-Kyoung Ahn, Robert L. Goldstone, A. B. Love, Arthur B. Markman, and P. Wolff, Eds. *Categorization inside and outside the lab.* Washington, D.C.: American Psychological Association.
- Boardman, Richard. 2001a. Category overlap between hierarchies in user workspace. In Human-computer interaction: INTERACT '0: IFIP TC. 13th International Conference on Human-Computer Interaction, held 9 Jul 2001a-13 Jul 2001a, in Tokyo. Amsterdam: IOS Press. Available at http://www.iis.ee.ic.ac.uk/~rick/research/pubs/categories-interact2001.pdf
- Boardman, Richard. 2001b . Multiple hierarchies in user workspace. In CHI '01: Extended abstracts on Human factors in computer systems, held 31 Mar 2001b-5 Apr 2001b, in Seattle, conference chaired by Marilyn Mantei Tremaine, 403-404. New York: ACM Press. Available at http://www.iis.ee.ic.ac.uk/~rick/research/pubs/workspace-chi2001.pdf

- Boardman, Richard and Sasse, M. Angela. 2004. "Stuff goes into the computer and doesn't come out" : A cross-tool study of personal information management. In *Proceedings of CHI 2004*, held 24 Apr 2004-29 Apr 2004.
- Boardman, Richard, Sasse, M. Angela, and Spence, Bob. 2002. "Life beyond the mailbox: A cross-tool perspective on personal information management." Available at http://www.iis.ee.ic.ac.uk/~rick/research/pubs/emailcscw2002.pdf. [accessed 21 April 2003].
- Boardman, Richard, Spence, Bob, and Sasse, M. Angela. 2003. Too many hierarchies? The daily struggle for control of the workspace. In *HCII 2003*.
- Bondarenko, Olha and Janssen, Ruud. 2005. Documents at Hand: Learning from Paper to Improve Digital Technologies. In Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on human factors in computing systems, held 2 Apr 2005-7 Apr 2005, in Portland, OR, conference chairs Wendy Kellogg and Shumin Zhai, 121-130. New York: ACM Press.
- Boter, Jaap and Michel Wedel. 2005. User categorization of public library collections. *Library & Information Science Research* 27 (2): 190-202.
- Bourdieu, Pierre. 1990. "The cult of unity and cultivated differences." In Pierre Bourdieu, and Shaun Whiteside. *Photography: A Middle-Brow Art.* Stanford, Calif: Stanford University Press, 13-72.
- Bourdieu, Pierre, and Shaun Whiteside. 1990. *Photography: A Middle-Brow Art*. Stanford, Calif: Stanford University Press.
- Bovey, J. D. 1996. Event-Based Personal Retrieval. Journal of Information Science 22 (5): 357-66.
- Bovone, L. 1989. Theories of Everyday Life a Search for Meaning or a Negation of Meaning. *Current Sociology-Sociologie Contemporaine* 37 (1): 41-59. Available at UNC DAV Z7161 .C8
- Bowker, Geoffrey C. 2005 . Memory Practices in the Sciences. Inside Technology. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Bowker, Geoffrey C. and Star, Susan Leigh. 1991. Situations vs. standards in long-term, wide-scale decision-making: the case of the International Classification of Diseases. In *Proceedings of the 24th Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*, held 8 Jan 1991-11 Jan 1991, in Kauai, HI, vol.4, 73-81. Available at http://ieeexplore.ieee.org.libproxy.lib.unc.edu/iel5/882/4723/00184043.pdf
 - ——. 1999. Sorting things out: Classification and its consequences. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Bruce, Harry. 2005. Personal, Anticipated Information Need. Information Research-an International Electronic Journal 10 (3).
- Brunskill, Jeff and Jorgensen, Corinne L. 2002. Image attributes: a study of scientific diagrams. In Proceedings of the 65th Annual Meeting of the American Society for Information Science, held Nov 2002, in Philadelphia, PA, 365-375.
- Burgess, Jean E. 2007. "Vernacular creativity and new media." PhD dissertation, Creative Industries Faculty, Queensland University of Technology, Brisbane, Australia.
- Burke, Mary A. 2001. The use of repertory grids to develop a user-driven classification of a collection of digitized photographs. In *Asist 2001: Proceedings of the 64th Asist Annual Meeting, Vol 38, 2001,* 76-92.
- Burkett, Leslie Stewart. 1999. "A personal documentation system for scholars: a tool for thinking." PhD dissertation.
- Burnett, Gary, Michele Besant, and Elfreda A. Chatman. 2001. Small Worlds: Normative Behavior in Virtual Communities and Feminist Bookselling. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* 52 (7): 536-47.
- Burton, Hilary D. 1972. "Personal documentation methods and practices with analysis of their relation to formal bibliographic systems and theory." PhD dissertation, University of California at Berkeley, Berkeley, CA.
- ———. 1981. FAMULUS revisited: ten years of personal information systems. Journal of the American Society for Information Science 32 (6): 440-443.
- ——. 1985. The Changing Environment of Personal Information-Systems. Journal of the American Society for Information Science 36 (1): 48-52.
- Bush, Vannevar. 1945. As we may think. The Atlantic Monthly 176 (1): 101-8.

Buzan, Tony. 2006. Mind Mapping. Harlow: BBC Active.

- Byström, Katriina and Kalervo Jarvelin. 1995. Task Complexity Affects Information-Seeking and Use. *Information Processing & Management* 31 (2): 191-213.
- Capra, Robert G. and Manuel A. Perez-Quinones. 2005. Using Web Search Engines to Find and Refind Information. *Computer* 38 (10): 36-+.

- Capurro, R. and Birger Hjørland. 2003. The Concept of Information. *Annual Review of Information Science and Technology* 37: 343-411.
- Carey, Robert F., Lynne E. F. McKechnie, and Pamela J. McKenzie. 2001. Gaining Access to Everyday Life Information Seeking. *Library & Information Science Research* 23 (4): 319-34.
- Carey, Susan. 1985. Conceptual Change in Childhood. MIT Press Series in Learning, Development, and Conceptual Change. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Carlyle, Allyson. 1999. User categorisation of works: Toward improved organisation of online catalogue displays. Journal of Documentation 55 (2): 184-208.
- Case, Donald Owen. 1986. Collection and organization of written information by social scientists and humanists: A review and exploratory study. *Journal of Information Science* 12 (3): 97-104.
- ———. 1991a. The collection and use of information by some American historians: a study of motives and methods. Library Quarterly 61: 61-82.
- ——. 1991b. Conceptual organization and retrieval of text by historians: The role of memory and metaphor. *Journal* of the American Society for Information Science 42 (9): 657-68.
- Case, Donald Owen. 2002. Looking for information : a survey of research on information seeking, needs, and behavior. Library and Information Science: Library and Information Science (New York, N.Y.). San Diego, Calif. : Academic Press.
- Catarci, Tiziana, Luna Dong, Alon Halevy, and Antonella Poggi. 2007. "Structure everything." William P. Jones, and Jaime Teevan, Eds. *Personal Information Management*. Seattle, WA: University of Washington Press, 108-26.
- CBS Interactive. 2008. "Last.fm." Available at http://www.last.fm/. [accessed 9 March 2008].
- Chalfen, Richard. 1987. Snapshot Versions of Life. Bowling Green, OH: Bowling Green State University Popular Press.
- Chatman, Elfreda A. 1999 . A Theory of Life in the Round. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science* 50 (3): 207-17.
- Chemlal, Soulaimane and Françoise Cordier. 2006. Structures conceptuelles, représentation des objets et des relations entre les objets = Conceptual structures, representation of objects and relations between objects. *Revue Canadienne De Psychologie Experimentale = Canadian Journal of Experimental Psychology* 60 (1): 7-23.
- Chen, Chu Feng, Michael Oakes, and John Tait . 2006. "Browsing personal images using episodic memory (Time plus location)." . Advances in Information Retrieval., 362-72.
- Chen, Hsin Liang. 2001. An analysis of image queries in the field of art history. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* 52 (3): 260-273.
- Chen, Hsin Liang and Edie M. Rasmussen. 1999. Intellectual access to images. Library Trends 48 (2): 291-302.
- Cheuk, Wai-yi Bonnie. 1998. Exploring Information Literacy in the Workplace: a Qualitative Study of Engineers Using the Sense-Making Approach. *International Forum on Information and Documentation* 23 (2): 30-38.
- Chowdhury, Gobinda, Alan Poulter, and David McMenemy. 2006. Public library 2.0: towards a new mission for public libraries as a "network of community knowledge". *Online Information Review* 30 (4): 454-60.
- Chu, He Ting. 2001. Research in image indexing and retrieval as reflected in the literature. *Journal of the American* Society for Information Science and Technology 52 (12): 1011-18.
- Clark, Andy and David Chalmers. 1998. The Extended Mind. Analysis 58 (1): 7-19.
- Classification Research Group. 1955. The need for a faceted classification as the basis of all methods of information retrieval. *Library Association Record* 57 (7): 262-68. Available at UNC SILS lib
- Cockburn, Andy and Bruce McKenzie. 2001. What Do Web Users Do? An Empirical Analysis of Web Use. International Journal of Human-Computer Studies 54 (6): 903-22.
- Cohen, Henri, and Claire Lefebvre, eds. 2005. Handbook of categorization in cognitive science. Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Cohen, Kris R. 2005a. What does the photoblog want? Media Culture & Society 27 (6): 883-901.
- Cohen, Kris R. 2005b. Some generalisations, part 1. Photos Leave Home . Available at http://photosleavehome.blogspot.com/2005/06/some-generalisations-part-1.html
- Cole, Charles, and John E. Leide. 2006. "A Cognitive Framework for Human Information Behavior: The Place of Metaphor in Human Information Organizing Behavior." Amanda H. Spink, and Charles Cole, eds. New directions in human information behaviour. Dordrect: Springer, 171-202.

- Cole, Irene. 1982. Human aspects of office filing: Implications for the electronic office. In *Proceedings of the Human Factors Society 26th annual meeting*, held 25 Oct 1982-29 Oct 1982, in Seattle, Washington, edited by Richard E. Edwards, 59-63. Santa Monica: Human Factors Society.
- Cooke, Nancy J. 1994. Varieties of knowledge elicitation techniques. *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies* 41: 801-49.
- Cool, Colleen and Belkin, Nicholas J. 2002. A classification of interactions with information. In *Emerging frameworks and methods: Proceedings of the Fourth International Conference on Conceptions of Library and Information Science (COLIS4)*, held 21 Jul 2002-25 Jul 2002, in Seattle at the University of Washington, edited by Harry Bruce et al., 1-15. Greenwood Village, CO: Libraries Unlimited. Available at http://www.scils.rutgers.edu/~belkin/612-05/cool-belkin-colis-02.pdf
- Cooper, Linda Z. 2002. Methodology for a project examining cognitive categories for library information in young children. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* 53 (14): 1223-31.
- ———. 2004. The socialization of information behavior: A case study of cognitive categories for library information. *Library Quarterly* 74 (3): 299-336.
- Cox, Andrew M., Paul D. Clough, and Jennifer Marlow. 2008. Flickr: a first look at user behaviour in the context of photography as serious leisure. *Information Research* 13 (1). Available at http://informationr.net/ir/13-1/paper336.html
- Crabtree, Andy, and Terry Hemmings. 2001a. "The historical shaping of the home." . ACCORD Deliverable 1.1, EU Disappearing Computer Initiative. IST-2000-26364. Available at http://www.sics.se/accord/plan/del/D11.pdf.
 - ——. 2001b. "The Sociality of Domestic Environments: Shaping the home: Architecture, technology, and social interaction." . ACCORD Deliverable 1.2, EU Disappearing Computer Initiative. IST-2000-26364. Available at http://www.sics.se/accord/plan/del/D12.pdf.
- Crabtree, Andy and Tom Rodden. 2004. Domestic routines and design for the home. *Computer Supported Cooperative Work* 13 (2): 191-220.
- Crabtree, Andy, Rodden, Tom, and Mariani, John. 2004. Collaborating around collections: informing the continued development of photoware. In *Proceedings of the 2004 ACM conference on Computer supported cooperative work*, held 2004, in Chicago, IL, 396-405. New York: ACM Press.
- Crook, S. 1998. Minotaurs and Other Monsters: 'everyday Life' in Recent Social Theory. *Sociology-the Journal of the British Sociological Association* 32 (3): 523-40.
- Crouch, David. 1993. Commitment, enthusiasms and creativity in the world of allotment holding. *World Leisure & Recreation* 35 (1): 19-22.
- Csikszentmihalyi, Mihaly and Judith LeFevre. 1989. Optimal experience in work and leisure. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology 56 (5): 815-22.
- Cunningham, Sally Jo and Masoodian, Masood. 2007. Identifying personal photo digital library features. *Proceedings* of the 2007 conference on Digital libraries, held Jun 2007, in Vancouver, BC, Canada, 400-401. ACM.
- Cutrell, Edward, Susan T. Dumais, and Jaime Teevan. 2006. Searching to eliminate personal information management. *Communications of the ACM* 49 (1): 58-64.
- Dahlberg, Ingetraut. 1976. Classification theory: yesterday and today. International Classification 3 (2): 85-90.
- Dahlberg, Ingetraut. 1994. Domain interaction: Theory and practice. In *Advances in knowledge organization*, held 1994, 60-71.
- Dalrymple, Prudence W. 2001. A quarter century of user-centered study: The impact of Zweizig and Dervin on LIS research. *Library and Information Science Research* 23 (2): 155-65.
- Davenport, Elisabeth. 2002. Mundane Knowledge Management and Microlevel Organizational Learning: an Ethological Approach. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* 53 (12): 1038-46.
- Davenport, Elisabeth and Martin Higgins. 1995. Household Information-Systems an Integrated View. Proceedings of the ASIS Annual Meeting 32: 163-66. Available at UNC SILS Z1008 .A4616
- Davenport, Elisabeth, Martin Higgins, and Ian Sommerville. 2000. Narratives of New Media in Scottish Households: the Evolution of a Framework of Inquiry. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science* 51 (10): 900-912.
- Davies, Julia. 2006. Affinities and beyond! Developing ways of seeing in online spaces. E-Learning 3 (2): 217-34.
- de Certeau, Michel. 1984 . *The practice of everyday life.* translator Steven Rendall. Berkeley: University of California Press.

- de Certeau, Michel, Luce Giard, and Pierre Mayol. 1998. *The practice of everyday life: Volume 2: Living and cooking.* New, rev., and augmented ed. ed. Luce Giard. Minneapolis: University of Minneapolis Press.
- de Queiroz, Jean Manuel. 1989. The Sociology of Everyday Life as a Perspective. *Current Sociology-Sociologie Contemporaine* 37 (1): 31-39. Available at UNC DAV Z7161 .C8
- DeMartini, Joseph R. and Les B. Whitbeck. 1986. Knowledge Use as Knowledge Creation Reexamining the Contribution of the Social-Sciences to Decision-Making. *Knowledge-Creation Diffusion Utilization* 7 (4): 383-96. Available at UNC DAV H62 .K626
- Dennis, Brian M. 2006. Foragr: Collaboratively tagged photographs and social information visualization. In WWW2006 Collaborative Web Tagging Workshop, held 22 May 2006, in Edinburgh, Scotland.
- Dervin, Brenda. 1976a. "The everyday information needs of the average citizen: A taxonomy for analysis." In M. Kochen, and J. C. Donohue, eds. *Information for the community*. Chicago: American Library Association, 19-38.
- ———. 1976b. Strategies for dealing with human information needs: information or communication? *Journal of Broadcasting* 20: 324-33.
- ——. 1977. Useful theory for librarianship: Communication, not information. Drexel Library Quarterly 13 (3): 16-32.
- ——. 1980. "Communication gaps and inequities: Moving toward a reconceptualization." In Brenda Dervin, and M. Voight, eds. *Progress in communication sciences: Vol. 2.* Norwood, NJ: Ablex, 73-112.
- ——. 1981. "Mass communicating: Changing conceptions of the audience." In R. E. Rice, and W. J. Paisley, eds. Public communication campaigns. Beverley Hills, CA: Sage, 71-87.
- ———. 1983a. "Information as a user construct: The relevance of perceived information needs to synthesis and interpretation." S. A. Ward, and L. J. Reed, eds. *Knowledge structure and use*. Philadelphia: Temple University Press, 153-83.
- Dervin, Brenda. 1983b. An overview of Sense-Making research: Concepts, methods, and results to date. Paper presented at *The annual meting of the International Communication Association*, held May 1983b, in Dallas, TX.

——. 1984. A theoretic perspective and research approach for generating research helpful to communication practice. *Public Relations Research and Education* 1 (1): 30-45. Available at KLIB

- ——. 1989a. "Audience as listener and learner, teacher and confidante: The Sense-Making Approach." In R. E. Rice, and C. K. Atkin, eds. *Public communication campaigns*. 2nd ed. Newbury Park, CA: Sage, 67-86.
- ———. 1989b. Users as research inventions: How research categories perpetuate inequities. *Journal of Communication* 39 (3): 216-32. Available at KLIB
- ———. 1991. Comparative theory reconceptualized: From entities and states to processes and dynamics. Communication Theory 1 (1): 59-69. Available at KLIB
- ———. 1992. "From the mind's eye of the user: The Sense-Making qualitative-quantitative methodology." In Jack D. Glazier, and R. R. Powell, eds. *Qualitative research in information management*. Englewood, CO: Libraries Unlimited, 61-84.
- ——. 1993. Verbing communication: Mandate for disciplinary invention. *Journal of Communication* 43 (3): 45-54. Available at KLIB
- ———. 1997. "Given a context by any other name: Methodological tools for taming the unruly beast." In Pertti Vakkari, Reijo Savolainen, and Brenda Dervin, eds. *Information seeking in context*. London: Taylor Graham, 13-38.
- ———. 1998. Sense-making theory and practice: An overview of user interests in knowledge seeking and use. *Journal of Knowledge Management* 2 (2): 36-46.
 - —. 1999. "Chaos, order, and Sense-Making: A proposed theory for information design." In R. Jacobson, eds. Information design. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 35-57.
- 2003. "Sense-Making's journey from metatheory to methodology to method: An example using information seeking and use as research focus." In Brenda Dervin, Lois Foreman-Wernet, and Eric Lauterbach, eds. *Sense-Making methodology reader: Selected writings of Brenda Dervin*. Cresskill, NJ: Hampton Press, 133-63.
- 2005a. Libraries reaching out with health information to vulnerable populations: Guidance from research on information seeking and use. *Journal of the Medical Library Association* 94 (4): S74-S80.
- Dervin, Brenda. 2005b. "Sense-Making Methodology Site." Available at http://communication.sbs.ohiostate.edu/sense-making/. [accessed 5 March 2007b].

- —. 2006. "Project overview: Sense-Making Methodology as dialogic approach to communicating for research and practice." In Brenda Dervin, CarrieLynn D. Reinhard, Sarah K. Adamson, Tingting T. Lu, Noelle M. Karnolt, and Teena Berberick, Eds. Sense-making the information confluence: The whys and hows of college and university user satificing of information needs. Phase I: Project overview, the Three-Field Dialogue Project, and state-of-the-art-reviews. Report on National Leadership Grant LG-02-03-0062-03, to Institute of Museum and Library Services, Washington, D.C. School of Communication, The Ohio State University: Columbus, Ohio. Available at http://imlsproject.comm.ohio-state.edu/imls_reports/imls_PH_I_report_list.html.
- Dervin, Brenda, and Kathleen D. Clark. 1987. ASQ: Asking significant questions: Alternative tools for information needs and accountability assessments by librarians. ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 286 519. California State Libraries: Sacramento, CA. Available at UNC DAV Microfiche -.
- Dervin, Brenda, and B. Fraser. 1985. *How libraries help*. ERIC Document Reproduction Service No. ED 264 857. California State Libraries: Sacramento, CA.
- Dervin, Brenda, and Micheline Frenette. 2001. "Sense-Making Methodology: Communicating communicatively with campaign audiences." In R. E. Rice, and C. K. Atkin, eds. *Public communication campaigns*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage, 69-87.
- Dervin, Brenda, S. Harlock, Rita Atwood, and C. Garzona. 1980. "The human side of information: An exploration in a health communication context." In D. Nimmo, ed. *Communication Yearbook*. Vol. 4. New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Books, 591-608.
- Dervin, Brenda, Jayme Elizabeth Harpring, and Lois Foreman-Wernet. 1999. In moments of concern: A sense-making study of pregnant drug-addicted women and their information needs. *Electronic Journal of Communication* 9 (2-4). Available at http://www.cios.org/www/ejcrec2.htm
- Dervin, Brenda, Thomas L. Jacobson, and Michael S. Nilan. 1982. "Measuring aspects of information seeking: A test of a quantitative/qualitative methodology." In M. Burgoon, ed. *Communication Yearbook*. Vol. 6. New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Books, 419-44.
- Dervin, Brenda, and Michael S. Nilan. 1986. "Information needs and uses." In. *Annual Review of Information Science and Technology*. Vol. 21. White Plains, NY: Knowledge Industry Publications, 3-33.
- Dervin, Brenda, Michael S. Nilan, and Thomas L. Jacobson. 1981. "Improving predictions of information use: A comparison of predictor types in a health communication setting." In M. Burgoon, ed. *Communication Yearbook*. Vol. 5. New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Books, 806-30.
- Dervin, Brenda, CarrieLynn D. Reinhard, Sarah K. Adamson, Tingting T. Lu, Noelle M. Karnolt, and Teena Berberick, Eds. 2006a. Sense-making the information confluence: The whys and hows of college and university user satificing of information needs. Phase I: Project overview, the Three-Field Dialogue Project, and state-of-theart-reviews. Report on National Leadership Grant LG-02-03-0062-03, to Institute of Museum and Library Services, Washington, D.C. School of Communication, The Ohio State University: Columbus, Ohio. Available at http://imlsproject.comm.ohio-state.edu/imls_reports/imls_PH_I_report_list.html.
- Dervin, Brenda, CarrieLynn D. Reinhard, Zack Y. Kerr, Mei Song, and Fei C. Shen, Eds. 2006b. Sense-making the information confluence: The whys and hows of college and university user satificing of information needs. Phase II: Sense-making online survey and phone interview study. Report on National Leadership Grant LG-02-03-0062-03, to Institute of Museum and Library Services, Washington, D.C. School of Communication, The Ohio State University: Columbus, Ohio. Available at http://imlsproject.comm.ohiostate.edu/imls_reports/imls_PH_II_report_list.html.
- Dervin, Brenda and Peter Shields. 1999. Adding the missing user to policy discourse: Understanding U.S. user telephone privacy concerns. *Telecommunications Policy* 23 (5): 403-35.
- Dewey, Melville. 2003. *Dewey Decimal Classification and Relative Index*. 22nd ed. Dublin, OH: OCLC Online Computer Library Center.
- Dolence, Travis and Ron Gilmour. 2006. Libraries, information, and amateur scientists. *Technical Services Quarterly* 23 (3): 1-18.
- Donovan, James M. 1991. Patron expectations about collocation: Measuring the difference between the psychologically real and the really real. *Cataloging and Classification Quarterly* 13 (2): 23-43.
- Dow, Elizabeth H. 1987. Personal information systems: the library role. Library Journal 112 (18): 29-32.
- Downs, Robert R. and Edward A. Friedman. 1999. Digital Library Support for Scholarly Research. *Information* Processing & Management 35 (3): 281-91.
- Ducheneaut, Nicolas and Victoria Bellotti. 2001. Email as habitat: an exploration of embedded personal information management. *Interactions* 8 (5): 30-38.

- Ducheneaut, Nicolas and L. A. Watts. 2005. In Search of Coherence: a Review of E-Mail Research. Human-Computer Interaction 20 (1-2): 11-48.
- Dumais, Susan T., Cutrell, Edward, Cadiz, J. J., Jancke, Gavin, Sarin, Raman, and Robbins, Daniel C. 2003. Stuff I've seen: A system for personal information retrieval and re-use. In *Proceedings of the 26th annual international* ACM SIGIR conference on Research and development in information retrieval, held 28 Jul 2003-1 Aug 2003, in Toronto, 72-79. New York, NY: ACM Press.
- Durrance, Joan C. and Karen E. Fisher. 2003. Determining How Libraries and Librarians Help. *Library Trends* 51 (4): 541-70.
- Durrance, Joan C., and Karen E. Pettigrew. 2002. *Online community information: Creating a nexus at your library*. Chicago: American Library Association.
- Eakins, John P. 1998. "Techniques for image retrieval." Library Information Technology Centre, South Bank University: London.
- Edmunds, A. and A. Morris. 2000. The Problem of Information Overload in Business Organisations: a Review of the Literature. *International Journal of Information Management* 20 (1): 17-28.
- Edwards, Steve. 2004. "Vernacular modernism." In Paul Wood, Editor. Varieties of modernism. New Haven: Yale University Press, 241-68.
- Ell, Shawn W. and F. Gregory Ashby. 2006. The effects of category overlap on information-integration and rule-based category learning. *Perception & Psychophysics* 68 (6): 1013-26.
- Ellis, J. and L. Kvavilashvili. 2000. Prospective Memory in 2000: Past, Present, and Future Directions. *Applied Cognitive Psychology* 14: S1-S9.
- Engelbart, Douglas C. 1961. Special Considerations of the Individual as a User, Generator, and Retriever of Information. *American Documentation* 12 (2): 121-25.
- Enser, Peter G. B. 1995. PROGRESS IN DOCUMENTATION PICTORIAL INFORMATION-RETRIEVAL. Journal of Documentation 51 (2): 126-70.
- ———. 2000. Visual image retrieval: seeking the alliance of concept-based and content-based paradigms. *Journal of Information Science* 26 (4): 199-210.
- . 2008. Visual image retrieval. Annual Review of Information Science and Technology 42: 3-42.
- Enser, Peter G. B., and C. McGregor. 1992. "Analysis of visual information retrieval queries." British library research and development report, 6104.
- Enser, Peter G. B. and Sandom, Christine J. 2003. Towards a comprehensive survey of the semantic gap in visual image retrieval. In *Proceedings of Image and Video Retrieval: Second International Conference, CIVR 2003*, held 24 Jul 2003-25 Jul 2003, in Urbana-Champaign, IL, 291-299. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, 2728. Berlin: Springer.
- Enser, Peter G. B., Christine J. Sandom, Jonathon S. Hare, and Paul H. Lewis. 2007. Facing the reality of semantic image retrieval. *Journal of Documentation* 63 (4): 465-81. Available at http://www.emeraldinsight.com/10.1108/00220410710758977
- Eppler, Martin J. and Jeanne Mengis. 2004. The Concept of Information Overload: A Review of Literature from Organization Science, Accounting, Marketing, MIS, and Related Disciplines. *The Information Society* 20 (5): 325-44.
- Erdelez, Sandra. 1997. "Information encountering: a conceptual framework for accidental information discovery." In Pertti Vakkari, Reijo Savolainen, and Brenda Dervin, eds. *Information seeking in context*. London: Taylor Graham, 412-21.
- ———. 2004. Investigation of information encountering in the controlled research environment. Information Processing & Management 40 (6): 1013-25.
- Erickson, Thomas. 2006. From PIM to GIM: personal information management in group contexts. *Communications of the ACM* 49 (1): 74-75.
- Estes, Z. 2003. Domain differences in the structure of artifactual and natural categories. *Memory & Cognition* 31 (2): 199-214.
- Farradane, Jason E. L. 1955. The psychology of classification. Journal of Documentation 11 (4): 187-201.
- Fertig, Scott, Eric Freeman, and David Gelernter. 1996. "Finding and reminding" reconsidered. *SIGCHI Bulletin* 28 (1): 66-69.

- Fidel, Raya, Annelise Mark Pejtersen, Bryan Cleal, and Harry Bruce. 2004. A Multidimensional Approach to the Study of Human-Information Interaction: a Case Study of Collaborative Information Retrieval. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* 55 (11): 939-53.
- Finn, Seth and Donald F. Roberts. 1984. Source, Destination, and Entropy Reassessing the Role of Information-Theory in Communication-Research. *Communication Research* 11 (4): 453-76. Available at UNC DAV P91 .C56
- Fiscella, Joan B. and Nancy Sack. 1994. Independent Office Collections and the Evolving Role of Academic Librarians. Library Resources & Technical Services 38 (3): 267-73.
- Fisher, Karen E., Joan C. Durrance, and Marian Bouch Hinton. 2004. Information Grounds and the Use of Need-Based Services by Immigrants in Queens, New York: a Context-Based, Outcome Evaluation Approach. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* 55 (8): 754-66.
- Ford, Nigel. 2004. Creativity and Convergence in Information Science Research: the Roles of Objectivity and Subjectivity, Constraint, and Control. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* 55 (13): 1169-82.
- Foreman-Wernet, Lois and Brenda Dervin. 2005. Comparing Arts and Popular Culture Experiences: Applying a Common Methodological Framework. *Journal of Arts Management Law and Society* 35 (3): 169-87.
- Foskett, Douglas J. 1980. Systems-theory and its relevance to documentary classification. *International Classification* 7 (1): 2-5.
- Foster, Allen and Nigel Ford. 2003. Serendipity and Information Seeking: an Empirical Study. *Journal of Documentation* 59 (3): 321-40.
- Fourie, Ina. 2004. Librarians and the Claiming of New Roles: How Can We Try to Make a Difference? *Aslib Proceedings* 56 (1): 62-74.
- Frohlich, David and Jacqueline Fennell. 2007. Sound, paper and memorabilia: resources for a simpler digital photography. *Personal and Ubiquitous Computing* 11 (2): 107-16.
- Frohlich, David, Kuchinsky, Allan, Pering, Celine, Don, Abbe, and Ariss, Steven. 2002. Collaborating around collections: Requirements for photoware. In *Proceedings of the 2002 ACM conference on Computer supported cooperative work*, held 16 Nov 2002-20 Nov 2002, in New Orleans, LA, 166-175. New York: ACM Press.
- Garfinkel, Harold. 1967. Studies in ethnomethodology. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Garner, Gretchen. 2007. "Photography and society in the 20th century." In Michael R. Peres. *The Focal encyclopedia of photography: Digital imaging, theory and applications, history, and science*. Amsterdam: Elsevier/Focal Press, 187-98.
- Gaver, William W. 2001. Designing for Ludic Aspects of Everyday Life. ERCIM News (47). Available at http://www.ercim.org/publication/Ercim_News/enw47/gaver.html
- Gelber, Steven M. 1999. Hobbies: Leisure and the Culture of Work in America. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Gelman, Susan A. and Ellen M. Markman. 1986. Categories and induction in young children. Cognition 23 (3): 183-209.
- Genoni, Paul, and Jan Partridge. 2000. "Personal research information management: Information literacy and the research student." in Christine S. Bruce, Philip C. Candy, and Helmut Klaus, editors. *Information literacy around the world: Advances in programs and research*. Wagga Wagga, N.S.W.: Centre for Information Studies, Charles Stuart University, 223-36.
- Given, Lisa M. 2002. The Academic and the Everyday: Investigating the Overlap in Mature Undergraduates' Information-Seeking Behaviors. *Library & Information Science Research* 24 (1): 17-29.
- Glauber, Carole. 2007. Eyes of the earth: Lily White, Sarah Ladd, and the Oregon Camera Club. *Oregon Historical Quarterly* 108 (1): 34-67.
- Gluck, Myke. 1995. Understanding Performance in Information-Systems Blending Relevance and Competence. Journal of the American Society for Information Science 46 (6): 446-60.
- ———. 1996. Exploring the Relationship Between User Satisfaction and Relevance in Information Systems. Information Processing & Management 32 (1): 89-104.
- Godbold, Natalya. 2006. Beyond Information Seeking: Towards a General Model of Information Behaviour. Information Research-an International Electronic Journal 11 (4). Available at http://informationr.net/ir/11-4/paper269.html
- Goffman, Erving. 1959. The presentation of self in everyday life. Harmondsworth: Penguin.

- Goldstone, Robert L. 1994. The Role of Similarity in Categorization: Providing a Groundwork. *Cognition* 52 (2): 125-57.
- Goldstone, Robert L. and Lawrence W. Barsalou. 1998. Reuniting perception and conception. Cognition 65 (2-3): 231-62. Available at http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6T24-3S4P78K-6/2/2a8a18c67fc67370f45b234a3a7202e2
- Goncalves, Daniel J. and Jorge, Joaquim A. 2003. An Empirical Study of Personal Document Spaces. In Interactive Systems: Design, Specification, and Verification, held 2003 , 46-60. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, 2844.
- Goodrum, Abby A. 2000. Image information retrieval: an overview of current research. Informing Science 3 (2): 63-67.
- Google. 2008. "About Google's image search: frequently asked questions." Available at http://images.google.com/help/faq_images.html. [accessed 25 March 2008].
- Gottlieb, Lisa and Juris Dilevko. 2001. User preferences in the classification of electronic bookmarks: Implications for a shared system. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* 52 (7): 517-35.
- 2003. Investigating how individuals conceptually and physically structure file folders for electronic bookmarks: The example of the financial services industry. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* 54 (2): 124-39.
- Gould, James Merle, DeWayne Moore, Francis McGuire, and Robert A. Stebbins. 2008. Development of the serious leisure inventory and measure (SLIM). *Journal of Leisure Research* 40 (1): 47-68.
- Greenberg, Jane. 1993. Intellectual control of visual archives: A comparison between the Art and Architecture Thesaurus and Library of Congress Thesaurus for Graphic Materials. *Cataloging and Classification Quarterly* 16 (1): 85-117.
- Greisdorf, H. and Brian C. O'Connor. 2002. Modelling what users see when they look at images: a cognitive viewpoint. *Journal of Documentation* 58 (1): 6-29.
- Grinter, Rebecca E. 2005. Words about Images: Coordinating Community in Amateur Photography. Computer Supported Cooperative Work 14 (2): 161-88.
- Gruen, Daniel M. 1996. "The role of external resources in the management of multiple activities." PhD dissertation, University of California, San Diego, San Diego.
- Guynn, Melissa J., Mark A. McDaniel, and Gilles O. Einstein. 1998. Prospective Memory: When Reminders Fail. Memory & Cognition 26 (2): 287-98.
- Gwizdka, Jacek. 2000. Timely reminders: a case study of temporal guidance in PIM and email tools usage. In *CHI '00 extended abstracts on Human factors in computing systems*, held 2000, in The Hague, Netherlands, 163-164. New York: ACM Press.
- Gwizdka, Jacek, and Mark Chignell. 2007. "Individual differences." William P. Jones, and Jaime Teevan, Eds. Personal Information Management. Seattle, WA: University of Washington Press, 206-20.
- Hacking, Ian. 2001. Aristotelian categories and cognitive domains. Synthese 126 (3): 473-515.
- Hafner, Katie. 9 October 2007. Film drop-off sites fade against digital cameras. The New York Times, sec. Business.
- Hahn, Ulrike, Todd M. Bailey, and Lucy B. C. Elvin. 2005. Effects of category diversity on learning, memory, and generalization. *Memory & Cognition* 33 (2): 289-302.
- Haley, William. 1976. Amateurism. American Scholar 45 (2): 253-59.
- Halpern, D. and Nilan, Michael S. 1988. A Step Toward Shifting the Research Emphasis in Information-Science From the System to the User - an Empirical-Investigation of Source-Evaluation Behavior Information Seeking and Use. *Proceedings of the Asis Annual Meeting*, held 1988, 169-176. Proceedings of the Asis Annual Meeting.
- Hancock, P. and M. Tyler. 2004. 'mot Your Life': Critical Management Studies and the Management of Everyday Life. *Human Relations* 57 (5): 619-45.
- Harnad, Stevan R., editor. 1987. Categorical Perception: The Groundwork of Cognition. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- ———. 2005. "To cognize is to categorize: cognition is categorization." In Henri Cohen, and Claire Lefebvre, Eds. Handbook of Categorization. Elsevier, 19-43.
- Hartel, Jenna. 2003. The serious leisure frontier in library and information science: Hobby domains. *Knowledge* Organization 30 (3/4): 228-38.
- Hartel, Jenna. 2006. Information activities and resources in an episode of gournet cooking. *Information Research* 12 (1). Available at http://informationr.net/ir/12-1/paper282.html

- Hartel, Jenna. 2007. "Information activities, resources & spaces in the hobby of gourmet cooking." PhD dissertation, University of California, Los Angeles, Los Angeles.
- Harthardottir, G. 1999. Amateur Photography Groups in Reykjavik 1950-70. History of Photography 23 (1): 43-48.

Hartley, James. 2002. Notetaking in non-academic settings: a review. Applied Cognitive Psychology 16 (5): 559-74.

- Heidegger, Martin. 1978. *Being and time*. translators John MacQuarrie, and Edward Robinson. Oxford: Basil Blackwell.
- Heider, Eleanor Rosch. 1971. "Focal" color areas and the development of color names. *Developmental Psychology* 4 (3): 447-55.
 - . 1972. Universals in color naming and memory. Journal of Experimental Psychology 93 (1): 10-20.
- Hektor, Anders. 2001. "What's the use?: Internet and information behavior in everyday life." PhD dissertation, Linkopings Universitet, Linkoping, Sweden.
- Hepworth, Mark. 2004. A Framework for Understanding User Requirements for an Information Service: Defining the Needs of Informal Carers. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* 55 (8): 695-708.
- Herrmann, D., B. Brubaker, C. Yoder, V. Sheets, and A. Tio. 1999. "Devices that remind." In Francis T. Durson, ed. Handbook of Applied Cognition. Chichester ; New York: Wiley, 377-407.
- Hert, Carol A. and Nilan, Michael S. 1991. User-Based Information-Retrieval System Interface Evaluation an Examination of an Online Public-Access Catalog. *Proceedings of the Asis Annual Meeting*, 170-177. Proceedings of the Asis Annual Meeting.
- Hert, Carol A., Rosenbaum, Howard, Skutnik, Samantha C., and Backs, Steven M. 1995. Information Needs and Uses During Internet Training. *Proceedings of the Asis Annual Meeting*, held 1995, 61-68. Proceedings of the Asis Annual Meeting.
- Hertzum, Morten. 2004. Small-scale classification schemes: A Field study of requirements engineering. *Computer* Supported Cooperative Work 13 (1): 35-61.
- Hewagamage, K. P., M. Hirakawa, and T. Ichikawa. 1999. Situation-Dependent Metaphor for Personal Multimedia Information. International Journal of Software Engineering and Knowledge Engineering 9 (6): 725-43.
- Highmore, Ben. 2004. Homework Routine, Social Aesthetics and the Ambiguity of Everyday Life. *Cultural Studies* 18 (2-3): 306-27.
- Hilmer, Kelly M. and Alan R. Dennis. 2000. Stimulating thinking: Cultivating better decisions with groupware through categorization. *Journal of Management Information Systems* 17 (3): 93-114.
- Hindus, Debby. 1999. The importance of homes in technology research. In *Cooperative buildings : integrating information, organizations and architecture : Second International Workshop, CoBuild'99*, held 1 Oct 1999-2 Oct 1999, in Pittsburgh. Berlin: Springer.
- Hintzman, Douglas L. 1986. SCHEMA ABSTRACTION IN A MULTIPLE-TRACE MEMORY MODEL. *Psychological Review* 93 (4): 411-28.
- Hjørland, Birger. 1992. The Concept of Subject in Information-Science. Journal of Documentation 48 (2): 172-200.
- Hjørland, Birger. 1994. Nine principles of knowledge organization. In Advances in knowledge organization, held 1994, 91-100.
- ———. 1996. Rejoinder: a New Horizon for Information Science. Journal of the American Society for Information Science 47 (4): 333-35.
- ———. 1997. Information seeking and subject representation: An activity-theoretical approach to information science . Westport, Conn.: Greenwood Press.
- ———. 1998. The Classification of Psychology: a Case Study in the Classification of a Knowledge Field. *Knowledge Organization* 25 (4): 162-201.
- ———. 2002a. Domain Analysis in Information Science Eleven Approaches Traditional as Well as Innovative. Journal of Documentation 58 (4): 422-62.
- ———. 2002b. Epistemology and the socio-cognitive perspective in information science. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* 53 (4): 257-70.
- 2004. Domain Analysis: A Socio-Cognitive Orientation for Information Science Research. Bulletin of the American Society for Information Science and Technology 30 (3): 17-21.
- Hjørland, Birger and Hanne Albrechtsen. 1995. Toward a New Horizon in Information-Science Domain-Analysis. Journal of the American Society for Information Science 46 (6): 400-425.

. 1999. An Analysis of Some Trends in Classification Research. Knowledge Organization 26 (3): 131-39.

- Hjørland, Birger and Jeppe Nicolaisen. 2004. Scientific and scholarly classifications are not "naïve": a comment to Begthol [sic]. *Knowledge Organization* 31 (1): 55-61.
- Hoffman, Robert R., Nigel R. Shadbolt, A. Mike Burton, and Gary Klein. 1995. Eliciting knowledge from experts a methodological analysis. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes* 62 (2): 129-58.
- Hollink, L., A. T. Schreiber, B. J. Wielinga, and M. Worring. 2004. Classification of user image descriptions. International Journal of Human-Computer Studies 61 (5): 601-26.
- House, Nancy A. Van. 2007. Flickr and public image-sharing: distant closeness and photo exhibition. *CHI '07 extended abstracts on Human factors in computing systems*, held 28 Apr 2007-3 May 2007, in San Jose, CA, 2717-2722. ACM.
- Howarth, Lynne C. 1998. Metadata Structures and User Preferences: Designing User-Focussed Knowledge Access Systems. In Structures and Relations in Knowledge Organization: Proceedings of the Fifth International Conference of the International Society of Knowledge Organization, held 25 Aug 1998-29 Aug 1998, in Universite Charles-de-Gaulle, Lille, France.
- Huggett, Michael, Holger Hoos, and Ron Rensink. 2007. Cognitive Principles for Information Management: the Principles of Mnemonic Associative Knowledge (P-Mak). *Minds and Machines* 17 (4): 445-85.
- InfoTrends. 2006. "North American Professional Photography Market (Press release)." Available at http://www.capv.com/public/Content/INFOSTATS/Articles/2006/01.24.2006.html. [accessed 13 April 2008].
- Iso-Ahola, Seppo E. 1979. Basic dimensions of definitions of leisure. Journal of Leisure Research 11 (1): 28-39. Available at UNC DAV GV1 .J6
- J. Paul Getty Trust. 2000. "Art and Architecture Thesaurus Online." Available at http://www.getty.edu/research/conducting_research/vocabularies/aat/. [accessed 2 March 2008].
- Jacob, Elin K. 1991. Classification and categorization: Drawing the line. In *Proceedings of the 2nd ASIS SIG/CR Classification research workshop*, held 27 Oct 1991, in Washington, D.C., 67-83.
- Jacob, Elin K. 1994. Classification and crossdisciplinary communication: Breaching the boundaries imposed by classificatory structure. In Advances in knowledge organization, 101-108.
- ——. 2001. The everyday world of work: Two approaches to the investigation of classification in context. *Journal of Documentation* 57 (1): 76-99.
- . 2004. Classification and categorization: A difference that makes a difference. Library Trends 52 (3): 515-40.
- Jacob, Elin K. and Deborah Shaw. 1998. Sociocognitive Perspectives on Representation. Annual Review of Information Science and Technology 33: 131-85.
- Jacobs, D. L. 1981. Domestic Snapshots + Amateur Photography Toward a Grammar of Motives. Journal of American Culture 4 (1): 93-105. Available at UNC DAV E169.1 .J7
- Jacobson, Thomas L. 1991 . Sense-Making in a Database Environment. *Information Processing & Management* 27 (6): 647-57.
- Jahoda, Gerald E. 1970. Information storage and retrieval systems for individual researchers. New York: Wiley Interscience.
- Jahoda, Gerald E., R. D. Hutchens, and R. R. Galford. 1966. Characteristics and use of personal indexes maintained by scientists and engineers in one university. *American Documentation* 17: 71-75.
- Jaimes, Alejandro and Chang, Shih-Fu. 2000. A conceptual framework for indexing visual information at multiple levels. In *IS&T/SPIE Internet Imaging I*, held 26 Jan 2000-28 Jan 2000, in San Jose, CA, edited by Giordano B. Beretta and Raimondo Schettini, 2-15. Bellingham, WA: SPIE.
- Johnson, Kathy E. 2001. Impact of varying levels of expertise on decisions of category typicality. *Memory & Cognition* 29 (7): 1036-50.
- Johnson, Kathy E. and Carolyn B. Mervis. 1997. Effects of varying levels of expertise on the basic level of categorization. *Journal of Experimental Psychology-General* 126 (3): 248-77.
- Johnson-Laird, Philip N. 1980. Mental models in cognitive science. Cognitive Science 4: 71-115.
- . 1987. The mental representation of the meaning of words. Cognition 25 (1-2): 189-211.
- Johnson, Marcia K. and Lynn Hasher. 1987. Human learning and memory. Annual Review of Psychology 38: 631-68.
- Jones, Ian. 2006. "Examining the characteristics of serious leisure from a social identity perspective." In Sam Elkington, Ian Jones, and Lesley Lawrence, Editors. *Serious leisure: extensions and applications*. Eastbourne, UK: Leisure Studies Association, 47-60.

Jones, Ian and Graham Symon. 2001. Lifelong learning as serious leisure: policy, practice and potential. *Leisure Studies* 20 (4): 269-83. Available at

http://www.informaworld.com.libproxy.lib.unc.edu/10.1080/02614360110098676

- Jones, P. H., and C. P. Nemeth. Cognitive Artifacts in Complex Work. 152-83ISI:000228798400008. Lecture Notes in Computer Science.
- Jones, Stephen R. and Peter J. Thomas. 1997. Empirical assessment of individuals' 'personal information management systems'. *Behaviour & Information Technology* 16 (3): 158-60.
- Jones, William P. 1986. On the applied use of human memory models: The Memory Extender personal filing system. International Journal of Man-Machine Studies 25 (2): 191-228. Available at UNC M/P
- ———. 2004. Finders, keepers? The present and future perfect in support of personal information management. First Monday 9 (3). Available at http://www.firstmonday.org/issues/issue9_3/jones/index.html
 - —. 2007. "Personal Information Management." Blaise Cronin, ed. Annual Review of Information Science and Technology. Medford, NJ: Information Today, Inc., 453-504.
- ———. 2008a. *Keeping Found Things Found: the Study and Practice of Personal Information Management*. Amsterdam: Morgan Kaufmann Publishers.
- ——. 2008b. *Keeping found things found: the study and practice of personal information management.* Amsterdam ; Boston: Morgan Kaufmann.
- Jones, William P. and John R. Anderson. 1987. Short- and long-term memory retrieval: A comparison of the effects of information load and relatedness. *Journal of Experimental Psychology: General* 116 (2): 137-53.
- Jones, William P., Bruce, Harry, and Dumais, Susan T. 2001. Keeping found things found on the web. In *Proceedings* of the tenth international conference on Information and knowledge management, held 2001, in Atlanta, GA, 119-126. New York: ACM Press.
- Jones, William P., Bruce, Harry, Foxley, Austin, and Munat, Charles F. 2006. Planning Personal Projects and Organizing Personal Information. In 69th annual meeting of the American Society for Information Science and Technology, ASIST 2006, held 3 Nov 2006-8 Nov 2006, in Austin, TX, editor Andrew Grove. Available at http://eprints.rclis.org/archive/00008010/
- Jones, William P., Dumais, Susan T., and Bruce, Harry. 2002. Once found, what then?: A study of "keeping" behaviors in the personal use of web information. In *Proceedings of ASIST 2002*, 391-402. Medford, NJ: Published for the American Society for Information Science by Information Today.
- Jones, William P., Kargar, David, Bergman, Ofer, Franklin, Mike, Pratt, Wanda, and Bates, Marcia J. 2005a. Towards a unification & integration of PIM support. A workshop breakout report from *The PIM Workshop: An NSF-Sponsored Invitational Workshop on Personal Information Management*, held 27 Jan 2005a-29 Jan 2005a, in Seattle, WA. Available at http://pim.ischool.washington.edu/breakouts.htm
- Jones, William P., Munat, Charles F., Bruce, Harry, and Foxley, Austin. 2005b. The Universal Labeler: Plan the Project and Let Your Information Follow. In *Proceedings 68th Annual Meeting of the American Society for Information Science and Technology (ASIST)*, held 2005b, in Charlotte, NC, edited by Andrew Grove.
- Jones, William P., Phuwanartnurak, Ammy Jiranida, Gill, Rajdeep, and Bruce, Harry. 2005c. Don't take my folders away!: organizing personal information to get things done. CHI '05 extended abstracts on Human factors in computing system, held 2005c, in Portland, OR, 1505-1508. New York: ACM Press.
- Jones, William P., and Brian H. Ross. 2007. "Human cognition and personal information management." Chapter 18 in Francis T. Durson, ed. *Handbook of Applied Cognition*. 2nd ed. Chichester, England: Wiley.
- Jones, William P., and Jaime Teevan. 2007. Introduction to William P. Jones, and Jaime Teevan, Eds. *Personal Information Management*. Seattle, WA: University of Washington Press, 3-20.
- Jonides, John, Richard L. Lewis, Derek Evan Nee, Cindy A. Lustig, Marc G. Berman, and Katherine Sledge Moore. 2008. The Mind and Brain of Short-Term Memory. *Annual Review of Psychology* 59: 193-224.

Jorgensen, Corinne L. 1995. "Image attributes: an investigation." PhD dissertation, Syracuse University.

- . 1998. Attributes of images in describing tasks. Information Processing & Management 34 (2-3): 161-74.
- ———. 1999a. Access to pictorial material: A review of current research and future prospects. *Computers and the Humanities* 33 (4): 293-318.
- Jorgensen, Corinne L. 1999b. Retrieving the unretrievable: art, aesthetics, and emotion in image retrieval systems. In IS&T/SPIE Internet Imaging IV, held 25 Jan 1999b-28 Jan 1999b, in San Jose, CA, edited by Bernice Ellen Rogowitz and Thrasyvoulous Pappas, 348-355. Bellingham, WA: SPIE.
 - —. 2003. Image Retrieval: Theory and Research. Lanham, MD: Scarecrow Press.

- Jorgensen, Corinne L., Alejandro Jaimes, Ana B. Benitez, and Shih-Fu Chang. 2001. A conceptual framework and empirical research for classifying visual descriptors. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science* and Technology 52 (11): 938-47.
- Ju, Boryung and Myke Gluck. 2005. User-Process Model Approach to Improve User Interface Usability. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* 56 (10): 1098-112.
- Julien, Heidi E. 1999. Barriers to Adolescents' Information Seeking for Career Decision Making. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science* 50 (1): 38-48.
- Julien, Heidi E. and David H. Michels. 2000. Source Selection Among Information Seekers: Ideals and Realities. Canadian Journal of Information and Library Science-Revue Canadienne Des Sciences De L Information Et De Bibliotheconomie 25 (1): 1-18.
 - ——. 2004. Intra-Individual Information Behaviour in Daily Life. Information Processing & Management 40 (3): 547-62.
- Junestrand, Stefan, Ulf Keijer, and Konrad Tollmar. 2001. Private and public digital domestic spaces. *International Journal of Human-Computer Studies* 54 (4): 753-78.
- Kahneman, Daniel and Dale T. Miller. 1986. Norm theory: comparing reality to its alternatives. *Psychological Review* 93 (2): 136-53.
- Kane, Maurice J. and Robyn Zink. 2004. Package adventure tours: markers in serious leisure careers. *Leisure Studies* 23 (4): 329-45.
- Kaplan, Daile. 2007. "The photo marketplace and contemporary image makers." In Michael R Peres. *The Focal Encyclopedia of Photography: Digital Imaging, Theory and Applications, History, and Science.* Amsterdam: Elsevier/Focal Press, 469-71.
- Kaptelinin, Victor. 2003. UMEA: translating interaction histories into project contexts. In Proceedings of the conference on Human factors in computing systems, held 2003, in Ft. Lauderdale, FL, 353-360. New York: ACM Press.
- Karat, Clare-Marie, Carolyn Brodie, and John Karat. 2006. Usable privacy and security for personal information management. Communications of the ACM 49 (1): 56-57.
- Kargar, David R. 2007. "Unify everything: it's all the same to me." William P. Jones, and Jaime Teevan, Eds. *Personal Information Management*. Seattle, WA: University of Washington Press, 127-52.
- Kari, Jarkko and Jenna Hartel. 2007. Information and higher things in life: addressing the pleasurable and the profound in information science . *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* 58 (8): 1131-47.
- Karmiloff-Smith, Annette and Bärbel Inhelder. 1974-1975. If you want to get ahead, get a theory. *Cognition* 3 (3): 195-212.
- Kaye, Joseph 'Jofish', Vertesi, Janet, Avery, Shari, Dafoe, Allan, David, Shay, Onaga, Lisa, Rosero, Ivan, and Pinch, Trevor. 2006. To have and to hold: Exploring the personal archive. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human Factors in computing systems*, held 22 Apr 2006-27 Apr 2006, in Montréal, Québec, Canada, editors Rebecca E. Grinter et al., 275-284. New York: ACM Press.
- Keil, Frank C. 1989. Concepts, Kinds, and Cognitive Development. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Keil, Frank C., W. Carter Smith, Daniel J. Simons, and Daniel T. Levin. 1998. Two dogmas of conceptual empiricism: implications for hybrid models of the structure of knowledge. *Cognition* 65 (2-3): 103-35. Available at http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/B6T24-3S4P78K-2/2/c587f1c054474469cf358e5fb34d6555
- Kelly, Diane. 2006. Evaluating personal information management behaviors and tools. *Communications of the ACM* 49 (1): 84-86.
- Kelly, Diane, and Jaime Teevan. 2007. "Understanding what works: Evaluating PIM tools." William P. Jones, and Jaime Teevan, Eds. *Personal Information Management*. Seattle, WA: University of Washington Press, 190-204.
- Kelly, George Alexander. 1955. The psychology of personal constructs. 1st ed. ed. New York: Norton.
- Khoo, Christopher S. G., Brendan Luyt, Caroline Ee, Jamila Osman, Hui Hui Lim, and Sally Yong. 2007. How users organize electronic files on their workstations in the office environment: a preliminary study of personal information organization behaviour. *Information Research-an International Electronic Journal* 12 (2). Available at http://InformationR.net/ir/12-2/paper293.html
- Kinser, S. 1992. Everyday Ordinary. Diacritics-a Review of Contemporary Criticism 22 (2): 70-82.
- Kipp, Margaret E. I. 2007. @toread and Cool: tagging for time, task and emotion. *Proceedings of the 8th Information* Architecture Summit, in Las Vegas, NV.

- Kirk, David, Sellen, Abigail J., Rother, Carsten , and Wood, Kenneth R. 2006. Understanding photowork. Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human Factors in computing systems, held 2006, in Montreal, Quebec, Canada, 761-770. New York: ACM Press.
- Kirsh, David. 1995. The Intelligent Use of Space. *Artificial Intelligence* 73 (1-2): 31-68. Available at http://interactivity.ucsd.edu/articles/Space/AIJ1.html

———. 2005. "Metacognition, distributed cognition, and visual design." Peter G\u00e4rdenfors, and Petter Johansson, editors. Cognition, Education, and Communication Technology. Mahwah, N.J: L. Erlbaum Associates, 147-80.

- Kirsh, David and Paul Maglio. 1994. On distinguishing epistemic from pragmatic action. *Cognitive Science* 18 (4): 513-49. Available at UNC DAV BF311 .C552
- Koh, Eunyee and Kerne, Andruid. 2006. "I Keep Collecting": College Students Build and Utilize Collections in Spite of Breakdowns. 10th European Conference on Research and Advanced Technology for Digital Libraries, held 17 Sep 2006-22 Sep 2006, in Alicante (Spain), edited by Julio Gonzalo et al., 303-314. Lecture Notes in Computer Science.
- Komatsu, Lloyd K. 1992. Recent views of conceptual structure. Psychological Bulletin 112 (3): 500-526.
- Kosslyn, Stephen Michael. 1978. "Imagery and internal representation." In Eleanor H. Rosch, and Barbara B. Lloyd, Eds. Cognition and categorization. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, 217-57.
- Kraut, Robert E., Tridas Mukhopadhyay, Janusz Szczypula, Sara Kiesler, and William Scherlis. 2000. Information and communication : Alternative uses of the Internet in households. *Information Systems Research* 10: 287-303.
- Kuhlthau, Carol C. 1991. Inside the Search Process Information Seeking From the Users Perspective. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science* 42 (5): 361-71.
- Kustritz, Anne. 2003. Slashing the Romance Narrative. The Journal of American Culture 26 (3): 371-84.
- Kwasnik, Barbara H. 1988. Factors affecting the naming of documents in an office. In *Information Technology:* planning for the next fifty years. Proceedings of the 51st Annual Meeting of the American Society for Information Science, held 23 Oct 1988-27 Oct 1988, in Atlanta, Georgia, edited by Christine L. Borgman and Edward Y. H. Pai, 100-106. Medford, NJ: Published by Learned Information, Inc, for American Society for Information Science.
- Kwasnik, Barbara H. 1989a. How a personal document's intended use or purpose affects its classification in an office. In Proceedings of the ACM-SIGIR 12th Annual International Conference on Research and Development in Information Retrieval, held 1989a, in Cambridge, MA, 207-210. New York, NY: ACM Press.
- ——. 1989b. "The influence of context on classificatory behavior." PhD dissertation, Rutgers University, New Brunswick, NJ.
- ———. 1991. The importance of factors that are not document attributes in the organisation of personal documents. *Journal of Documentation* 47 (4): 389-98.
- Kwasnik, Barbara H. 1992. The Role of Classification Structures in Reflecting and Building Theory. Advances in classification research : proceedings of the ... ASIS SIG/CR Classification Research Workshop, held 1992, 63-81.
- . 1999. The role of classification in knowledge representation and discovery. Library Trends 48 (1): 22-47.
- Kwasnik, Barbara H. and Victoria L. Rubin. 2004. Stretching conceptual structures in classifications across languages and cultures. *Cataloging and Classification Quarterly* 37 (1/2): 33-47.

Lacoste, C., J. H. Lim, J. P. Chevallet, and T. H. L. Diem. 2007. Medical-image retrieval based on knowledge-assisted text and image indexing. *IEEE Transactions on Circuits and Systems for Video Technology* 17 (7): 889-900.

Lakoff, George. 1987. Women, Fire, and Dangerous Things: What Categories Reveal About the Mind. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

Lakoff, George, and Mark Johnson. 1980. Metaphors We Live By. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Lally, Elaine. 2004. At home with information: the informatisation of domestic life. In Internet Research 04.

- Lamberts, Koen. 1995. Categorization under time pressure. *Journal of Experimental Psychology-General* 124 (2): 161-80.
- _____. 2000. Information-accumulation theory of speeded categorization. Psychological Review 107 (2): 227-60.
- Lamberts, Koen, and David R. Shanks. 1997. *Knowledge, concepts, and categories*. 1st MIT Press ed. Studies in Cognition: Studies in Cognition (Cambridge, Mass.). Cambridge, Mass.: MIT Press.
- Lamming, M., P. Brown, K. Carter, M. Eldridge, M. Flynn, G. Louie, P. Robinson, and Abigail J. Sellen. 1994. The Design of a Human-Memory Prosthesis. *Computer Journal* 37 (3): 153-63.

- Landau, Barbara. 1982. Will the real grandmother please stand up? The psychological reality of dual meaning representations. *Journal of Psycholinguistic Research* 11 (1): 47-62. Available at UNC DAV P106 J68
- Lansdale, Mark W. 1988. The psychology of personal information management. Applied Ergonomics 19 (1): 55-66.
- ———. 1991. Remembering About Documents Memory for Appearance, Format, and Location. *Ergonomics* 34 (8): 1161-78.
- Larkin, Jill H. and Herbert A. Simon. 1987. Why a Diagram is (Sometimes) Worth Ten Thousand Words. *Cognitive Science* 11 (1): 65-100.
- Larsgaard, Mary Lynette. 1998. Map Librarianship: an Introduction. Englewood, CO: Libraries Unlimited.
- Laurence, Stephen, and Eric Margolis. 1999. "Concepts and cognitive science." In Eric Margolis, and Stephen Laurence, eds. *Concepts: Core Readings*. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press, 3-81.
- Lave, Jean. 1988. Cognition in practice : mind, mathematics, and culture in everyday life. Cambridge ;, New York : Cambridge University Press.
- Lawrence, Lesley. 2006. "To obsessively go... exploring serious leisure and the 'other' side of leisure in cult fandom." In Sam Elkington, Ian Jones, and Lesley Lawrence, Editors. *Serious leisure: extensions and applications*. Eastbourne, UK: Leisure Studies Association, 61-83.
- Layne, Sara Shatford. 1994. Some issues in the indexing of images. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science* 45 (8): 583-88.
- ———. 2002. "Subject access to art images." Murtha Baca, editor. Introduction to art image access: Issues, tools, standards, strategies. Los Angeles: Getty Research Institute, 1-19.
- Leggate, P., B. M. Eaglestone, R. M. Jarman, M. M. Norgett, and A. P. Williams. 1977. Online System for Handling Personal Data-Bases on a PDP II-20 Minicomputer. *Aslib Proceedings* 29 (2): 56-66.
- Levine, Barbara, Stephanie Snyder, and Douglas F. Cooley Memorial Art Gallery. 2006. Snapshot Chronicles: Inventing the American Photo Album. New York: Princeton Architectural Press.
- Library of Congress. 2007. "Thesaurus for Graphic Materials I: Subject Terms (TGM I)." Available at http://www.loc.gov/rr/print/tgm1/. [accessed 2 March 2008].
- Lipkin, Jonathan. 2005. Photography Reborn: Image Making in the Digital Era. New York: Harry N. Abrams.
- LiveMocha. 2007. "Current openings." Available at http://www.livemocha.com/pages/jobs. [accessed 30 March 2008].
- Lohse, Gerald L., Kevin Biolsi, Neff Walker, and Henry H. Rueter. 1994 . A classification of visual representations. *Communications of the ACM* 37 (12): 36-49.
- Lovejoy, Arthur O. 1936. The Great Chain of Being: a Study of the History of an Idea. The William James Lectures delivered at Harvard University, 1933. Cambridge, MA: Harvard university press.
- Mackay, Wendy E. 1988a. More than just a communication system: diversity in the use of electronic mail. In Proceedings of the 1988 ACM conference on Computer-supported cooperative work, held 1988a, in Portland, OR, 344-353. New York: ACM Press.
- ———. 1988b. Diversity in the use of electronic mail: a preliminary inquiry. ACM Transactions on Information Systems (TOIS) 6 (4): 380-397.
- Maffesoli, Michel. 1996. Ordinary knowledge: An introduction to interpretative sociology. translator David Macey. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Mai, Jens-Erik. 2004. Classification in context: Relativity, reality, and representation. *Knowledge Organization* 31 (1): 39-48.
- Malone, Thomas W. 1983. How do people organize their desks? Implications for the design of office information systems. *ACM Transactions on Office Information Systems* 1: 25-32.
- Malt, Barbara C., Steven A. Sloman, Silvia Gennari, Meiyi Shi, and Yuang Wang. 1999. Knowing versus naming: Similarity and the linguistic categorization of artifacts. *Journal of Memory and Language* 40 (2): 230-262.
- Mander, Richard, Salomon, Gitta, and Wong, Yin Yin. 1992. A 'pile' metaphor for supporting casual organization of information. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on human factors in computing systems*, edited by Penny Bauersfeld, John Bennett, and Gene Lynch, 627-634. New York: ACM Press.
- Mann, Merlin. 2004. "Introducing the Hipster PDA." Available at http://www.43folders.com/2004/09/03/introducingthe-hipster-pda/. [accessed 7 February 2007].
- Manovich, Lev. 2003. "The paradoxes of digital photography." In Liz Wells. *The Photography Reader*. London: Routledge, 240-249.

- Marco, Francisco Javier Garcia and Miguel Angel Esteban Navarro. 1993. On some contributions of the cognitive sciences and epistemology to a theory of classification. *Knowledge Organization* 20 (3): 126-32.
- Marcos, E., C. J. Acuna, B. Vela, J. M. Cavero, and J. A. Hernandez. 2007. A database for medical image management. Computer Methods and Programs in Biomedicine 86 (3): 255-69.

Margolis, Eric, and Stephen Laurence, eds. 1999. Concepts: Core Readings. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.

- Marien, Mary Warner. 2006. Photography: A Cultural History . Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson Prentice Hall.
- Markey, Karen. 1986. Subject Access to Visual Resources Collections: A Model for Computer Construction of Thematic Catalogs. New Directions in Information Management. New York: Greenwood Press.
- Markman, Arthur B. and C. Hunt Stilwell. 2001. Role-governed categories. *Journal of Experimental & Theoretical Artificial Intelligence* 13 (4): 329-58.
- Marshall, Catherine C. 2007. "How people manage personal information over a lifetime." William P. Jones, and Jaime Teevan, Eds. *Personal Information Management*. Seattle, WA: University of Washington Press, 57-75.
- Marshall, Catherine C. and Bly, Sara. 2005. Saving and using encountered information: implications for electronic periodicals. *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human factors in computing systems*, held 2005, in Portland, OR, 111-120. New York: ACM Press.
- Marshall, Catherine C., Bly, Sara, and Brun-Cottan, Francoise. 2006. The long term fate of our personal digital belongings: Toward a service model for personal archives. *Proceedings of IS&T Archiving 2006*, held 23 May 2006-26 May 2006, in Ottawa, Canada, 25-30. Springfield, VA: Society for Imaging Science and Technology.
- Marshall, Catherine C. and William P. Jones. 2006. Keeping encountered information. *Communications of the ACM* 49 (1): 66-67.
- Martin, David, Jacki O'Neill, Dave Randall, and Mark Rouncefield. 2007. How Can I Help You? Call Centres, Classification Work and Coordination. *Computer Supported Cooperative Work (CSCW)* 16 (3): 231-64. Available at http://dx.doi.org.libproxy.lib.unc.edu/10.1007/s10606-007-9045-4
- Matusiak, Krystyna K. 2006. Information seeking behavior in digital image collections: A cognitive approach. *Journal* of Academic Librarianship 32 (5): 479-88.
- McDonald, David W. 2007. Visual Conversation Styles in Web Communities . In *Proceedings of the 40th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*, held 3 Jan 2007-6 Jan 2007, in Waikoloa, Big Island, Hawaii, p76a. Available at http://csdl.computer.org/comp/proceedings/hicss/2007/2755/00/27550076a.pdf
- McGeachin, Robert B. 2004. The impact of electronic bibliographic databases and electronic journal articles on the scholar's information-seeking behavior and personal collection of "reprints". *Science & Technology Libraries* 25 (1/2): 127-37.
- Mckenzie, Pamela J. 2002. Communication Barriers and Information-Seeking Counterstrategies in Accounts of Practitioner-Patient Encounters. *Library & Information Science Research* 24 (1): 31-47.
- ———. 2003. A model of information practices in accounts of everyday-life information seeking. *Journal of Documentation* 59 (1): 19-40.
- McKnight, Cliff. 2000. The personal construction of information space. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science* 51 (8): 730-733.
- Medin, Douglas L. 1989. Concepts and conceptual structure. American Psychologist 44 (12): 1469-81.
- Medin, Douglas L., Elizabeth B. Lynch, and Karen O. Solomon. 2000. Are there kinds of concepts? Annual Review of Psychology 51: 121-47.
- Medin, Douglas L., and Andrew Ortony. 1989. "Psychological essentialism." Stella Vosniadou, and Andrew Ortony. Similarity and Analogical Reasoning. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 179-95.
- Medin, Douglas L., Norbert O. Ross, Scott Atran, Russell C. Burnett, and Sergey V. Blok. 2002. "Categorization and reasoning in relation to culture and expertise." . *Psychology of Learning and Motivation: Advances in Research* and Theory. San Diego: Academic Press Inc, 1-41.
- Medin, Douglas L. and M. M. Schaffer. 1978. Context theory of classification learning. *Psychological Review* 85: 207-38.
- Meho, Lokman I. and Helen R. Tibbo. 2003. Modeling the Information-Seeking Behavior of Social Scientists: Ellis's Study Revisited. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* 54 (6): 570-587.
- Meier, Beat, Thomas Zimmermann, and Walter Perrig. 2006. Retrieval experience in prospective memory: Strategic monitoring and spontaneous retrieval. *Memory* 14 (7): 872-89.
- Mensel, R. E. 1991. Kodakers-Lying-in-Wait Amateur Photography and the Right of Privacy in New-York, 1885-1915. American Quarterly 43 (1): 24-45.

- Merkel, Cecelia Bridget. 2002. "Uncovering the hidden literacies of "have-nots": A study of computer and internet use in a low-income community." PhD dissertation, University of Illinois at Urbana-Champaign, Urbana, IL.
- Mervis, Carolyn B. and John R. Pani. 1980. Acquisition of Basic Object Categories. *Cognitive Psychology* 12 (4): 496-522.
- Mervis, Carolyn B. and Eleanor H. Rosch. 1981. Categorization of natural objects. *Annual Review of Psychology* 32: 89-115.

Metcalfe, Andrew and Ann Game. 2004. Everyday presences. Cultural Studies 18 (2-3): 350-362.

- Meyers, Eric M., Karen E. Fisher, and Elizabeth Marcoux. 2007. Studying the everyday information behavior of tweens: Notes from the field. *Library & Information Science Research* 29 (3): 310-31.
- Michalski, Ryszard S. 1989. "Two-tiered concept meaning, inferential matching, and conceptual cohesiveness." Stella Vosniadou, and Andrew Ortony. *Similarity and Analogical Reasoning*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 122-45.
- Miksa, Francis L. 1992. The Concept of the Universe of Knowledge and the Purpose of LIS Classification. In Classification research for knowledge representation and organization : proceedings of the 5th International Study Conference on Classification Research, held 24 Jun 1991-28 Jun 1991, in Toronto, ON, Canada, edited by Nancy J. Williamson and Michèle Hudon, 101-126. New York: Elsevier.
- Miksa, Francis L. 2007. The cultural legacy of the "modern library" for the future. An expanded, revised, and corrected form of an address at the annual meeting of the Association for Library and Information Science Education (ALISE), held 17 Jan 1996, in San Antonio, TX. Available at http://www.ischool.utexas.edu/~miksa/publications/ModLib_Rev2007_071208.pdf
- Miller, Andrew D. and Edwards, W. Keith. 2007. Give and take: a study of consumer photo-sharing culture and practice. *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human factors in computing systems*, held 28 Apr 2007-3 May 2007, in San Jose, CA, 347-356. ACM.
- Mills, Kevin L. 2003. "Computer-supported cooperative work." In. Encyclopedia of Library and Information Science. New York: Dekker, 666-77.
- Moeller, Madelyn. 1992. "Ladies of leisure: Domestic photography in the Nineteenth Century." In Kathryn Grover, Editor. Hard at Play: Leisure in America, 1840-1940. Amherst: University of Massachusetts Press, 139-60.
- Moen, A. and P. F. Brennan. 2005. Health@Home: the Work of Health Information Management in the Household (Himh): Implications for Consumer Health Informatics (Chi) Innovations. *Journal of the American Medical Informatics Association* 12 (6): 648-56.
- Montgomery, Doris A. and Rosalie J. Amos. 1991. Nutrition Information Needs During Cardiac Rehabilitation -Perceptions of the Cardiac Patient and Spouse. *Journal of the American Dietetic Association* 91 (9): 1078-83.
- Morris, Ruth C. T. 1994. Toward a user-centered information service. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science* 45 (1): 20-30.
- Morrison, P. Jason. 2007. Why are they tagging, and why do we want them to? *Bulletin of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* 34 (1): 12-15.
- Murphy, Gregory L. and Douglas L. Medin. 1985. The role of theories in conceptual coherence. *Psychological Review* 92 (3): 289-316.
- Najarian, Suzanne E. 1981. Organizational factors in human memory: implications for library organization and access systems. *Library Quarterly* 51 (3): 269-91.
- National Institute of Standards and Technology. 2008. "TREC Video Retrieval Evaluation Home Page." Available at http://www-nlpir.nist.gov/projects/trecvid/. [accessed 29 February 2008].
- Neill, S. D. 1987. The Dilemma of the Subjective in Information Organization and Retrieval. *Journal of Documentation* 43 (3): 193-211.
- Nelson, Theodor Holm. 1965. A file structure for the complex, the changing and the indeterminate. In *Proceedings of the ACM 20th national conference*, held 24 Aug 1965, in Cleveland, OH, 84-100. New York: ACM Press.
- Nelson, Theodor Holm. 1999. Xanalogical structure, needed now more than ever: parallel documents, deep links to content, deep versioning, and deep re-use. ACM Computing Surveys (CSUR) 31 (4es): Article 33.
- Neumann, Laura J. 1999a. Physical environment as a resource in information work settings. In ASIS '99: Proceedings of the 62nd ASIS Annual Meeting: Knowledge Creation, Organization, and Use, held 31 Oct 1999a-4 Nov 1999a, in Washington, D.C., 572-586. Information Today, Inc.
- ———. 1999b. Paper, piles, and computer files: Folklore of information work environments. *Library Trends* 47 (3): 439-69.

- Newby, Gregory B., Nilan, Michael S., and Duvall, Lorraine M. 1991. Toward a Reassessment of Individual-Differences for Information-Systems - the Power of User-Based Situational Predictors. *Proceedings of the Asis Annual Meeting*, 73-81. Proceedings of the Asis Annual Meeting.
- Newton-Smith, Carol Jean. 2000. "The personal information management behaviour of academics: Implications for librarians' support." Masters thesis, Graduate School of Management, University of Western Australia.

Nicolaisen, Jeppe and Birger Hjørland. 2004. A rejoinder to Beghtol (2004). Knowledge Organization 31 (3): 199-201.

- Nilan, Michael S. 1985. "Structural constraints and situational information seeking respondents: A test of two predictors in a Sense-Making context." PhD dissertation, University of Washington.
 - ——. 1992. Cognitive Space Using Virtual Reality for Large Information Resource-Management Problems. Journal of Communication 42 (4): 115-35.
- Nilan, Michael S. and Fletcher, Patricia T. 1987. Information Behaviors in the Preparation of Research Proposals a User Study. *Proceedings of the Asis Annual Meeting*, held 1987, 186-192. Proceedings of the Asis Annual Meeting.
- Nilan, Michael S., Newby, Gregory B., Lopatin, Kevin, and Paik, Woojin. 1989. A Hypertext Help System for Desktop Publishing. In *Proceedings of the American Society for Information Science Annual Meeting*, held 1989, 104-110. Medford, NJ: Learned Information.
- Nilan, Michael S. and Pannen, Paulina. 1989. User-Defined Information-System Design Specification for Specific Sub-Groups - an Example With Resident and Non-Resident University-Students. *Proceedings of the Asis Annual Meeting*, held 1989, 166-171. Proceedings of the Asis Annual Meeting.
- Nilan, Michael S., Peek, Robin P., and Snyder, Herbert W. 1988. A Methodology for Tapping User Evaluation Behaviors - an Exploration of Users Strategy, Source and Information Evaluating. *Proceedings of the Asis Annual Meeting*, 152-159. Proceedings of the Asis Annual Meeting.
- Nisbett, Richard E. and Timothy D. Wilson. 1977. Telling more than we can know: Verbal reports on mental processes. *Psychological Review* 84 (3): 231-59.
- Nojima, Hisao. 2005. From everyday things to everyday memories: Two kinds of interactions with objects in a house. In UCS 2004 : Ubiquitous Computing Systems, held November 8-9, in Tokyo, edited by Hitomi Murakami et al., 10-19. Lecture Notes in Computer Science, 3598. Berlin: Springer.
- O'Connor, Brian C., Mary Keeney O'Connor, and June M. Abbes. 1999. User reactions as access mechanism: An exploration based on captions for images. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science* 50 (8): 681-97.
- Oden, Gregg C. 1987. Concept, knowledge, and thought. Annual Review of Psychology 38: 203-27.
- Ohlgren, Thomas H. 1980. Subject indexing of visual resources: A survey. Visual Resources 1 (1): 67-73.
- Olmsted, A. D. 1991. Collecting: Leisure, investment, or obsession? *Journal of Social Behavior and Personality* 6 (6): 287-306.
- Olson, Hope A. 1994. Universal models: A history of the organization of knowledge. In Advances in knowledge organization, 72-80.
- ———. 2001. Sameness and difference A cultural foundation of classification. Library Resources & Technical Services 45 (3): 115-22.
- _____. 2002. The power to name: locating the limits of subject representation in libraries. Dordrecht: Kluwer.
- ———. Jun-Sep2001. Patriarchal Structures of Subject Access and Subversive Techniques for Change. Canadian Journal of Information and Library Science 26 (2/3): 1-29. Available at http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=7679191&site=ehost-live
- Olsson, Michael Russell. 2003. "The construction of the meaning and significance of an 'Author' among information behaviour researchers: A social constructivist approach." PhD dissertation, University of Technology, Sydney, Australia.
- Olsson, Michael Russell. 2005. Beyond 'Needy' Individuals: Conceptualizing Information Behavior. *Proceedings 68th Annual Meeting of the American Society for Information Science and Technology (ASIST)*, held 28 Oct 2005-2 Nov 2005, in Charlotte, NC, edited by Andrew Grove. Medford, NJ: Information Today.
- Orlean, Susan. 2007. The origami lab. The New Yorker 83 (1): 112-20.
- Ostrow, Saul. 2007. "Photography, fine art photography, and the visual arts: 1900-2001." In Michael R Peres. *The Focal Encyclopedia of Photography: Digital Imaging, Theory and Applications, History, and Science.* Amsterdam: Elsevier/Focal Press, 181-87.

Oversity Ltd. 2008. "CiteULike." Available at http://www.citeulike.org/. [accessed 9 March 2008].

- Panofsky, Erwin. 1962. Studies in Iconology: Humanistic Themes in the Art of The Renaissance. New York: Harper & Row.
- Pansky, Aimat and Asher Koriat. 2004. The basic-level convergence effect in memory distortions. *Psychological Science* 15 (1): 52-59.
- Paradigm. 2008. "Workbook on digital private papers." Oxford University: Oxford. Available at http://www.paradigm.ac.uk/workbook/index.html.
- Parker, S. 2006. "Serious leisure--a middle class phenomenon?" In Eileen Teresa Kennedy, and Helen Pussard, Eds. Defining the Field: 30 Years of the Leisure Studies Association. Eastbourne, UK: LSA, 37-42.
- Partridge, Jan and Genoni, Paul. 1996. Personal research information management. *Different approaches: Theory and practice in higher education. Proceedings HERDSA Conference 1996*, held 8 Jul 1996-12 Jul 1996, in Perth, Western Australia. Available at http://www.herdsa.org.au/confs/1996/partridge.html
- Payne, Stephen J. 1993. Understanding calendar use. Human-Computer Interaction 8 (2): 83-100.
- Peres, Michael R, Editor. 2007. The Focal Encyclopedia of Photography: Digital Imaging, Theory and Applications, History, and Science. Amsterdam: Elsevier/Focal Press.
- Peters, Rodney E. 2002. Organize this! Investigating personal information management practices. *Proceedings of the conference on designing interactive systems*, held 2002, in London. New York: ACM Press. Available at http://www.cc.gatech.edu/gvu/ii/persona/disPIMpaper.doc
- Pettigrew, Karen E., Joan C. Durrance, and Kenton T. Unruh. 2002. Facilitating Community Information Seeking Using the Internet: Findings From Three Public Library-Community Network Systems. *Journal of the American* Society for Information Science and Technology 53 (11): 894-903.
- Pettigrew, Karen E., Joan C. Durrance, and Pertti Vakkari. 1999. Approaches to Studying Public Library Networked Community Information Initiatives: a Review of the Literature and Overview of a Current Study. *Library & Information Science Research* 21 (3): 327-60.
- Pettigrew, Karen E., Raya Fidel, and Harry Bruce. 2001. Conceptual Frameworks in Information Behavior. Annual Review of Information Science and Technology 35: 43-78.
- Popper, Karl Raimund. 2002. Conjectures and Refutations: The Growth of Scientific Knowledge. London: Routledge.
- Posner, Michael I. and Steven W. Keele. 1970. Retention of abstract ideas. Journal of Experimental Psychology-General 83 (2): 304-8.
- Pratt, Wanda, Kenton T. Unruh, Andrea Civan, and Meredith M. Skeels. 2006. Personal health information management . *Communications of the ACM* 49 (1): 51-55.
- Qu, Yan. 2006. "Supporting representation construction in sensemaking." PhD dissertation, University of Michigan.
- Rafferty, Pauline. 2001. The Representation of Knowledge in Library Classification Schemes. *Knowledge Organization* 28 (4): 180-191.
- Raisborough, Jayne. 1999. Research note: the concept of serious leisure and women's experiences of the Sea Cadet Corps. *Leisure Studies* 18 (1): 67-71. Available at http://www.informaworld.com.libproxy.lib.unc.edu/10.1080/026143699375069
- Raisborough, Jayne. 2006. Getting onboard: women, access and serious leisure. Sociological Review 54 (2): 242-62.
- Raisborough, Jayne. 2007 . Gender and serious leisure careers: A case study of women sea cadets. *Journal of Leisure Research* 39 (4): 686-704.
- Ranganathan, S. R. 1967. Prolegomena to library classification . London: Asia Publishing House.
- Rasmussen, Edie M. 1997. Indexing images. Annual Review of Information Science and Technology 32: 169-96.
- Ravasio, Pamela, Sissel Guttormsen Schär, and Helmut Krueger. 2004. In pursuit of desktop evolution: User problems and practices with modern desktop systems. ACM Transactions on Computer-Human Interaction (TOCHI) 11 (2): 156-80.
- Red Mountain Media Group. 2008. "DigMyPics." Available at http://www.digmypics.com/. [accessed 9 March 2008].
- Reed, S. K. 1972. Pattern recognition and categorization. Cognitive Psychology 3 (3): 382-407. Available at UNC DAV BF309 .C62
- Rehder, Bob and Brian H. Ross. 2001. Abstract coherent categories. Journal of Experimental Psychology-Learning Memory and Cognition 27 (5): 1261-75.
- Rieh, Soo Young. 2004. On the web at home: Information seeking and web searching in the home environment. Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology 55 (8): 743-53.
- Rifkin, Anthony. 1985. Evidence for a basic level in event taxonomies. Memory & Cognition 13 (6): 538-56.

- Rijksbureau voor Kunsthistorische Documentatie. 2007. "Iconclass." Available at http://www.iconclass.nl/. [accessed 2 March 2008].
- Ringel, Meredith, Cutrell, Edward, Dumais, Susan T., and Horvitz, Eric. 2003. Milestones in Time: The Value of Landmarks in Retrieving Information from Personal Stores. In *Proceedings of Interact 2003*, held 1 Sep 2003-5 Sep 2003, in Zurich.
- Rips, Lance J. 1989. "Similarity, typicality, and categorization." Stella Vosniadou, and Andrew Ortony. *Similarity and Analogical Reasoning*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 21-59.
- Rips, Lance J. and Frederick G. Conrad. 1989. Folk psychology of mental activities. *Psychological Review* 96 (2): 187-207.
- Rips, Lance J., and Douglas L. Medin. 2005. "Concepts and Categories: Memory, Meaning, and Metaphysics." In Keith James Holyoak, and Robert G. Morrison, editors. *The Cambridge Handbook of Thinking and Reasoning*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Ritchin, Fred. 2007. We are all photographers now! The rapid mutation of amateur photography in the digital age. *Aperture* (189): 20-21.
- Rodden, Kerry and Wood, Kenneth R. 2003. How do people manage their digital photographs? In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human factors in computing systems*, in Ft. Lauderdale, FL, 409-416. New York: ACM Press.
- Rosch, Eleanor H. 1973. Natural categories. Cognitive Psychology 4 (3): 328-50.
- . 1975. Cognitive reference points. Cognitive Psychology 7: 532-47.
- ——. 1978. "Principles of categorization." In Eleanor H. Rosch, and Barbara B. Lloyd, Eds. *Cognition and categorization*. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, 27-48.
- Rosch, Eleanor H. and Carolyn B. Mervis. 1975. Family Resemblances: Studies in Internal Structure of Categories. Cognitive Psychology 7 (4): 573-605.
- Rosch, Eleanor H., Carolyn B. Mervis, W. D. Gray, D. M. Johnson, and P. Boyesbraem. 1976. Basic objects in natural categories. *Cognitive Psychology* 8 (3): 382-439.
- Rose, Gillian. 2003. Family photographs and domestic spacings: a case study. *Transactions of the Institute of British Geographers* 28 (1): 5-18.
- Rosenblum, Barbara. 1978. Photographers at Work: a Sociology of Photographic Styles. New York: Holmes & Meier.
- Ross, Catherine Sheldrick. 1999. Finding Without Seeking: the Information Encounter in the Context of Reading for Pleasure. *Information Processing & Management* 35 (6): 783-99.
- Roth, E. M. and E. J. Shoben. 1983. The effect of context on the structure of categories. *Cognitive Psychology* 15 (3): 346-78. Available at UNC DAV BF309 .C62
- Rothbauer, Paulette. 2005. "Practice of everyday life." Chapter 49 in Karen E. Fisher, Sandra Erdelez, and Lynne E. F. McKechnie, eds. *Theories of information behavior*. Medford, NJ: Information Today, 284-88.
- Rotolo, Thomas and John Wilson. 2007. Sex Segregation in Volunteer Work: The Sociological Quarterly. 48: 559-85.
- Rudy, Ian A. 1996. A Critical Review of Research on Electronic Mail. *European Journal of Information Systems* 4 (4): 198-213.
- Rumelhart, David E. 1980. "Schemata: the building blocks of cognition." In Rand J. Spiro, Bertram C. Bruce, and William F. Brewer, Eds. *Theoretical issues in reading comprehension: Volume 1*. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum, 33-58.
- ———. 1983. "Schemata and the cognitive system." In Dedre Gentner, and Albert L. Stevens, Eds. *Mental models*. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum, 161-88.
- Rusbridge, Chris, Burnhill, Peter, Ross, Seamus, Buneman, Peter, Giaretta, David, Lyon, Liz, and Atkinson, Malcolm. 2005. The Digital Curation Centre: a vision for digital curation: The Digital Curation Centre: a vision for digital curation: Local to Global Data Interoperability - Challenges and Technologies, 2005. In *Local to Global Data Interoperability - Challenges and Technologies, 2005*, held 20 Jun 2005-24 Jun 2005, in Sardinia, Italy, 31-41. IEEE Cat. No. 05EX1096. IEEE.
- Russell, Daniel M., Jeffries, Robin, and Irani, Lilly. Sensemaking for the rest of us. Submitted to *CHI 2008 workshop* on sensemaking, held 7 Apr 2008, in Florence, Italy.
- Russell, Daniel M., and Steve Lawrence. 2007. "Search everything." William P. Jones, and Jaime Teevan, Eds. *Personal Information Management.* Seattle, WA: University of Washington Press, 153-66.

- Russell, Daniel M., Stefik, Mark J., Pirolli, Peter, and Card, Stuart K. 1993. The cost structure of sensemaking. In Conference on human factors in computing systems 1993, held 1993, in Amsterdam, The Netherlands, 269-276. New York: ACM Press.
- Sauvain, Richard Warren. 1970. "Structural communication in a personal information storage and retrieval system." PhD dissertation, University of Michigan, Ann Arbor, MI.

———. 1979. Computer based personal retrieval systems. ACM SIGIR Forum 13 (2): 8-31. Available at UNC MP CDROM 50-15

- Savenije, Bas and Natalia Grygierczyk. 2001. Libraries without resources: towards personal collections. *Collection Building* 20 (1): 18-24.
- Savolainen, Reijo. 1993. The Sense-Making theory: Reviewing the interests of a user-centered approach to information seeking and use. *Information Processing & Management* 29 (1): 13-28.
 - —. 1995. Everyday life information seeking: approaching information seeking in the context of way of life. Library and Information Science Research 17 (3): 259-94.
- Savolainen, Reijo. 2004. "Everyday life information seeking." In. *Encyclopedia of Library and Information Science*. Dekker.
- Savolainen, Reijo. 2006. Information use as gap-bridging: The viewpoint of Sense-Making Methodology. Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology 57 (8): 1116-25.
- Savolainen, Reijo. 2007. Information Behavior and Information Practice: Reviewing the "Umbrella Concepts" of Information-Seeking Studies. *Library Quarterly* 77 (2): 109-32.
- Savolainen, Reijo and Jarkko Kari. 2004. Conceptions of the Internet in everyday life Information seeking. *Journal of Information Science* 30 (3): 219-26. Available at UNC SILS PER
- Savolainen, Reijo and Jarkko Kari. 2006. Facing and Bridging Gaps in Web Searching. *Information Processing & Management* 42 (2): 519-37.
- ScanCafe Inc. 2008. "ScanCafe." Available at http://scancafe.com/. [accessed 9 March 2008].
- Schamber, Linda. 2000. Time-Line Interviews and Inductive Content Analysis: Their Effectiveness for Exploring Cognitive Behaviors. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science* 51 (8): 734-44.
- Schmidt, Kjeld and Liam Bannon. 1992. Taking CSCW seriously: Supporting articulation work. Computer Supported Cooperative Work (CSCW): An International Journal 1 (1): 7-40. Available at http://citeseer.ist.psu.edu/schmidt92taking.html
- Schmidt, Kjeld and Carla Simone. 1996. Coordination mechanisms: towards a conceptual foundation of CSCW system design. *Computer Supported Cooperative Work* 5 (2/3): 155-200.
- Schutz, Alfred. 1967. Collected papers, volume one: The problem of social reality. The Hague: Nijhoff.
- Schutz, Alfred, and Thomas Luckmann. 1973. *The Structures of the Life-World*. Evanston [Ill.]: Northwestern University Press.
- Schwartz, Dona. 1986. Camera clubs and fine art photography: the social construction of an elite code. *Urban Life* 15 (2): 165-95.
- Scott, Clive. 2007. Street Photography: From Atget to Cartier-Bresson. London: I.B. Tauris.
- Sellen, Abigail J., and Richard H. R. Harper. 2002. The myth of the paperless office. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.
- Shapiro, Jeremy J. and Hughes, Shelley K. 1999. The Personal Meaning Scheme as Principle of Information Ordering: Postmodernism, Transdisciplinarity, and the Ontology of Classification. Presented at ACH-ALLC'99 International Humanities Computing Conference, held 9 Jun 1999-13 Jun 1999, in Charlottesville, VA. Available at http://www.iath.virginia.edu/ach-allc.99/proceedings/shapiro.html
- Shapiro, Larry. 2007. The Embodied Cognition Research Programme. *Philosophy Compass* 2 (2): 338-46. Available at http://ruccs.rutgers.edu.libproxy.lib.unc.edu/faculty/pylyshyn/Proseminar07/Shapiro_EmbodiedCognition.pdf
- Shatford, Sara. 1984. Describing a picture: A thousand words are seldom cost effective. *Cataloging and Classification Quarterly* 4 (4): 13-30.
- Shatford, Sara. 1986. Analyzing the subject of a picture: A theoretical approach. *Cataloging and Classification Quarterly* 6 (3): 39-62.
- Shields, Peter, Brenda Dervin, Christopher Richter, and Richard Soller. 1993. Who Needs Pots-Plus Services a Comparison of Residential User Needs Along the Rural-Urban Continuum. *Telecommunications Policy* 17 (8): 563-87.

- Shields, Vickie Rutledge. 1994. "The constructing, maintaining, and negotiating of gender identities in the process of decoding gender advertisements." PhD dissertation, Ohio State University.
- Shields, Vickie Rutledge and Brenda Dervin. 1993. Sense-Making in Feminist Social-Science Research a Call to Enlarge the Methodological Options of Feminist Studies. *Womens Studies International Forum* 16 (1): 65-81. Available at UNC DAV HQ1101 .W775 -
- Silverstone, Roger. 1993. Domesticating the revolution: information and communication technologies and everyday life. *Aslib Proceedings* 45: 227-33. Available at UNC SILS PER
- Simone, Carla and Sarini, Marcello. 2001. Adaptability of classification schemes in cooperation: what does it mean? In ECSCW 2001: Proceedings of the Seventh European Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work, held 16 Sep 2001-20 Sep 2001, in Bonn, Germany, edited by Wolfgang Prinz et al., 19-38. Dordrecht, The Netherlands: Kluwer.
- Slater, Don. 1991. "Consuming Kodak." In Jo Spence, and Patricia Holland. Family snaps: the meaning of domestic photography. London: Virago, 49-59.
- Slater, Don. 1995. "Domestic photography and digital culture." In Martin Lister, editor. The Photographic Image in Digital Culture. London: Routledge, 129-46.
- Sloman, Steven A. and Barbara C. Malt. 2003. Artifacts are not ascribed essences, nor are they treated as belonging to kinds. *Language and Cognitive Processes* 18 (5-6): 563-82.
- Sloutsky, Vladimir M. 2003. The role of similarity in the development of categorization. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences* 7 (6): 246-51.
- Smeulders, Arnold W. M., Marcel Worring, Simone Santini, Amarnath Gupta, and Ramesh C. Jain. 2000. Contentbased retrieval at the end of the early years. *IEEE Transactions on Pattern Analysis and Machine Intelligence* 22 (12): 1349-80.
- Smiraglia, Richard P. 2002. The progress of theory in knowledge organization. Library Trends 50 (3): 330-349.
- ———. Jun-Sep2001. Further Progress Toward Theory in Knowledge Organization. Canadian Journal of Information and Library Science 26 (2/3): 31-50. Available at http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=aph&AN=7679193&site=ehost-live
- Smith, Edward E., and Douglas L. Medin. 1981. Categories and Concepts. Cognitive Science Series. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Smith, Edward E., E. J. Shoben, and Lance J. Rips. 1974. Structure and process in semantic memory: a featural model for semantic decisions. *Psychological Review* 81: 214-41.
- Snowden, Dave. 2000. "Cynefin: a sense of time and space, the social ecology of knowledge management." In C. Despres, and D. Chauvel, eds. *Knowledge Horizons: The Present and the Promise of Knowledge Management*. Oxford: Butterworth-Heinemann.
- Solomon, Karen O., Douglas L. Medin, and Elizabeth B. Lynch. 1999. Concepts do more than categorize. *Trends in Cognitive Science* 3: 99-104.
- Solomon, Paul. 1991. User-based methods for classification development. In Advances in classification research: Proceedings of the 2nd ASIS SIG/CR Classification Research Workshop, edited by Barbara H. Kwasnik and Raya Fidel, 163-170. Medford, NJ: Learned Information.
- ———. 1993. Children's information retrieval behavior: a case analysis of an OPAC. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science* 44 (5): 245-64.
- Sonnenwald, Diane H. and Lievrouw, Leah A. 1991. Communication in Participatory System-Design. Proceedings of the Asis Annual Meeting, 235-245. Proceedings of the Asis Annual Meeting. Available at UNC SILS Z1008 .A4616
- Sparck-Jones, Karen. 1970. Some thoughts on classification for retrieval. Journal of Documentation 26 (2): 89-101.
- Spence, Jo, and Patricia Holland. 1991. Family snaps: the meaning of domestic photography. London: Virago.
- Spink, Amanda H. and Charles Cole. 2001. Introduction to the Special Issue: Everyday Life Information-Seeking Research. *Library & Information Science Research* 23 (4): 301-4.
- ———. 2006a. "Integrations and further research." Chapter 12 in Amanda H. Spink, and Charles Cole, eds. New directions in human information behavior. Dordrect: Springer, 231-37.
- Spink, Amanda H. and Charles Cole. 2006b. Human Information Behavior: Integrating Diverse Approaches and Information Use. *Journal of the American Society for Information Science and Technology* 57 (1): 25-35.

- Spink, Amanda H., Minsoo Park, and Charles Cole. 2006. "Multitasking and co-ordinating framework for human information behavior." Chapter 8 in Amanda H. Spink, and Charles Cole, eds. *New directions in human information behavior*. Dordrect: Springer, 137-54.
- Star, Susan Leigh. 1989. "The structure of ill-structured solutions: Boundary objects and heterogeneous distributed problem solving." In Les Gasser, and Michael N. Huhns, Editors. *Distributed artificial intelligence*. London: Pitman, 37-54.
- Star, Susan Leigh. 1991. Invisible work and silenced dialogues in knowledge representation. In Women, work, and computerization : understanding and overcoming bias in work and education : proceedings of the IFIP TC9/WG 9.1 Conference on Women, Work, and Computerization, held 2 Jun 1930-2 Jul 1991, in Helsinki, Finland, edited by Inger V. Eriksson, Barbara A. Kitchenham, and Kea G Tijdens, 81-92. Amsterdam: Elsevier.
- Star, Susan Leigh and James R. Griesemer. 1989. Institutional ecology, 'translations' and boundary objects: Amateurs and professionals in Berkeley's Museum of Vertebrate Zoology. *Social Studies of Science* 19 (3): 387-420.
- Star, Susan Leigh and Anselm L Strauss. 1999. Layers of silence, arenas of voice: The ecology of visible and invisible work. Computer Supported Cooperative Work 8: 9-30.
- Stebbins, Robert A. 1977. The amateur: two sociological definitions. Pacific Sociological Review 20: 582-606.
- Stebbins, Robert A. 1980. "Amateur" and "Hobbyist" as Concepts for the Study of Leisure Problems. *Social Problems* 27 (4): 413-17.
- . 1982. Serious leisure a conceptual statement. Pacific Sociological Review 25 (2): 251-72.
- ——. 1992. Amateurs, professionals, and serious leisure. Montreal: McGill-Queen's University Press.
- ———. 1994. The liberal arts hobbies: a neglected subtype of serious leisure. Society and Leisure 17 (1): 173-86. Available at UNC DAV GV14.45 .L63
- . 1997. Casual Leisure: a Conceptual Statement. Leisure Studies 16 (1): 17-25.
- ——. 1998. After Work: The Search for an Optimal Leisure Lifestyle. Calgary: Detselig Enterprises.
- ———. 2001. The Costs and Benefits of Hedonism: Some Consequences of Taking Casual Leisure Seriously. *Leisure Studies* 20 (4): 305-9.
- . 2002. Choice and Experiential Definitions of Leisure. *LSA (Leisure Studies Association) Newsletter* (63): 15-17.
- _____. 2005a. Challenging Mountain Nature: Risk, Motive, and Lifestyle in Three Hobbyist Sports. Calgary: Detselig.
- ———. 2005b. Project-Based Leisure: Theoretical Neglect of a Common Use of Free Time. Leisure Studies 24 (1): 1-11.
- _____. 2007. Serious leisure: a perspective for our time. New Brunswick, NJ: Transaction Publishers.
- Storms, Gert. 2004. "Exemplar models in the study of natural language concepts." . Psychology of Learning and Motivation: Advances in Research and Theory, Vol 45. San Diego: Elsevier Academic Press Inc, 1-39.
- Suchman, Lucy A. 1995. Making work visible. Communications of the ACM 38 (9): 56-64.
- Sullivan, Patrick. 2004. Information Overload: Keeping Current Without Being Overwhelmed. Science & Technology Libraries 25 (1/2): 109-25.
- Svenonius, Elaine. 1994. Access to nonbook materials: the limits of subject indexing for visual and aural languages. Journal of the American Society for Information Science 45 (8): 600-606.
- Sztompka, Piotr. 2008. The focus on everyday life: a new turn in sociology. European Review 16 (1): 23-37.
- Talja, Sanna. 2002. Information sharing in academic communities: types and levels of collaboration in information seeking and use. *The New Review of Information Behaviour Research* 3: 143-60.
- Talja, Sanna, and Preben Hansen. 2006. "Information sharing." Chapter 7 in Amanda H. Spink, and Charles Cole, eds. *New directions in human information behavior*. Dordrect: Springer, 113-34.
- Tan, Desney, Mary P. Czerwinski, Gordon Bell, Jim Gemmell, Steve Hodges, Narinder Kapur, Brian Meyers, Nuria Oliver, George Robertson, and Kenneth R. Wood. 2007. "Save everything: supporting human memory with a personal digital lifetime store." William P. Jones, and Jaime Teevan, Eds. *Personal Information Management*. Seattle, WA: University of Washington Press, 90-107.
- Tanaka, James W. and Marjorie Taylor. 1991. Object categories and expertise: is the basic level in the eye of the beholder? *Cognitive Psychology* 23 (3): 457-82.
- Tauscher, Linda and Saul Greenberg. 1997. How people revisit web pages: Empirical findings and implications for the design of history systems. *International Journal of Human Computer Studies* 47 (1): 97-138.

- Taylor, Alex S. and Swan, Laurel. 2005. Artful systems in the home. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human factors in computing systems*, held 2 Apr 2005-7 Apr 2005, in Portland, OR, 641-650.
- Taylor, Robert S. 1986. Value-added processes in information systems. Norwood, NJ: Ablex.
- Technorati, Inc. 2008. "Technorati." Available at http://www.technorati.com/. [accessed 9 March 2008].
- Teevan, Jaime, Alvarado, Christine, Ackerman, Mark S., and Kargar, David. 2004. The perfect search engine is not enough: a study of orienteering behavior in directed search. *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human* factors in computing systems, held Apr 2004, in Vienna, Austria, 415-422. New York: ACM Press.
- Teevan, Jaime, Robert G. Capra, and Manuel A. Perez-Quinones. 2007. "How people find personal information." William P. Jones, and Jaime Teevan, Eds. *Personal Information Management*. Seattle, WA: University of Washington Press, 22-34.
- Teevan, Jaime, William P. Jones, and Benjamin B. Bederson. 2006. Personal information management: Introduction to Special Issue. *Communications of the ACM* 49 (1): 40-43.
- Thomas, Angela. 2007. "Blurring and breaking through the boundaries of narrative, literacy, and identity in adolescent fan fiction." In Michele Knobel, and Colin Lankshear, Editors. *A new literacies sampler*. New York: Peter Lang, 137-65.
- Tirassa, Maurizio, Antonella Carassa, and Giuliano Geminiani. 2000. "A theoretical framework for the study of spatial cognition." In S. O'Nuallain, ed. Spatial cognition: Foundations and applications. Amsterdam: Benjamins, 19-31.
- Tolmie, Peter, Pycock, James, Diggins, Tim, MacLean, Allan, and Karsenty, Alain. 2002. Ubiquity: Unremarkable computing. In Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human factors in computing systems: Changing our world, changing ourselves, held Apr 2002, in Minneapolis, 399-406. New York: ACM Press.
- Trant, Jennifer and Wyman, Bruce. 2006. Investigating social tagging and folksonomy in art museums with steve.museum. In WWW2006 Collaborative Web Tagging Workshop, held 22 May 2006, in Edinburgh, Scotland.
- Trepagnier, Barbara. 2002. Mapping Sociological Concepts. Teaching Sociology 30 (1): 108-19.
- Truzzi, Marcello. 1972. The Occult Revival as Popular Culture: Some Random Observations on the Old and the Nouveau Witch. *The Sociological Quarterly* 13 (1): 16-36.
- Tulving, Endel. 2002. Episodic memory: From mind to brain. Annual Review of Psychology 53: 1-25.
- Tuominen, Kimmo. 2004. 'Whoever increases his knowledge merely increases his heartache.' Moral tensions in heart surgery patients' and their spouses' talk about information seeking. *Information Research* 10 (1).
- Turner, James M. 1999. A typology for visual collections. *Bulletin of the American Society for Information Science* : 14-16.
- Tversky, Amos. 1977. Features of similarity. Psychological Review 84: 327-52.
- Tversky, Amos, and Itamar Gati. 1978. "Studies of similarity." In Eleanor H. Rosch, and Barbara B. Lloyd, Eds. Cognition and categorization. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, 79-98.
- Tversky, Barbara. 1993. "Cognitive maps, cognitive collages, and spatial mental models." In Andrew U. Frank, and Irene Campari, editors. Spatial information theory: A theoretical basis for GIS. Berlin: Springer-Verlag, 14-24.
- U.S. Department of the Army. 2001. *Religious requirements and practices of certain selected groups: A handbook for chaplains*. Developed and produced by Kirschner Associates with subcontract work by The Institute for the Study of American Religion. Honolulu, HI: University Press of the Pacific.
- Unruh, David R. 1980. The nature of social worlds. Pacific Sociological Review 23 (3): 271-96.
- Urban, Richard. 2007. Second Life, serious leisure, and LIS. Bulletin of the American Society for Information Science and Technology : 38-40.
- Vakkari, Pertti. 1997. "Information seeking in context: A challenging metatheory." In Pertti Vakkari, Reijo Savolainen, and Brenda Dervin, eds. *Information seeking in context*. London: Taylor Graham, 451-64.
- Vakkari, Pertti, Reijo Savolainen, and Brenda Dervin, eds. 1997. *Information seeking in context*. London: Taylor Graham.
- Venkatesh, Alladi. 1985. A Conceptualisation of the Household-Technology Interaction. Advances in Consumer Research 12: 189-94.
- Venkatesh, Alladi and Franco Nicosia. 1997. New technologies for the home-development of a theoretical model of household adoption and use. *Advances in Consumer Research* 24: 522-28.
- Virkus, Sirje. 2003. Information literacy in Europe: a literature review. Information Research 8 (4).

Visual Resources Association. 2007. "VRA Core 4.0." Available at

http://www.vraweb.org/projects/vracore4/index.html. [accessed 2 March 2008].

- Vroegindeweij, Sander. 2001. "My pictures: informal image collections." . *HP Labs Technical Report*. No. HPL-2002-72R1. Available at http://www.hpl.hp.com/techreports/2002/HPL-2002-72R1.pdf.
- Waldron, Elliott M. and F. Gregory Ashby. 2001. The effects of concurrent task interference on category learning: Evidence for multiple category learning systems. *Psychonomic Bulletin & Review* 8 (1): 168-76.
- Walker, Beverly M. and David A. Winter. 2007. The elaboration of personal construct psychology. Annual Review of Psychology 58: 453-77.
- Wanat, Camille. 1985. Management Strategies for Personal Files the Berkeley Seminar. *Special Libraries* 76 (4): 253-60.
- Wathen, C. Nadine. 2006. Health Information Seeking in Context: How Women Make Decisions Regarding Hormone Replacement Therapy. *Journal of Health Communication* 11 (5): 477-93.
- Waxman, Sandra R., Douglas L. Medin, and Norbert O. Ross. 2007. Folkbiological reasoning from a cross-cultural developmental perspective: Early essentialist notions are shaped by cultural beliefs. *Developmental Psychology* 43 (2): 294-308.
- Weick, Karl E. 1995. Sensemaking in organizations. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage.
- White, Howard D. and Katherine W. McCain. 1998. Visualizing a Discipline: An Author Co-Citation Analysis of Information Science, 1972-1995. Journal of the American Society for Information Science 49 (4): 327-55.
- Whittaker, Steve, Victoria Bellotti, and Jacek Gwizdka. 2006. Email in personal information management . Communications of the ACM 49 (1): 68-73.
 - 2007. "Everything through email." William P. Jones, and Jaime Teevan, Eds. Personal Information Management. Seattle, WA: University of Washington Press, 167-89.
- Whittaker, Steve and Julia Hirschberg. 2001. The character, value and management of personal paper archives. ACM Transactions on Computer Human Interaction 8: 150-170. Available at http://www.shef.ac.uk/~is/whittake/move-paper_final_revised.pdf
- Whittaker, Steve and Sidner, Candace. 1996. Email overload: exploring personal information management of email. In *Proceedings of CHI'96 Conference on Computer Human Interaction*, held 1996, 276-283. New York: ACM Press. Available at http://www.shef.ac.uk/~is/whittake/emlch96.pdf
- Whittaker, Steve, Loren Terveen, and Bonnie A. Nardi. 2000. Let's stop pushing the envelope and start addressing it: A reference task agenda for HCI. *Human Computer Interaction* 15: 75-106. Available at http://www.shef.ac.uk/~is/whittake/reference_task_hci2000.pdf
- Wikipedia. "Hipster PDA." Available at http://en.wikipedia.org/w/index.php?title=Hipster_PDA&oldid=100669560. [accessed 7 February 2007].
- Wilensky, Robert. 1983. Planning and Understanding: A Computational Approach to Human Reasoning. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley Pub. Co.
- Williamson, Adrian. 1998a. Moneypenny: Lessons from the messy desk. Interacting With Computers 9 (3): 241-67.
- Williamson, Kirsty. 1998b. Discovered by Chance: the Role of Incidental Information Acquisition in an Ecological Model of Information Use. *Library & Information Science Research* 20 (1): 23-40.
- Wilsher, A. 1981. Rural Record + Early Amateur Photographers. History of Photography 5 (4): 338.
- Wilson, Tom D. 2000. Human information behavior. *Informing Science* 3 (2): 49-55. Available at http://informationr.net/tdw/publ/papers/2000HIB.pdf
- Wittgenstein, Ludwig. 1953. *Philosophical Investigations*. 3rd edition ed. Translator G. E. M. Anscombe. B. Blackwell.

Yahoo! 2008a. "del.icio.us." Available at http://del.icio.us/. [accessed 9 March 2008a].

- Yahoo! 2008b. "Flickr." Available at http://www.flickr.com/. [accessed 2 March 2008b].
- Yair, Gad. 1990. The Commitments to Long-Distance Running and Levels of Activity Personal or Structural. Journal of Leisure Research 22 (3): 213-27. Available at UNC DAV GV1 .J6
- Yakel, Elizabeth. 2004. Seeking information, seeking connections, seeking meaning: genealogists and family historians. *Information Research-an International Electronic Journal* 10 (1). Available at http://informationr.net/ir/10-1/paper205.html
- Yee, Martha. 2007. *Moving Image Cataloging : How to Create and How to Use a Moving Image Catalog.* Westport, CT: Libraries Unlimited.

Yeh, Wen-chi and Lawrence W. Barsalou. 2006. The situated nature of concepts. *American Journal of Psychology* 119 (3): 349-84.

Yoder, D. G. 1997. A model for commodity intensive serious leisure. Journal of Leisure Research 29 (4): 407-29.

- Yoon, JungWon. 2006. An Exploration of Needs for Connotative Messages During Image Search Process. In *Proceedings 69th Annual Meeting of the American Society for Information Science and Technology (ASIST)*, in Austin, TX, edited by Andrew Grove.
- Zacks, Jeffrey M., Barbara Tversky, and Gowri Iyer. 2001. Perceiving, remembering, and communicating structure in events. *Journal of Experimental Psychology-General* 130 (1): 29-58.

Zuriff, Gerald E. 1985. Behaviorism: A conceptual reconstruction. New York: Columbia University Press.

Zuromskis, Catherine. 2006. "Vernacular photography." In Lynne Warren. *Encyclopedia of Twentieth-Century Photography*. New York: Routledge, 1610-1616.